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Acknowledgement of country

29Metals acknowledges First Nations people, the traditional 
custodians of the land on which we work throughout Australia. 
We pay our respects to the people and cultures, and to their 
elders past, present and emerging. We recognise their connection 
to land, water and community, and their rich contribution 
to society. We specifically acknowledge the Boon Wurrung 

and Woiwurrung (Wurundjeri) people of the Kulin Nation, 
the traditional custodians of the lands where our head office 
is located, the Badimia people and Widi Mob, the traditional 
custodians of the land where the Golden Grove mine is located, 
and the Kalkadoon people, the traditional custodians of the land 
where the Capricorn Copper mine is located.
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2021 highlights

Strong performance against 
the backdrop of continuing 
COVID-19 challenges, 
in a foundation year

Group Revenue by commodity1

C 	 Copper

$498.2m

Z 	 Zinc

$164.2m

G 	 Gold

$64.6m

S 	 Silver

$39.3m

1.	 �Revenue by commodity cited is gross proceeds excluding unrealised quotational period (‘QP’)  
gains/(losses) and before treatment and refining charges, on a pro forma basis for the 12 months 
to 31 December 2021. Subject to rounding. Revenue from lead not shown (< 1% in 2021).
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Xantho Extended 
production commenced

Gossan Valley key 
feasibility study 
inputs completed

Zero
fatalities

Managed 
COVID-19  
impacts

Cervantes drilling results

Refinance of pre-IPO debt facilities
Successfully completed refinance, 
establishing new group facilities with 
extended tenure and improved terms

$245m
TRIFR

12.4/mmhr

Net drawn debt2

$3m

68 kt 

$710m

$254m

40.7 kt 

LTIFR

0.7/mmhr

Primary proceeds raised, applied to 
reduce drawn debt, retire 2021 copper 
hedges and transaction costs

Cu-eq production2

Pro forma revenue2,3

Pro forma EBITDA2

US$2.12/lb 
C1 Costs2

US$3.41/lb 
AISC (includes capitalised development)2

Cu production2 

Exceeded Prospectus pro forma 
forecast2, delivering: 

Exceeded Prospectus pro forma 
forecast2, delivering: 

Operational de-risking
–	 �Esperanza SLC self-propagation 
and breakthrough

–	 �Capricorn Copper paste-fill 
re‑commissioned

–	 Tailings capacity increase approvals

FinancialOperational

Production IPO

2021 Results 

Growth

Safety and Our People

Gender Diversity

21

20 0.7/mmhr

Result

Forecast 67 kt

Result

Forecast 37 kt

21

20 8.5/mmhr

listing on 2 July 2021

Completed 
29Metals IPO

$221m

Result

Forecast

Board and 
management

	 Male

81%

	 Female

19%

29Metals Group

	 Male

84%

	 Female

16%
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2.	 �Refer to the Important Information 
regarding the use of non-IFRS financial 
information on page 182.

3.	 Cited after QP adjustments and TC/RCs. 



Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Board, I am delighted to present 
29Metals’ 2021 Annual Report, our first as an 
ASX‑listed company. In this Annual Report, we 
outline what the Company achieved in 2021 and 
our priorities in 2022.

29Metals IPO – right assets, 
right team and right time

2021 was a momentous year. Amidst the 
continuing uncertainty and challenges 
of COVID-19 globally, 29Metals came 
to market, inviting investors to become 
shareholders in a new company with a vision 
to be a leading ASX-listed copper-focused 
mining company, offering exposure to 
attractive copper market dynamics. 

Through the successful 29Metals IPO, 
we brought together the team and two 
standalone long-life, producing operations, 
along with a portfolio of organic growth 
opportunities, all located in tier one 
mining jurisdictions.

The performance and market support in the 
short period since listing, combined with 
strong demand for copper and our other 
metals, has confirmed we have the right 
team and the right assets, at the right time.

2021 Performance

Overall, the Board is happy with the 
Company’s performance in 2021. Despite 
the challenges faced across the industry 
and the community during 2021, combined 
with 29Metals operating challenges in the 
first half of the year, 29Metals delivered 
ahead of the Prospectus1 pro forma forecast2 
for copper production and production in 
copper equivalent terms, as well as delivering 
pro forma EBITDA2 well ahead of the 
prospectus pro forma forecast2. 

Platform for future growth 

As momentous as 2021 was – successful 
IPO, corporate debt facilities refinance and 
strong operating performance – the Board 
and management are focused on the platform 
that 2021 provides for future growth.

In 2021 we continued to invest in the 
Company’s pipeline of organic growth 
opportunities and de-risking our operations 
with the Cervantes drilling campaign results 
particularly pleasing.

The commencement of production from 
Xantho Extended, the next long term, 
high-grade ore source that will increasingly 
underpin production at Golden Grove, 
was another key milestone.

Chair letter

A strong start for 
29Metals, delivering 
against our strategy

Index inclusion

Included in

S&P ASX300
in March 2022 
quarterly re‑balance

ASX: 29M

Successfully completed

29Metals IPO

Sustainability & ESG

Launching 29Metals’

Our Approach to 
Sustainability & ESG

29Metals 2021 Annual Report4



Bright future for copper and 
other metals critical to the 
global energy transition

The ongoing challenges and uncertainty 
of COVID-19, combined with rising inflation 
and geo-political events, are likely to make 
markets and commodity prices volatile in the 
near-to-medium term. However, we have 
confidence in the demand for our copper 
and other mineral products, underpinned by 
the global commitment to decarbonisation 
and electrification. 

Sustainability & ESG

While it is early on 29Metals’ journey, we 
recognise the importance of sustainability 
and ESG. In the 29Metals Prospectus 
we outlined our sustainability and ESG 
credentials and our commitments. In 
this Annual Report, we are taking the 
sustainability and ESG conversation further 
with our first ‘Sustainability & ESG Report’. 

In the Sustainability & ESG Report, we 
are launching the 29Metals Our Approach 
to Sustainability & ESG, providing our 
shareholders with insights into how 29Metals 
will approach sustainability and ESG. This 
includes outlining 29Metals’ roadmap 
to reporting aligned to the Taskforce of 
Climate‑related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’).

In addition to launching the 29Metals 
Our Approach to Sustainability & ESG, 
the Sustainability & ESG Report outlines 
our performance in 2021 and our 
priorities for 2022. 

The 29Metals team

At the heart of our performance in 2021, 
and 29Metals’ future success, is our 
workforce. The competition for attracting 
and retaining talent has perhaps never 
been greater, with labour market pressures 
experienced across the mining industry, 
particularly in Western Australia, in the 
second half of 2021. 

Against this backdrop, in 2021 and early 
2022 the mining industry has also been 
reminded how important workplace culture 
is and the need to demonstrate, through our 
actions, that inappropriate behaviour in the 
workplace must not be tolerated. 

Inclusive workplaces, and a diverse 
workforce, will help us to attract and unlock 
talent for the mining sector, and demonstrate 
the important role that mining has for the 
community and the global economy. 

The Board is proud of what the team 
at 29Metals has accomplished in 2021, 
providing the platform for 29Metals in 2022 
and beyond, and thanks management and 
the entire team for their efforts in 2021.

On behalf of the Board, I thank you for 
your continued support and look forward 
to seeing many of you at our first Annual 
General Meeting in May 2022.

Yours sincerely

Owen L Hegarty OAM 
Non-executive Director 
Chair of the Board of Directors

The future for 
29Metals is bright. 

The positive market 
dynamics for copper were 
visible in 2021. We also 
saw strong prices for our 
other metal products. Zinc, 
in particular, had a strong 
finish to the year, consistent 
with the important role 
that zinc too will play in the 
global energy transition.

1.	� 29Metals Prospectus dated 21 June 2021, a copy of which was released to the ASX platform on 2 July 2021.
2.	� Refer to the Important Information regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information on page 182.
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Managing Director & CEO report

2021 has been  
an incredibly exciting  
year for 29Metals. 

The first half of the year was dedicated to preparing for 
our initial public offering (‘IPO’), and successfully listing 
on the ASX on 2 July 2021. We were taken aback by the 
level of interest in 29Metals by investors, particularly 
Australian investors, and I thank you sincerely for your 
trust and continuing support. 

All three of our current assets, being the 
operating Golden Grove mine in Western 
Australia, the operating Capricorn Copper 
mine in Queensland, and the Redhill 
exploration project in Chile, were previously 
owned by private equity funds managed by 
EMR Capital. Following the IPO, the EMR 
Capital Investors have retained a significant 
minority interest in 29Metals. We appreciate 
their continuing support of our strategy, our 
core commodities and our leadership team. 

The Group’s performance since listing 
has been pleasing, exceeding our 
Prospectus pro forma forecast1 for 
copper metal and copper‑equivalent 
production, and significantly exceeding 
EBITDA1. The pro forma EBITDA1 
result of A$254m was 15% higher 
than the Prospectus forecast. 

Capricorn Copper had a stellar production 
performance in the third and fourth 
quarters, contributing to 25.4 kt of copper 
equivalent for the year, 21% better than 
Prospectus forecast, including in the 
month of December alone with more than 
3,000 tonnes of copper produced. 

Golden Grove produced 43.0 kt in copper 
equivalent terms, below our Prospectus 
forecast by approximately 7%, primarily 
due to geotechnical issues encountered in 
the third quarter. The operations team was 
able to successfully mitigate the challenges 
encountered by rapidly and safely adjusting 
the mining sequence.

Notwithstanding strong performance 
overall, the second half of 2021 presented 
a number of challenges for the team – 
most of which were successfully navigated. 
Significant challenges included tailings 
capacity constraints at both operating sites, 
escalating labour market and costs pressures, 
and the continuing impact of COVID-19 
(including border closures and other 
measures implemented in Western Australia 
and Queensland, respectively, to manage 
the transmission of COVID-19).

Cu-eq production1

68 kt 

LTIFR

0.7/mmhr

Pro forma EBITDA1

$254m
15%
on Prospectus 
pro forma forecast1

compared to Prospectus 
pro forma forecast1 of 67 kt

29Metals 2021 Annual Report6



Despite the challenges, there were many 
successes, including:

	■ at Golden Grove, successful 
commissioning and ramping up of 
the triple sequential flotation circuit, 
recommissioning of the Scuddles hoisting 
system and commencement of mining 
at the high-grade Xantho Extended 
orebody; and

	■ at Capricorn Copper, recommissioning 
of the paste plant self-propagation and 
breakthrough of the Esperanza South 
cave to surface, to go along with the 
tremendous production result. 

COVID-19 and its direct and indirect 
impacts continue to evolve. We successfully 
managed COVID-19 at both operating 
sites in 2021, recording no cases on site 
for the year, and implementing COVID-19 
management plans to keep our people safe. 
The combination of re-opening of State 
borders and the emergence of the Omicron 
variant saw increased case numbers across 
Australia, and we recorded the first positive 
cases at both sites in early 2022. Through 
our COVID-19 management plans, we have 
been able to successfully manage those 
cases and limit transmission. 

Safety performance at both sites resulted 
in total recordable injury frequency 
rates (‘TRIFR’) higher than we would like. 
However, the TRIFR has been negatively 
impacted by a number of relatively minor 
and preventable injuries. Whilst these 
are minor in nature, we are committed to 
reducing TRIFR. Serious lost time injuries 
and high potential incidents are at much 
lower levels and I am confident that the mine 
leadership is focused on the right aspects of 
safety management to continue to drive a 
successful safety culture across the business. 

Sustainability and ESG (including action on 
Climate Change) are an important aspect of 
our business. In this Annual Report we have 
outlined Our Approach to Sustainability & 
ESG, providing our investors with additional 
insights regarding 29Metals’ sustainability 
and ESG objectives and priorities. We are 
pleased to include our first Sustainability 
& ESG Report. The information in our 
Sustainability & ESG Report includes our 
roadmap to align with the recommendations 
of the TCFD. Nine months on from the 
listing we undoubtedly have a significant 
journey ahead of us in this space, but we are 
committed to getting this right and delivering 
on commitments that our shareholders will 
be proud and supportive of. 

In the IPO process, we told shareholders that 
our vision and goal was to become a leading 
ASX-listed copper-focused company, with 
a pipeline of organic growth opportunities. 
Nine months on, we have made good progress 
on our growth aspirations, with the continued 
work at Gossan Valley and the great drilling 
results coming out of Cervantes. In the next 
year we intend to continue this work as well as 
advancing exploration activities on our broad 
tenement area surrounding Capricorn Copper 
and our tenements at Redhill in Chile. 

The outlook for 29Metals is very positive. 
Not only do we have great assets with 
significant upside potential, but we are 
producing metals which are in high 
demand now and likely to be in high 
demand for the foreseeable future. 

At 29Metals we are excited and energised 
by the opportunity provided to us by our 
shareholders to grow our company and to 
continue to deliver value.

 

I would like to thank our teams across 
the business who have all contributed 
so significantly to this success and 
are committed to the future success 
of the business.

I would also like to thank all of our 
shareholders for your continued 
support. At 29Metals we are committed 
to delivering value to you, the owners 
of our great company. 

Yours sincerely

Safety is an aspect of 
our business which is 
imprinted into every 
aspect of our daily 
lives at 29Metals and 
is articulated as one 
of our core values. 

2021 was such an exciting 
and challenging year, in 
which we met and rose to 
a number of challenges and 
produced strong results.

1.	� Refer to the Important Information regarding 
the use of non-IFRS financial information on 
page 182.
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About 29Metals

29Metals is a copper-focused mining 
company with a portfolio of long-life 
production assets and a pipeline of 
organic growth opportunities.

Becoming 29Metals

Our commitment Our values

The keystone of our Values – collaboration – across our  
workforce, with the community and our other stakeholders

T E A M S
Transparency Excellence Accountability Mutual Respect Safety First

We will 
communicate 
openly and clearly 
with each other, 
our shareholders, 
regulatory 
stakeholders, 
business partners 
and the community

We will strive for 
excellence in all 
that we do through 
a focused  
approach on mining 
fundamentals and 
a commitment 
to sustainability

We will do what 
we say we will 
do. We will drive 
personal ownership 
and accountability 
across all levels 
of the Company, 
ensuring that we 
all understand 
the role we play 
in the success 
of 29Metals

We will embrace 
diversity and 
deeply respect 
the differences 
and different 
perspectives of 
our workforce, our 
stakeholders and 
the community. 
We will earn the 
respect of our 
stakeholders and 
the community 
through our actions

Safety is 
non‑negotiable – 
always front of 
mind in everything 
we do

We unlock value 
through operational 
discipline in diversified 
assets located in 
tier one mining 
jurisdictions

29Metals explores for, develops 
and produces metals in the form of 
mineral concentrates which are sold to 
commodity trading firms or smelters for 
refining and on-sale as a refined metal 
product for end use.

TEAMS

What we will expect of each other and what others can expect of us

29Metals brought together the team, two long‑life 
production assets and a portfolio of growth 
opportunities, listing on the ASX in July 2021.

Redhill

Golden 
Grove

2021

Capricorn  
Copper

29Metals 2021 Annual Report8



Our Operations

The Company has two long-life, producing assets: Golden Grove in Western Australia  
(copper, zinc, gold, silver and lead) and Capricorn Copper in Queensland (copper and silver).

In addition to its operating assets, 29Metals has a portfolio of organic growth opportunities 
at Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper, as well as the Redhill exploration project in Chile.

RedhillCapricorn CopperGolden Grove

Commodities produced

C   Copper S   Silver

Z   Zinc

L   Lead

C   Cobalt

Prospective for

Year Opened

1969

Status

Production

Mine-life

10+ years

Exploration ProjectOperating MineOperating Mine

Mining and  
Exploration Leases

1,858 km2

C   Copper

G   Gold

L   Lead

Z   Zinc

S   Silver

Commodities produced

C   Copper

S   Silver

G   Gold

Prospective for

Mining Leases

129 km2

Year Opened

1990

Status

Production

Mine-life

10+ years

Status

Exploration/ 
Concept Study

Exploration and  
Exploitation Concessions

227 km2

  �Western Australia, Australia   �Queensland, Australia   �Chile, South America

Capricorn Copper

Redhill

Head Office (Melbourne)

Golden Grove

Office (Perth)
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Our vision

To be a leading ASX-listed copper producer, 
developer and explorer, offering investors exposure 
to attractive market dynamics for copper and other 
metals critical to the global energy transition

Progress against our strategy

Our strategy over the near-to-medium term is focused on delivering against  
our operating plan and converting our pipeline of organic growth opportunities.

Execute Our Plan Deliver Organic Growth External Growth

Our strategy is 
underpinned by 
our strategic 
enablers

Our vision & strategy

Opportunities Progress in 2021 Priorities in 2022

Deliver operating plan 	■ Pro forma Cu-eq1 production – 68 kt
	■ Commenced production at Xantho Extended 

at Golden Grove
	■ Pro forma EBITDA1 – $254 million

	■ Transition to higher grades at 
Esperanza South sub-level cave

	■ Complete Hougomont-Oizon-Xantho 
Extended decline (the ‘HOX Link’)

Continuous improvement 

�Safety and environmental  
performance

	■ LTIFR – 0.7/mmhr
	■ TRIFR – 12.4/mmhr
	■ Navigated COVID-19 impacts

	■ Reduce incidence of minor injuries 
and lower TRIFR

	■ Environmental projects at 
Capricorn Copper

�Further productivity gains  
and unit cost reduction

	■ Operational de-risking:
	҄ Achieved self-propagation breakthrough 

at Esperanza South sub-level cave
	҄ Tailings capacity upgrades at both 

operating sites
	҄ Re-commissioning paste-fill at  

Capricorn Copper

	■ Continued strong copper production 
and improvement in zinc production

	■ Process improvement projects, including 
testing implementation of Jameson cell 
at Capricorn Copper

	■ Ventilation upgrades to support  
production rates at depth

Highly experienced 
Board and 
management team

High-grade, long 
mine life copper 
portfolio

Substantial pipeline 
of organic growth 
opportunities

track record of value creation, 
and safe and efficient operations

complemented by diversified 
by‑product revenue

across the portfolio

Execute Our Plan

29Metals 2021 Annual Report10



External Growth

$

1.	 Refer to the Important Information regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information on page 182.
2.	� Further information regarding 29Metals’ Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates is set out from page 46.

Opportunities Progress in 2021 Priorities in 2022

Productivity  
and operational  
improvements

	■ Completion and commissioning 
of triple sequential flotation at 
Golden Grove

	■ Commencement of paste-fill 
operations at Golden Grove

	■ Increase stope intervals to 45 m 
at Xantho Extended

	■ Ventilation upgrades at Golden Grove 
and Capricorn Copper

�Execute organic  
in-mine and  
near-mine  
growth  
opportunities

	■ Highly successful Cervantes 
drilling program (refer to inset)

	■ Advanced studies for Gossan 
Valley as a potential third mining 
front at Golden Grove

	■ 23.1 km of Resource extension 
and 15.9 km of Resource 
conversion drilling completed

	■ Up to 59 km of Resource extension and 
Resource delineation drilling planned

	■ Golden Grove – optimisation studies, 
including Gossan Valley development 
optimisation and integration of Gossan 
Valley and Cervantes into mine plan

Exploration 	■ More than 6.7 km of exploration 
drilling completed

	■ Matured pipeline of priority targets
	■ Completion of a Falcon Plus 

gravity survey at Capricorn 
Copper, to identify future targets 
for exploration in south-eastern 
exploration tenement

	■ Completing first field campaign at 
Redhill under 29Metals

	■ Testing regional targets for exploration 
at Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper

	■ Up to 8.7 km of exploration 
drilling planned for regional 
and near‑mine targets

Opportunities

Logical regional  
bolt‑on opportunities

Opportunistic M&A where we 
see value and returns

Commitment to 
Sustainability 
& ESG

Strong  
balance sheet

Significant 
investment

Transition to a 
green economy 
underpins attractive  
supply-demand

integral to Our Approach 
(refer to page 16 of this Annual Report)

low leverage creates platform  
for growth objectives

delivering meaningful environmental 
and operational improvements

outlook for copper and other 
future‑facing metals in our portfolio

Deliver Organic Growth

Case Study 
Cervantes 2021 Drilling Program 

The Cervantes deposit is one of 29Metals’ 
in-mine growth opportunities, located 
approximately 270 m below the existing Scuddles 
mine development at Golden Grove. 

In 2021, 29Metals executed a 15-hole resource 
extension drilling program, along with the 
11‑hole resource development drilling program, 
at Cervantes. 

Drilling results for the program were announced 
on 16 September 2021 and 9 February 2022, 
with completed assays showing exceptional 
results and supporting updated Mineral 
Resources estimates more than doubling the 
pre‑program estimates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Cervantes 
deposit has estimated Mineral Resources of 
4.6 Mt @ 1.4% Cu, 6.6% Zn, 0.7 g/t Au and 
40 g/t Ag (2020: 2.3 Mt @ 1.1% Cu, 6.9% Zn, 
0.5 g/t Au and 34 g/t Ag).2

The potential for Cervantes to deliver additional 
high-grade, higher-margin material, presents 
a material upside opportunity with limited 
Cervantes material currently included in the mine 
plan at Golden Grove in the next ten years.

In addition to further drilling, in 2022 29Metals 
will undertake studies at Cervantes and examine 
the optimal plan for integrating Cervantes 
in the mine plan (along with 29Metals other 
growth opportunities at Golden Grove, 
including Gossan Valley).
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Year in review

Golden Grove

Golden Grove is a world class 
VHMS system that has yielded 
new discoveries and extensions to 
copper and zinc orebodies over its 
31 years of continuous operation. 
When commissioned in 1990 the 
operation had a 10-year mine life at 
a 0.8 Mtpa extraction rate. Today it 
has a 10+ year mine life at twice 
the original mining rate. Orebodies 
remain open laterally and at depth.

Golden Grove is a long-established 
underground copper, zinc and precious 
metals operation located 450 km NE of 
Perth. Its multiple copper and zinc orebodies 
provide production flexibility and support 
reliable, low-cost production. The operation 
is on grid power with a FIFO workforce 
with underground mining conducted by a 
mining contractor.

The operation produced 43 kt of Cu-eq2 at 
C1 Cost of US$1.05/lb copper sold and an 
AISC of US$2.90/lb copper sold.2,3

2021 Highlights
	■ Triple sequential flotation successfully 

commissioned and ramped up
	■ Xantho Extended production commenced
	■ Cervantes drilling success
	■ Paste-fill system designed and approved
	■ TSF lift safely commissioned

2022 Priorities
	■ Ventilation upgrades
	■ Paste-fill commissioning
	■ Optimisation studies, including Gossan 

Valley development optimisation 
and integration of Gossan Valley 
and Cervantes into mine plan

	■ Continuing resource extension 
and delineation drilling

Perth

Geraldton

Kalgoorlie

Great Northern Hwy

Mt. Magnet

N.W. Coastal Hwy

Golden Grove
WA

Location

Mineral Resources

Ore Reserves

58.4 Mt @ 

G 	� Gold 
0.7 g/t

C 	� Copper 
1.6%

S 	� Silver 
30 g/t 

Z 	� Zinc 
4.4% 

L 	� Lead 
0.3% 

12.7 Mt @ 

G 	� Gold 
0.8 g/t

C 	� Copper 
1.9%

S 	� Silver 
33 g/t 

Z 	� Zinc 
5.1% 

L 	� Lead 
0.3%

Resources & Reserves1

LTIFR

0/mmhrs 11.5/mmhrs

Safety data

Product

Mine life

Mining method

Processing method

C 	 Copper Z 	 Zinc

and high precious  
metals concentrates

10+ years

Overview

Underground –  
Long Hole Open Stoping

Conventional flow sheet with 
crushing, grinding, gravity, flotation

WA, Murchison, 
450 km NE of Perth, 
250 km E of Geraldton

2.	� Refer to the Important Information regarding 
the use of non-IFRS financial information on 
page 182.

3.	� AISC is inclusive of capitalised development costs.

1.	� At 31 December 2021. Refer to page 46 
for 29Metals’ Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves estimates.

TRIFR

29Metals 2021 Annual Report12



Capricorn Copper

Capricorn Copper is a high-grade 
underground copper operation on 
extensive tenements in the highly 
endowed and prospective Mt Isa Inlier.

The operation was brought back into 
production in 2017 after a period in care 
and maintenance, with significant capital 
expenditure on exploration, underground 
development and refurbishment of the 
processing facilities.

Capricorn Copper’s exploration tenements 
cover an area of 1,858 km2 located on the 
highly prospective Mt Isa Inlier. A portion 
of the extensive tenement package was 
exposed to airborne geophysics during 2021 
and a greenfields exploration programme will 
be systematically progressed during 2022 to 
investigate identified high potential targets. 

The operation is on grid power with a 
FIFO workforce with underground mining 
conducted by a mining contractor. 

2021 was a successful year with copper 
production exceeding Prospectus pro forma 
forecast2. Mining of the southern part of the 
Esperanza South sub-level cave commenced, 
with propagation performing ahead of plan, 
achieving breakthrough to surface without 
the need for intervention, a key de-risking 
event for future production.

The operation produced 24.7 kt of Cu 
(25.4 kt Cu-eq2) at C1 Cost of US$2.80/lb 
copper sold and an AISC of US$3.45/lb 
copper sold.2,3

2021 Highlights
	■ Copper production of 24.7 kt, exceeding 

Prospectus pro forma forecast2

	■ Recommissioned paste-fill operations
	■ Esperanza South sub-level cave 

successfully self-propagated, with 
breakthrough achieved in the 
December quarter

	■ Announced transition of operation and 
maintenance of the processing facilities 
from O&M contractor to “in-house”

	■ TSF lift (commissioned January 2022)

2022 Priorities
	■ Resource extension drilling 
	■ Ventilation upgrades
	■ Continuing focus on on-site water 

management
	■ Commencement of transition to 

Progressive Rehabilitation and Closure Plan

Capricorn Copper
Project

Gulf of 
Carpentaria

Mt Isa Cloncurry

Charters
Tower

Townsville
QLD

Location

Mineral Resources

Ore Reserves

60.8 Mt @ C 	� Copper 
1.8%

S 	� Silver 
7 g/t

C 	� Cobalt 
342 ppm 

12.6 Mt @ C 	� Copper 
1.8%

S 	� Silver 
10 g/t 

Resources & Reserves1

Safety data

Product

Mine life

Mining method

Processing method

C 	 Copper concentrate

(including silver by-product)

10+ years

Overview

Underground –  
Long Hole Open Stoping  
and Sub Level Caving

Conventional flow sheet with 
crushing, grinding, flotation QLD, Western fold 

belt of Mt Isa Inlier, 
120 km N of Mt Isa

2.	� Refer to the Important Information regarding 
the use of non-IFRS financial information on 
page 182.

3.	� AISC is inclusive of capitalised development costs.

1.	� At 31 December 2021. Refer to page 46 
for 29Metals’ Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves estimates.

LTIFR

1.9/mmhrs 14.1/mmhrs

TRIFR
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Year in review continuedYear in review continued

Exploration

29Metals intends to take a 
systematic and disciplined 
approach to exploration, 
seeking to identify, 
prioritise, test and prove 
economic mineralisation, 
and leverage off an 
extensive knowledge‑base 
and history of discovery  
at the 29Metals assets.

The objectives of the Company’s 
exploration activities are to: 

	■ increase Mineral Resources, including 
moving material that is currently 
unclassified for JORC Code reporting 
purposes into Mineral Resources;

	■ increase the level of confidence in our 
mineral inventory to: 

	҄ support re-classifying material 
classified as Inferred Mineral 
Resources to Measured or Indicated 
Mineral Resources categories;

	҄ support re-classifying material 
classified as Mineral Resources 
to Ore Reserves; and

	■ identify new deposits with the 
potential to be:

	҄ new ore sources at our existing 
producing mines, thereby extending 
mine life, providing additional 
operating flexibility or increasing 
production; or 

	҄ new mines.

Our exploration portfolio

Substantial prospective 
exploration interests 
across three jurisdictions

	■ Golden Grove: Mining leases 
covering 129 km2 contain drill 
ready targets within 10 km 
of current mine

	■ Capricorn Copper: One of the 
largest land packages in the 
Mount Isa region with 1,858 km2 
of highly prospective, relatively 
unexplored ground

	■ Redhill: Historic mine site with 
significant known high‑grade 
copper, gold and silver 
mineralisation and 227 km2 
regional tenement position 
in Chile, providing access to 
the world’s largest copper 
producing country

Systematic and 
disciplined approach

seeking to identify, prioritise, test  
and prove economic mineralisation, 
and define potential upside

29Metals 2021 Annual Report14



Capricorn Copper

Redhill

RedhillCapricorn CopperGolden Grove

Prospective for

C   Copper

S   Silver

L   Lead

Z   Zinc

C   Cobalt

  Western Australia, Australia   Queensland, Australia   Chile, South America

Mining and  
Exploration Leases

1,858 km2

C   Copper

G   Gold

L   Lead

Z   Zinc

S   Silver

Prospective for

C   Copper

S   Silver

G   Gold

Prospective for

Mining Leases

129 km2

Exploration and  
Exploitation Concessions

227 km2

2021 Highlights
	■ Significant drilling results at Cervantes, supporting a more than 100% increase 

in Mineral Resources estimates for the Cervantes in-mine growth opportunity
	■ Drilling to support feasibility studies at Gossan Valley
	■ Drilling to improve resource confidence at Xantho Extended
	■ Drilling to improve resource confidence at Esperanza South
	■ Completed Falcon Plus gravity survey at Capricorn Copper

2022 Priorities

Golden Grove

	■ Resource extension drilling, including Cervantes, Xantho Extended, XE North  
and Conteville

	■ Resource conversion drilling at Cervantes, Xantho Extended, and Hougoumont

Capricorn Copper

	■ Resource extension drilling at Esperanza South, Greenstone, and Mammoth
	■ Resource conversion drilling at Greenstone and Esperanza South
	■ Initial drill testing of the Grey Ghost, GP03, and Eagles Nest regional prospects
	■ Mapping and soil sampling over priority areas of interest highlighted by Falcon  

plus gravity survey in 2021

Redhill

	■ Field campaign, including small-scale drilling, rock chip sampling and mapping,  
and high resolution drone-based magnetics surveys

Head Office (Melbourne)

Golden Grove

Office (Perth)
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Sustainability & ESG

We are committed to responsible 
and ethical business practices, 
safety and sustainability.

At 29Metals, we believe that 
sustainability and ESG must be part of 
everything we do, not something we do. 
Our commitment to sustainability and 
ESG starts at the Board and permeates 
the whole company. It is a commitment 
founded in the principle that sustainable 
mining is a critical component of the 
global economy and “good business”. 

In 2022, 29Metals is launching Our Approach to Sustainability 
& ESG. The three core dimensions of Our Approach to 
Sustainability & ESG are:

	■ Safe and inclusive workplace
	■ Responsible environmental stewardship  

(including action on climate change) 
	■ Partnering with stakeholders

These core dimensions are underpinned by:

	■ Responsible and ethical business practices
	■ A continuous improvement culture
	■ Our Values

2022 Priorities

	■ Continuing COVID-19 management
	■ Continuing focus on critical controls framework and leadership 

interactions to improve safety performance
	■ Measuring the demographics and diversity of our workforce
	■ Independent audit of workplace conditions and other barriers 

to an inclusive workplace and greater diversity

Safe and inclusive workplace

29Metals is committed to: 

	■ providing a healthy and safe workplace for employees, 
contractors and business partners, and eliminating 
serious injuries

	■ identifying and removing any barriers to an inclusive workplace 
and a diverse workforce, and promoting an environment that 
provides the opportunity for all workplace participants to 
perform and succeed

TEAMS

2021 Highlights

Successful workforce 
engagement survey

Managed COVID-19 with

no recorded cases  
on site in 2021

LTIFR

0.7/mmhrs

Gender diversity

2022 Priorities
	■ Continuing engagement with our workforce, 

highlighting workplace behaviour
	■ Fostering an environment where 

workplace participants have the 
confidence to raise concerns

Responsible and ethical business practices

29Metals has robust 
governance policies 
and business processes 
that clearly articulate 
and promote positive 
behaviours and ethics

	 Male
	 60%

	 Female
	 40%

Board

	 Male
	 81%

	 Female
	 19%

Board & Management

	 Male
	 84%

	 Female
	 16%

All employees
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2021 Highlights

Development of roadmap for TCFD reporting

2022 Priorities

	■ Continuing focus on water management at operating sites
	■ Roll out and implementation of 29Metals’ roadmap to align with  

TCFD recommendations
	■ Analysis and review of emissions intensity at operating sites
	■ Commencement of transition to Progressive Rehabilitation 

and Closure Plan at Capricorn Copper
	■ Continuing focus on reducing raw water extracted from 

the environment to support mining operations
	■ Collaboration with industry on innovation and emissions  

intensity/reduction technology

The keystone of our Values – collaboration – across our workforce, with the community and our other stakeholders

Continuous improvement

Responsible environmental stewardship 
including action on Climate Change Partnering with stakeholders

29Metals is committed to: 

	■ implementing enduring strategies for key environmental 
performance priorities, including the responsible use of natural 
resources, reducing waste generation at our operating sites 
and identifying opportunities to reduce emissions intensity

	■ formally integrating climate change risks and opportunities into 
our business processes, through our roadmap to to align with 
TCFD recommendations

29Metals is committed to building and maintaining long-term 
and sustainable relationships with key stakeholders, reflective  
of our long‑life mines, including:

	■ engaging with the communities around our operating sites to 
identify priorities and opportunities for sustainable benefits

	■ utilising collaboration to realise meaningful benefits for the 
community and other stakeholders

Re-initiated community engagement 
activities affected by COVID-19 restrictions

2021 Highlights

>98%
of goods and services for mining  
operations procured in Australia

2022 Priorities

	■ Re-commencement of First Nations traineeship program 
at Golden Grove (following COVID-19 related deferral)

	■ Commencement of First Nations traineeship program 
at Capricorn Copper

	■ Improving community engagement to better understand  
community priorities

	■ Progress towards tax transparency reporting

2022 Priorities
	■ Leverage experience at Golden Grove to design 

and implement effective community programs, 
particularly with First Nations stakeholders

	■ Promoting opportunities for local residents 
and business in our host communities

29Metals is committed to a culture 
of continuous improvement, 
applying what we learn and 
collaborating with industry

1.	 About this report	 18

2.	� Our approach to Sustainability & ESG	 19

3.	 Safe and Inclusive Workplace	 24

4.	� Responsible Environmental Stewardship	   
(including action on climate change)	 28

5.	 Working with Stakeholders	 36

6.	 Material Topics	 40

7.	 Abbreviations	 41

Contents

Progress on environment projects
at both operating sites
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Sustainability & ESG continued

1	 About this report
This is 29Metals’ first Sustainability & ESG Report, 
providing investors with:

	■ an understanding of 29Metals’ approach to 
Sustainability & ESG; 

	■ 29Metals’ Sustainability & ESG performance; and

	■ the Sustainability & ESG actions that 29Metals is 
prioritising in 2022. 

Coming less than 12 months after 29Metals’ IPO (July 2021), 
this Report comes early in 29Metals’ journey as a public company. 
The 29Metals IPO brought together three assets that had previously 
operated as privately-owned, standalone businesses. This Report 
focuses on 29Metals (the head entity), Golden Grove and Capricorn 
Copper. 29Metals will, over time, refine and expand the Sustainability 
& ESG performance data included in our Sustainability & ESG 
reporting, including information and performance for our Redhill 
exploration project in Chile. 

For the purposes of this Report, 29Metals reports against the 
Global Reporting Initiative (‘GRI’) Standards (2016). The Report 
covers the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, 
unless otherwise stated.1

This Report has been prepared to align with GRI Sustainability Core 
‘100’ Standards, with additional selected reporting against the 
‘200–400’ Standards and the Mining and Metals Supplement. 

Where possible, performance data for the prior corresponding 
period and/or two-year trends are reported.

It is 29Metals’ intention to report its Sustainability & ESG 
performance against recognised reporting framework(s) to enable 
investors to compare 29Metals’ performance to other companies 
– in the case of this Report, GRI (as noted above). However, the 
landscape for Sustainability & ESG reporting continues to evolve. 
As 29Metals reporting matures, the categories of data reported will 
also evolve. 29Metals will assess the different reporting frameworks 
and engage with investors to ensure our reporting is presented in a 
way that is clear and meaningful to investors and other stakeholders.

The Company data is presented in the metric system and monetary 
amounts are in $A (Australian dollars), unless otherwise stated.

We welcome feedback and invite readers to send any  
comments or enquiries about this Report to us at 
contactus@29metals.com.

Additional GRI reporting tables are included in a  
standalone version of this Sustainability & ESG Report  
available via the sustainability page on 29Metals’  
website at https://www.29metals.com/sustainability.

1.	� For example, NPI and NGERS reporting data is 12 months ending 30 June for years cited. 
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2	 Our approach to Sustainability & ESG

2.1	 Overview

29Metals, its Directors and management recognise 
that commitment to Sustainability & ESG are crucial 
to having a successful business that generates 
sustainable returns. Simply put – at 29Metals, we 
believe that Sustainability & ESG is not something 
we do, it is part of everything we do. 

One of the challenges of Sustainability & ESG is that, while the terms 
are well understood and widely used, the scope of Sustainability & 
ESG is extremely broad and dynamic, and the terms have different 
meanings and priorities for different stakeholders. 29Metals’ 
Our Approach to Sustainability & ESG has been formulated to 
provide investors and other stakeholders with insights regarding 
how 29Metals looks at and approaches Sustainability & ESG 
subject matter.

29Metals’ Our Approach to Sustainability & ESG is illustrated in 
Figure 2.1 (below). 

Figure 2.1 – 29Metals’ Our Approach to Sustainability  
& ESG

Continuous 
improvement

Partnering 
with

stakeholders

Core dimensions

Critical enablers

Foundation

Safe and 
inclusive 

workplace

Responsible
and ethical 
business practices

Responsible 
environmental 

stewardship

TEAMS

Core dimensions

	 Safe and inclusive workplace

29Metals is committed to: 
	■ providing a healthy and safe workplace for employees, 

contractors and business partners, minimising incidents 
and accidents, and eliminating serious injuries and illnesses

	■ promoting a diverse workplace that better reflects the 
community in which we conduct our business, by:

	҄ fostering a workplace which encourages and supports 
inclusivity and diversity, and does not tolerate bias or 
inappropriate behaviour

	҄ promoting a workplace environment that provides the 
opportunity for all workplace participants to perform 
and succeed.

	� Responsible environmental stewardship  
(including action on Climate Change)

29Metals is committed to: 
	■ implementing enduring strategies for key environmental 

performance priorities, including the responsible use of natural 
resources, reducing waste generation at our operating sites 
and identifying opportunities to reduce emissions intensity

	■ formally integrating climate change risks and opportunities 
into our business processes, through our roadmap to align  
with TCFD recommendations

	 Partnering with stakeholders

29Metals is committed to building and maintaining long-term and 
sustainable relationships with key stakeholders, reflective of our 
long‑life mines, including:

	■ engaging with the communities around our operating sites to 
identify priorities and opportunities for sustainable benefits

	■ utilising collaboration to realise meaningful benefits for the 
community and other stakeholders

These core dimensions are not intended to be mutually exclusive. 
In many instances, performance or activities in one core dimension 
will influence or overlap with performance or activity in another 
core dimension.

The structure of this Report reflects the 29Metals’ Our Approach 
to Sustainability & ESG, with each of the core dimensions covered 
in a separate section below. 29Metals will report its performance 
within these core dimensions, along with its objectives and priorities, 
annually. Generally, 29Metals’ objectives in each of the dimensions 
will include both short-term and longer-term objectives. 

In this early stage of 29Metals’ journey as a public company, 
a key priority for all the core dimensions in 2022 is to gather more 
extensive data regarding our Sustainability & ESG performance. 
This focus on data and analysis in 2022 will inform our objectives 
and priorities for 2023 and beyond. 
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Sustainability & ESG continued

Critical enablers

The critical enablers in Our Approach to Sustainability & ESG are:

	■ responsible and ethical business practices; and
	■ a culture of continuous improvement.

Responsible and ethical business practices are fundamental to 
delivering high performance in Sustainability & ESG. At 29Metals, 
we have committed to a whole of business implementation of 
Sustainability & ESG to improve performance. Our leadership, 
from the Board down, and governance framework is designed 
to promote and facilitate responsible and ethical behaviour in 
everything that we do as a Company. 

Similarly, a culture of continuous improvement is critical to strong 
Sustainability & ESG performance – improving upon what we do 
well, learning from challenges and past performance, and challenging 
ourselves to do better. Through continuous improvement we also 
ensure that the Group has the systems and processes in place to 
support our workforce to deliver our objectives and commitments.

Foundation

The foundation to Our Approach to Sustainability & ESG 
and everything we do at 29Metals is our Values: TEAMS. 

Our Values

T	 Transparency We will publicly report what we are 
doing; what we do well and what we 
need to improve

E	 Excellence Link between ESG and sustainable 
business performance and returns

A	 Accountability Our targets and commitments will be 
meaningful and time-based, and we 
will be held accountable for delivering 
against them; and there will be real‑time 
links between our delivery and 
remuneration outcomes

M	 Mutual Respect We will engage with stakeholders 
openly and honestly

S	 Safety First Safety of our workforce and the 
communities in and near which we 
conduct our business is central to 
everything we do

TEAMS Collaboration – with our peers, with 
participants in our value chain and 
with our stakeholders – to deliver 
Sustainability & ESG outcomes
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2.2	 Focus on copper (future-facing metals)

29Metals’ focus on copper, and the other future-facing 
metals in the 29Metals’ portfolio, is an important part 
of 29Metals’ approach to Sustainability & ESG. 

Copper has a key role to play in decarbonisation, electrification 
and the transition to a greener global economy. 29Metal’s strategic 
focus on copper is both: 

	■ a business decision – reflecting increases in the demand for the 
metal for use in existing and emerging “green technology”; and

	■ part of our commitment to Sustainability & ESG. 

In a similar way, other current and prospective mineral products for 
29Metals have key roles to play in both the transition to a greener 
global economy and the development of critical infrastructure globally.

Figure 2.2 – Copper and other “future facing” metals

2.	� Cobalt is included in 29Metals’ Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates at Capricorn Copper (refer to page 46). 29Metals does not currently produce saleable 
quantities of cobalt in its mineral concentrate products.

Copper also has important anti-microbial properties,  
with potential for application in health care settings.

Z   Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is ductile, stable and has anti-corrosive properties, leading 
to wide application in infrastructure and construction, car 
manufacturing and general consumables. 

Zinc’s properties make it an important component in electric and 
hybrid vehicles, rechargeable batteries, wind turbines and solar 
cells. In wind turbines, zinc is a critical component of the galvanising 
required to protect turbines from the elements and corrosion. 

C   Cobalt (Co)2

Cobalt may be magnetised, does not react with water, has a high 
melting point and reacts slowly to diluted acids. These properties 
lead to cobalt having wide application in industry and construction. 

Importantly, cobalt is a key ingredient in lithium-ion batteries 
with cobalt properties having a stablising effect that reduces 
cathode corrosion and extends battery life, an important factor 
in rechargeable batteries such as those used in electric vehicles.

Cobalt has been identified as a critical mineral in the Australian 
Government’s 2022 Critical Minerals Strategy (March 2022).

Refined copper is soft, malleable and ductile metal, with very high 
thermal and electrical conductivity, and good corrosion resistance. 

Copper has a critical role to play in decarbonisation, electrification 
and the global transition to a green economy through its application 
in cables, batteries, motors and chargers for electric vehicles, and 
renewable energy infrastructure which requires substantially more 
copper per gigawatt compared to conventional power generation.

C   Copper (Cu)
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Sustainability & ESG continued

2.3	 Governance 
The Board of 29Metals has ultimate responsibility for the management of 29Metals’ business, including ensuring that appropriate governance 
arrangements are in place. 

29Metals has established a framework for managing the Company, including corporate governance policies and practices, relevant internal 
controls and risk management processes, collectively designed to promote the responsible management and conduct of the Company and 
its business activities. 29Metals’ governance framework was developed having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition).

Figure 2.3 – 29Metals Corporate Governance Framework

Board and Committees
Audit, Governance & Risk | Remuneration & Nominations | Sustainability

Sustainability & ESG policies and position statements
Health & Safety | Sustainability | Climate | Tailings Management |  
Responsible use of Natural Resources

Core Corporate policies
Disclosure & Communications | Securities Dealing | Code of Conduct | Inclusion & Diversity | 
Whistleblower | Modern Slavery | Workplace Behaviour | Anti-bribery & Corruption | Privacy

Financial controls and risk management
Group and asset level standards and verification

Constitution

In this section, we provide an overview of 29Metals’ governance structures in relation to Sustainability & ESG.

Sustainability & ESG governance

Sustainability & ESG governance at 29Metals has two key components:

	■ our Leadership
	■ our Policies and Risk Management Framework

as outlined further below.

Our Leadership

The Board of 
Directors

29Metals has a majority-independent Board of Directors.

The Board has ultimate responsibility for:

	■ the Company’s strategy, including in relation to Sustainability & ESG; and
	■ the Company’s governance framework.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the day-to-day implementation and execution of the Company’s strategy 
(including in relation to Sustainability & ESG) to the Managing Director & CEO and, through the Managing Director 
& CEO, the Executive and Senior Leadership Team of the Company. 

Through the Company’s governance framework, the Board oversees the implementation and execution of the 
Company’ strategy (including in relation to Sustainability & ESG) by Management.

Further information regarding corporate governance at  
29Metals is set out in 29Metals’ 2021 Corporate Governance 
Statement, a copy of which is available on 29Metals’ website  
at https://www.29metals.com/investors.

29Metals’ Appendix 4G identifying, on an if not why not  
basis, the extent to which 29Metals has followed the  
ASXCGC Principles and Recommendations, is available  
on 29Metals’ website at https://www.29metals.com/investors.
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Board  
Committees

The Board has established three standing Board Committees (‘Committees’), each of which plays an important role 
in Sustainability & ESG:

	■ the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee – provides advice and recommendations to the Board regarding 
governance matters, and oversees the Company’s risk management framework, Whistleblower Policy, Workplace 
Behaviour Policy, and Anti-bribery & Corruption Policy;

	■ the Remuneration & Nominations Committee – provides advice and recommendations to the Board regarding 
people and remuneration matters, inclusion and diversity objectives and strategies, and the composition of the 
Board; and

	■ the Sustainability Committee3 – provides advice and recommendations to the Board regarding health, safety, 
environment and community matters, including action on climate change, and oversees management’s development 
and implementation of systems and processes to manage health, safety, environment and community risks.

Each of the Committees is chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director, and a majority of Committee members 
are Independent Non-executive Directors.

Managing  
Director & CEO

The Managing Director & CEO has the delegated authority of the Board for the day-to-day management of the 
Company, other than those matters expressly reserved to the full Board. 

Executive  
Leadership  
Team

The Executive Leadership Team, led by the Managing Director & CEO, has responsibility for the implementation and 
execution of the Company’s strategy, including in relation to Sustainability & ESG, across the Company.

The role of the Executive Leadership Team includes the development and implementation of management systems 
and processes to manage Sustainability & ESG risks and achieve the Company’s Sustainability & ESG objectives.

Site Senior Leaders The Site Senior Leaders are responsible for implementing the Company’s management systems and processes to 
manage Sustainability & ESG risks and achieve the Company’s Sustainability & ESG objectives at the sites.

Our Policies & Risk Management Framework

29Metals has established a robust framework of Sustainability & ESG 
policies which set out 29Metals’ commitments and expectations. 

In addition to Sustainability & ESG policies, 29Metals publishes 
position statements regarding key Sustainability & ESG focus areas, 
from time to time. Currently, 29Metals has three published position 
statements, reflecting three priority areas for 29Metals within 
the core dimension of Responsible Environmental Stewardship 
(including action on climate change):

	■ Responsible Use of Natural Resources;
	■ Management of Tailings; and
	■ Impacts of Climate Change.

29Metals has a risk management framework in place to identify, 
evaluate and manage business risks and opportunities, including 
in relation to Sustainability & ESG matters. Through its risk 
management framework, 29Metals evaluates risk by reference to 
(among other things) the potential impact on health and safety, 
the environment, the community and other stakeholders, and 
the Company’s reputation. 

The Company’s risk appetite, including across the core dimensions 
of Sustainability & ESG (refer above) is set by the Board and, with 
support from the Committees, the Board oversees Management’s 
implementation of the risk management framework and the 
management of material business risks.

In 2021, 29Metals undertook a review and update of the risk 
management framework to enhance alignment between the different 
assets and ensure that 29Metals has a consistent approach to 
risk management. The roll out of the updated risk management 
framework is well underway. 

Key policies, including 29Metals’ Health & Safety Policy and 
Sustainability Policy, are available on 29Metals’ website at  
https://www.29metals.com/sustainability.

Copies of these position statements are  
available on 29Metals’ website at  
https://www.29metals.com/sustainability/environment.

3.	 Previously named the Health, Safety, Environment & Community Committee.
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3	� Safe and inclusive workplace

Sustainability & ESG continued

29Metals is committed to: 

	■ providing a healthy and safe workplace for employees, 
contractors and business partners, minimising incidents 
and accidents, and eliminating serious injuries and illnesses

	■ promoting a diverse workplace that better reflects the 
community in which we conduct our business, by:

	҄ fostering a workplace which encourages and supports 
inclusivity and diversity, and does not tolerate bias or 
inappropriate behaviour

	҄ promoting a workplace environment that provides the 
opportunity for all workplace participants to perform 
and succeed.
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3.1	 Our performance

Safety 

Our mines have management systems that 
align with ISO 45001 (Occupational Health and 
Safety Management Systems), with supporting 
management standards. 

The Company is implementing an updated integrated HSEC 
Management System, supported by standards that reinforce 
consistent minimum requirements across the Group. 

Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove safety performance for 2021 
and the prior corresponding period is set out below. At both mines 
TRIFR increased compared to 2020, reflecting a continuation of 
minor and low potential incidents. The minor nature of recordable 
injuries reported is reflected in the material difference in TRIFR 
relative to LTIFR. 

There were no fatalities during the reporting period (or the 
prior corresponding period) at any of 29Metals’ operating or 
exploration sites. 

2021 2020

Safety indicators
Capricorn

Copper
Golden

Grove
Capricorn

Copper
Golden

Grove

Work hours 1,065,500 1,823,151 885,909 1,808,319

Total Recordable 
Injuries 15 21 8 15

Lost Time Injuries 2 0 2 0

TRIFR 14.1 11.5 9.0 8.3

LTIFR 1.9 0 2.3 0

Leading Safety Indicators 2021
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29Metals remains committed to improving safety performance 
and will focus on leading indicators such as hazard reporting, 
safety leadership interactions, verification of critical risk controls, 
and knowledge and experience sharing across the business.

The performance in 2021 from a TRIFR perspective has highlighted 
the importance of enhancing engagement with 29Metals’ 
contractors in relation to safety performance, with contractor 
employees on site contributing a significant majority of recordable 
injuries at both Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove in 2021. 

In 2021, 29Metals maintained normal operations and achieved 
no recorded cases of COVID-19 across employee and contractor 
workforce on site. However, 29Metals was not spared the direct 
and indirect impacts of COVID-19 in 2021. 

A combination of COVID-19 and measures implemented by 
Government to limit the transmission of the virus resulted in:

	■ further escalation of labour market pressures, magnified by 
the impact of State border closures; 

	■ delays to supply chains with material increases in delivery 
times for key operating inputs; and 

	■ the incremental costs on COVID-19 management plans 
implemented at our operating sites to mitigate the risk of 
transmission on site. 

29Metals recorded its first cases of COVID-19 on-site at both 
Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove in early 2022.

In the case of both sites, 29Metals has been able to manage 
the emergence of COVID-19 and prevent serious transmission, 
with total case numbers kept low to-date.

In addition to 29Metals’ COVID-19 Management Plans, 29Metals 
is also required to follow the Health Department requirements in 
each state in which we operate. This includes differing requirements 
for “close contacts” and has involved isolating personnel on site 
(or preventing access to site). The impact of Health Department 
requirements has been significant, with close contact requirements 
resulting in the temporary unavailability of personnel, exacerbated 
by continuing tight labour market conditions. 

29Metals is managing COVID-19 risks closely, including ongoing 
engagement with state Health Department officials and, 
importantly, enhanced communication with the workforce.

The Company is closely monitoring the well-being of the 
workforce at sites. 

COVID-19
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Sustainability & ESG continued

Health and hygiene

29Metals understands the importance of protecting 
the workforce from longer term health risks in areas 
including underground workings, surface grinding, 
processing and laboratory areas. Major potential 
hazards include mobile vehicle diesel exhaust 
particulates, noise and respirable crystalline 
silica (‘RCS’). 

29Metals undertakes hygiene monitoring at high-risk areas within  
its operating sites. 
Hygiene monitoring 2021

Combined
Capricorn

Copper
Golden 

Grove

RCS exceedances 27 19 8

Noise exceedances 65 46 19

Diesel particulate matter  
(‘DPM’) exceedances 0 0 0

Inhalable dust exceedances 1 0 1

Lead and inorganic compounds,  
dust and fumes exceedances 2 0 2

Total 95 65 30

Note:
There are differences in the way exceedances are measured in Queensland and Western 
Australia. In Queensland, exceedances are assessed against exposure potential without 
consideration of the exposure protection provided by PPE. In Western Australia, 
exposure is measured after factoring in the benefit of PPE to reduce exposure.

In 2021, 29Metals’ operating sites recorded no DPM exceedances, 
and the frequency of reportable exceedances for RCS and noise 
reduced through the reporting period. 

All workers working in high-risk areas receive training on how 
to improve management of exposure to harmful atmosphere 
conditions, including the use of mandatory PPE and surveillance 
monitoring. Notifications are provided to workers in the event of 
detected exceedances. 

Where an exceedance is detected, investigations are completed 
to identify the sources of exceedance, review the efficacy of the 
controls and identify improvements. As an example, following 
detection of an exceedance for RCS at Capricorn Copper in 
September 2021, the review identified opportunities to improve 
ventilation. In the interim, temporary controls have been 
implemented to mitigate exposure.

Inclusion and diversity

29Metals is committed to promoting an inclusive 
workplace, where all people feel respected and 
valued, and embracing the benefits of diversity.

29Metals’ gender diversity data is presented in the table below. 
The data reported is employees only. It is 29Metals’ intention 
to report additional demographic data from 2023, including 
contractor personnel.

At 31-Dec-2021
29Metals

Group2
Head

office3
Capricorn

Copper
Golden

Grove

Total employees in 
workforce 275 13 57 205

Employees that reside 
locally to mine 52

Not 
applicable 6 461

Head office3

Capricorn Copper Golden Grove

29Metals Group2

	 Male
231 (84%)

	 Female
44 (16%)

	 Male
9 (69%)

	 Female
4 (31%)

	 Male
42 (74%)

	 Female
15 (26%)

	 Male
180 (88%)

	 Female
25 (12%)

Notes:
Percentages shown are subject to rounding.
1.	� “Reside locally” for Golden Grove means employees living in the Mid‑West of WA,  

as defined by Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development.
2.	� 29Metals Group is the aggregate of Head Office, Golden Grove and 

Capricorn Copper, and excludes Non-executive Directors and Redhill roles).
3.	 Head office excludes Non-executive Directors.
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29Metals has set the following inclusion and diversity objectives 
and targets for the 12 months to 31 March 2023:

Objective Target

Gender diversity 
on the Board of 
Directors

	■ Maintain no less than 30% representation of 
each gender on the Board

Improve female 
participation in 
29Metals’ workforce

	■ Year-on-year increase in the percentage 
of female employees as a proportion of 
total employees

Increase 
transparency of 
gender diversity 
performance

	■ Commence Workplace Gender Equality Agency 
reporting, including completion of gender 
pay‑gap analysis

Increase engagement 
with the 29Metals 
workforce regarding 
inclusion and 
diversity matters

	■ Establish a Diversity Working Group with 
representation from across the workforce, to 
provide advice and recommendations regarding 
workplace inclusion and diversity improvement 
opportunities and strategies

Identify barriers 
to inclusion and 
diversity in 29Metals 
workplaces

	■ Conduct a whole of workforce survey to identify 
issues and opportunities for inclusion and 
diversity improvement 

	■ Develop a gap analysis and action plan based 
on the results

Improve 
understanding of 
current diversity 
across 29Metals’ 
workforce

	■ Establish a clear baseline understanding of 
the Company’s workforce (employees and 
contractors) diversity to inform future actions 
and objectives

Improve cultural 
awareness

	■ Refresh and roll out cultural awareness 
training, in consultation with local First Nations 
stakeholders

	■ Training to be successfully completed by all 
employees and contractors at superintendent 
level or above across 29Metals

In late 2021, 29Metals undertook a workforce engagement survey. 
The purpose of the survey was to examine the health and strength 
of our workplace culture following the IPO which brought together 
previously standalone, privately-held, assets under the 29Metals 
banner. The survey was also designed to obtain feedback regarding 
opportunities to improve our workplaces and the workplace 
experience for our employees and contractors.

The response to the survey was very encouraging, with 
high participation rates among employees and contractors – 
nearly 50% of all employees participated in the voluntary survey.

The results of the survey confirmed strong workplace health, as 
well as identifying a number of priority areas where 29Metals 
can further enhance the workplace. Key areas for enhancement 
included increasing regular communications from leadership 
regarding performance and improvements to on-site amenities 
and communications.

The survey and the responses from our workforce were the first 
important steps in this engagement. The priority now is implementing 
actions to respond to the feedback which is well underway.

3.2	 Our priorities for 2022

Key priorities for 29Metals in the core dimension  
Safe and Inclusive Workplace include4:

Continuing focus on eliminating serious injuries through 
updated critical control framework and verification

Establish workforce-led inclusion and diversity  
working group
First meeting of this working group held in March this year

Investigation of barriers to attracting and retaining a  
diverse workforce, and developing an action plan

Renewed focus on reducing incidence of minor injuries

Improve detailed demographic data collection and analysis 

Continued workforce engagement and feedback loops, 
building on the successful 2021 workplace health survey

4.	 In addition to other inclusion and diversity objectives and targets.
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4	� Responsible environmental stewardship 
(including action on climate change)

Sustainability & ESG continued

29Metals is committed to: 

	■ implementing enduring strategies for key environmental 
performance priorities, including:

	҄ responsible use of natural resources
	҄ reducing waste generation at our operating sites
	҄ identifying opportunities to reduce carbon 

emissions intensity
	■ formally integrating climate change risks and opportunities 

into our business processes, through our roadmap to align 
with TCFD recommendations
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4.1	 Our performance
Environmental compliance

Mining operations and exploration activities have an 
impact on the natural environment through disturbance 
and potential for harm to the surrounding ecosystems, 
water and land. 29Metals’ operating mines have 
environmental management systems (‘EMS’) based 
on ISO 14001 in place, executed by dedicated 
site environment teams. 

In each case, the EMS includes plans to rehabilitate disturbed land, 
remediation requirements for contaminated land, and end-uses for 
land and infrastructure. The EMS’ were developed in accordance with 
regulatory requirements and in consultation with regulatory bodies, 
and require reporting of environmental performance against licence 
or permit conditions. 

The Company’s mining operations are also managing environmental 
legacy issues. Mining operations at Capricorn Copper date back many 
decades, with multiple changes in ownership. The mining methods 
deployed over this period include open pit and underground, with 
various surface processing operations, including heap leaching, 
pressure leaching and copper sulphide flotation. In certain instances, 
the historical environmental management practises did not meet 
modern contemporary methods. 

The Company has been progressively developing and implementing 
integrated plans that enable the current mining operations to 
progressively rehabilitate former disturbance sites.

Reportable environmental incidents during the year ended 
31 December 2021 are tabled below (by site). 

Site
Reportable 
incidents1

Enforcement 
action2

Golden 
Grove 

15 Nil

Capricorn 
Copper 

33 Delay in submitting ERC decision application 
resulted in penalty infringement notice for 
minimum prescribed amount4

Redhill 1 Redhill was required to undertake remediation 
activities to the site following vandalism

Notes:
1.	� Includes notification of potential non-compliances by environmental regulators.
2.	 Refer to commentary below.
3.	� Capricorn Copper received a notice of non-compliance relating to groundwater 

quality monitoring trigger levels in December 2021. Capricorn Copper has 
responded to the notice. This matter remains open.

4.	� ERC is environmental rehabilitation cost under the Queensland Mineral and Energy 
Resources (Financial Provisioning) Act (2018). Refer to section 10.7.14 of the 29Metals 
Prospectus dated 21 June 2021 (released to ASX on 2 July 2021) (the ‘29Metals 
Prospectus’) for further information regarding this matter. The ERC decision process 
was completed in 2021 and resulted in an increase in the quantum of environmental 
bond required for Capricorn Copper, reflecting changes in the prescribed 
environmental bond calculation methodology. The increased environmental bond 
was posted by 29Metals in November 2021.

Capricorn Copper reportable incidents in the reporting period 
includes a notice of potential non-compliance issued by the 
Queensland Department of Environment & Science (the ‘DES’) 
regarding an environmental protection order (‘EPO’).5 The potential 
non-compliances raised in the notice related to water quality 
monitoring data reporting requirements and the treated water 
discharge infrastructure requirements. 29Metals engaged with 
the DES regarding the potential non-compliances and a warning 
was issued. In the context of that engagement, the DES advised 
29Metals of its intention to issue an updated EPO with changes 
to the monitoring requirements and treated water discharge 
infrastructure requirements. The new (updated) EPO was issued 
in September 2021. The new EPO is on substantially the same 
terms as the prior EPO. 

Except as outlined above, all reportable incidents were resolved 
without action, and causing environmental harm. 

Responsible use of natural resources

29Metals is committed to managing its impact 
on finite natural resources and protecting the 
environment through all stages of our business, 
from exploration through development, 
operations, rehabilitation and closure.

5.	� Information regarding the EPO are set out in section 3.11.11 of the 29Metals Prospectus.
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Sustainability & ESG continued

As outlined in 29Metals’ Prospectus, a key environmental priority 
for 29Metals is reducing the volume of water in water storage 
infrastructure at Capricorn Copper.

The volume of water in Capricorn Copper water storage 
infrastructure currently exceeds regulated levels and is the 
subject of an EPO. 

The excess water volume reflects a number of factors, including 
a historic under-investment in effective clean water diversion 
infrastructure and extended periods of care and maintenance 
under prior ownership, significant local weather events, and the 
site operating water balance.

Capricorn Copper has made significant investments in 
infrastructure on site to address the excess water volume, 
including actions prior to, and over and above, the EPO 
requirements, and significant progress has been made. 

Progress to-date includes:

	■ of the two main site water storage facilities – the Esperanza Pit 
and the Mill Creek Dam – only the Esperanza Pit is currently 
above the regulated level. 29Metals has successfully reduced 
water levels in the Mill Creek Dam to below the required level;

	■ in the Esperanza Pit, water levels have been lowered by more 
than 2.9 meters (at 31 December 2021), materially reducing 
the risk of unplanned release of mine wastewater; and

	■ more than 1.5 gigalitres of treated water has been released.1

In addition to actions to reduce the volume of accumulated 
water, the team at Capricorn Copper is continuing to identify and 
implement strategies to reduce the inflow of water to site water 
storage facilities, through improved run-off water diversions and 
improvements to the site operating water balance. 

While there has been good progress since November 2020, 
29Metals recognises that there remains work to be done 
and is progressing a range of strategies to continue to 
improve performance.

Note: 
1.	� Treated water releases are subject to strict requirements in relation to 

water quality and background flow conditions.

Water 

29Metals is committed to taking meaningful steps to 
reduce the amount of fresh water and groundwater 
used in mining and ore processing operations.

29Metals has programs in place at each of its operating sites seeking 
to reduce the volume of fresh water and groundwater drawn from 
surface and groundwater sources for use in operations, including 
through the treatment and re-use of process wastewater. 

Combined
Capricorn

Copper
Golden 

Grove

Surface Water –  
Lake Waggaboonya (ML) 686 686 N/A

Groundwater – borefield (ML) 603 0 603

Groundwater – mine dewatering (ML) 1,528 4281 1,100

Seepage recovery (ML) 36 0 36

Total Water Use (ML) 2,853 1,114 1,739

Total Treated Water Discharged (ML)2 1,543 975 568

Notes:
1.	 Combination of Mammoth and Esperanza South dewatering to pit.
2.	� Treated or conditioned water releases are subject to strict requirements in relation 

 to water quality. Golden Grove total amount of treated water is a combination of 
discharge to Lake Wownaminya, evaporation ponds and  
sprinkler/evaporation paddock.

Combined
Capricorn

Copper
Golden 

Grove

Water reused –  
water treatment plant (ML) 2,438 1,570 868

Mine water clarifier (ML) 954 N/A 954

Water reused – reverse osmosis (ML) 351.5 335 16.5

Total treated water reused (ML) 3,743.5 1,905 1,838.5

Water for processing at Capricorn Copper is principally drawn 
from water storage facilities on-site, including the Esperanza Pit 
tailings storage facility, and Lake Waggaboonya. In early 2020, 
a reverse osmosis (‘RO’) plant with 2.0 mega litre (ML)/day capacity 
was commissioned at Capricorn Copper to treat mine wastewater 
reclaimed from the Esperanza Pit. 

In 2020, the use of the RO plant resulted in an annual reduction in 
freshwater withdrawal of approximately 46% (relative to 2019). 

Several performance issues with the RO plant in 2021 resulted in 
materially reduced volumes of RO-treated water being available 
and necessitated an increase in water withdrawals from Lake 
Waggaboonya of approximately 25% (relative to 2020). 29Metals 
has engaged closely with the RO plant vendor to resolve the RO 
performance issues and modifications have been implemented 
resulting in a substantial improvement in performance. 

Capricorn Copper water inventory
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Waste management

Tailings

A critical environmental responsibility for mining 
operations is the management of mine waste, 
tailings in particular. 

Tailings are stored in facilities referred to as tailings dams or tailings 
storage facilities (‘TSF’). 

Commonly, TSFs are engineered structures specifically designed and 
constructed to safely store tailings. These engineered TSFs have a 
finite storage capacity, with capacity increased through progressive 
extensions of the facility wall height (referred to as ‘lifts’). 

In some cases, other facilities may be used to store tailings, such as 
decommissioned mining open pits, or mined out underground voids, 
as has been the case at Capricorn Copper where tailings were stored 
in the Esperanza Pit until early 2022 (refer below).

TSFs are regulated structures and, in Australian jurisdictions, 
are subject to comprehensive regulatory requirements including 
periodic inspections and management system audits. 

The table below provides details of the TSFs at 29Metals’ operating 
sites, including the construction method and current status.

TSF Construction method Status 

S
it

e

C
ap

ri
co

rn
 C

o
p

p
er

Esperanza 
TSF

Engineered TSF, upstream In use (deposition 
re‑commenced in 
January 2022, following 
construction of new lift)

Esperanza 
Pit

NA. Previously mined  
open cut pit

Tailings deposition ceased 
end January 2022

Mammoth Engineered TSF, upstream Decommissioned 1980s 
and rehabilitated 2019–21

G
o

ld
en

 
G

ro
ve

TSF 1 Engineered TSF, upstream In use

TSF 2 Engineered TSF, upstream Care and maintenance

TSF 3 Engineered TSF, upstream In use

At Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove, TSF lifts were undertaken in 
2021, providing future storage capacity. At Golden Grove, a new TSF 
is currently being designed to hold future tailings once the existing 
TSFs reach capacity. 

At Capricorn Copper, 29Metals is updating its long-term tailings 
management strategy.

29Metals’ assets have detailed management systems and processes 
for tailings storage facilities, utilising risk minimisation and monitoring 
systems. Each TSF is subject to external assurance programs 
completed by third party experts at least annually. 

Third-party audits of the Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove 
tailings storage facilities were carried out in Q4 2021. Management 
reports the recommendations from third-party audits, along with 
Management’s actions to address those recommendations, to the 
Sustainability Committee. 

29Metals supports the Global Industry Standard on Tailings 
Management (‘GISTM’) published by the International Council on 
Mining and Metals (‘ICMM’) as a framework for the responsible 
management of tailings. 

29Metals is assessing the application of the GISTM to identify 
opportunities to enhance our approach to tailings management. 
Subject matter experts have been engaged to review practices 
and provide a gap analysis for alignment with the GISTM. Findings 
from these reviews will be used to develop an action plan for 
implementation, focusing on priority areas for alignment.

Both Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper apply the conventional 
long hole open stoping mining method and utilise backfill to 
rehabilitate mined areas to assist geotechnical stability.

Golden Grove currently utilises cemented hydraulic fill (‘CHF’) 
for back fill. CHF is a combination of de-slimed tailings and 
cement that is pumped underground to fill mining voids. In 2021, 
486,705 tonnes of tailings, approximately 39% of tailings generated 
from mineral processing operations at Golden Grove, was utilised 
in CHF, reducing the volume of tailings required to be stored in 
surface tailings storage facilities.

In 2021 Golden Grove also secured approvals to implement 
paste‑fill. Paste-fill uses paste thickeners to remove as much water 
from the tailings as practical to produce a product which is pumped 
into a storage area as a paste (with a consistency somewhat like 
toothpaste). For the purposes of paste-fill operations at Golden 
Grove, tailings currently stored in the de-commissioned TSF2 will 
be reclaimed and deployed to paste-fill. 29Metals is targeting the 
commencement of paste-fill operations at Golden Grove in Q3 2022.

At Capricorn Copper, 29Metals successfully re-commissioned 
paste-fill operations in June 2021. The average monthly volume of 
tailings used in paste-fill operations at Capricorn Copper following 
recommencement was approximately 16.8 m3, accounting for up 
to 9.5% of tailings generated from mineral processing operations 
during the second half of the year.

At full capacity, paste-fill operations at Capricorn Copper is 
expected to re-use up to 20% of tailings produced from mineral 
processing operations.

Re-cycling tailings

Tailings is the term used to describe mine processing waste and 
water left behind after the priority metals have been extracted. 
Tailings typically have the consistency of fine sand and contain 
waste processing chemicals and other metals and minerals. 
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Sustainability & ESG continued

Other mining waste

Other forms of mine waste include waste rock extracted in the mining process and industrial waste associated 
with mining operations and surface activities (including mineral processing and civil works). 

The table below reports the mineral waste generated at 29Metals’ operations in 2021.

Combined
Capricorn

Copper
Golden 

Grove

Total Waste Mined (tonnes) 1,352,130 337,662 1,014,468

Solids in Tailings (tonnes) 2,922,403 1,676,460 1,245,943

Total Mineral Waste Generated (tonnes) 4,274,533 2,014,122 2,260,411

Total Mineral Waste Re-used (tonnes) 895,841 62,136 833,7051

Percentage of Mineral Waste Re-used – 3% 37%

Note:
1.	� Total reported waste re-used for Golden Grove includes waste from mining operations utilised as construction materials for TSF lifts and armouring waste dumps.

Other general waste is segregated into materials for land fill or for off-site recycling. As part of the ongoing clean-up of legacy facilities at 
Capricorn Copper, a major hydrocarbon storage facility was decommissioned.

Other Waste Unit Disposal method
Total 

Volume
Capricorn 

Copper
Golden 

Grove

Non-hazardous waste

Class A Water kL Sprinkler fields 34,675 0 34,675

General waste to offsite landfill m3 Licenced waste service 3,330 3,300 0

General waste to onsite landfill tonnes Landfill 450 0 450

Glass tonnes Recycled 5 0 5

Cardboard tonnes Recycled 33 0 33

Steel tonnes Recycled 441 2901 151

Aluminium tonnes Recycled 6 0 6

Hazardous Waste

Oil litres Licenced waste service 100,000 85,0002 15,000

Grease litres Licenced waste service 70 NR 70

Batteries count Recycled 147 NR 147

Hydrocarbon contaminated waste m3 Licenced waste service 2.17 NR 2.17

Notes:
NR	 Not reported 
1.	 Approximation only, no weightometer available on site at the time.
2.	 Includes clean-up of legacy hydrocarbon storage area. 

 
Mine closure and rehabilitation

29Metals is required to have comprehensive mine 
closure plans in place for each of its mine sites, which 
include the proposed methods to rehabilitate disturbed 
land, remediation requirements for contaminated land, 
and end uses for land and infrastructure. 

Mine closure plans are developed in accordance with the State 
regulatory requirements and in consultation with regulatory bodies 
and are reviewed annually.

Rehabilitation and post-mine land use are incorporated into the initial 
environmental permitting submissions, and progressively updated and 
implemented during a mine’s operating life. New areas that will be 
impacted by mining or mine infrastructure is baseline (pre‑disturbance) 
surveyed for sites of cultural heritage, soils, land use, ground and 
surface water, and other environmental values. 29Metals integrates 
mine closure and progressive rehabilitation into the life cycle of our 
operations to minimise our environmental legacies. 
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Post-closure, monitoring programmes are designed to measure 
rehabilitation progress towards the agreed land use criteria.

Capricorn Copper Golden Grove

Mining lease area 1,293.0 ha 926.0 ha

Disturbance 245.0 ha 626.0 ha

In-progress rehabilitation area 0.0 ha 246.0 ha

Completed rehabilitation area 15.5 ha 0.0 ha

At Capricorn Copper, due to historical mining legacies, there has 
been extensive planning and consultation with the DES on dealing 
with the high-risk legacy components. The Company preference is 
to incorporate the legacy rehabilitation works with future mining 
activities and planned rehabilitation works. This approach is intended 
to optimise the characterisation and movement of materials for 
rehabilitation within mining operations. Capricorn Copper has 
completed recent rehabilitation of two redundant process water 
ponds, the Old Mammoth TSF and a heap leach pad.

Following engagement with DES, Capricorn Copper will transition to 
a Progressive Rehabilitation and Closure Plan (‘PCRP’) under the revised 
regulatory framework being implemented in Queensland. Capricorn 
Copper’s PRCP is required to be submitted by 1 June 2024.

National Pollutant Inventory (NPI) and National 
Greenhouse Emissions Reporting Scheme (NGERS)

29Metals monitors and reports carbon emissions 
under the National Pollutant Inventory (‘NPI’) 
and National Greenhouse Emissions Reporting 
scheme (‘NGERS’) annually.

Our reported carbon profile comprises: 

	■ Scope 1 emissions produced via energy utilisation in our 
production, such as diesel and LPG, which is used in light vehicles, 
loaders and trucks, and diesel power generators and compressors.

	■ Scope 2 emissions produced indirectly via electrical grid 
power supply, which is used in processing including crushing 
and conveyors; underground mine ventilation; and water and 
paste‑fill pumping. 

The NGERS and NPI submissions were completed for both Golden 
Grove and Capricorn Copper for the 2020/2021 financial year. 

2020/21

GHG emissions (t CO
2
e) Energy

consumed
(GJ)Scope 1 Scope 2 Total

Golden Grove 26,176 98,670 124,846 906,021

Capricorn Copper 12,418 66,697 79,115 482,231

Total 38,594 165,367 203,961 1,388,252

2019/20

Golden Grove 23,396 95,231 118,627 845,926

Capricorn Copper 11,835 66,967 78,802 472,611

Total 35,231 162,198 197,429 1,318,537

As part of a commitment to progressive rehabilitation of areas no 
longer used in operations, Capricorn Copper applied innovation 
to remediate legacy mining facilities at the site.

The former 11 ha Mammoth TSF, built in the 1970’s, was capped 
under previous ownership. Following capping there was evidence 
of oxidisation causing acid mine seepage to groundwater. 

Original closure plans proposed the use of a 0.5 m compacted 
clay cover system to seal off the TSF to reduce water and oxygen 
infiltration, with a 2 m soil growth medium to support vegetation. 
A review of the cover options identified there was insufficient 
clay available to build the cover, requiring Capricorn Copper 
to identify and assess alternative options to deliver the target 
environmental closure outcome. 

The use of tough, low permeability, synthetic liners was identified 
as having the potential to deliver a superior option to clay. 

A 4 mm bituminous geomembrane liner (‘BGM’) was selected 
with a 1 m soil layer. The BGM has a predicted life of 
300–1,000 years.

The cover system was installed and revegetated, and oxygen 
and moisture sensors installed below the cover to monitor 
performance.

Oxygen levels have significantly improved from an average 14.5% 
to 1.3%, and sub-cover temperatures have also decreased. 

As at 31 December 2021, re-vegetation results have been very 
encouraging with vegetation now well established and covering 
approximately 75% of the previously disturbed area. 

Ongoing performance monitoring will continue.

Before

After

Case Study 
Innovative use of Geotextile Liner for rehabilitation 
(Capricorn Copper)
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Sustainability & ESG continued

Total GHG emissions in 2020/2021 were 204 kt of carbon dioxide equivalents (CO2-e), a 3% increase from 2019/2020 emissions. 
Approximately 80 – 85% of the emissions at both sites are Scope 2, which relates to electricity usage, with a smaller footprint in diesel  
and other sources of carbon.

Scope 1 and 2
GHG emissions

(t CO
2
e) 

Ore Mined
(kt)

Ore Milled
(kt)

Combined Scope 1 and 2
emissions intensity 

(t CO
2
e/kt ore Mined)

Combined Scope 1 and 2
emissions intensity 

(t CO
2
e/kt ore Milled)

Golden Grove 124,846 1,365 1,280 91.49 97.56

Capricorn Copper 79,115 1,810 1,827 43.70 43.30

29Metals 203,961 3,175 3,107 64.24 65.65

Note:
Reporting period 1/07/2020 to 30/06/2021.

Action on climate change	

29Metals is committed to contributing to the global effort to 
respond to the impacts of climate change, including identifying 
and implementing strategies to reduce the carbon intensity of our 
business activities. 

Following the IPO, 29Metals has advanced its approach to action 
on climate change in two key areas:

	■ the development of a roadmap to align with the recommendations 
of the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 
(the ‘TCFD’); and

	■ identifying opportunities to collaborate on climate action. 

TCFD Roadmap

In late 2021/early 2022, 29Metals undertook a gap analysis of its 
reporting, and management systems and processes, relative to the 
TCFD recommendations. The work undertaken included a preliminary 
assessment of climate change risks and opportunities. To assist with 
this work, 29Metals engaged an expert climate change advisory group. 

Following the gap analysis work described above, 29Metals has 
developed a roadmap to align to the TCFD recommendations, 
adopting the TCFD governance--strategy--risk management--metrics 
and targets structure. An outline of our three-year TCFD Roadmap 
is set out below. 

29Metals will report progress against the TCFD Roadmap in future Sustainability & ESG reporting.

2022 2023

29Metals Actions

TC
FD

 R
ec

om
m

en
d

at
io

n 
El

em
en

t

Governance

Strategy

Risk 
Management

Metrics and
Targets

2024

Continue to build and enhance 
Board and Management climate 
competency through climate 
education sessions

Formally integrate climate 
change risks and opportunities 
into risk management framework

Complete assessment of 
emissions profile (Scope 1 and 
Scope 2) for existing operations 
to inform development of 
absolute emissions or emissions 
intensity reduction plan, to 
underpin the setting of 
credible targets

Continuous improvement in 
internal oversight

Continuous improvement 
in risk management actions 
and monitoring

Formally integrate climate change into 
strategy to consider risks and 
opportunities

Continuous improvement in 
internal reporting

Continuous improvement 
in risk management actions 
and monitoring

Undertake climate scenario 
analysis, and disclose on 
process and outcomes in 
annual reporting

Monitor and report progress 
against targets, with related 
metrics integrated into 
internal and external 
reporting processes

Set credible external medium-term 
absolute emissions or emissions intensity 
reduction targets (Scope 1 and Scope 2)

Reduction target(s) metrics 
integrated into internal and 
external reporting processes

Assessment of emissions profile 
(Scope 3) for existing operations to inform 
development of absolute emissions or 
emissions intensity reduction plan
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Industry collaboration

29Metals recognises that meaningful action on climate change 
will require innovation and investment that, in turn, will require 
collaboration with other mining industry participants and beyond. 

29Metals commenced its collaboration journey in 2021 by signing 
up to support the International Copper Association (Australia) 
(the ‘ICAA’) deep dive research into the zero-emission copper mine 
theme of Material’s Movement as part of the wider Copper Mark 
project. The Copper Mark project was initiated by the ICAA and is 
built on a genuine commitment from the copper industry to ensure 
responsible production practices. 29Metals has been invited to 
participate in directing the Material’s Movement project towards 
key areas of interest for companies in the copper industry. 

Further collaboration initiatives that 29Metals will focus on in 
2022 include exploring potential partnering opportunities with 
key suppliers and other industry participants on areas such as the 
electrification of underground mining equipment. 

The Company is supportive of alternative energy suppliers to 
enable 29Metals’ operating mines to utilise a higher proportion 
of renewable energy sources. In this regard, 29Metals is a 
supporter of the Copper String 2.0 initiative (refer below). 

4.2	 Our priorities for 2022

Key priorities for 29Metals in the core dimension 
Responsible Environmental Stewardship 
(including action on climate change) include:

Develop and launch 29Metals’ roadmap for aligning  
with TCFD recommendations 
Roadmap launched in this report (refer facing page)

Implement 2022 actions in 29Metals’ roadmap for  
aligning with TCFD recommendations

Reduce water levels in Capricorn Copper regulated  
facilities and improve operating water balance

Industry collaboration – advance existing collaboration 
activities (ICAA and Copper String 2.0), and identify 
collaboration opportunities with business partners 
and customers

Complete gap analysis for application of ICMM Global 
Tailings Management Standard at 29Metals operating sites

Implementation of paste-fill operations at Golden Grove, 
reducing the volume of tailings stored in surface tailings 
management facilities

Improve data collection and analytics for environmental 
stewardship metrics to inform future actions and priorities

Reduce volume of water withdrawn from the environment  
for mining operations

Commence transition to Progressive Rehabilitation and  
Closure Plan at Capricorn Copper

Copperstring 2.0 is a privately led initiative seeking to connect 
the northwest Queensland region to the National Electricity 
Market. The initiative has support from the Queensland and 
Federal Governments.

In addition to promoting economic development in the region 
and providing access to the NEM for Capricorn Copper, 
29Metals’ attraction to Copperstring 2.0 is that it has the 
potential to provide Capricorn Copper with access to renewable 
energy as the proposed Copperstring 2.0 transmission 
infrastructure corridor has the potential to connect with a 
number of proposed wind and solar generation projects in 
the region.

Further information regarding Copperstring 2.0 is available on 
the Copperstring 2.0 website at https://copperstring2.com.au/.

Copperstring 2.0
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5	 Partnering with stakeholders	

Sustainability & ESG continued

29Metals is building and maintaining long-term and 
sustainable relationships with key stakeholders, 
reflective of our long‑life mines, including:

	■ engaging with the communities around our operating 
sites to understand community concerns, priorities and 
opportunities for sustainable benefits

	■ utilising collaboration to realise meaningful benefits 
for stakeholders

	■ open and frequent communications with our workforce, 
and encouraging feedback and the raising of concerns 

	■ maintaining positive relationships with regulatory 
authorities, built on a foundation of delivery against 
our obligations
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5.1	 Our performance

The Company’s two operating mines are located in 
relatively remote parts of Australia:

	■ Capricorn Copper is located approximately 
120 km north of Mount Isa; and

	■ Golden Grove is located in the mid-west region 
of Western Australia, approximately 450 km 
north‑east of Perth and 250 km east of Geraldton. 
The nearest local population is the town of Yalgoo 
with approximately 280 people, located 50 km 
north of the mine. 

29Metals is committed to maximising opportunities for local 
employment. In 2021, 22% of Golden Grove’s employee workforce 
resided locally within the Yalgoo, Morawa, Mt Magnet and Geraldton 
regions. At Capricorn Copper 11% of the employee workforce 
resided locally in the Mt Isa and Cloncurry regions in 2021. 

Work is underway to expand workforce data collection (including 
site-based contractors), and we will work with our contractors to 
actively identify opportunities to enhance local employment. 

Cultural heritage

29Metals respects the cultural heritage, customs and traditions of 
First Nations people and has established working relationships with 
the traditional owners at Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove. 

Capricorn Copper has established a cultural heritage management 
agreement which acknowledges that cultural heritage surveys were 
completed for current operating areas and provides:

	■ for high impact activities to be monitored in defined areas 
by representatives at the Kalkadoon Native Title Aboriginal 
Corporation;

	■ processes for agreeing on the management of new discoveries 
of sites of cultural heritage significance;

	■ for the maintenance of a Cultural Heritage Items Register, 
requirements for the storage and safety of all artefacts and 
significant cultural heritage objects removed from the project area;

	■ for payments to First Nations people engaged to perform cultural 
heritage surveys and clearances; and

	■ resolution procedures to be applied in the event of a dispute.

The mine has taken a proactive approach to cultural heritage. 
This includes heritage notices be provided to traditional owners 
prior to any ground disturbing works. 

If a new potential heritage site is discovered, established protocols 
require the cessation of works, establishment of a buffer zone around 
the area, submission of a heritage notice, and development of further 
heritage management plans in consultation with traditional owners. 

At Golden Grove:

	■ all the areas covered by current mining operations have been 
covered by cultural heritage surveys;

	■ identified cultural heritage sites have been protected and 
avoided; and

	■ cultural heritage management plans, prepared in consultation with 
traditional owner groups, are in place for registered heritage sites 
as well as other sites of significance to traditional owner groups.

Golden Grove maintains a positive 
relationship with local First Nations groups, 
which includes cultural heritage surveys 
and engagement to identify and manage 
any impact on items of cultural significance.
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Sustainability & ESG continued

Community partnerships

The Company conducts regular respectful engagement and provides 
clear and accessible communication with community stakeholders 
regarding business activities and potential impacts on the community.

During 2021, Capricorn Copper has worked with the Kalkadoon 
traditional owners including;

	■ drilling groundwater bores for the Calton Hills cattle station;
	■ continued engagement with representatives regarding Indigenous 

employment and training pathways, with plans finalised for a 
training and mentoring program for local applicants to achieve 
nationally recognised industry competencies; 

	■ heritage survey works at exploration prospects to identify 
heritage items; and

	■ meetings to review environmental monitoring programs.

Golden Grove has developed a strong connection with the local 
community. The focus has been on supporting programs that can 
lead to improved self-worth, education, training and leading to 
formal employment. This includes:

	■ the SHINE program, supporting opportunities for underprivileged 
girls in the Geraldton region;

	■ the Bayalgu Indigenous pre-employment program supporting local 
First Nations employment opportunities;

	■ engagement with the WA Department of Water and 
Environmental Regulation (‘DWER’) to support traineeships for 
members of the Yamatji First Nation people;

	■ sponsored and participated in several community initiatives 
including the Northern Agricultural Catchment Council (‘NACC’) 
Mallee Fowl and Threatened Species Conference in Geraldton, 
the Badimia Bandi Barna Strategic Plan opening, bush tucker tours, 
and the breakfast club and Yalgoo Emu festival at Yalgoo Primary 
School; and

	■ Donations to the Royal Flying Doctor Service and local 
community centres and cultural festivals.

For several years, Golden Grove has partnered with SHINE, 
a local organisation in the Geraldton region that focuses on 
improving well-being and education outcomes for high school 
girls. The 40-week program supports girls in years 7–10 at risk 
of dropping out of education, and focusing on how to improve 
self-confidence, vocational and life skills. 

The program operates in a safe environment designed to build 
trust with female coordinators. The aim is to create a nurturing 
pathway forward as an entry into education/traineeships at 
year 12. The program has been successful with a number of 
participants completing traineeships, securing employment and 
becoming community role models. 

In 2021, Golden Grove hosted a two-day visit to the mine for 
12 students promoting exciting career opportunities for women 
in the mining industry. Senior company officials attended the 
SHINE Sponsors’ Day and Graduation and awards presentation 
day. Golden Grove donated a commuter bus to enable SHINE 
students to participate in experiences like the visit to the mine 
site, and to provide community support services. Golden Grove 
also donated $30,000 to the program. 

29Metals will continue to support the SHINE program and 
seeing SHINE women gaining self-confidence, education and 
securing employment.

Case Study 
SHINE Program (Golden Grove)

Golden Grove continues to support the Bayalgu Indigenous 
pre‑employment training program conducted in collaboration 
with the Geraldton Shire Council and TAFE Western Australia. 
The program was established in 2006 to increase the employability 
and availability of job opportunities for local Indigenous people. 
The program aims to contribute to the overall community benefit 
arising from improving the socio-economic status of Indigenous 
people and empower the participants. 

Case Study 
Bayalgu Indigenous Pre-employment Training Program (Golden Grove)

The 10-week programme for First Nations Australians aged 
over 18 years provides opportunity for attaining Work Safe 
qualifications and a Resource and Infrastructure Certificate. 
Golden Grove has committed to supporting two intakes of six 
trainees each year. Since 2006, 114 trainees have completed 
the course and since 2008, 98% have completed the training, 
92% found suitable employment and, of those gaining employment, 
86% are still employed.

Traineeships under the Bayalgu Indigenous Pre-employment 
Training Program supported four TAFE places (three female and 
one male) due to re-commence in early 2022. Golden Grove is 
looking at partnering with the TAFE to firm up the program.
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Direct and indirect economic benefits

29Metals is a significant employer in the regions where we operate. 
The Company also makes significant direct and indirect economic 
contributions, including taxes, royalties, employment and business 
opportunities, and financial support to community programs, 
including programs to directly benefit First Nations people.

The Company purchased goods and services related predominantly 
to site and mining services, energy, ore processing reagents, 
maintenance and transport of products. The contract award and 
renewal process with suppliers follows a comprehensive assessment 
process across multiple criteria, including health and safety 
management, financial and performance, environmental practices, 
ethical behaviour and community relations. Suppliers are required to 
meet our Code of Conduct requirements, site procedures and policies 
and State and Local government legislation.

Capricorn
Copper

Golden 
Grove

Tax and payments to Government1,2

Corporate tax paid – $22,571,817

Mining royalties $12,792,285 $18,366,780

Payroll tax paid $509,711 $2,224,159

Goods and Services2

Total spend $231.9 million $341.1 million

Proportion of total spend to  
Australian suppliers 99% 98%

Proportion of total spend to suppliers  
in host state 31% 83%

Proportion of total spend to suppliers  
in host region 7% 11%

Value of community programs and  
other contributions $5,000 $380,000

Notes:
Values in the table are derived from Management Reports and are unaudited.
1.	� Taxes paid excludes personal income taxes for employees and contractor 

personnel at 29Metals’ sites.
2.	� GST paid/collected and GST input tax credits excluded from amounts cited.

29Metals’ mineral concentrate products are sold to international 
commodity traders or direct to smelters, principally in Asia and 
Australia, for refining and on-sale as a refined metal product for end 
use. At Capricorn Copper, in the second half of 2021 (and continuing 
in 2022) the majority of the mineral concentrates produced are being 
delivered to the Glencore-owned smelter in Mt Isa for refining.

5.2	 Our priorities for 2022

Key priorities for 29Metals in the core dimension 
Partnering with Stakeholders include:

Re-initiate sponsored traineeship program  
for First Nations people at Golden Grove  
(following COVID-19 related pause in the program)

Develop and roll-out sponsored traineeship programs  
for First Nations people at Capricorn Copper

Launch 29Metals’ Our Approach to Sustainability & ESG  
with stakeholders, including local communities

Re-fresh stakeholder and community engagement to confirm 
stakeholder priorities for Sustainability & ESG activities 

Improve data collection and analytics regarding direct and 
indirect economic contributions, and the community impact, 
to inform future activities and priorities

Review and update contract management processes, 
with a focus on identifying opportunities to improve  
local and regional business participation
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Sustainability & ESG continued

6	 Material Topics
The matters reported in this Sustainability & ESG report reflect the material sustainability and ESG 
risks and opportunities identified by 29Metals as having the potential to materially affect 29Metals’ 
performance, reputation, or ability to create value over the short and longer term.

Material topic Description GRI Standard Report Section

Safe and Inclusive  
workplace

	■ Management of COVID–19 
	■ Workplace safety
	■ Workplace health and hygiene
	■ Inclusion and diversity

OHS 403 Section 3 (Page 24)

Responsible environmental  
stewardship (including action  
on climate change)

	■ Use of natural resources
	■ Water management
	■ Waste management
	■ Mine closure and rehabilitation
	■ Climate change action

Environment 300

MM3

Section 4 (Page 28)

Working with stakeholders

	■ Respect cultural heritage
	■ Community partnerships
	■ Direct and indirect economic benefits

Social and Economic

102/40, 201

Section 5 (Page 36)
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7	 Abbreviations 
Term Description

ASX Australian Securities Exchange

AUD Australian dollar

CO2 Carbon dioxide

DES Department of Environment and Science

EMS Environmental Management System 

DPM Diesel particulate matter

ERC Estimate Rehabilitation Cost

ESG Environment Social Governance

GHG Greenhouse gas

GISTM Global Industry Standard on Tailings Management

GJ Gigajoule

GRI Global Reporting Initiative

HSEC Health, Safety, Environment and Community 

ICAA International Copper Association (Australia) 

ICMM International Council on Mining and Metals 

ILUA Indigenous Land Use Agreement 

ISO International Organization for Standardisation

LPG Liquefied petroleum gas

LTI Lost Time Injury

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate, reported per 
million work-hours on a rolling 12-month basis

ML Megalitre 

NACC Northern Agricultural Catchment Council 

NGERS National Greenhouse Emissions Reporting Scheme

NPI National Pollutant Inventory 

OHS Occupational Health Safety

PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction

PIN Penalty Infringement Notice

PPE Protective personal equipment

QLD Queensland

RAT Rapid Antigen Testing

Term Description

RCS Respirable crystalline silica

SPIFR Significant Potential Incident Frequency Rate, 
reported per million work-hours on a rolling 
12-month basis

TCFD Task Force on Climate-Related Financial 
Disclosures 

TRF Total Recordable Fatalities

TRI Total Recordable Injuries 

TRIFR Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate, reported 
per million work-hours on a rolling 12-month basis

TSF Tailings Storage Facility 

WA Western Australia
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Board of Directors

1.	� Owen is a EMR nominee director, nominated by 
the EMR Capital Investors (as that term is defined 
in the 29Metals Prospectus).
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Owen Hegarty OAM

Chair and  
Non-executive Director1

BEc (Hons) 

FAusIMM FAICD

Owen was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021.

Owen has more than 40 years’ experience in the 
global mining industry with a career spanning 
executive and directorship roles across multiple 
mineral commodities and assets in Australia, Asia, 
Africa, Europe and the Americas.

Owen co-founded and is Executive Chairman of 
EMR Capital. 

Owen was formerly the Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of ASX-listed Oxiana 
Limited, leading the company to its merger with 
Zinifex Limited in 2008 to form ASX-listed Oz 
Minerals Limited (ASX: OZL). Prior to Oxiana, 
Owen’s career included 25 years with the 
Rio Tinto Group, including as Managing Director 
of Rio Tinto Asia and Rio Tinto’s Australian copper 
and gold business.

Owen’s previous non-executive directorship roles 
include ASX‑listed Fortescue Metals Group Limited 
(ASX: FMG) and Highfield Resources Limited 
(ASX: HFR), and Hong Kong‑listed G-Resources 
Limited and CST Mining.

Owen has served and continues to serve on 
a number of government and industry mining 
advisory bodies and is the recipient of a number 
of awards and citations in recognition of his 
achievements and service to the mining industry.

Special responsibilities:

Member of the Sustainability Committee 
(formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment 
& Community Committee).

Member of the Remuneration & 
Nominations Committee.

Peter Albert

Managing Director &  
Chief Executive Officer

BSc (Minerals Engineering) (Hons) EMBA

MAICD FAusIMM, MIOM3, Chartered Engineer

Peter was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021 
and commenced his role as Managing Director & 
Chief Executive Officer with effect on and from 
2 July 2021.

Peter is an experienced mining executive, with more 
than 35 years’ experience in the mining industry 
across multiple commodities and spanning Australia, 
Asia, Africa and Europe, including 25 years in CEO 
and executive roles for listed mining companies in 
Australia and Asia.

Prior to his appointment as 29Metals’ Managing 
Director & Chief Executive Officer, Peter joined 
EMR Capital as the CEO of EMR Capital’s copper 
portfolio in preparation for 29Metals’ initial public 
offering and ASX-listing.

Peter’s earlier executive career included roles 
as CEO of ASX-listed Highfield Resources 
Limited (ASX: HFR), Jinchuan International and 
G-Resources Limited, and Executive General 
Manager – Asia for ASX-listed Oxiana Limited 
(later, OZ Minerals Limited).

Peter also held previous roles with Fluor Australia, 
Shell-Billiton Australia, Davy John Brown and 
Johannesburg Consolidated Investments.

Special responsibilities:

Nil.

Fiona Robertson

Independent Non-executive Director 

MA (Oxon) Geology

FAICD, MAusIMM

Fiona was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021.

Fiona has more than 40 years’ experience as a 
finance executive and non-executive director, 
most of this spent within the resources sector.

Fiona’s senior and executive finance roles included 
serving as CFO of ASX-listed companies Petsec 
Energy Limited, Climax Mining Limited and Delta 
Gold Limited. Fiona’s earlier career included 
credit risk management, corporate banking and 
resource financing roles with Chase AMP and 
Chase Manhattan Bank in Australia, New York 
and London.

Fiona is currently an independent non-executive 
director of ASX-listed Bellevue Gold Limited 
(ASX: BGL) and Whitehaven Coal Limited 
(ASX: WHC) where Fiona also chairs the Audit 
& Risk Committee for both companies.

Fiona was previously an independent 
non‑executive director of ASX-listed Drillsearch 
Energy Limited (ASX: DLS) and ASX-listed Heron 
Resources Limited (ASX: HRR).

In 2020 Fiona was named as one of “100 Global 
Inspirational Women in Mining” by Women in 
Mining UK.

Special responsibilities:

Chair of the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee.

Member of the Sustainability Committee 
(formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment & 
Community Committee).



2.	� The proposed demerger is subject to 
regulatory approvals and approval by Iluka 
Resources Limited shareholders. Refer to ASX 
announcement released by Iluka Resources 
Limited (ASX: ILU) dated 13 April 2022.
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Jacqueline ‘Jacqui’ McGill AO

Independent Non-executive Director 

BSc, MBA

GAICD, FAusIMM

Jacqui was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021.

Jacqui has more than 30 years’ experience in the 
mining sector, including in executive and senior 
leadership roles spanning operations, business 
development, technology and project management 
across copper, iron ore and energy.

Jacqui’s executive career includes 16 years with 
BHP where Jacqui held roles as President Olympic 
Dam and President BHP-Mitsui Coal, as well as other 
senior leadership roles in BHP’s copper, uranium 
and iron ore divisions.

Jacqui is currently an independent non-executive 
director of ASX-listed New Hope Corporation 
Limited (ASX: NHC), where Jacqui also serves as 
a member of the audit and risk committee and 
chair of the human resources and remuneration 
committee, and Johannesburg-listed Gold Fields 
Limited (JSE: GFI). At Goldfields, Jacqui is a 
member of a number of the board’s standing 
committees and, in June 2022, will become the 
chair of the Gold Fields board’s social, ethics and 
transformation committee.

Jacqui is also a director of the South Australian 
Art Gallery and the Royal Automobile Associated of 
South Australia, and serves as member of the South 
Australian Premier’s Economic Advisory Council.

Jacqui was included in the 2020 Australia Day 
honours list recognising her services the resources 
sector, and diversity and inclusion. 

Special responsibilities:

Chair of the Sustainability Committee 
(formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment 
& Community Committee).

Member of the Audit, Governance & Risk 
Committee.

Member of the Remuneration & Nominations 
Committee.

Martin Alciaturi

Independent Non-executive Director 

BSc (Eng) (Hons), Grad Dip (Applied Finance)

FCA MAICD

Martin was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021.

Martin is an experienced finance professional with 
combined experience of more than 40 years across 
investment banking, corporate finance and as a 
mining executive.

Martin is the Finance Director elect for Sierra Rutile 
Holdings Limited, a minerals sands mining company 
proposed to be de-merged from Iluka Resources 
Limited and listed on the ASX.2

Martin’s previous executive career included 
11 years as CFO and executive director with Aquila 
Resources Limited (ASX: AQA, delisted 2014) 
where Martin’s responsibilities included strategy, 
business development, investor relations, finance 
and administration.

Prior to Aquila, Martin spent 30 years in investment 
banking and corporate finance, including as Head 
of Corporate Finance at Macquarie Capital in 
Perth, Partner in charge of Corporate Finance 
at EY in Perth (including head of the EY natural 
resources team), and as an executive director 
with Poynton Corporate.

Martin has also served as a member of the 
Australian Government’s Takeovers Panel 
between 2006 and 2015.

Special responsibilities:

Chair of the Remuneration & 
Nominations Committee.

Member of the Audit, Governance & 
Risk Committee.



Executive Leadership Team

Peter Albert

Managing Director &  
Chief Executive Officer

Refer to page 42

Ed Cooney

Chief Operating Officer 

BEng (Mining) MBA

MAusIMM

Ed is a mining engineer with more than 20 years’ 
experience in base and precious metals mining 
operations and development projects spanning 
Australia and Indonesia, including ten years in 
senior operational leadership roles.

Ed joined EMR Capital in 2019 as Operations 
Director. His role with EMR Capital has included 
operational leadership and oversight to EMR 
Capital’s portfolio companies with a particular 
emphasis on the 29Metals assets.

Ed’s prior roles include a series of senior operations 
leadership roles at the privately-owned Martabe 
Gold Mine in Indonesia (2013–2019), including 
General Manager Operations (2015–2019) and 
Director Operations (2016–2019), and with BHP 
as Manager Mining (2010–2012) and Manager 
Resource Planning and Development (2009–2010) 
at the Cannington Mine in Australia. 

Earlier, Ed’s career included roles with Xstrata, 
PT Petrosea, Barrick Gold and Mount Isa Mines, 
in Australia and Indonesia. 

Ed holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mining) 
from the University of New South Wales and an 
MBA from the University of California, Los Angeles, 
and the National University of Singapore.

Ed is a member of the Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy.

At 29Metals, Ed has functional accountability 
for site safety and sustainability, operations, 
operational risk management, project studies 
and development, Group planning, Group 
geology and exploration, and Ore Reserves 
and Minerals Resources.

Peter Herbert

Chief Financial Officer 

BComm 

Grad Dip (Applied Finance)

Peter is a corporate finance executive with 
18 years’ experience across private equity, 
investment banking and professional services 
with a Big Four firm.

Peter joined EMR Capital in 2018 as an investment 
director responsible for corporate finance and 
strategic initiatives. Peter has accepted a permanent 
role with 29Metals and will leave EMR Capital from 
completion of the Offer.

Peter’s prior roles include Executive Director 
Energy and Natural Resources Group (Mining 
and Metals) with Standard Chartered Bank 
(2011–2018), Associate Director Mining and 
Metals M&A with Gryphon Partners (2009–2011), 
Executive‑General Industrials with Macquarie 
Capital Advisers (2007–2009) and various roles 
with KPMG Corporate Finance (2003–2007).

Peter holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting 
and Corporate Finance) from the University of 
Western Australia and a Graduate Diploma in 
Applied Finance and Investment from the Financial 
Services Institute of Australia. Peter also completed 
the Chartered Accountant requirements from 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants.

At 29Metals, Peter has functional accountability 
for Group accounting and financial reporting, 
management reporting, treasury, concentrate 
marketing and logistics, Group commercial, 
ICT and business development.
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Andrew Miller

General Manager, Operations,  
Golden Grove

Senior Management

Clifford Tuck

Chief Governance & Legal Officer 

LLB (Hons), BScApp (Hons)

FGIA MAICD

Clifford is a legal and governance professional 
with more than 20 years’ experience, principally in 
the resources sector. Prior roles include working 
as an adviser to ASX-listed and private equity 
clients in relation to corporate transactions and 
governance matters, General Counsel & Company 
Secretary (consultant) for Lattice Energy Limited 
(the proposed IPO vehicle for the upstream oil 
& gas assets of ASX-listed Origin Energy Limited 
(2017)), General Counsel & Company Secretary 
of formerly ASX-listed Drillsearch Energy Limited 
(2014–2016) and various in-house roles with 
ASX‑listed Newcrest Mining Limited (2005–2014), 
including Acting General Counsel and Deputy 
General Counsel (2011–2014). Clifford commenced 
his professional career with national law firm Allens 
(2001–2005).

Clifford was also formerly a non-executive director 
of ASX-listed Aurelia Metals Limited (ASX: AMI) 
where he also served as a member of the 
audit committee.

Clifford holds a Bachelor of Laws from the 
Queensland University of Technology and a 
Bachelor of Applied Science from the University of 
Queensland. Clifford is a fellow of the Governance 
Institute of Australia and a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Clifford was appointed Company Secretary on 
27 May 2021, and General Counsel & Company 
Secretary with effect on and from 2 July 2021. 
In this role, Clifford’s executive responsibilities 
included governance, Group legal, Group risk and 
insurance, and external affairs. In February 2022, 
Clifford’s executive accountabilities were 
expanded to include ESG (environment, social 
and governance) and his title was changed 
to Chief Governance & Legal Officer. Mark van Heerden

Group Manager,  
Geology

Brett Milner

Group Manager, Projects,  
Innovation & Technology

Grace Fong

Group Financial Controller

Michael Slifirski

Group Manager,  
Investor Relations

Josh Moran

General Manager, Operations,  
Capricorn Copper
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves

	■ Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves estimates for each 
of Golden Grove, in Western 
Australia, and Capricorn Copper, 
in Queensland; and

	■ Mineral Resources estimates 
for Redhill, in Chile.

The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 
estimates reported have been prepared 
and are reported in accordance with the 
Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 
(2012 Edition) (the ‘JORC Code’). 

Competent persons statements are included 
with the underlying asset estimates included 
in this report. JORC Table 1 disclosures are 
included in the Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves estimates as originally published 
and released to the ASX platform on 
11 March 2022.

29Metals’ 31 December 2021 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 
estimates comprise:

Summary
Updated Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 
estimates for Golden Grove and Capricorn 
Copper are cited as at 31 December 2021 
and incorporate depletion for the period since 
the date of prior estimates (ranging between 
13 months and 19 months – refer to estimate 
reporting dates table on the following page). 
Mineral Resources estimates for Redhill are 
unchanged from May 2016 estimates.

Mineral Resources estimates

Combined Mineral Resources estimates 
for the Group at 31 December 2021 are 
123.4 Mt, with contained metal estimates 
of 2.1 Mt copper, 1.3 Moz gold, 2.6 Mt 
zinc, and 75 Moz silver.1 Mineral Resources 
estimates include depletion of 4.7 Mt, 
offsetting additions to Mineral Resources 
estimates for drilling results and subsequent 
model updates (+4.1 Mt).

Notably, at the Cervantes deposit at Golden 
Grove, aggregate zinc and copper Mineral 
Resources estimates (measured, indicated, 
and inferred) have seen a 100% increase 
in estimated tonnes to 4.6 Mt @ 1.4% Cu, 
6.6% Zn, 0.7 g/t Au, 40 g/t Ag (2020: 2.3 Mt 
@ 1.1% Cu, 6.9% Zn, 0.5 g/t Au, 34 g/t Ag). 

The 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources 
estimates for Golden Grove include drilling 
results up to 31 March 2021 in all orebodies 
other than Cervantes, which includes drilling 
results up to 31 December 2021. 

The 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources 
estimates for Capricorn Copper include drilling 
results up to 19 May 2021 at Esperanza South 
and 12 March 2021 at Greenstone. 

Ore Reserves estimates

Updated Ore Reserves estimates for the 
Group at 31 December 2021 are 25.3 Mt, 
with contained metal estimates of 0.5 Mt 
copper, 0.3 Moz gold, 0.7 Mt zinc, and 17 Moz 
silver. 31 December 2021 Ore Reserves 
estimates include depletion of 3.4 Mt, partly 
offset by Ore Reserves addition as a result of 
mine design updates (+2.6 Mt). 

There are currently no Ore Reserves 
estimates reported for Gossan Valley 
or Cervantes at Golden Grove as at 
31 December 2021.

1.	� Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates cited at the Group level are an aggregation of underlying Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates at the asset level. 
Detailed information regarding the underlying Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates at the asset level are set out in this report. 

A copy of 29Metals’  
31 December 2021 Mineral Resources  
and Ore Reserves estimates ASX release  
is available on 29Metals’ website at  
https://www.29metals.com/investors.
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Competent Persons
Competent persons statements for 29Metals’ Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates are included with the corresponding estimate. 
The table below sets out information regarding the Competent Persons for 29Metals’ Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates.

Estimate Competent Person Qualification Membership Employer

Golden Grove

	 Mineral Resources Leonard Mafurutu Geology (Hons) MAusIMM (CP) Golden Grove 
Operations Pty Ltd1

	 Ore Reserves Nyasha Gwatimba BSc (Hons) – 
Mining Engineering

MAusIMM Golden Grove 
Operations Pty Ltd1

Capricorn Copper

	 Mineral Resources Danny Kentwell 
(Estimation and  
Reporting – Mammoth, 
Pluto, Esperanza)

BSC Surveying; 
MSc Geostatistics

FAusIMM SRK Consulting

Esteban Jimenez 
(Estimation and 
Reporting – Esperanza 
South and Greenstone)

MS Geostatistics, 
Geology (Hons),  
BSc.

MAIG Capricorn Copper Pty Ltd1

Rosemary Gray 
(Sampling Techniques and 
Data, and Reporting of 
Exploration Results)

BSc (Geology) MAIG Capricorn Copper Pty Ltd1

	 Ore Reserves Christopher Desoe BE (Mining) FAusIMM (CP)  
RPEQ

Australian Mine Design 
and Development Pty Ltd

Redhill

	 Mineral Resources Tim Callaghan BSc (Hons);  
M. Econ. Geol

MAusIMM  
MAIG

Resource and 
Exploration Geology

Note:
1.	 Wholly owned subsidiary of 29Metals Limited.

Each of the Competent Persons identified in the table above has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to activity being undertaken to qualify as a competent person for the purposes of the JORC Code.

Estimate Reporting Dates
The table below sets out the reporting date for the prior Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves estimates for 29Metals’ assets.

Last reported  
estimates date1

Updated 
estimate date

Golden Grove

	 Mineral Resources 30 June 2020 31 Dec 2021

	 Ore Reserves 30 June 2020 31 Dec 2021

Capricorn Copper

	 Mineral Resources 31 May 2020 31 Dec 2021

	 Ore Reserves 1 December 2020 31 Dec 2021

Redhill

	 Mineral Resources 16 May 20162 16 May 2016

Notes:
1.	� Reported in the 29Metals Prospectus dated 21 June 2021 (released to ASX on 

2 July 2021).
2.	� No material changes to the Mineral Resources estimates for Redhill have occurred 

since 16 May 2016.
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

Group Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Estimates2

Mineral Resources

Mineral Resources estimates at the Group level are the aggregation of Mineral Resources estimates for Golden Grove, Capricorn Copper and 
Redhill reported in the following pages of this release. Mineral Resources have been depleted for production to 31 December 2021 and are 
reported as at that date.

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Asset
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Au
(g/t)

Zn
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

Cu
(kt)

Au
(koz)

Zn
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

C
at

eg
o

ry

M
ea

su
re

d

Golden Grove 21.9 1.7 0.8 3.2 31 374 528 704 21,634

Capricorn Copper 5.5 1.8 – – 6 97 – – 1,061

Redhill – – – – – – – – –

Total 27.4 Grades not additive 471 528 704 22,695

In
d

ic
at

ed

Golden Grove 26.0 1.6 0.7 5.3 29 423 551 1,386 24,386

Capricorn Copper 32.7 1.9 – – 8 624 – – 7,970

Redhill – – – – – – – – –

Total 58.7 Grades not additive 1,047 551 1,386 32,356

In
fe

rr
ed

Golden Grove 10.5 1.5 0.7 4.6 30 160 220 483 10,009

Capricorn Copper 22.6 1.6 – – 7 360 – – 5,334

Redhill 4.3 1.7 0.3 – 33 71 40 – 4,611

Total 37.4 Grades not additive 592 260 483 19,954

M
ea

su
re

d
, 

In
d

ic
at

ed
 &

 
In

fe
rr

ed

Golden Grove 58.4 1.6 0.7 4.4 30 957 1,299 2,573 56,029

Capricorn Copper 60.8 1.8 – – 7 1,081 – – 14,365

Redhill 4.3 1.7 0.3 – 33 71 40 – 4,611

Total 123.4 Grades not additive 2,109 1,338 2,573 75,006

2020

C
at

eg
o

ry

M
ea

su
re

d

Golden Grove 22.7 1.7 0.8 3.6 34 385 602 814 24,505

Capricorn Copper 5.4 1.8 – – 6 96 – – 1,110

Redhill – – – – – – – – –

Total 28.2 Grades not additive 482 602 814 25,615

In
d

ic
at

ed

Golden Grove 24.9 1.6 0.7 5.3 29 400 546 1,323 23,182

Capricorn Copper 33.8 1.9 – – 8 638 – – 8,534

Redhill – – – – – – – – –

Total 58.6 Grades not additive 1,038 546 1,323 31,716

In
fe

rr
ed

Golden Grove 10.1 1.4 0.5 4.7 25 140 153 477 8,281

Capricorn Copper 23.3 1.6 – – 7 366 – – 5,481

Redhill 4.3 1.7 0.3 – 33 71 40 – 4,611

Total 37.7 Grades not additive 578 193 477 18,373

M
ea

su
re

d
, 

In
d

ic
at

ed
 &

 
In

fe
rr

ed

Golden Grove 57.8 1.6 0.7 4.5 30 926 1,301 2,615 55,968

Capricorn Copper 62.5 1.8 – – 8 1,100 – – 15,125

Redhill 4.3 1.7 0.3 – 33 71 40 – 4,611

Total 124.5 Grades not additive 2,097 1,341 2,615 75,704

Note:
Estimates reported in the table above are subject to rounding (one significant figure). Additional metals – Pb, Co, As, S and Fe – are reported in underlying Mineral Resources estimates 
for assets (where applicable).

2.	� Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates cited at the Group level are an aggregation of underlying Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates at the asset 
level. Detailed information regarding the underlying Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates at the asset level are set out in this report. 
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Ore Reserves 

Ore Reserves estimates at the Group level are the aggregation of Ore Reserves estimates for Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper reported in 
subsequent sections of this release. Ore Reserves have been depleted for production to 31 December 2021 and are reported as at that date.

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Asset
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Au
(g/t)

Zn
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

Cu
(kt)

Au
(koz)

Zn
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

C
at

eg
o

ry

P
ro

ve
d Golden Grove 3.2 1.7 0.9 2.8 34 54 96 88 3,404

Capricorn Copper 1 1.7 – – 7 20 – – 200

Total 4.1 Grades not additive 74 96 88 3,604

P
ro

b
ab

le Golden Grove 9.6 1.9 0.8 5.9 32 182 238 567 9,905

Capricorn Copper 12 1.8 – – 10 210 – – 3,800

Total 21.2 Grades not additive 392 238 567 13,705

P
ro

ve
d 

&
 

P
ro

b
ab

le Golden Grove 12.7 1.9 0.8 5.1 33 236 334 655 13,309

Capricorn Copper 13 1.8 – – 10 220 – – 4,100

Total 25.3 Grades not additive 456 334 655 17,409

2020

C
at

eg
o

ry

P
ro

ve
d Golden Grove 3.6 1.3 1.4 4.1 47 47 157 149 5,467

Capricorn Copper 1.1 1.9 – – 8 20 – – 300

Total 4.7 Grades not additive 67 157 149 5,767

P
ro

b
ab

le Golden Grove 10.7 1.8 0.8 6.1 32 194 277 655 11,017

Capricorn Copper 12.3 1.8 – – 11 220 – – 4,600

Total 23.1 Grades not additive 414 277 655 15,617

P
ro

ve
d 

&
 

P
ro

b
ab

le Golden Grove 14.3 1.7 0.9 5.6 36 241 433 804 16,484

Capricorn Copper 13.4 1.8 – – 11 240 – – 4,800

Total 27.8 Grades not additive 481 433 804 21,284

Note:
Golden Grove estimates reported in the table above, other than silver, are rounded to one decimal place. Estimates for silver are rounded to zero decimal places. For Capricorn 
Copper, aggregated totals for Proved and Probable Ore Reserves tonnes have been rounded to the nearest 1 Mt. The combined total for both assets reflects rounding to the nearest 
0.1 Mt. For Capricorn Copper, aggregate estimates of contained Cu metal have been rounded to the nearest 10 kt, estimates of contained silver have been rounded to the nearest 
100koz. Additional metals – Pb, and As – are reported in underlying Ore Reserves estimates for assets (where applicable).
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

Golden Grove Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Estimates
The outline of material mineralisation included in 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates for Golden Grove is depicted  
below for illustrative purposes. 
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Mineral Resources
The Mineral Resources estimates for Golden Grove as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the table below. JORC Code Table 1 disclosures for 
these estimates are set out in 29Metals’ December 2021 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates ASX release dated 11 March 2022. 

The Golden Grove Mineral Resources estimates incorporate the results of additional extension, resource development and grade control drilling 
completed since the cut-off for the previous Mineral Resources estimates for Golden Grove (June 2020), depletion, updated resource modelling 
and geological interpretation, updates to the metallurgical and economic assumptions, and changes to cut-off values. 

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Category Tonnes (Mt) Cu (%) Au (g/t) Zn (%) Ag (g/t) Pb (%) Cu (kt) Au (koz) Zn (kt) Ag (koz) Pb (kt)

O
re

 T
yp

e

O
xi

d
e 

C
o

p
p

er

Measured – – – – – – – – – – –
Indicated 0.3 3.9 1.0 0.0 25 0.0 10 8 0 207 0
Inferred 0.0 2.9 0.1 0.0 7 0.0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0.3 3.9 0.9 0.0 24 0.0 10 8 0 207 0

P
ar

ti
al

 
O

xi
d

e 
Z

in
c Measured 0.1 1.8 2.0 6.2 133 1.3 1 5 5 321 1

Indicated 0.4 0.8 1.8 3.2 119 0.8 3 25 14 1,619 3
Inferred 0.3 0.4 1.4 3.5 78 0.5 1 12 9 655 1
Total 0.8 0.8 1.7 3.6 106 0.8 6 42 28 2,595 6

P
ri

m
ar

y 
 

Z
in

c

Measured 7.2 0.5 1.1 8.8 59 0.7 36 265 634 13,533 51
Indicated 11.7 0.7 0.9 11.4 39 0.6 76 330 1,326 14,732 68
Inferred 4.7 0.5 0.7 9.7 40 0.5 22 112 459 6,017 21
Total 23.6 0.6 0.9 10.3 45 0.6 134 707 2,419 34,282 141

P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

o
p

p
er

Measured 14.4 2.3 0.5 0.4 15 0.0 335 240 62 7,114 6
Indicated 13.7 2.4 0.4 0.3 18 0.0 333 188 46 7,828 4
Inferred 5.5 2.5 0.5 0.3 19 0.0 137 96 15 3,337 2
Total 33.5 2.4 0.5 0.4 17 0.0 805 524 124 18,279 12

S
ur

fa
ce

 
S

to
ck

p
ile

s Copper – Measured 0.1 1.2 1.8 0.4 12 0.0 1 6 0 40 0
Zinc – Measured 0.0 0.7 1.1 3.3 29 0.4 0 1 1 31 0
Gold – Measured 0.1 0.3 2.8 1.5 162 0.7 0 10 2 595 1
Total 0.3 0.7 2.2 1.3 82 0.4 2 18 3 666 1

To
ta

l

Measured 21.9 1.7 0.8 3.2 31 0.3 374 528 704 21,634 59
Indicated 26.0 1.6 0.7 5.3 29 0.3 423 551 1,386 24,386 76
Inferred 10.5 1.5 0.7 4.6 30 0.2 160 220 483 10,009 24
Total 58.4 1.6 0.7 4.4 30 0.3 957 1,299 2,573 56,029 160

Note: Estimates reported in the table above, other than silver, are rounded to one decimal place. Estimates for silver are rounded to zero decimal places.

2020

Grade Contained Metal

Category Tonnes (Mt) Cu (%) Au (g/t) Zn (%) Ag (g/t) Pb (%) Cu (kt) Au (koz) Zn (kt) Ag (koz) Pb (kt)

O
re

 T
yp

e

O
xi

d
e 

C
o

p
p

er

Measured 0.0 0.0 4.4 0.0 84.3 0.0 0 4 0 78 0
Indicated 0.4 3.2 0.6 0.0 4.8 0.0 14 9 0 67 0
Inferred 0.0 2.4 0.1 0.0 6.1 0.0 0 0 0 1 0
Total 0.5 3.0 0.9 0.0 9.78 0.0 14 13 0 146 0

P
ar

ti
al

 
O

xi
d

e 
Z

in
c Measured 0.1 1.2 2.4 10.2 164.3 1.8 2 10 13 674 2

Indicated 0.4 0.9 1.9 3.4 116.7 0.8 4 25 15 1,603 3
Inferred 0.3 0.5 1.4 3.9 79.9 0.5 2 15 13 860 2
Total 0.9 0.8 1.8 4.6 109.7 0.9 7 50 41 3,138 8

P
ri

m
ar

y 
 

Z
in

c

Measured 8.2 0.5 1.2 9.0 60.6 0.7 43 312 738 16,007 61
Indicated 11.6 0.6 0.9 10.9 37.7 0.6 74 330 1,265 14,070 66
Inferred 4.8 0.4 0.5 9.4 33.1 0.4 21 83 449 5,061 19
Total 24.6 0.6 0.9 10.0 44.5 0.6 138 725 2,452 35,138 146

P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

o
p

p
er

Measured 14.4 2.4 0.6 0.4 16.8 0.0 341 277 63 7,746 7
Indicated 12.4 2.5 0.5 0.4 18.6 0.0 309 181 44 7,441 4
Inferred 5.0 2.3 0.3 0.3 14.5 0.0 118 55 16 2,359 2
Total 31.9 2.4 0.5 0.4 17.1 0.0 767 512 122 17,546 13

To
ta

l

Measured 22.7 1.7 0.8 3.6 33.5 0.3 385 602 814 24,505 70
Indicated 24.9 1.6 0.7 5.3 29.0 0.3 400 546 1,323 23,182 74
Inferred 10.1 1.4 0.5 4.7 25.4 0.2 140 153 477 8,281 22
Total 57.8 1.6 0.7 4.5 30.1 0.3 926 1,301 2,615 55,968 166

Note: Estimates are subject to rounding (one significant figure).
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

3.	� Drilling results for Mineral Resources estimates for Golden Grove were cut-off at 31 March 2021, other than Cervantes. Mineral Resources estimates for Cervantes are 
to 31 December 2021.

Changes in the Mineral Resources estimates

Changes to the Golden Grove Mineral Resources estimates, relative to the last estimates (June 2020) are outlined below. 
Material changes comprise: 

	■ Depletion – 2.0 Mt reduction in 2021, including:
	҄ 18 months of mining and processing operations (1.7 Mt reduction), aligning the estimates to calendar year reporting;
	҄ 0.3 Mt reduction for remnant areas within the Scuddles deposit no longer considered recoverable;

	■ Drilling results – increase in Mineral Resources estimated tonnes of 3.2 Mt, reflecting analysis of data from extension, resource 
development, grade control drilling, and associated geological interpretations;3

	■ Updated metallurgical modelling – 0.3 Mt increase; 
	■ Economic cut-off assumptions:

	҄ 2.3 Mt increase as a result of increases to the copper and gold price assumptions applied to Mineral Resources estimates (see below); and
	҄ 3.3 Mt reduction in Mineral Resources tonnes as a result of increases to the net smelter return (‘NSR’) cut-off value.

Economic cut-off assumptions

The following economic cut-off assumptions were applied for the purposes of the 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates for 
Golden Grove. Cut-off for the prior estimates (June 2020) is also provided for reference.

Cut-off assumptions (NSR)

Orebody
31-Dec-21

($A/t)
30-Jun-20

($A/t)

ABCD 127.92 121.83

ABCD Oxide 127.92 121.83

Amity 135.63 129.55

Cambewarra 131.10 125.02

Catalpa/Ethel 132.56 126.47

D Zinc 130.77 124.69

GG4 130.77 124.69

Hougoumont Main and Hangingwall 135.63 129.55

Hougoumont Extended 142.95 136.87

Oizon 142.34 136.26

Tryall 129.04 122.95

Tryall Cu-Au Oxide 129.04 122.95

Xantho 137.03 130.95

Xantho Extended 143.51 137.43

Scuddles – Zinc 132.21 126.13

Scuddles – Copper 132.21 126.13

Scuddles Oxide 129.04 122.95

Cervantes – Zinc 139.65 133.57

Cervantes – Copper 139.65 133.57

Gossan Valley 135.00 135.00

Grassi 135.00 135.00

Felix 135.00 135.00

Flying High 145.00 145.00

Commodity price and foreign exchange

Price/FX Unit 31-Dec-21 30-Jun-20

Copper US$/lb 3.60 3.50

Lead US$/lb 1.10 1.10

Zinc US$/lb 1.50 1.50

Gold US$/oz 1,736 1,600

Silver US$/oz 23 23

AUD:USD 0.75 0.75

Competent Persons Statement

The Mineral Resources estimates set out in the table above are based 
on and fairly represent information and supporting documentation 
compiled by Leonard Mafurutu, a Competent Person who is a Member 
of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AuslMM 
Membership No. 316349). Mr Mafurutu is a full-time employee of 
Golden Grove Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of 29Metals Limited).

Mr Mafurutu has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style 
of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to 
the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as 
defined in the JORC Code. Mr Mafurutu consents to the inclusion 
of the information regarding Golden Grove Mineral Resources in the 
form and context in which it appears.
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Ore Reserves 
The Ore Reserves estimates for Golden Grove, comprising the Gossan Hill mine and Scuddles mine, as at 31 December 2021 are set out below. 
JORC Code Table 1 disclosures are set out in 29Metals’ December 2021 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates ASX release dated 
11 March 2022.

The 31 December 2021 Ore Reserves estimates for Golden Grove incorporate changes to the Golden Grove Mineral Resources estimates 
(refer above), depletion, changes to cut-off grades and other economic assumptions (including commodity price assumptions). 

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Asset
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Au
(g/t)

Zn
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

Pb
(%)

Cu
(kt)

Au
(koz)

Zn
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

Pb
(kt)

O
re

 T
yp

e

P
ri

m
ar

y 
Z

in
c

Proved 1.1 0.6 1.3 7.3 59 0.8 7 44 79 2,041 8

Probable 4.6 1.0 1.1 11.3 43 0.7 44 156 523 6,421 33

Total 5.7 0.9 1.1 10.6 46 0.7 51 201 601 8,462 41

P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

o
p

p
er

Proved 1.9 2.5 0.5 0.3 12 0.0 47 33 6 729 0

Probable 5.0 2.8 0.5 0.9 22 0.0 138 82 44 3,481 2

Total 6.8 2.7 0.5 0.7 19 0.0 185 114 50 4,210 2

P
ri

m
ar

y 
G

o
ld

Proved 0.2 0.3 3.1 1.8 104 0.4 1 19 4 635 1

Probable 0.0 0.1 1.5 2.3 81 0.4 0 0 0 3 0

Total 0.2 0.3 3.1 1.8 103 0.4 1 19 4 637 1

To
ta

l Proved 3.2 1.7 0.9 2.8 34 0.3 54 96 88 3,404 9

Probable 9.6 1.9 0.8 5.9 32 0.4 182 238 567 9,905 34

Total 12.7 1.9 0.8 5.1 33 0.3 236 334 655 13,309 44

Note:
Estimates reported in the table above, other than silver, are rounded to one decimal place. Estimates for silver are rounded to zero decimal places.

2020

Grade Contained Metal

Asset
Tonnes

(kt)
Cu
(%)

Au
(g/t)

Zn
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

Pb
(%)

Cu
(kt)

Au
(koz)

Zn
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

Pb
(kt)

O
re

 T
yp

e

P
ri

m
ar

y 
Z

in
c

Proved 2,473 0.9 1.4 5.8 53.5 0.6 22 112 144 4,255 16

Probable 8,797 1.6 0.9 7.4 36.2 0.5 145 255 650 10,232 40

Total 11,270 1.5 1.0 7.0 40.0 0.5 167 366 794 14,487 56

P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

o
p

p
er

Proved 896 2.3 0.8 0.2 15.8 – 21 24 2 456 –

Probable 1,939 2.5 0.4 0.2 12.6 – 49 22 5 785 –

Total 2,835 2.4 0.5 0.2 13.6 – 69 46 7 1,241 1

P
ri

m
ar

y 
G

o
ld

Proved 225 2.0 2.9 1.2 104.6 0.4 4 21 3 756 1

Probable – – – – – – – – – – –

Total 225 2.0 2.9 1.2 104.6 0.4 4 21 3 756 1

To
ta

l Proved 3,595 1.3 1.4 4.1 47.3 0.5 47 157 149 5,467 17

Probable 10,735 1.8 0.8 6.1 31.9 0.4 194 277 655 11,017 40

Total 14,330 1.7 0.9 5.6 35.8 0.4 241 433 804 16,484 57

Note: 
Estimates are subject to rounding (one significant figure).
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

Changes in Ore Reserve estimates

Changes to Ore Reserves estimates at 31 December 2022 relative to 
the previous estimates (June 2020) comprise:

	■ Depletion – 1.5 Mt reduction for mining and processing depletion 
in the period 30 June 2020 to 31 December 2021;

	■ Economic cut-off assumptions – 1.7 Mt reduction as a result of an 
increase in the cut-off value (‘COV’) reflecting increases in mining 
costs assumptions; and 

	■ Mining updates – 1.6 Mt increase, reflecting updated Mineral 
Resources estimates at 31 December 2021 and resource 
modelling, and the impact of a higher copper price assumption 
(refer below).

Economic cut-off assumptions

The following assumptions were applied for the purposes of the 
Golden Grove 31 December 2021 Ore Reserves estimates for 
Gossan Hill and Scuddles. 

Cut-off assumptions

Orebody

31-Dec-21
NSR
($/t)

30-Jun-20
NSR
($/t)

ABCD 127.92 121.83

Amity – Remnant 135.63 129.55

Cambewarra 146.87 n/a

D Zinc 146.54 136.85

Tryall 144.81 135.12

Catalpa/Ethel 132.56 126.47

Hougoumont Main & Hangingwall Remnant 141.41 135.19

Hougoumont Extended 158.72 149.04

Xantho 152.80 143.11

Xantho Extended 159.28 149.60

Oizon 158.11 148.42

GG4 136.55 130.33

Scuddles 137.99 131.78

Commodity Price and forex for estimate

Pricing/FX Unit 31-Dec-21 30-Jun-20

Copper US$/lb  3.30  3.00 

Lead US$/lb  0.95  0.95

Zinc US$/lb  1.10  1.10 

Gold US$/oz  1,446  1,400 

Silver US$/oz  21  21 

AUD:USD  0.73 0.73

Competent Persons Statement

The Ore Reserves estimates set out above are based on and 
fairly represent information and supporting documentation 
compiled by Nyasha Gwatimba, a Competent Person who is a 
Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
(AUSIMM Membership No. 312232).

Mr Gwatimba is a full-time employee of Golden Grove Operations 
Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of 29Metals Limited) and has 
sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being 
undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 
JORC Code. Nyasha Gwatimba consents to the inclusion of the 
information regarding Ore Reserves for Gossan Hill and Scuddles 
in the form and context in which they appear.
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Capricorn Copper Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves Estimates
The outline of material mineralisation included in 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper is depicted below for 
illustrative purposes.
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

Mineral Resources
The Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the table below. JORC Code Table 1 disclosures 
for these estimates are set out in 29Metals’ December 2021 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates ASX release dated 11 March 2022. 

The 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper incorporate the results of additional resource development 
and grade control drilling completed since the cut-off date of the previous Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper (May 2020), 
depletion through mining and processing, and updated resource modelling and geological interpretation. 

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Category
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

Co
(ppm)

As
(ppm)

S
(%)

Fe
(%)

Cu
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

Co
(kt)

As
(kt)

S
(kt)

Fe
(kt)

O
re

b
o

d
y

Es
p

er
an

za
S

o
ut

h

Measured 0.6 2.3 18 701 1,251 12.4 11.6 14 342 0 1 75 69
Indicated 7.8 1.9 18 749 1,081 12.4 13.1 148 4,499 6 8 962 1,022
Inferred 6.9 1.7 15 576 836 8.6 12.6 117 3,253 4 6 599 876
Total 15.3 1.8 16 669 977 10.7 12.8 278 8,094 10 15 1,635 1,967

Es
p

er
an

za

Measured – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Indicated 2.7 2.3 11 1,472 2,203 6.0 21.3 62 972 4 6 162 575
Inferred 1.3 1.7 9 1,103 1,352 7.7 18.5 22 368 1 2 100 241
Total 4.0 2.1 10 1,351 1,924 6.5 20.3 84 1,337 5 8 260 812

P
lu

to

Measured – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Indicated 2.3 2.3 1 239 277 0.9 11.2 53 52 1 1 21 258
Inferred 0.9 1.6 1 238 259 0.4 13.6 14 26 0 0 4 122
Total 3.2 2.1 1 239 272 0.7 11.8 67 72 1 1 22 378

G
re

en
st

o
ne Measured 0.3 1.6 1 51 104 0.9 2.2 5 10 0 0 3 7

Indicated 1.0 1.8 1 92 122 0.8 2.6 17 34 0 0 8 25
Inferred 0.5 1.4 1 74 115 0.8 2.7 7 15 0 0 4 14
Total 1.8 1.6 1 80 117 0.8 2.5 30 58 0 0 15 46

M
am

m
ot

h Measured 4.4 1.7 5 92 2,194 7.7 8.5 77 663 0 10 343 376
Indicated 18.9 1.8 4 109 1,589 4.9 7.5 344 2,413 2 30 927 1,423
Inferred 13.0 1.5 4 134 1,758 4.8 7.6 200 1,673 2 23 618 982
Total 36.3 1.7 4 116 1,723 5.2 7.7 621 4,749 4 63 1,888 2,781

S
to

ck
p

ile

Measured 0.1 1.1 11 268 503 6.3 6.8 1 46 0 0 8 9
Indicated – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Inferred – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Total 0.1 1.1 11 268 503 6.3 6.8 1 46 0 0 8 9

To
ta

l

Measured 5.5 1.8 6 161 1,932 7.8 8.4 97 1,061 1 11 429 461
Indicated 32.7 1.9 8 383 1,382 6.4 10.1 624 7,970 13 45 2,080 3,303
Inferred 22.6 1.6 7 327 1,355 5.8 9.9 360 5,334 7 31 1,325 2,235
Total 60.8 1.8 7 342 1,422 6.3 9.9 1,081 14,365 21 86 3,833 5,998

Note:
Estimates reported in the table above, other than silver, are rounded to one decimal place. Estimates for silver are rounded to zero decimal places.
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2020

Grade Contained Metal

Category
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Ag
(ppm)

Co
(ppm)

As
(ppm)

S
(%)

Fe
(%)

Cu
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

Co
(kt)

As
(kt)

S
(kt)

Fe
(kt)

O
re

b
o

d
y

Es
p

er
an

za
S

o
ut

h

Measured 0.6 2.0 19 574 961 12.9 12.2 13 387 0 1 82 77
Indicated 8.7 1.8 18 700 1,037 11.9 12.8 159 5,056 6 9 1,040 1,118
Inferred 7.5 1.6 14 587 875 9.5 12.5 121 3,396 4 7 717 943
Total 16.9 1.7 16 645 962 10.9 12.6 293 8,838 11 16 1,838 2,139

Es
p

er
an

za

Measured – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Indicated 2.7 2.3 11 1,472 2,203 6.0 21.3 62 972 4 6 162 575
Inferred 1.3 1.7 9 1,103 1,352 7.7 18.5 22 368 1 2 100 241
Total 4.0 2.1 10 1,352 1,926 6.6 20.4 84 1,340 5 8 262 816

P
lu

to

Measured – – – – – – – – – – – – –
Indicated 2.3 2.3 1 239 277 0.9 11.2 53 52 1 1 21 258
Inferred 0.9 1.6 1 238 259 0.4 13.6 14 26 0 0 4 122
Total 3.2 2.1 1 239 272 0.8 11.9 67 78 1 1 24 380

G
re

en
st

o
ne Measured 0.4 1.8 1 75 133 1.0 2.2 6 12 0 0 4 8

Indicated 1.2 1.9 1 83 100 0.8 2.7 24 40 0 0 10 33
Inferred 0.5 1.5 1 64 96 0.8 2.7 8 17 0 0 4 14
Total 2.1 1.8 1 77 105 0.8 2.6 38 68 0 0 18 55

M
am

m
ot

h Measured 4.4 1.7 5 91 2,243 8.0 8.6 77 711 0 10 352 381
Indicated 18.8 1.8 4 109 1,598 4.9 7.5 340 2,415 2 30 924 1,408
Inferred 13.0 1.5 4 134 1,756 4.8 7.5 201 1,674 2 23 618 977
Total 36.2 1.7 4 116 1,734 5.2 7.6 617 4,801 4 63 1,895 2,765

To
ta

l

Measured 5.4 1.8 6 146 1,954 8.1 8.6 96 1,110 1 11 437 466
Indicated 33.8 1.9 8 379 1,356 6.4 10.1 638 8,534 13 46 2,156 3,393
Inferred 23.3 1.6 7 337 1,353 6.2 9.9 366 5,481 8 32 1,443 2,297
Total 62.5 1.8 8 343 1,407 6.5 9.9 1,100 15,125 21 88 4,037 6,155

Note:
Estimates are subject to rounding (one significant figure).

Changes in the Mineral Resources estimates

Changes to the Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper, 
relative to the last estimates (May 2020), are outlined below. 
Material changes comprise: 

	■ Depletion – 2.7 Mt reduction as a result of:
	҄ mining and processing volumes for the period May 2020 

to December 2021; 
	҄ expansion of the envelope of material considered 

non‑recoverable around the southern sub-level cave at 
Esperanza South; and

	҄ adjustment of the skin around historical cave voids at 
Mammoth considered non-recoverable from 10 m to 7 m. 

	■ Drilling and model – increase of 0.9 Mt, reflecting analysis of 
resource development and grade control drilling at Esperanza 
South and Greenstone, as well as adjustments to compositing 
prior to estimation. 

Economic cut-off assumptions

The following cut-off assumptions were applied for the purposes of 
the 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources Estimates for Capricorn 
Copper. Cut-off for the previous estimates (May 2020) is provided 
for reference. 

Cut-off assumptions

Orebody

31-Dec-21
Cut-off 
(% Cu)

31-May-20
Cut-off 
(% Cu)

Esperanza South 0.8 0.8

Esperanza 1.0 1.0

Pluto 1.0 1.0

Greenstone 1.0 1.0

Mammoth 1.0 1.0

Mineral Resource estimates for Capricorn Copper apply copper grade 
for cut-off purposes, set at a level slightly below the level applied for 
cut-offs for Ore Reserves estimates, specific to each deposit/mining 
method. Esperanza South utilises a cut-off of 0.8% Cu due to 
sub‑level caving mining method, while all other deposits utilise a 
1.0% Cu cut-off due to long-hole stoping mining method.
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

Competent Persons Statement

Information that relates to the sampling techniques, sample and geology data and interpretations (section 1 of the JORC Code Table 1); 
and reporting of these results (section 2 of the JORC Code Table 1), for inclusion in the 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates 
for Capricorn Copper is based on and fairly represents information and supporting documentation compiled by Rosemary Gray. 

Ms Gray is a full-time employee of Capricorn Copper Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of 29Metals Limited), and member of the 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists (MAIG, Membership No. 8014).

The information in this report that relates to the Estimation and Reporting of Mineral Resources for Greenstone and Esperanza South 
(section 3 of the JORC Code Table 1) is based on information compiled by Mr Esteban Jimenez, a Competent Person who is a Member of 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists (MAIG, Member No. 7818). Mr Jimenez is a full-time employee of Capricorn Copper Pty Ltd (a wholly 
owned subsidiary of 29Metals Limited).

The information in this report that relates to the Estimation and Reporting of Mineral Resources for Esperanza, Pluto and Mammoth (section 3 
of the JORC Code Table 1) is based on information compiled by Mr Danny Kentwell. Mr Kentwell is a full-time employee of SRK Consulting, 
and is a Fellow of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (FAusIMM, Member No. 20341).

Ms Gray, Mr Jimenez, and Mr Kentwell each has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation, type of deposit and the 
activity being undertaken to qualify as Competent Persons as defined in the JORC Code. 

Ms Gray, Mr Jimenez, and Mr Kentwell consent to the inclusion of Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper in the form and context in 
which it appears. 

Ore Reserves
The Ore Reserves estimates for Capricorn Copper as at 31 December 2021 are set out below. JORC Code Table 1 disclosures are set out in 
29Metals’ December 2021 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates ASX release dated 11 March 2022.

The 31 December 2021 Ore Reserves estimates for Capricorn Copper incorporate changes to the Capricorn Copper Mineral Resources 
estimates (refer above), depletion for mining and processing, changes to cut-off grades and economic parameters, changes to stope and 
sub‑level cave designs, and changes to dilution and recovery assumptions. 

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Category
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

As
(ppm)

Cu
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

As
(kt)

D
ep

os
it

Esperanza South

Proved 0.2 1.7 14 1,000 3 100 0
Probable 6.7 1.5 15 1,100 101 3,200 7
Total 6.8 1.5 15 1,100 104 3,300 7

Esperanza

Proved – – – – – – –
Probable 0.2 2.0 11 2,200 5 100 1
Total 0.2 2.0 11 2,200 5 100 1

Pluto

Proved – – – – – – –
Probable 1.1 2.7 1 300 31 – 0
Total 1.1 2.7 1 300 31 – 0

Greenstone

Proved 0.1 1.6 1 100 1 – 0
Probable 0.1 1.6 1 100 2 – 0
Total 0.2 1.6 1 100 3 – 0

Mammoth Deeps

Proved 0.0 1.6 3 1,300 0 – 0
Probable 2.3 2.1 4 2,100 47 300 5
Total 2.3 2.1 4 2,100 47 300 5

Mammoth 
Remnants

Proved 0.5 1.9 5 2,600 10 100 1
Probable 1.2 1.8 5 2,000 22 200 2
Total 1.8 1.9 5 2,200 33 300 4

Stockpile

Proved 0.1 1.1 11 500 1 – 0
Probable – – – – – – –
Total 0.1 1.1 11 500 1 – 0

Total

Proved 1 1.7 7 1,800 20 200 2
Probable 12 1.8 10 1,300 210 3,800 15
Total 13 1.8 10 1,300 220 4,100 17

Note:
Ore tonnes and grade estimates reported in the table above, other than aggregated total tonnes and silver and arsenic grades, are subject to rounding to one decimal place. 
Estimates for aggregated total tonnes and silver grade are rounded to zero decimal places and estimates for arsenic are rounded to the nearest 100 ppm. Estimates of contained 
silver and arsenic metal have been further rounded reflecting relative confidence. Aggregate estimates of contained Cu metal have been rounded to the nearest 10 kt, estimates 
of contained silver have been rounded to the nearest 100koz.
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2020

Grade Contained Metal

Category
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Ag
(g/t)

As
(ppm)

Cu
(kt)

Ag
(koz)

As
(kt)

D
ep

os
it

Esperanza South

Proved 0.2 1.8 16 900 3 100 0
Probable 7.0 1.6 17 1,000 109 3,900 7
Total 7.1 1.6 17 1,000 112 4,000 7

Esperanza

Proved – – – – – – –
Probable 0.5 1.9 11 2,000 9 200 1
Total 0.5 1.9 11 2,000 9 200 1

Pluto

Proved – – – – – – –
Probable 1.2 2.6 1 300 32 – 0
Total 1.2 2.6 1 300 32 – 0

Greenstone

Proved 0.1 2.0 1 100 2 – 0
Probable 0.3 1.7 1 100 6 – 0
Total 0.5 1.8 1 100 8 – 0

Mammoth Deeps

Proved 0.0 2.5 2 1,600 0 – 0
Probable 2.0 2.0 5 2,000 39 300 4
Total 2.0 2.0 5 2,000 39 300 4

Mammoth 
Remnants

Proved 0.8 2.0 5 2,700 15 100 2
Probable 1.3 1.9 5 2,000 25 200 3
Total 2.1 1.9 5 2,300 40 300 5

Stockpile

Proved 0.1 1.4 25 1,000 1 100 0
Probable – – – – – – –
Total 0.1 1.4 25 1,000 1 100 0

Total

Proved 1 1.9 8 2,000 20 300 2
Probable 12 1.8 11 1,200 220 4,600 15
Total 13 1.8 11 1,300 240 4,800 18

Note:
Estimates are subject to rounding (one significant figure). 

Changes in Ore Reserve Estimates

Changes to Ore Reserves estimates for Capricorn Copper, relative to the last estimates (December 2020) are outlined below. 
Material changes comprise:

	■ Depletion – 1.9 Mt reduction, reflecting mining and processing from 1 December 2020 to 31 December 2021;
	■ Mineral Resources estimates – increases in Mineral Resources estimates for Esperanza South and Greenstone (refer above);
	■ Economic cut-off assumptions – changes to cut-off grades for all deposits reflecting changes in key economic assumptions:

	҄ increase in long term copper price to US$3.30/lb (Dec 2020: US$3.00/lb);
	҄ increase in forecast mining costs for Esperanza South, Mammoth Deeps, Mammoth Remnants, Esperanza and Pluto; 
	҄ decrease in forecast mining costs for Greenstone; 
	҄ decrease in forecast processing and site services costs;
	҄ year on year changes to process recoveries applied for the purpose of stope optimisations, specifically reduced recoveries for 

Esperanza South, Pluto, and Esperanza, and increased recoveries for Greenstone and Mammoth; and
	҄ the impact of incorporating a dilution factor in calculation of cut-off grades to apply to stope optimisation.

	■ Mine design:
	҄ changes to stope designs for Mammoth Deeps and Mammoth Remnants, Greenstone, Esperanza and Pluto, reflecting 

31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates for Capricorn Copper (refer above), revised cut-offs and revised dilution skins; and
	҄ an update of the sub-level cave design for Esperanza South, reflecting the 31 December 2021 Mineral Resources estimates 

for Capricorn Copper (refer above), and revised cut-off and shutoff grades.
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Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves continued

Economic cut-off assumptions

The following economic cut-off assumptions were applied for the purposes of the 31 December 2021 Ore Reserves estimates for Capricorn 
Copper. Cut-off for the prior estimates (December 2020) is provided for reference. An initial set of cut-off grades was applied to create stope 
shapes. These cut-off grades are shown under “Stope optimisation cut-off” in the table below. A final, revised set of cut-off grades, shown 
under “Head Grade (Diluted)” in the table below, was subsequently applied to exclude any stopes for which the overall stope grade was not 
greater than the cut-off. 

31-Dec-21 1-Dec-20

Orebody

Stope
Optimisation

Cut-off
(%Cu)

Head
Grade 

(Diluted)
(%Cu)

Stope
Optimisation

Cut-off
(%Cu)

Head
Grade 

(Diluted)
(%Cu)

Esperanza South Total 1.19 1.19 1.22 1.22

Esperanza South Shutoff 0.98 0.98 1.02 1.02

Esperanza South Development 0.58 0.56 0.63 0.63

Greenstone 1.05 1.00 1.18 1.22

Greenstone Development 0.50 0.48 0.57 0.57

Mammoth (Remnants and Deeps) 1.49 1.41 1.42 1.41

Mammoth Development 0.51 0.49 0.58 0.58

Pluto 1.65 1.50 1.38 1.46

Pluto Development 0.58 0.55 0.57 0.57

Esperanza 1.65 1.50 1.23 1.28

Esperanza Development 0.57 0.55 0.57 0.57

Commodity Price and forex for estimate

Pricing/FX Unit 31-Dec-21 1-Dec-20

Copper US$/lb 3.30 3.00

AUD:USD 0.73 0.73

Competent Persons Statement

The information regarding 31 December 2021 Ore Reserves estimates for Capricorn Copper is based on and fairly represents information and 
supporting documentation compiled by Christopher Desoe, a Competent Person who is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy (AusIMM (CP) Membership No. 104206).

Mr Desoe is a full-time employee of Australian Mine Design and Development Pty Ltd and has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style 
of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in 
the JORC Code. 

Mr Desoe consents to the inclusion of the information regarding Capricorn Copper Ore Reserves estimates in the form and context in which 
they appear.
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Redhill Mineral Resources Estimates
The Mineral Resources estimates for Redhill as at 16 May 2016 are set out in the table below. JORC Code Table 1 disclosures for these 
estimates are set out in 29Metals’ December 2021 Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates ASX release dated 11 March 2022.

No material changes to the Mineral Resources for Redhill have occurred since 16 May 2016.

Redhill will be the subject of further field work and assessment in 2022 the objective of estimating the potential size of the mineralised system. 
This may progress to drilling in 2023. 

2021

Grade Contained Metal

Category
Tonnes

(Mt)
Cu
(%)

Au
(g/t)

Ag
(g/t)

C
(t)

Au
(oz)

Ag
(koz)

D
ep

os
it

Cristina Inferred 1.3 2.3 0.3 41 29,601 10,481 1,719
Angelica Inferred 0.6 1.5 0.4 53 8,840 7,382 978
Gorda Inferred 0.4 0.6 1.6 56 2,018 18,210 637
Cutters Inferred 0.3 3.0 0.1 51 9,542 612 520
Franceses Inferred 1.7 1.2 0.1 14 21,249 3,124 757
Total Inferred 4.3 1.7 0.3 33 71,249 39,809 4,611

Note:
Estimates reported in the table above, other than silver, are subject to rounding (one significant figure). Estimates for silver are rounded to zero decimal places.

2020

Grade Contained Metal

Category
Tonnes

(kt)
Cu
(%)

Au
(g/t)

Ag
(g/t)

C
(t)

Au
(oz)

Ag
(koz)

D
ep

os
it

Cristina Inferred 1,304 2.27 0.25 41 29,601 10,481 1,719
Angelica Inferred 574 1.54 0.40 53 8,840 7,382 978
Gorda Inferred 354 0.57 1.60 56 2,018 18,210 637
Cutters Inferred 317 3.01 0.06 51 9,542 612 520
Franceses Inferred 1,740 1.22 0.06 14 21,249 3,124 757
Total Inferred 4,289 1.66 0.29 33 71,249 39,809 4,611

Note:
Estimates are subject to rounding (one significant figure).

Economic cut-off assumptions

The following assumptions were made in calculation of the Redhill 
Mineral Resources estimate:

Cut-off assumptions

Orebody
Cut-off 
(% Cu)

Cristina 0.4

Angelica 0.4

Gorda 0.4

Cutters 0.4

Franceses 0.4

Commodity price for estimates

Pricing/FX Unit

Copper US$/lb 3.00

Gold US$/oz 1,300

Silver US$/oz 22

Competent Persons Statement

The Mineral Resources estimates for Redhill are based on and fairly 
represents information and supporting documentation compiled 
by Tim Callaghan, a Competent Person who is a Member of the 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM Membership 
No. 222210). Mr Callaghan is a full-time employee of Resource and 
Exploration Geology.

Mr Callaghan has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style 
of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to 
the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as 
defined in the JORC Code. 

Mr Callaghan consents to the inclusion of the information regarding 
the Redhill Mineral Resources estimates in the form and context in 
which they appear.
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APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Page B-1 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The Directors present their report together with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the 29Metals Limited (‘29Metals’ or, the 
‘Company’) and its controlled entities (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (‘FY2021’ or, the ‘Reporting Period’). 

Corporate Information 

29Metals was incorporated on 27 May 2021 and is a for-profit company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia.  

Directors 

The names and details of the Directors of the Company in office since incorporation and since the end of the Reporting Period are as 
follows: 

NAME POSITION APPOINTED 

Owen Hegarty OAM Non-executive Director 
Chair of Board of Directors 

27 May 2021 

Peter Albert Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 27 May 2021 

Fiona Robertson Non-executive Director 27 May 2021 

Jacqueline McGill AO Non-executive Director 27 May 2021 

Martin Alciaturi Non-executive Director 27 May 2021 

Nature of Operations and Principal Activities 

During FY2021 the nature of operations and principal activities of 29Metals Limited and its controlled entities were mining and 
mineral production, and associated activities, mineral concentrate sales, and mineral exploration.  

For additional information on the activities of the Group, refer to the Operating and Financial Review section in the Directors’ Report. 

Consolidated Result 

In preparing the consolidated result for 29Metals, it has been determined that with respect to the Reverse Acquisition, the acquirer 
for accounting purposes was the Golden Grove Group, notwithstanding that 29Metals was the legal acquirer.  

Consistent with this assessment and the Restructure and IPO Transactions, the statutory financial information reflects: 

 the Golden Grove Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 (i.e., the prior period); and

 for the year ended 31 December 2021:

o the Golden Grove Group (on a standalone basis) for the six months ended 30 June 2021; and 

o the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2021

(the ‘Statutory’ financial information). Please refer to Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. 

The net profit after tax attributable to 29Metals shareholders for FY2021 was $121,013 thousand (2020: Nil). 

Refer to the Operating and Financial Review for further details. The Operating and Financial Review forms part of this Directors’ 
Report.  

Operating and Financial Review 

The Operating and Financial Review for FY2021 commences from page C-1 of this document. 

Dividends 

Paid during the year  
There were no dividends paid to shareholders during FY2021 (2020: Nil). 

Declared after end of year  
The Directors resolved not to pay a final dividend with respect of the year ended 31 December 2021. 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

During the year ended 31 December 2021 there were a number of significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group. 
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Restructure and IPO Transactions 

The Restructure  
On 7 June 2021, 29Metals completed the acquisition of the Capricorn Copper Group, including Lighthouse Minerals in accordance 
with the Restructure as outlined above.  

The Restructure has been evaluated as a common control transaction whereby 29Metals has elected to account for the acquisition 
of Capricorn Copper Group (including Lighthouse Minerals Pty Ltd) at book value rather than fair value. The Directors consider that 
the continuation of the existing accounting values most appropriately reflects the substance of transaction. 

The IPO  
29Metals was admitted to the official list of ASX on 2 July 2021, gaining effective control of the Golden Grove Group and Redhill 
Group on that date. Please refer to Note 30 for further information. 

The Reverse Acquisition 
The acquisition of the Golden Grove Group and the Redhill Group was completed on 5 July 2021 in accordance with the Reverse 
Acquisition as outlined above.  

This acquisition of the Golden Grove Group was accounted for as a business combination with the Golden Grove Group being 
determined as the acquirer for accounting purposes. Please refer to Note 34 for further information.  

The acquisition of the Redhill Group has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. Refer to Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further details. 

Other 

Deed of Cross Guarantee 
On 30 November 2021, the Company and each of its Australian-registered wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee (the ‘Deed’) with the Company in accordance with ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 
(the ‘ASIC Instrument’). Under the ASIC Instrument, relevant Group entities obtain relief from certain accounting and financial 
reporting requirements. Refer to Note 32 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information in relation to the Deed. 

Refer to the Operating and Financial Review for information on the significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group. 

New Group corporate syndicated debt facilities 
On 29 October 2021 29Metals achieved financial close of a refinancing of existing Golden Grove syndicated debt facilities. Information 
regarding the Group corporate syndicated debt facilities is set out on page C-7 and in Note 25 (Interest Bearing Liabilities) to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Subsequent Events 

There have not been any events that have arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report or 
any other item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to materially affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years. 

Environmental Regulation and Performance 

29Metals’ operating and exploration activities are subject to environmental regulation in each jurisdiction in which those activities 
are undertaken, comprising Western Australia and Queensland, in Australia, and Chile (as applicable).   

29Metals takes its responsibilities for environmental stewardship seriously and has management systems and processes in place for 
environmental management and performance. 29Metals’ environmental performance is overseen by the Sustainability Committee.3  

Environmental incidents are reported to management and the Board (directly, and via the Sustainability Committee). 

Commencing with the Company’s first Annual Report, expected to be published in late April 2022, the Company will report its 
sustainability performance. The Company intends to report its sustainability performance in alignment with the Global Reporting 
Initiative framework. 

3 Formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment & Community Committee.  
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Reportable environmental incidents during the year ended 31 December 2021 are tabled below (by site). 

SITE 
REPORTABLE  
INCIDENTS1 

ENFORCEMENT ACTION  

Golden Grove  
(WA, Australia) 

15  Nil

Capricorn Copper  
(QLD, Australia) 

32  Delay in submitting ERC decision application3 resulted in penalty infringement
notice for minimum prescribed amount 

Redhill  
(Chile) 

1  Redhill was required to undertake remediation activities to the site following
vandalism by unknown parties 

1. Includes notification of potential non-compliances by environmental regulators.
2. Capricorn Copper received a notice of non-compliance relating to groundwater quality monitoring trigger levels in December 2021. Capricorn

Copper has responded to the notice. This matter remains open. 
3. ERC is environmental rehabilitation cost under the Queensland Mineral and Energy Resources (Financial Provisioning) Act (2018). Refer to 

section 10.7.14 of the 29Metals Prospectus dated 21 June 2021 (released to ASX on 2 July 2021) (the ‘29Metals Prospectus’) for further 
information regarding this matter. The ERC decision process was completed in 2021 and resulted in an increase in the quantum of 
environmental bond required for Capricorn Copper, reflecting changes in the prescribed environmental bond calculation methodology. The 
increased environmental bond was posted by 29Metals in November 2021. 

Capricorn Copper reportable incidents in the year ended 31 December 2021 includes a notice of potential non-compliance issued by 
the Queensland Department of Environment & Science (the ‘DES’) regarding potential non-compliance with an environmental 
protection order (‘EPO’).4 The potential non-compliances raised in the notice related to water quality monitoring data reporting 
requirements and the infrastructure established at Capricorn Copper for treated water discharge. 29Metals engaged with DES 
regarding the potential non-compliances, and a warning was issued. In the context of that engagement, DES advised 29Metals of its 
intention to issue a new EPO with changes to the monitoring requirements and treated water discharge infrastructure requirements. 
The new (replacement) EPO was issued in September 2021. The new EPO is on substantially the same terms as the prior EPO.  

Except as outlined above, all reportable incidents were resolved without action and without environmental harm. 

Indemnification & insurance of directors and officers 

29Metals has entered into a deed of indemnity, insurance and access with each of its Directors and executives, pursuant to which: 

 each Director and executive has rights of access to Company information; 
 to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company agrees to indemnify each Director and executive from and against all

liability incurred by the Director or executive in the performance of their role as a Director or executive of the Company (and
any subsidiary of the Company) on the terms set out in the deed; and

 to the extent permitted by law, requires the Company to use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the Director or executive
is insured under a directors and officers insurance policy throughout the duration of the Director or executive’s appointment
and after the Director or executive ceases to hold office for the later of a period of seven years or until after the date that any
claim against the Director or executive that commenced during the seven-year period is finally resolved.

The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the benefit of persons defined in the policy which include current 
and former directors and officers, including executives of the Company, and directors, senior executives and secretaries of its 
controlled entities to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  The terms of the insurance contract are highly 
commercially sensitive and prohibit disclosure of the premiums payable and other terms of the policy.  

Indemnification of auditors 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young Australia, as part of the terms of 
its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has 
been made to indemnify Ernst & Young Australia during or since the end of the financial year.  

Information on Directors 

The names and details of the Company's Directors in office since incorporation and until the date of this report are set out below. 
Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.  

4 Information regarding the EPO are set out in section 3.11.11 of the 29Metals Prospectus.
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Mr Owen Hegarty OAM  
BEc (Hons) FAusIMM FAICD 

Chair and Non-executive 
Director 

Owen was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021. 
Owen has more than 40 years’ experience in the global mining industry with a career spanning 
executive and directorship roles across multiple mineral commodities and assets in Australia, 
Asia, Africa, Europe and the Americas. 
Owen co-founded and is Executive Chairman of EMR Capital. Owen was formerly the Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer of ASX-listed Oxiana Limited, leading the company to its 
merger with Zinifex Limited in 2008 to form ASX-listed Oz Minerals Limited (ASX: OZL). Prior to 
Oxiana, Owen’s career included 25 years with the Rio Tinto Group, including as Managing 
Director of Rio Tinto Asia and Rio Tinto’s Australian copper and gold business. 
Owen’s previous non-executive directorship roles include ASX-listed Fortescue Metals Group 
Limited (ASX: FMG), Highfield Resources Limited (ASX: HFR), and Hong Kong-listed G-Resources 
Limited and CST Mining. 
Owen has served and continues to serve on a number of government and industry mining 
advisory bodies and is the recipient of a number of awards and citations in recognition of his 
achievements and service to the mining industry. 

Special responsibilities:  
Member of the Sustainability Committee (formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment & 
Community Committee). 
Member of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee. 

Other listed directorships:  
Tigers Realm Coal Limited (ASX: TIG) (2009 - current); Highfield Resources Limited (ASX: HFR) 
(2013-2019). 

Mr Peter Albert  
BSc (Minerals Engineering) 
(Hons) EMBA 
MAICD FAusIMM, MIOM3, 
Chartered Engineer 

Managing Director & Chief 
Executive Officer 

Peter was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021 and commenced his role as Managing 
Director & Chief Executive Officer with effect on and from 2 July 2021. 
Peter is an experienced mining executive, with more than 35 years’ experience in the mining 
industry across multiple commodities and spanning Australia, Asia, Africa and Europe, including 
25 years in CEO and executive roles for listed mining companies in Australia and Asia.  
Prior to his appointment as 29Metals' Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer, Peter joined 
EMR Capital as the CEO of EMR Capital’s copper portfolio in preparation for 29Metals’ initial 
public offering and ASX-listing. 
Peter’s earlier executive career includes his roles as CEO of ASX-listed Highfield Resources 
Limited (ASX: HFR), Jinchuan International and G-Resources Limited, and as the Executive 
General Manager – Asia for ASX-listed Oxiana Limited (later, OZ Minerals Limited). 
Peter has also held previous roles with Fluor Australia, Shell-Billiton Australia, Davy John Brown 
and Johannesburg Consolidated Investments.  

Special responsibilities: Nil. 

Other listed directorships: Highfield Resources Limited (ASX: HFR) (2016-2020). 

Ms Fiona Robertson 
MA (Oxon) Geology  
FAICD, MAusIMM 

Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

Fiona was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021.  
Fiona has more than 40 years’ experience as a finance executive and non-executive director, 
most of this spent within the resources sector.  
Fiona’s senior and executive finance roles included as CFO of ASX-listed companies Petsec 
Energy Limited, Climax Mining Limited and Delta Gold Limited. Fiona’s earlier career included 
credit risk management, corporate banking and resource financing roles with Chase AMP and 
Chase Manhattan Bank in Australia, New York and London.  
Fiona’s current non-executive directorship roles include ASX-listed Bellevue Gold Limited (ASX: 
BGL) and Whitehaven Coal Limited (ASX: WHC) where Fiona also chairs the Audit & Risk 
Committee for both companies. 
In 2020 Fiona was named as one of “100 Global Inspirational Women in Mining” by Women in 
Mining UK, in recognition of her talent within the global mining industry, “above & beyond” 
contributions to the industry and as a role model for future generations. 

Special responsibilities:  
Chair of the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee. 
Member of the Sustainability Committee (formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment & 
Community Committee). 

Other listed directorships:  
ASX-listed Bellevue Gold Limited (ASX: BGL) and Whitehaven Coal Limited (ASX: WHC). 
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Ms Jacqueline ‘Jacqui’ 
McGill AO 
BSc, MBA 
GAICD, FAusIMM 

Independent Non-executive 
Director 

Jacqui was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021.  
Jacqui has more than 30 years’ experience in the mining sector, including in executive and 
senior leadership roles spanning operations, business development, technology and project 
management across copper, iron ore and energy. 
Jacqui’s executive career includes 16 years with BHP where she held roles as President Olympic 
Dam, President BHP-Mitsui Coal as well as other senior leadership roles in BHP’s copper, 
uranium and iron ore divisions. 
Jacqui’s current non-executive directorship roles include ASX-listed New Hope Corporation 
Limited (ASX: NHC) where she also serves as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and 
chair of the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee. Jacqui is also a non-executive 
director of Johannesburg-listed Gold Fields Limited as well as several other non-listed 
organisations including South Australian Art Gallery and the Royal Automobile Association of 
South Australia. 
Jacqui currently serves as a member of the South Australian Premier's Economic Advisory 
Council and was included in the Australia Day honours list in 2020 recognising her services to 
the resources sector, and diversity and inclusion.  

Special responsibilities:  
Chair of the Sustainability Committee (formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment & Community 
Committee).  
Member of the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee.  
Member of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee. 

Other listed directorships:  
New Hope Corporation Limited (ASX: NHC) (2020 – current); Gold Fields Limited (JSX: GFI; NYSE: 
GFI) (2021 – current). 

Mr Martin Alciaturi 
BSc (Eng) (Hons)  
Grad Dip (Applied Finance) 
FCA MAICD 

Independent Non-executive 
Director 

Martin was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2021. 
Martin is an experienced finance professional with combined experience of more than 40 years 
across investment banking, corporate finance and as a mining executive. 
Martin’s executive career included 11 years in his roles as CFO and executive director with 
Aquila Resources Limited (ASX: AQA, delisted 2014) where Martin’s responsibilities included 
strategy, business development, investor relations, finance and administration.  
Prior to Aquila, Martin spent 30 years in investment banking and corporate finance, including 
as Head of Corporate Finance at Macquarie Capital in Perth, Partner in charge of Corporate 
Finance at EY in Perth (including head of the EY natural resources team), and as an executive 
director with Poynton Corporate. 
Martin has also served as a member of the Australian Government’s Takeovers Panel between 
2006 and 2015. 
Special responsibilities:  
Chair of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee.  
Member of the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee. 
Other listed directorships: Nil. 

Information on Company Secretary 

Mr Clifford Tuck 
LLB (Hons), BScApp (Hons)  
FGIA MAICD 

Chief Governance & Legal Officer 

Clifford was appointed Company Secretary on 27 May 2021, and General Counsel & Company Secretary with effect on and from 2 
July 2021. In this role, Clifford’s executive responsibilities included the role of Company Secretary, governance, Group legal, Group 
risk and insurance, and external affairs. In February 2022, Clifford’s executive accountabilities were expanded to include ESG 
(environment, social and governance) and his title was changed to Chief Governance & Legal Officer. 

Clifford is a legal and governance professional with more than 20 years’ experience, principally in the resources sector. Prior roles 
include working as an adviser to ASX-listed and private equity clients in relation to corporate transactions and governance matters, 
General Counsel & Company Secretary (consultant) for Lattice Energy Limited (the proposed IPO vehicle for the upstream oil & gas 
assets of ASX-listed Origin Energy Limited (2017)), General Counsel & Company Secretary of formerly ASX-listed Drillsearch Energy 
Limited (2014-2016) and various in-house roles with ASX-listed Newcrest Mining Limited (2005 – 2014), including Acting General 
Counsel and Deputy General Counsel (2011-2014). Clifford commenced his professional career with national law firm Allens (2001-
2005). 
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Clifford was also formerly a non-executive director of ASX-listed Aurelia Metals Limited (ASX: AMI) where he also served as a member 
of the audit committee.   

Directors’ Meetings 

The number of meetings of the Board and each of the Board’s standing Committees held during 2021, and director attendance at 
those meetings, is set out below. 

BOARD 
AUDIT, GOVERNANCE &  

RISK COMMITTEE 
SUSTAINABILITY 

COMMITTEE 1 

REMUNERATION & 
NOMINATIONS 

COMMITTEE 

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

Owen Hegarty 6 6 4 3 2 2 2 4 3 

Peter Albert 6 6 4 4 2 2 2 2 4 4 2

Fiona Robertson 6 6 4 4 2 2 4 4 2

Jacqui McGill 6 6 4 4 2 2 4 4 

Martin Alciaturi 6 6 4 4 2 2 2 4 4 
1. Formerly, the Health, Safety, Environment & Community Committee.
2. Attended meeting as an invitee. All Directors have a standing invitation to attend meetings of all Committees.

In addition to the formal meetings of the Board and Committees outlined in the table above, each of the Directors is invited to attend 
monthly briefing sessions with the Management teams of Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper. These meetings provide the Directors 
with direct access and engagement with senior leaders at the Company’s operating sites.  

Five monthly asset briefings were held for each operating site (10 in total) in the period between 2 July 2021 (the listing date) and 31 
December 2021. All Directors attended each of the monthly briefing sessions. 

Director interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and performance rights of 29Metals were: 

NUMBER OF SHARES NUMBER OF OPTIONS 
NUMBER OF 

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 

Owen Hegarty 50,000 - - 
Peter Albert 265,000 1 - 227,926 2

Martin Alciaturi 17,500 - - 
Jacqui McGill 35,000 - - 
Fiona Robertson 25,000 - - 
Total 392,500 - 227,926 
1. Includes 200,000 Restricted Shares awarded to Mr Albert in connection with the IPO. Restricted Shares awarded to Mr Albert had an issue

price of $2.00 per share are a subject to a two-year holding lock. Refer to the Remuneration Report for further information. 
2. Includes the proposed award to Mr Albert of 182,926 performance rights under the Company’s 2021 LTI award, which award has not occurred

as at the date of this report and is subject to shareholder approval to be sought at the Company’s next Annual General Meeting. Refer to the 
Remuneration Report for further information. 

Shares under performance rights 

There were no unissued ordinary shares of 29Metals under performance rights outstanding at the date of this report. In total there 
are 2,286,029 unvested performance rights on issue at the date of this report.  

A total of 327,479 performance rights lapsed unvested during the financial year and up to the date of this report. 

Refer to Note 35 to the Financial Statement for further information regarding performance rights on foot at year end. 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 

There are currently no options on issue and no shares were issued on the exercise of options during FY2021 and up to the date of 
this report.  

Shares issued on the vesting of performance rights 

No performance rights vested during the year and no shares were issued on vesting of performance rights during the year and up to 
the date of this report. 



69

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Page B-7 

Non-Audit Services 

During the year no amounts were paid or payable to the Group’s auditor, Ernst & Young, for non-audit services. 

Proceedings on behalf of the company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of 
the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

Corporate governance 

The Board of 29Metals has ultimate responsibility for the management of 29Metals’ business, including ensuring that appropriate 
governance arrangements are in place. The Board has created a framework for managing the Company, including adopting corporate 
governance policies and processes, and systems and processes of internal controls and risk management, that the Board considers 
appropriate for the Company’s business and that are designed to promote the responsible management and conduct of the Company.  

29Metals’ corporate governance framework has been developed having regard to the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (4th edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council. 29Metals will publish an annual corporate 
governance statement that sets out the extent to which the Company has followed these recommendations since its admission to 
the official list of the ASX on 2 July to 31 December 2021. 

29Metals will publish its maiden corporate governance statement and Appendix 5G in April 2022. A copy of 29Metals’ corporate 
governance statement will be made available on the 29Metals website.  

An overview of 29Metals’ corporate governance framework is set out in section 7.6 of the 29Metals prospectus dated 21 June 2021 
(a copy of which was released to ASX on 2 July 2021) (the ‘29Metals Prospectus’). A copy of the 29Metals Prospectus is available on 
the 29Metals website at https://www.29metals.com/investors. 

Information regarding 29Metals’ corporate governance framework, including copies of the charters of the Board and each of its 
committees, and key corporate governance policies, is also available on the 29Metals website at 
https://www.29metals.com/about/corporate-governance.  

Likely developments 

The Operating and Financial Review on pages C-1 to C-23 of this document sets out information on the Group’s business strategies 
and likely developments. Other than the information set out in the Operating and Financial Review, further information about likely 
developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in future financial years has not been 
included in this report because disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.  

Rounding of amounts 

29Metals is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 
and, in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Annual Financial Report are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars except where otherwise stated. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page B-8 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for FY2021. 

Remuneration Report 

The Remuneration Report is set out in Part D and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 22 February 2022. 

OWEN HEGARTY FIONA ROBERTSON 

Chair of the Board the Directors 
Non-executive Director 

Chair of the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee 
Independent Non-executive Director 
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Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of 29Metals Limited 
As lead auditor for the audit of 29Metals Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2021, I 
declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit;

2. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and

3. no non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in
relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of 29Metals Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial 
year. 

Ernst & Young 

Fiona Drummond 
Partner 

22 February 2022 

Page B-8
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
This is the Operating and Financial Review for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

The principal activities of the Group during the Reporting Period were mineral exploration, development and production activities at the 
Group’s two long-life producing mines located in Western Australia (Golden Grove) and Queensland (Capricorn Copper), and the Redhill 
exploration and development project, located in southern Chile.  

OVERVIEW <moved from beginning of part A changes showed as tracked> 
2021 was a momentous year for 29Metals, bringing together two high quality, long life operating mines in Australia and a portfolio of 
highly prospective exploration tenements in Australia and Chile.  

During 2021 29Metals achieved the following milestones: 

Successful IPO and refinance 
 Listed on the ASX following successful completion of the IPO, raising gross proceeds of $528m; and

 Achieved financial close for new corporate debt facilities, providing greater flexibility to manage Group liquidity and funding
requirements at a lower cost.

Strong operating performance 
 Operated safely, achieving a TRIFR rate of 12.15, recognising there is always room for improving safety performance;

 Cu-eq6 production for FY2021 of 68kt, exceeding Pro forma Forecast; and

 A significant improvement in unit costs, reflecting the recovery in operating performance after the challenges of the Mar-Qtr and
despite cost, labour market pressures and extended domestic border closures that emerged in the second half, partly offset by lower
than plan by-product metal production for the year;

 Managed evolving COVID-19 risks on site, with continuous operations maintained during the reporting period.

Strong financial performance and low gearing 
 Revenue on a statutory basis of $600.7 million, $166.3 million higher than the prior period;

 EBITDA6 on a statutory basis of $177.3 million, $21.8 million higher than the prior period;

 Pro forma Revenue6 of $709.6 million, $44.3 million (or 7%) higher than Pro forma Forecast; 

 Pro forma EBITDA6 of $254.1 million, $33.1 million (or 15%) higher than Pro forma Forecast; and

 At 31 December 2021 29Metals had cash balances of $197 million and Drawn Debt of US$150 million ($201 million6).

Advanced growth ambitions 
 Exceptional in-mine exploration results from Cervantes announced during the Sep-Qtr (and further results announced in the Mar-Qtr 

2022), highlighting the potential to deliver additional high-grade, higher margin material; and

 Key studies for the Gossan Valley Feasibility Study were progressed in the Dec-Qtr with further optimisation studies planned for 2022.

Operational de-risking milestones 
 At Golden Grove, production from the Xantho Extended orebody commenced in the Dec-Qtr 2021, a high-grade ore source which will

support future production and growth; 

 At Capricorn Copper, achieved self-propagation and breakthrough of the Esperanza South sub-level cave (‘ESS’); 

 Commenced transition of Capricorn Copper processing operations ‘in-house’. The transition, to be completed in the March 2022
quarter, is expected to create greater operational alignment and enhanced ability to retain and share talent across the Group;

 At Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove, 29Metals invested in a number of environmental projects which will support future
operations, including lifts to the tailings storage facilities at both operations; and 

 Final regulatory approvals for paste fill facilities and expansion of tailings storage facilities at Golden Grove, and for the expansion of
tailings storage facilities at Capricorn Copper, were secured.

5 TRIFR is total recordable injury frequency rate and is reported per million work hours on a rolling 12-month basis. TRIFR cited is TRIFR at 31 December 
2021. 
6 Cu-eq, EBITDA, Pro forma Revenue, Pro forma EBITDA and Drawn Debt are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to important information on page 
C-17 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information metrics in this report.
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IMPACT OF COVID-19 

The challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic evolved during the Reporting Period, including escalating case numbers nationally, reflecting 
the combined impact of the highly transmissible Omicron variant and progressive re-opening of state borders (Queensland – December 
2021; Western Australia (‘WA’) – expected March 2022). 

29Metals’ operating sites and head office developed and implemented COVID-19 Management Plans. At the operations, COVID-19 
Management Plans included:  

 pre-mobilisation (FIFO) testing;

 rapid testing on-site for persons displaying or reporting any symptoms;

 implementing government health recommendations regarding hygiene and social distancing in the workplace and in messing,
accommodation and recreation facilities;

 dedicated accommodation, and services and support for, persons required to isolate on site;

 planning and arrangements in place for emergency airlift of personnel off site, if required;

 not permitting any close contacts identified on break to return to site until a negative test result is received;

 actively encouraging early vaccinations amongst staff, including initiating a ‘double dose challenge’; and 

 enhanced workforce communications and education.

Vaccination rates in the workforce were very encouraging, both at Capricorn Copper where there was no Government vaccine mandate 
and at Golden Grove with the Government mandate in effect from 1 December 2021.   

Subsequent to year end, 29Metals recorded its first cases of COVID-19, with confirmed cases at Capricorn Copper in early January 2022 
and a single confirmed case at Golden Grove in late January 2022.  

The direct and indirect impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on 29Metals are difficult to predict. Impacts may include additional costs in 
implementing its COIVD-19 Management Plans, operational impacts from absenteeism (which may be exacerbated by labour market 
pressures) and supply chain disruptions. Furthermore, isolation requirements in place in Western Australia increase these challenges at 
Golden Grove.  

Given the evolving nature of the challenges posed by COVID-19, 29Metals will continue to adapt and update its COVID-19 Management 
Plans to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on its workforce and operations.

Presentation of operating and financial review 

In June and July 2021, 29Metals executed the Restructure and IPO Transactions resulting in the formation of the Group and the IPO, listing 
on the official list of ASX on 2 July 2021. 

To assist readers to understand the operating and financial performance of the Group for the Reporting Period the Operational and 
Financial Review is structured in parts as follows: 

 Part A – Statutory results

As described above and in Note 2 (Basis of Preparation) of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Statutory financial 
information is reported under Australian Accounting Standards (‘AAS’) on the basis that the Golden Grove Group is the acquirer for 
accounting purposes. Accordingly, the FY2021 results reflect:

 the Golden Grove Group (on a standalone basis) for the six months to 30 June 2021; and

 the Group for the six months to 31 December 2021.

The results presented in Part A compare Statutory results for FY2021 against the results of the Golden Grove Group for the prior 
corresponding period (the year ended 31 December 2020).

For the purposes of the Statutory financial results, it has been determined that the ‘parent entity’ of the Golden Grove Group is
Golden Grove, LP. As a result, the statutory financial results include the impact of first-time adoption of AAS for Golden Grove, LP.7 

 Part B – Pro forma results 

To aid investors’ understanding, pro forma financial information for FY2021 has been prepared as if the Group had been formed 
prior to the Reporting Period, specifically as if:

 the Restructure and IPO Transactions, the IPO and repayment or reduction of certain Capricorn Copper and Golden Grove 
liabilities out of IPO proceeds had occurred prior to 1 January 2021; 

7 Information regarding the impact of first-time adoption of AAS for Golden Grove, LP, is set out in Note 2 and Note 41 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  
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 the Group had control of the Golden Grove Group, the Capricorn Copper Group, and the Redhill Group of companies from 1 
January 2021; and 

 the Group incurred corporate and other administration costs consistent with being formed prior to 1 January 2021, but 
excluding the impact of costs associated with the Restructure and IPO Transactions and IPO, 

(the ‘Pro forma’ financial information). 

The Pro forma results for FY2021 have been compared against the pro forma forecast financial information for FY2021 (the ‘Pro 
forma Forecast’) as set out in the 29Metals Prospectus. Information regarding the basis of preparation of the Pro forma Forecast is 
set out in section 5.2 of the 29Metals Prospectus. 

Readers should note that the pro forma financial information in Part B is non-IFRS financial information and has not been audited. 
This information should be read in conjunction with, and not in replacement of, the financial information prepared in accordance 
with IFRS and set out in Part A. 

Segment Information 

The Group has elected to present segment results for Golden Grove, Capricorn Copper. In addition, the Group reports results for its 
‘Exploration’ and ‘Corporate and other’ to reconcile results back to its Consolidated Financial Statements. The Group segments are set out 
below. 

REPORTING SEGMENTS  DESCRIPTION 

Golden Grove 
The operation of the long-life Golden Grove mine in Western Australia producing copper, 
zinc and high precious metals ('HPM') concentrates. 

Capricorn Copper 
The operation of the long-life Capricorn Copper mine in Queensland producing copper 
concentrate. 

Exploration 
Exploration activity undertaken at Redhill and expansionary exploration at Golden Grove and 
Capricorn Copper. 

Corporate & other 
Costs relating to governance, management and administrative functions not otherwise 
allocated to other segments. 

Non-IFRS financial information 

29Metals’ results are reported under AAS. This report includes certain metrics, such as EBITDA, Adjusted NPAT, Drawn Debt, Total Drawn 
Debt, Net Drawn Debt, All-in Sustaining Costs (AISC) and C1 Costs that is non-IFRS financial information within the meaning of ASIC 
Regulatory Guide 230: ‘Disclosing non-IFRS financial information’. These Non-IFRS financial information metrics have been calculated by 
reference to information prepared in accordance with IFRS. However, these non-IFRS financial information metrics do not have a 
standardised meaning prescribed by IFRS and may be calculated differently by other companies.  

The non-IFRS financial information included in this report are used by 29Metals to assess the underlying performance of the business. The 
non-IFRS information has not been subject to audit or review by 29Metals’ external auditor. Non-IFRS financial information should be used 
in addition to, and not as a substitute for, information prepared in accordance with IFRS. Although 29Metals believes these non-IFRS 
financial information metrics provide useful information to investors and other market participants, readers are cautioned not to place 
undue reliance on any non-IFRS financial information presented. These non-IFRS financial information metrics are not audited. 

Refer to section 8 for definitions of the non-IFRS financial information metrics used in this report and a reconciliation of non-IFRS financial 
information metrics to IFRS financial information. 

In addition to the non-IFRS financial information metrics used in this report, referred to above, this report contains pro forma financial 
information. Pro forma financial information is also non-IFRS financial information and has not been audited. 

The pro forma financial information is this report has been included to provide investors and other market participants with insights into 
the operating and financial performance of the Group for the full year. The pro forma financial information is included in Part B of this 
Operating and Financial Review, and certain pro forma financial information is also included in the Remuneration Report. Refer to Part B 
for information regarding the presentation and presentation of the pro forma financial information in this report. 

As above, the pro forma financial information (as non-IFRS financial information) should be used in addition to, and not as a substitute for, 
information prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

Rounding 

Certain figures, amounts, percentages, estimates, calculations of value and fractions presented are subject to the effect of rounding. 
Accordingly, the actual calculation of these figures may differ from the figures presented. 
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PART A – STATUTORY RESULTS 

1. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW
METAL PRICES AND FX 1 2021 2020 VAR 

Copper  US$/t 9,305 6,175 3,130 

Gold  US$/oz 1,798 1,773 25 

Zinc  US$/t 3,005 2,266 739 

Silver  US$/oz 25.1 20.5 4.6 

Lead  US$/t 2,201 1,823 378 

Australian dollar (period average) AUD:USD 0.752 0.691 0.061 

Australian dollar (at period end) AUD:USD 0.727 0.772 (0.045)  
1. Source: FactSet.

In FY2021, the average copper price of US$9,305/t was US$3,130/t or approximately 51% higher than the prior period. The average prices 
of other commodities sold by 29Metals mostly increased in FY2021 with zinc prices increasing by 33%, silver prices increasing by 22%, lead 
prices increasing by 21%, and gold prices declining by 1%. Higher average commodity prices supported higher revenue outcomes as 
discussed further below. 

The average Australian dollar exchange rate of 0.752 (source: FactSet) was 0.061 or 9% higher than the prior period, partially offsetting 
the benefit of higher US$ commodity prices. 

GROSS PROFIT 2021 2020 VAR 

Revenue $'000 600,762 434,451 166,311 

Mining costs $'000 (213,289) (144,030) (69,259) 

Processing costs $'000 (94,419) (69,384) (25,035) 

Site services costs $'000 (37,684) (23,894) (13,790) 

Depreciation and amortisation $'000 (100,113) (56,148) (43,965) 

Stockpile movements $'000 25,580 (5,615) 31,195 

Government royalties $'000 (25,918) (15,312) (10,606) 

Other production and selling costs $'000 (18,275) (11,456) (6,819) 

Cost of sales $'000  (464,118) (325,839) (138,279) 

Gross profit $'000 136,644 108,612 28,032 

Revenue for FY2021 increased approximately 38% on the prior period, reflecting favourable commodity prices relative to the prior period 
and the inclusion of Capricorn Copper revenue for the second half of the year, partly offset by a stronger Australian dollar.  

FY2021 cost of sales increased by approximately 42% on the prior period as operations experienced labour and consumables cost 
escalation, exacerbated by a skills shortage, impacting costs and productivity. These issues were particularly felt at Golden Grove in WA, 
with COVID-19 border restrictions remaining in place during FY2021. Cost of sales were also increased on the prior period due to the 
addition of six months of financial results from Capricorn Copper results. 

Higher mining costs in FY2021 reflects a combination of higher mining costs at Golden Grove, due to the operating cost pressures and the 
addition of six months of financial results from Capricorn Copper. 

Higher depreciation and amortisation for FY2021 reflects the inclusion of six months of Capricorn Copper financial results, inclusive of the 
impact of purchase price accounting outcomes in connection with the acquisition of Capricorn Copper. 

Higher costs were partly offset by a positive stockpile movement, approximately $31 million higher than the prior period, reflecting timing 
differences between production and sales resulting in an increase in concentrate inventories at the end of FY2021. 

Gross profit of $137 million in FY2021 was $28 million higher than the prior period, reflecting the inclusion of Capricorn Copper’s financial 
results for the second half of the year, higher commodity prices in Australian dollar terms partially offset by higher costs of sales and lower 
production from Golden Grove relative to the prior period. 
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NET PROFIT AFTER TAX 2021 2020 VAR 

Gross profit $'000 136,644 108,612 28,032 
Other income $'000 270 73 197 
Net gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments $'000 (11,135) 8,359 (19,494) 
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) $'000 (13,450) 26,807 (40,257) 
Administration expenses $'000 (18,641) (4,688) (13,953) 
Other expenses $'000 (45,649) (3,988) (41,661) 
Profit before net finance costs and income tax expense $'000 48,039 135,175 (87,136) 
Net finance costs $'000 (30,262) (100,661) 70,399 
Profit before income tax expense $'000 17,777 34,514 (16,737) 
Income tax (expense)/benefit $'000 103,236 (34,514) 137,750 
NPAT $'000 121,013 0 121,013 
Earnings per share (‘EPS’) (Basic) cents 48.5 N/a n/a 
1. EPS for the prior period cited as N/a (not applicable) on the basis that partner capital contributions to Golden Grove, LP, is treated as a financial 

liability for accounting purposes. 

29Metals recorded a net loss on derivative financial instruments in FY2021 of $11 million, an increased loss of approximately $19 million 
on the prior period, primarily reflecting realised losses on the settlement of 2021 copper hedges and an increase in unrealised losses for 
remaining copper hedges as copper prices increased in Australian dollar terms, during the period. FY2021 losses on derivative financial 
instruments includes $3 million in unrealised losses in relation to the Golden Grove gold hedges. Gains on derivative financial instruments 
in the prior period are in relation to Golden Grove gold hedges. 

Foreign exchange losses in FY2021 of $13 million related to the devaluation of the Australian dollar against the US$ at period end resulting 
in unrealised losses on the Group’s US$ denominated borrowings. FY2021 foreign exchange losses include $5m net realised gains primarily 
in relation to the refinancing of Golden Grove debt in October 2021. Gains on foreign exchange in the prior period were in relation to US$ 
denominated debt balances at Golden Grove. 

Administration costs in FY2021 are primarily 29Metals corporate and administration costs. Other expenses of $46 million reflect IPO 
transaction costs, including stamp duty triggered by the Reverse Acquisition of the Golden Grove Group. 

Net finance costs for FY2021 of $30 million were approximately $70m lower than the prior period. 29Metals net finance costs in 2021 
reflects a lower cost of financing following completion of the refinancing of Golden Grove facilities in the Dec-Qtr, which were replaced 
with new Group facilities and a higher average Australian dollar in FY2021 relative to the prior period, reducing the cost of servicing US$ 
debt in Australian dollar terms. FY2021 net finance costs include $14m in distributions payable to the partners of Golden Grove, LP which 
compares to $83 million in the prior period. Refer to Notes 40 and 41 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details. 

FY2021 Income tax benefit of $103 million includes the impact from the recognition of deferred tax assets resulting from the entry of 
Golden Grove into the 29Metals tax consolidated group ('TCG’) of $119 million. Refer to Note 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for further details. 

Net profit attributable to members (‘NPAT’) in FY2021 of $121 million reflects the matters described above. The prior period nil NPAT 
result reflects statutory adjustments in relation to net assets attributable to the Partners in Golden Grove, LP. 

ADJUSTED NPAT 1 2021 2020 VAR

NPAT $'000 121,013 0 121,013

Add: Transaction costs (post-tax) $'000 39,216 0 39,216

Less: Income tax benefit on formation of the 29Metals TCG $'000 (119,388) 0 (119,388)

Add: Increase in net assets attributable to the Partners in Golden Grove, LP $'000 14,955 82,716 (67,761)

Adjusted NPAT $'000 55,796 82,716 (26,920)

Adjusted EPS cents 22.4 N/a N/a
1. Adjusted NPAT and Adjusted EPS are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-

IFRS financial information metrics in this report. 

Adjusted NPAT has been derived after removing the post-tax impact of non-recurring items from Statutory NPAT. Adjustments include 
transaction costs in relation to the Restructure and IPO Transaction, income tax benefit associated with tax recognition of deferred tax 
assets resulting from the reset of tax cost base following formation of the 29Metals tax consolidated group, and statutory accounting for 
net assets attributable to the Partners in Golden Grove, LP. 

Under the terms of the Golden Grove, LP, partnership agreement effective prior to 2 July 2021 (the ‘Pre-29Metals LPA’), the partnership 
was to continue to operate until 3 June 2026, unless extended on agreed terms. Furthermore, this agreement stipulated how gains and 
losses were to be allocated between the limited partners and general partner in accordance with an allocation waterfall. Taking these facts 
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into account and applying relevant accounting standards, Golden Grove, LP, partner capital has been assessed as a financial liability and 
any increase in net assets has been accounted for in net finance costs during the relevant period. 

A new Golden Grove, LP, partnership agreement, taking effect on and from 2 July 2021 and replacing the Pre-29Metals LPA, removed the 
end date for the partnership and the requirement to distribute gains and losses in a prescribed manner. Accordingly, from 2 July 2021, 
Golden Grove, LP, partner capital has been determined as equity and the impact of accounting for increases in the net assets attributable 
to partners prior to 2 July 2021 reversed for the purpose of determining Adjusted NPAT8. 

Adjusted NPAT for FY2021 of $56 million was $27 million lower than the prior period, primarily reflecting higher gross profit described 
above, being offset by movements in derivatives financial instruments and foreign exchange, higher administration costs, and the inclusion 
of six months of Capricorn Copper financial results.  

NPAT TO EBITDA 1 RECONCILIATION 2021 2020 VAR 

NPAT  $'000 121,013 0 121,013 

Add: Income tax (expense)/benefit $'000 (103,236) 34,514 (137,750) 

Add: Net finance costs $'000 30,262 100,661 (70,399) 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation $'000 100,124 56,148 43,976 

Add: Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss $'000 17,993 (27,437) 45,430 

Add: Net (gain)/loss on derivative financial instruments $'000 11,135 (8,359) 19,494 

EBITDA 1 $'000 177,291 155,527 21,764 
1. EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information 

metrics in this report. 

EBITDA of $177 million was approximately 14%, higher than the prior period, reflecting the combination of higher revenue being partially 
offset by higher site operating costs, higher administration costs, and Restructure and IPO Transaction costs, including stamp duty 
described above.  

SEGMENT EBITDA 1 2021 2020 VAR 

Revenue  
Golden Grove  $'000 419,909 434,451 (14,542) 
Capricorn 2 $'000 180,853 0 180,853 
Reportable segments $'000 600,762 434,451 166,311 
Total revenue  $'000 600,762 434,451 166,311 

EBITDA  
Golden Grove  $'000 161,333 155,527 5,806 
Capricorn 2 $'000 73,277 0 73,277 
Reportable segments  $'000 234,610 155,527 79,083 
Exploration, Corporate and Other $'000 (57,319) 0 (57,319) 
Total EBITDA $'000 177,291 155,527 21,764 
1. EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information 

metrics in this report. 
2. Capricorn Copper revenue and EBITDA contribution reflects the six-month period ending 31 December 2021. 

Cashflows from operating activities of $75 million in FY2021 were $56 million lower than the prior period. The decrease in operating 
cashflow reflects lower production from Golden Grove, partially offset by higher commodity prices, an increase in concentrate inventories 
during the period, increased operating costs discussed above and payments for transaction costs in respect of the IPO. Operating cashflows 
also include six months of results from Capricorn Copper which are not reflected in the prior period.  

Investing cash outflows of $93 million were approximately $14 million higher than the prior period reflecting the impact of including six 
months of results from Capricorn Copper in FY2021 with higher investment in property plant and equipment as well as higher development 
expenditure, partially offset by cash acquired through a business combination.  

Financing cash inflows of $102 million were $159 million higher than the prior period reflecting net proceeds raised from the IPO in FY2021. 
Prior period financing outflows of $57 million primarily reflects the refinancing and distribution to the partners of the GG LP undertaken 
by Golden Grove, as well as lease liability and debt servicing costs. 

8 Adjusted NPAT is a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to important information on page C-17 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial 
information metrics in this report. 
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CASHFLOWS 2021 2020 VAR 

Cashflow from operating activities  $’000 75,098 130,602 (55,504) 

Cashflow from investing activities  $’000 (92,548) (78,888) (13,660) 

Cashflow from financing activities  $’000 101,876 (57,342) 159,218 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $’000 84,426 (5,628) 90,054 

Effects of movements in exchange rates on cash held  $’000 5,831 (3,123) 8,954 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period $’000 107,215 115,966 (8,751) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  $’000 197,472 107,215 90,257 

At 31 December 2021 Net Drawn Debt was $3 million, being Drawn Debt in relation to 29Metals Term Facility of $201 million, and cash 
and equivalents, excluding cash backed indemnity amount, of $197 million9. Net Debt was $65 million.  

INDEBTEDNESS 31-Dec-2021

Term loan facility  $'000 200,971 

Working capital facility  $'000 0 

Drawn Debt 1 $'000 200,971 

Insurance premium funding  $'000 646 

Derivative financial liabilities  $'000 31,259 

Lease liabilities  $'000 31,426 

Financial liabilities (indemnity payable) $'000 12,500 

Total Debt  $'000 276,802 

Cash and cash equivalents  $'000 197,472 

Cash backed indemnity amount $'000 12,682 

Derivative financial assets $'000 1,541 

Net Debt 1 $'000 65,107 

Net Drawn Debt 1 $'000 3,499 
1. Drawn Debt, Net Debt and Net Drawn Debt are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use 

of non-IFRS financial information metrics in this report. 

During FY2021, 29Metals cash-settled copper hedges at Capricorn Copper and delivered into gold hedges at Golden Grove. 29Metals’ 
outstanding metals hedges at 31 December 2021 are shown below. 

HEDGING ARRANGEMENTS Volume Price Fair value ($’000) 

Copper forward contracts 7,200 tonnes $8,990/tonne (31,259) 

Gold swap contracts 44,016 ounces $2,590/oz 1,541 

29Metals’ outstanding copper forward contracts and gold forward contracts at 31 December 2021 are set out in the table below. The 2022 
copper forward contracts (shown below) are scheduled for delivery during the period January to September 2022. 

YEAR 2022 2023 2024 2025

Copper forward contracts Tonnes 7,200 - - -

Gold swap contracts Ounces 13,992 10,008 10,008 10,008

9 Excludes cash balances set aside for rental security deposits.
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2. OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

2.1. GROUP 
Safety performance, measured as total recordable injury frequency rate (‘TRIFR’) at both operating mines for FY2021 was above respective 
state industry averages for underground mining operations, mainly attributable to minor and low potential incidents being recorded during 
the period. Importantly, performance on other lagging safety indicators such as lost time injuries (‘LTI’) and serious potential incidents was 
stronger. 29Metals remains committed to improving performance in this area through a focus on leading indicators such as critical control 
verification and the Company’s Vital Behaviours program.  

2021 2020 VAR 

Ore mined  kt  2,487 1,442 1,045 

Ore milled  kt  2,267 1,377 890 

Metal Production  

Copper  kt  30.6 19.0 11.6 

Gold  koz  35.8 62.7 (26.9) 

Zinc  kt  47.8 54.5 (6.7) 

Silver  koz  1,641 1,679 (38) 

Lead  kt  2.4 2.6 (0.2) 

Increases in ore mined, ore milled, and copper production in FY2021, primarily reflect the inclusion of Capricorn Copper for the second 
half of FY2021, partly offset by lower grade ore and low ROM stockpiles impacting production at Golden Grove during the Mar-Qtr 2021 
and tailings-capacity-related throughput constraints which impacted ore milled at Golden Grove in 2021. 

Lower production of gold, zinc and silver in FY2021 are attributable to lower production at Golden Grove. The operational performance of 
Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper is discussed below.  

2.2. GOLDEN GROVE 

2021 2020 VAR 

Ore mined  kt  1,525 1,442 83 
Ore milled  kt  1,405 1,377 28 
Metal Production  
Copper  kt  16.0 19.0 (3.0) 
Gold  koz  35.8 62.7 (26.9) 
Zinc  kt  47.8 54.5 (6.7) 
Silver  koz  1,496 1,679 (183) 
Lead  kt  2.4 2.6 (0.2) 
Costs  
C1 Costs   A$m 47 (0) 47
C1 Costs   US$/lb 1.10 (0.01) 1.11 
AISC  A$m 126 81 45 
AISC   US$/lb 2.95 1.43 1.52 
1. C1 Costs and AISC are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial 

information metrics in this report. 

Ore mined and ore milled in FY2021 exceeded the prior period by 83kt and 28kt respectively. Higher ore mined reflects improved mining 
performance including in relation to development activities in FY2021. The smaller increase in ore milled reflects restrictions on mill 
throughput rates to manage tails deposition volumes in FY2021, to align with commissioning of new tailings storage capacity.  

Golden Grove metal production decreased in FY2021 on the prior period with copper production lower by approximately 3kt (16%), gold 
by 27koz (42%), zinc by 7kt (12)%, silver by 182koz (11)% and lead by less than 1%. Lower metal production reflects lower mined grades in 
FY2021 and low ROM stockpiles at the start of the year. During FY2021 grade was negatively impacted by the rescheduling of some zinc 
stopes to optimise geotechnical considerations, exacerbated by lower mill throughput for the period.  
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Golden Grove revenues for FY2021 of $420 million were approximately $15 million lower than the prior period reflecting reduced sales, 
partly offset by higher commodity prices in Australian Dollar terms.  

FY2021 C1 Costs of $47 million were $47 million higher than the prior period reflecting a combination of higher operating costs as the 
impact of on-going external cost pressures were felt and lower by-products credits. Consequently, unit C1 Costs of US$1.10 per pound of 
copper sold was US$1.11 per pound of copper sold higher than the prior period. Unit AISC of US$2.95 per pound of copper sold in FY2021 
was US$1.52 per pound higher than the prior period, reflecting the increase in C1 Costs unit costs described above, and a stronger 
Australian dollar relative to the prior period.  

Golden Grove EBITDA increased by $5 million to approximately $162 million reflecting lower cost of sales with stockpile movements 
offsetting higher mining costs. 

Operational milestones achieved in FY2021 included: 

 installation and commissioning of the triple sequential flotation, allowing for an increase in recovery, operational flexibility and
concentrate quality;

 recommissioning and ramp up of the Scuddles hoisting system, enhancing overall future mine flexibility;

 commencement of production from Xantho Extended orebody, a high-grade ore source which will support future production;

 receipt of final regulatory approvals for the paste plant. Commissioning is expected to occur in 2022, which will enable Golden Grove 
to sustain mine and mill production rates, reduce the volume of tailings placed in surface tailings storage facilities and improve site
water management; and

 completed a lift to TSF1 and commenced tailings deposition into this facility. A further lift at TSF1 is planned to be completed during
2022.

2.3. CAPRICORN COPPER 

2021 2020 VAR 

Ore mined  kt  962 - n/a
Ore milled  kt  862 - n/a
Metal Production  
Copper  kt  14.6 - n/a
Silver  kt  145 - n/a
Costs  
C1 Costs – $m  A$m 100 - n/a
C1 Costs – US$/lb  US$/lb 2.44 - n/a
AISC – $m  A$m 127 - n/a
AISC – US$/lb  US$/lb 3.11 - n/a
1. C1 Costs and AISC are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial 

information metrics in this report. 

Operating results for Capricorn Copper reflect the six-month period to 31 December 2021. Capricorn Copper is not included in the prior 
period results. 

During this period, Capricorn Copper mined 962kt and milled 862kt of ore. Mining occurred at ESS, Greenstone and Mammoth orebodies 
with performance supported by multiple mining fronts being available and an increase in the trucking fleet during the period. Lower ore 
milled relative to ore mined reflects reduced throughput rates to manage tailings volumes in advance of approval and construction of a 
lift to the Esperanza TSF, providing additional tailings storage capacity. Following receipt of regulatory approvals, mill throughput 
constraints were removed in September 2021. 

During this period, Capricorn Copper achieved copper production of approximately 15kt reflects strong grade performance particularly 
from the Greenstone and Mammoth orebodies, and the removal of throughput constraints in the second half of 2022 as described above. 
Group revenue from Capricorn Copper during this period was $181 million. 

During this period C1 Costs of $100 million and AISC of $127 million corresponded to unit C1 Costs of US$2.44/lb and unit AISC US$3.11/lb 
of copper sold, reflecting the production outcomes described above. Capricorn Copper EBTIDA for the period was $73 million. 

In the period following completion of the IPO to 31 December 2021, Capricorn Copper achieved several important operational milestones, 
including: 

 recommissioning of the paste fill plant, supporting mining rates and reducing the volume of tailings required to be stored in surface 
tailings storage facilities;

 breakthrough to surface at ESS obviating the need initiate propagation of the cave;
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 Commitment to transition of processing operations ‘in-house’ which occurred in the Mar-Qtr 2022. This will deliver benefits to 
29Metals through greater alignment and improved ability to retain and share talent across the Group; and

 receiving regulatory approval for the ETSF lift and progressing construction activities with deposition commencing in January 2022.

3. ORGANIC GROWTH
Over the course of FY2021, 29Metals advanced its pipeline of organic growth opportunities. A summary of key activities is discussed below. 

Golden Grove 

At Golden Grove organic growth activities focused on operational improvements, in-mine/near mine resource development and extension 
opportunities, with the aim of replenishing reserves and extending mine life. Golden Grove has benefited from several years of sustained 
investment of this nature. Feasibility study work and further drilling also took place at Gossan Valley which has the potential to be a third 
mining front. Drilling at Cervantes specifically has generated significant results and will be a target for further activity in 2022.   

Activities in FY2021 included: 

 operational improvements to support 29Metal’s growth ambitions, including; commissioning of the triple sequential floatation circuit,
commencing production from Xantho Extended and advancing installation of the paste plant project; 

 testing in-mine/near mine organic growth targets at Cervantes, Xantho Extended, Hougoumont, and Tryall. Initial results from the
2021 Cervantes drilling program were announced to the ASX in September 2021 with the balance of the program results announced 
in February 2022;

 drilling program at the Bald Hill prospect and soil sampling at the Crescent prospect, however, the two regional prospects have not
returned significant results to date;

 at Gossan Valley, undertaking exploration drilling and advancing feasibility study work, validating its potential to become a third
mining front at Golden Grove.

2022 activities at Golden Grove are planned to include: 

 in-mine resource extension and conversion drilling at Cervantes, Xantho Extended, and Oizon; 

 scoping Study work at Cervantes;

 near-mine exploration drilling at Xantho Extended North and Scuddles-GG4; and 

 life of mine optimisation studies which are planned to include an evaluation of the options and timing for bringing Gossan Valley and
Cervantes into the mine plan.

Capricorn Copper 

At Capricorn Copper there was a focus on optimising operations to support 29Metals' organic growth ambitions through de-risking 
activities including the establishment of the ESS Northern Cave and achieving improving mill throughput rates. Activities to advance in-
mine/near mine opportunities were relatively limited with several small extensional programs as well some resource development drilling 
at ESS.  

Drilling activity at Capricorn Copper is planned to be expanded significantly in 2022 to support reserve replenishment and mine life 
extension.  

29Metals holds significant exploration leases in the Mt Isa Inlier, surrounding the Capricorn Copper operating site, totalling 1,858km2, and 
several regional targets are planned to be drill tested in 2022 along with greenfields activities such as mapping and soil sampling.   

Activities at Capricorn Copper included: 

 in-mine extensional drilling at Mammoth North, Mammoth Deeps, G Lens and ESS;

 surface drilling at Magazine intersecting minor mineralisation visually; and

 an airborne Falcon Plus survey was completed to collect gravity data over the entire south-eastern tenement block known as Crystal
Creek, which has flagged a number of areas for further follow up.

FY2022 activities at Capricorn Copper are planned to include: 

 in-mine resource extension and conversion drilling at ESS, Greenstone, and Mammoth G lens;

 near-mine exploration drilling at Mammoth North;

 exploration drilling to test regional targets, including GP03, Eagles Nest, and Grey Ghost; and

 soil sampling and mapping across numerous regional areas of interest.
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Redhill 

At Redhill, activity in period after completion of the IPO to 31 December 2021 was limited to compiling and reviewing historical exploration 
data, including petrophysical studies, in preparation for the 2022 field season which runs from January to April. The initial objectives of 
the upcoming field work will be the collection of rock samples using portable short drills and undertaking a drone-based magnetics survey 
in order to estimate the overall potential endowment of the system around the existing Cutters Mineral Resource. The field campaign, if 
successful, is intended to inform targeted drilling activities at Cutters in 2023.  

Activities at Redhill included: 

 full review of work completed to date on the Redhill project;

 undertaking petrophysical test work to inform future geophysical surveys; and

 2022 field campaign (refer below).

The field campaign in Redhill in FY2022 comprises field sampling using portable small drills, rock chip sampling and mapping, as well as 
high resolution drone-based magnetic surveys.  

The work is planned to occur over the Mar-Qtr and Jun-Qtr with the objective of determining the overall potential endowment for the 
system in addition to what has currently been modelled.  

4. MARKET OUTLOOK
29Metals explores for, develops and produces metals (in the form of mineral concentrates) including copper, zinc, gold, silver and lead. 
The outlook for copper, zinc, and gold and silver is set out below. 

Copper 

Global demand growth for copper is expected to remain strong, underpinned by increasing urbanisation, investment in transportation and 
power networks and strong manufacturing in China and other Asian economies coupled with a supportive public policy backdrop and 
government stimulus in Europe and the US.  

Over the medium-to-long term, decarbonisation, electrification and the global transition to a greener economy are expected to drive 
incremental copper demand. The supply outlook for copper is subject to a range of factors, including challenges to the development of 
new copper mines including declining head grades, increased capital intensity, a lack of new discoveries, water scarcity, increasing 
technological, metallurgical and permitting approval challenges and increased risk of resource nationalisation in a number of key copper 
producing nations. 

Zinc 

29Metals expects there to be a positive impact on refined zinc demand over the short to medium term driven by: 

 the announcement of new galvanising lines by galvanised steel producers who are the largest users of refined zinc;

 incremental demand from the requirement to provide galvanised steel in the construction of renewable energy sources, particularly
wind and solar power capacity; and

 Government infrastructure programs, given refined zinc’s end use in construction, transportation and infrastructure.

There is potential short term downside risk given the current deteriorating outlook for China’s property/construction and automotive 
sector. However, the Chinese Government may provide support to the property sector, in turn supporting increased demand for 
commodities. 

Growth in mined zinc supply is expected to occur from new projects which are expected in the near and medium term. 

Gold & Silver 

Continued market volatility, recovering physical demand and low interest rates are expected to support a positive outlook for both gold 
and silver. Industrial demand for silver is also expected to benefit from its use in electromagnetic shielding associated with 5G 
developments and solar installations. 

5. BUSINESS STRATEGY AND OPPORTUNITIES

Business Strategy 

29Metals’ vision is to be a leading ASX-listed copper producer capitalising on the important role that copper will play in electrification, 
decarbonisation, and the global transition to a greener economy from its diversified production assets. 29Metals is also well-positioned to 
benefit from improvements in the outlook for zinc and its role in infrastructure development. 
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29Metals’ strategy is to pursue profitable and sustainable growth over the near-to-medium term by executing against its operating plans 
and delivering against the pipeline of organic growth opportunities in the portfolio. 

29Metals may evaluate external growth opportunities on an opportunistic and selective basis. External growth opportunities will only be 
pursued where 29Metals is confident the opportunity will enhance shareholder value. 

Opportunities 

For the year ended 31 December 2021, 29Metals achieved a number of important operational milestones. Building on this success, a 
number of key opportunities are planned to be pursued in 2022, including: 

 commissioning of the paste fill plant at Golden Grove is expected to occur in 2022 following receipt of regulatory approvals in late
2021. Successful commissioning and expansion of production at Xantho Extended is expected to contribute high grade ore mill feed 
particularly from 2023 and beyond;

 following the advancement of key studies for the Gossan Valley feasibility study, 29Metals intends to undertake further optimisation
work on the Gossan Valley as well as consider the optimal development strategy in the context of other organic growth options, 
including Cervantes; and

 In 2022, 29Metals intends to undertake exploration activities at Golden Grove, Capricorn Copper and Redhill. The objective of these
activities is to achieve resource extensions at existing orebodies and identify new discoveries at prospects identified on tenements
controlled by 29Metals’.

6. MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS
29Metals’ business, and operating and financial performance, is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond 
29Metals’ control. 

29Metals has a risk management framework in place to: 

 identify and evaluate risks and opportunities to 29Metals’ business performance and objectives; 

 identify and implement controls and other actions to mitigate the impact of risks and capture opportunities; and

 review the effectiveness of controls and other actions to mitigate risk.

Risks and uncertainties are assessed by reference to the potential for harm or injury, the potential financial impact, the potential for 
environmental harm, the risk of non-compliance with regulatory obligations, the risk to stakeholder relationships and potential to harm 
the reputation of the Company. In most instances, identified risks have the potential to impact across more than one of these dimensions 
outlined above.  

The table below outlines those risks that 29Metals’ has identified as having the potential to have a material impact on 29Metals business 
or operating and financial performance. The risks outlined in the table are not intended to be an exhaustive description of the risks and 
uncertainties that may impact on 29Metals’ business or operating and financial performance. There may be other risks that uncertainties 
that 29Metals is not aware of, or which are currently considered to be unlikely to have a material impact.  

RISK EVENT DISCUSSION 

COVID-19 The impact of COVID-19 continues to evolve, including as a result of new variants such as the Omicron variant which 
emerged in late 2021. COVID-19 has a variety of potential direct and indirect impacts on 29Metals, including:  

 additional costs to implement COVID-19 Management Plans in order to mitigate the risk of transmission of COVID-
19 at 29Metals’ operating sites and to comply with local, State and Federal health advice and directives (which 
directives are subject to change); 

 while not experienced by 29Metals to-date, the potential for on-site transmission of COVID-19 at an operating site
resulting in a significant portion of the workforce contracting the virus and/or being required to isolate on site
(including as a designated close contact), impacting normal operations; 

 general hardening of labour market conditions, including as a result of continuing border restrictions; and
 extended lead times and costs increases for specialised labour and equipment.

29Metals has COVID-19 Management Plans in place at each of its operating and corporate sites that seek to mitigate or 
manage the direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19. While these COVID-19 Management Plans are regularly reviewed 
and have proven effective in avoiding a material impact on the business to-date, there can be no guarantee that COVID-
19 will not have a material impact on the business or operating and financial performance of 29Metals. 

Changes in market price for 
copper and other 29Metals 
products 

29Metals’ business and financial performance is significantly affected by the market prices and treatment and refining 
charges for mineral concentrates of copper and zinc, which can be subject to material fluctuations due to factors outside 
of 29Metals’ control. 

Such factors include changes (or perceived changes) in supply and demand for the materials (or the end-products in 
which they are commonly used), the availability and cost of substitute products, currency exchange rates, inventory 
levels maintained by users, the cyclicality of consumption, actions of other participants in the commodities markets, 
adverse weather incidents which affect supply, national tariffs, general global, regional and local economic activity, or 
other international macroeconomic and geopolitical events. 



83

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Page C-13 

RISK EVENT DISCUSSION 

Absent offsetting factors, significant and sustained adverse movements in commodity prices (specifically, the market 
price for copper, gold, zinc and silver) may have a material adverse impact on 29Metals’ business, results of operations 
and financial condition and prospects.10 

Changes in currency foreign 
exchange rates 

29Metals’ mineral concentrate products are priced in US dollars while its operating costs are primarily Australian dollar 
costs. In addition, 29Metals has debt facilities priced in US dollars and cash reserves comprise a combination of 
Australian and US dollars.  

As a result, 29Metals’ financial performance is exposed to relative movements in the US dollar to Australian dollar 
exchange rate. Absent offsetting factors, the relative movements in the Australian and US dollar may have a material 
impact on 29Metals’ profitability as well as the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities of the Group. 

Impact of geotechnical 
events on operations 

Underground mining at 29Metals’ producing assets is subject to geotechnical risks that arise from changes in the 
stresses, seismicity and/or stability of the rock formations that surround ore and waste material once that material has 
been extracted by mining, along with general seismicity risks which may result in sudden movement of underground 
workings. 

Geotechnical conditions can be unpredictable and failures in current or historic mined areas, in the form of the material 
collapsing into stope or development voids, may occur without warning.  

The impact of geotechnical and underground seismicity events on 29Metals may include:  

 harm or injury, including death, to underground mining personnel, or damage to property;

 access to mining areas and equipment may be suspended for a temporary or extended period, including as a result
of regulatory intervention; 

 additional costs to rehabilitate effected areas; and

 financial penalties or loss of licenses.

29Metals has management plans in place at its operating sites to avoid and/or mitigate the impact of geotechnical risks, 
however, there can be no guarantee that these plans will be effective.  

Unexpected failure of 
equipment 

29Metals’ mines and associated processing plant and equipment, are at risk of incidents such as critical mechanical 
failures, fire, damage via corrosion of aged infrastructure, and loss of power supply. The occurrence of any such incidents 
could interrupt 29Metals’ operations and adversely affect 29Metals operating and financial performance.  

29Metals seeks to manage the risk of equipment failure through regular monitoring of the condition of key items of 
plant and equipment, by maintaining sufficient spares and replacement parts on site and by undertaking scheduled 
maintenance and replacement works. 

Impact of extreme weather 
events, including as a result 
of climate change 

The frequency and severity of extreme weather or natural environmental disasters, such as heavy rainfall and flooding, 
including as a result of climate change, are difficult to predict.  

Extreme weather events may impact 29Metals operations directly or indirectly, adversely impacting the Company’s 
operating and financial performance. 

For example, access to and from Capricorn Copper is via an unsealed road which can be susceptible to flooding during 
significant rainfall events during the Queensland wet season (November to March). In circumstances where safe access 
via road is prevented by flooding, transportation of mineral concentrates produced at Capricorn Copper is delayed, 
along with delivery of critical materials, parts and consumables required to maintain normal mining operations. 

Extreme or unseasonal weather events may also impact on surface conditions at 29Metals’ operating and exploration 
sites, restricting access or making surface conditions challenging, resulting in delays to or deferrals of surface activities, 
which, in turn, may impact upon 29Metals’ operating and financial performance. 

Reliance on third parties 29Metals is reliant upon key contractors to deliver against the Company’s operating plans and budgets. In particular, 
29Metals employs contractor mining at both Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper, as well as specialised contractors for 
production and other drilling at Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper. 

As a result, 29Metals operating and financial performance is reliant upon the performance of the relevant contractors 
and their personnel. 29Metals seeks to manage this risk through contractual structures that promote performance. 

These contractors are subject to personnel attraction and retention challenges as a result of labour market pressures, 
including as a result of COVID-19 related borders closures and other restrictions (refer below).  

Failure to attract and retain 
employees 

The market for skilled and experienced personnel to undertake exploration, project development and mining operations 
is highly competitive and volatile.   

29Metals seeks to attract and retain employees and third-party contractors with the appropriate skills and experience 
necessary to continue to operate its business. A loss of key personnel or a failure to attract appropriately skilled and 
experienced personnel by 29Metals, or the contractors upon whom 29Metals relies (refer above), may adversely affect 
29Metals’ business and operating and financial performance.   

29Metals has talent attraction and retention strategies and remuneration frameworks in place to mitigate this risk. 
However, there can be no assurance that 29Metals will be able to engage competent and suitably experienced local 
businesses or that disruptions will not occur in the future which may have an adverse effect on 29Metals’ business.  

In addition, the competitive landscape for skilled and experienced labour, and attraction and retention strategies 
employed by 29Metals, may result in the Company incurring additional costs which, in turn, may adversely affect the 
Company’s operating and financial performance. 

10 Refer to page C-7 in the Operating and Financial Review for information regarding outstanding metal hedge positions at 31 December 2021. 
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RISK EVENT DISCUSSION 

Reliance on contractual 
counterparties 

29Metals’ business is reliant upon contractual counterparties performing their obligations to 29Metals, and 29Metals’ 
ability to exercise its contractual rights is subject to the liquidity and financial strength of such counterparties.  

In the period 2021‑2025 (inclusive) the majority of 29Metals’ mineral concentrate products are committed to a single 
contractual counterparty, Trafigura Pte Ltd ('Trafigura’), under existing offtake contracts. In addition, as noted above, 
29Metals has material contracts in place at Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper that are critical to operating 
performance. 

Any renewal on unfavourable terms or any failure to renew or other early termination of one of these key contracts 
could have an appreciable adverse impact on 29Metals’ operating and financial performance. 

Further, 29Metals is exposed to credit risk in relation to Trafigura. If amounts due to 29Metals under its sales contracts 
are not paid in a timely manner or at all, it may have consequences for 29Metals’ cash flow and broader financial 
position. 

The impact of geopolitical 
conditions 

Under 29Metals’ mineral concentrate sales arrangements, 29Metals’ may be required to deliver concentrate to ports in 
China which presents risks given the current geopolitical tension between Australia and China. For example, in October 
2020, it was reported that certain Chinese state‑owned utilities and steel mills had been verbally instructed by China’s 
General Administration of Customs (‘CGAC’) to stop importing thermal and metallurgical coal from Australia with 
immediate effect. The impact, scope and duration of the CGAC restrictions remains unclear. 

While the “buyer” under 29Metals’ mineral concentrate contracts may elect for one or more shipments of 29Metals’ 
mineral concentrates to be delivered to ports outside of China (such as South Korea), under the relevant offtake 
agreements 29Metals assumes the risk and the costs for changes in shipment locations.  

The costs associated with such an occurrence may be material and have the potential to adversely affect 29Metals’ 
financial performance. 

Increase in production and 
capital costs 

Key production inputs and consumables are subject to fluctuation, including as a result of changes in international 
markets (including commodity prices, exchange rate movements and capital markets conditions) and domestic markets 
(including wage increases and general cost escalation), which are outside of the Company’s control. 

Historically, commodity price increases tend to increase production levels in the relevant sector which, in turn, may 
result in increased demand for key production inputs and consumables. 

The impact of increases in production inputs and consumables may include:  

 changes in operating plans to reduce production input and consumable requirements;

 delays to development projects and/or deferral of investment decisions by 29Metals;

 changes to the economic assumptions underpinning 29Metals Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates
which, in turn, may result in an adverse revision of mineral inventory; and 

 review the carrying value of its assets, which may result in impairment charges.

29Metals seeks to manage the risk of increased production and capital costs by regularly reviewing its operating and 
costs performance and forecasts, and by maintaining liquidity via cash and undrawn facilities to meet the Company’s 
commitments.  

Failure to obtain, or delays 
in obtaining, regulatory 
approvals 

Regulatory frameworks are complex and are regularly reviewed and amended in response to changes in stakeholder 
and community expectations. In addition, the regulatory approval process is often protracted due to internal 
government decision‑making processes (which involve the exercise of discretion and can be unpredictable) and 
statutory and other rights of stakeholders, including the public, non‑government organisations and anti‑mining groups, 
in relation to proposed approvals.  

29Metals’ business depends on its ability to obtain, renew and amend as relevant, on a timely basis, all required 
regulatory approvals for its existing operations and its expansion plans.  

The impact of failures to obtain, or delays or difficulties in obtaining, relevant approvals may include: 

 changes to operating plans to maintain operations within existing approval parameters, such as reducing 
production rates to extend the life of existing tailings storage facilities pending approvals to increase tailings 
storage capacity; 

 delays or changes to development plans; and 

 changes to the economic viability of 29Metals’ development projects which, in turn, may adversely impact the 
Company’s growth objectives and result in a revision of Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates or an 
impairment of the carrying value of 29Metals’ assets.  

29Metals seeks to mitigate the impact of regulatory approval requirements by including approval requirements in its 
long-term planning and seeking to maintain constructive engagement with regulatory approval authorities. 

Changes in regulatory 
environment 

29Metals is subject to extensive legislation, regulation, and supervision by a number of regulatory bodies across: 

 mining permits, leases and licences;

 occupational health and safety;

 native title; and

 environmental matters (including emissions monitoring, air and water quality, waste management, ecosystem
management, and closure and rehabilitation). 

There may be unforeseen changes in government policy, including new compliance requirements, and the introduction 
of additional requirements relating to regulatory and environmental approvals. 
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Compliance with these requirements could become more costly, and cause interruptions to existing operations or delays 
in implementing planned development activities, which could adversely impact 29Metals’ business, and operating and 
financial performance.  

Access to capital and capital 
management 

To maintain operations and meet its growth objectives, 29Metals may, in the future, require access to debt and/or 
equity capital markets. Access to capital markets may be impacted by the following: 

 a failure to comply with debt covenants which may give rise to an event of default (absent a waiver from lenders)
under the relevant debt facility triggering accelerated payment of drawn amounts under the relevant debt facility; 

 high levels of indebtedness and other financial commitments, which may restrict the Company’s ability to access
additional capital or negatively affect the cost of accessing capital; and 

 changes in liquidity in global capital markets which may be impacted by geopolitical events, macroeconomic
conditions and policy settings of government and non-government institutions. 

Dependent on these factors, the ability of 29Metals to obtain new funding or refinance existing liabilities in the future 
may be significantly reduced. If 29Metals is unable to obtain sufficient funding, the Company may not have sufficient 
cash to meet its ongoing capital requirements. 

29Metals manages this risk by maintaining low levels of gearing and access to liquidity including cash and undrawn 
facilities sufficient to meet the Company’s commitments. 

Failure of exploration and 
project development 
activities to support growth 
objectives 

29Metals aims to grow its production and extend mine-life through its pipeline of organic growth opportunities.  

The time between discovery of economically viable deposits to commercial production is highly variable and has been 
extending in recent years as a result of various factors, including capital requirements, changes to regulatory approval 
requirements (refer above) and the complexity and depth of target deposits.  

Expansion of existing operations and development of new projects are capital intensive and often involve significant 
expenditure prior to a final decision to proceed, including significant investment in studies and regulatory approval 
requirements.  

The actual costs to expand operations or develop a new project, along with the operating performance once brought 
into commercial production, may also vary significantly from estimates. 

Failure to discover new 
Mineral Resources or to 
convert Mineral Resources 
to Ore Reserves or to 
produce Ore Reserves 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates are imprecise and involve:  

 interpretation of geological data obtained through exploration drilling and other exploration activities;
 judgements and material assumptions regarding (among other things) future commodity prices, operating costs,

capital costs, orebody characteristics and metallurgical recovery performance; and 
 statistical and other analyses.

There can be no guarantee that 29Metals’ Mineral Resources estimates will be converted to Ore Reserves, or that 
material included in 29Metals’ Ore Reserves estimates will be successfully produced. Nor can there be any guarantee 
that 29Metals’ exploration activities will result in the discovery of new material, or reclassification of material previously 
discovered, to be included in Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates. 

In addition, changes in factors outside of 29Metals’ control, such as adverse changes to long term forecasts of 
commodity prices, may result in an adverse change to 29Metals Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates.  

A failure to successfully replace Ore Reserves depleted through production, or a material adverse revision to Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves estimates, will have an adverse impact on the long-term prospects of 29Metals. 

Impairment of the carrying 
value of 29Metals’ assets 

29Metals’ balance sheet includes a number of non‑financial assets that may be subject to impairment risk, including 
plant and equipment, mine properties, mineral rights, exploration and evaluation and other intangible assets.  

Impairment assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices (considering 
current and historical prices, price trends and related factors), discount rates, operating costs, future capital 
requirements, closure and rehabilitation costs, exploration potential, reserves and operating performance (which 
includes production and sales volumes). These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. Therefore, 
there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the recoverable 
amount of assets and/or cash generating units. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amount of the 
assets/cash generating units may be further impaired or the impairment charge reduced with the impact recognised in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Future rehabilitation 
provisions 

29Metals is required to include provisions in its financial statements for rehabilitation and remediation costs. Estimating 
the likely quantum of such costs involves making assumptions as to mine life (which, in turn, is influenced by estimates 
regarding future commodity prices), the extent of disturbance and contamination, and future rehabilitation and closure 
costs.  

29Metals utilises third party experts in assessing future rehabilitation costs. However, actual costs of closure and 
rehabilitation in the future may be substantially greater. The impact of higher rehabilitation provisions on 29Metals 
includes: 

 higher capital and operating costs may adversely impact the overall financial position of the Company; 

 increases in future closure and rehabilitation costs may adversely affect the economic assumptions underpinning
29Metals’ Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates resulting in an adverse revision to mineral inventory 
which underpins mine life; and 

 29Metals may be required to review the carrying value of its assets, which may result in impairment charges.

In certain jurisdictions where 29Metals conducts mining operations now or in the future, such as Queensland where 
Capricorn Copper is located, 29Metals may be required to provide a surety against future rehabilitation and closure 
liability, in the form of performance bonds or bank guarantees. The quantum of the surety is determined by the relevant 
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regulatory authority having regard to an assessment of disturbance and contamination, and other criteria determined 
by the regulatory authority (from time to time). 

Impacts of Climate Change The impacts of climate change expose 29Metals to a range of risks, as well as opportunities associated with the global 
transition to a greener economy.  

Risks to 29Metals as a direct or indirect result of climate change include: 

 increases in the frequency or severity of extreme weather events or natural disasters (refer above); 
 changes to the regulatory environment for 29Metals’ business, including the inclusion of climate change

considerations in project approvals and the imposition of tariffs and other imposts on cross border supply chains;
and 

 changes to the availability of debt capital and insurances.

Direct impacts of climate change are likely to be geographically specific, and may include one or more of changes in 
rainfall patterns, drought‑induced water shortages, increases in the occurrence and intensity of extreme weather events 
(including bushfires, storms and floods), and rising temperatures. The occurrence of such events, or an increase in the 
frequency and severity of such events, could result in damage to 29Metals’ mine sites and equipment, interruptions to 
critical infrastructure such as transport, water and power supply, or loss of workforce productivity, and increase 
competition for, and the regulation of, limited resources (such as power and water), which could in turn adversely affect 
29Metals’ business, results of operations and financial position. 

Failure to maintain 
relationships with 
community and other 
stakeholders 

29Metals’ relationships with the community and other stakeholders (including regulatory authorities), through the 
acceptance of its plans and activities related to exploration, developments and operations at a mine, are critical to the 
long‑term success of its existing operations and the development of any future projects. Fostering and maintaining a 
social licence to operate in respect of a mining project is a key tenet of corporate social responsibility, without which it 
can be very difficult to, among other things, secure necessary permits or arrange financing.  

Although 29Metals prioritises the establishment of strong relationships with the communities near its mines, it may 
engage in activities that have or are perceived to have adverse impacts on local communities and their relevant 
stakeholders, society as a whole, cultural heritage, human rights and the environment.  

In addition, 29Metals’ current operating assets are mature assets with a long operating history. Perceptions and 
expectations from stakeholders can change over the life of the mine. Changes in the aspirations and expectations of 
local communities where 29Metals operates with respect to its contributions to employee health and safety, 
infrastructure, community development, environmental management and other factors could affect its relationship 
with stakeholders and 29Metals’ reputation, and may lead to increased costs and reduced future earnings if expansions 
or new projects are blocked either temporarily or for extended periods.  

29Metals also aims to foster strong relationships with regulatory authorities. A failure to maintain these relationships, 
or the loss of support of surrounding communities or regulatory authorities, could have an adverse impact on 29Metals’ 
business, and operating and financial performance. 

Impact of 29Metals’ 
business activities on sites 
of cultural significance 

29Metals must ensure that its operations do not interfere with or impact upon designated sites of cultural significance 
to First Nations people.  

Events at Juukan Gorge in Western Australia and the proposed amendments to the Aboriginal cultural heritage 
legislation in Western Australia has increased the risk to projects associated with Aboriginal heritage and cultural values. 
New processes and approvals that require significant engagement and preferably agreement with the traditional owner 
groups will be required under the new proposed cultural heritage legislation, which will increase the timeframe and cost 
of project development, and potentially impact ongoing project activities where there is further surface disturbance. 

29Metals does not have any formal heritage agreements with traditional owners, which means there is no agreed 
heritage management process for identifying and addressing potential impacts on Aboriginal heritage and managing the 
impacts of activities on Aboriginal heritage values. However, heritage clearances have been obtained for all areas of 
disturbance at 29Metals operating sites. In addition, heritage management plans prepared in consultation with 
traditional owner groups are in place to reduce the risks in relation to activities and heritage sites specifically 
contemplated by those management plans only.  

<Rest of page intentionally blank> 
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7. Definitions for non-IFRS financial information metrics
The following definitions apply for non-IFRS financial information metrics cited in this report. 

METRIC DEFINTION 

Adjusted EPS is adjusted earnings per share and is calculated as Adjusted NPAT divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding for the period. 

Adjusted NPAT is net profit after tax for the year attributable to members adjusted for non-recurring items including transaction 
costs in relation to the Restructure and IPO Transactions, income tax benefits resulting from the formation of 
the 29Metals tax consolidated group and application of IFRS accounting standards by Golden Grove, LP.  
A reconciliation of statutory NPAT to Adjusted NPAT is set out on page C-5 of this report. 

AISC is all-in sustaining costs, and is calculated as C1 Costs plus royalties cost, corporate costs, sustaining capital and 
capitalised development costs, but excludes growth capital and exploration. AISC is cited per pound of payable 
copper sold and in $ million terms. 

C1 Costs is mining costs, processing costs, maintenance costs, site general & administrative costs, realisation costs 
including shipping and logistics costs), and treatment and refining charges, adjusted for stockpile movements 
and net of by-product credits (non-copper metal related). C1 Costs is cited per pound of payable copper sold and 
in $ million terms. 

Cu-eq is copper equivalent contained metal. Cu-eq converts zinc, gold, silver and lead metal produced (contained metal-
in-concentrate) to copper equivalent metal on an economic basis. Cu-eq is calculated by applying metal prices 
and actual or assumed metallurgical recovery. Cu-eq calculations do not apply adjustments for payability or 
selling costs which differ between metals and between operating sites. Cu-eq metrics cited in this report apply 
the following commodity price and metallurgical recovery assumptions: 
 2021 PFF Cu-eq production applies Cu US$9,442/t, Au US$1,776/oz, Zn US$2,878/t, Ag US$26/oz, Pb 

$2,063/t; and metallurgical recovery assumptions set out in the technical reports in section 11 of the 
29Metals Prospectus.

 2021 Actual Cu-eq production applies actual average metals prices (Source: FactSet) for the period on a 
quarterly basis and actual metallurgical recovery. Actual quarterly average prices are;
Cu: Q1-21 US$8,490/t, Q2-21: US$9,682/t, Q3-21: US$9,365/t, Q4-21: US$9,685/t 
Au: Q1-21 US$1,794/oz, Q2-21: US$1,815/oz, Q3-21: US$1,789/oz, Q4-21: US$1,795/oz 
Zn: Q1-21 US$2,749/t, Q2-21: US$2,913/t, Q3-21: US$2,991/t, Q4-21: US$3,365/t 

Ag: Q1-21 US$26.3/oz, Q2-21: US$26.6/oz, Q3-21: US$24.3/oz, Q4-21: US$23.3/oz 

Pb: Q1-21 US$2,017/t, Q2-21: US$2,123/t, Q3-21: US$2,338/t, Q4-21: US$2,327/t

Drawn Debt is amounts drawn under Group debt facilities as reported in the 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
excluding bank guarantees issued under the Group bank guarantee facility and insurance premium funding. 

EBITDA is earnings before finance income, finance costs, any unrealised foreign exchange gains or losses, any realised 
and unrealised gains or losses on derivative financial instruments, income tax expense and D&A. Because it 
eliminates all gains and losses on forward commodity contracts (copper) and swaps (gold), the non-cash charges 
for D&A, and unrealised foreign exchange gain or losses, 29Metals considers that EBITDA is useful to help 
evaluate the operating performance of the business without the impact of those items, and before finance 
income and finance costs and tax charges, which are significantly affected by the capital structure and historical 
tax position of 29Metals.  
Reconciliations of statutory and Pro forma NPAT to EBITDA are set out on pages C-6 and C-19 of this report, 
respectively. 

Net Debt is total debt including lease liabilities, insurance premium funding, derivative financial assets and liabilities less 
cash and cash equivalents excluding cash held as rental security deposit and EMR Capital IPO proceeds retained 
by 29Metals under cash backed indemnity arrangements described in section 10.6.12.3 of the 29Metals 
Prospectus. 29Metals uses this measure to understand its overall credit position. Investors should be aware that 
cash and cash equivalents may be required for purposes other than debt reduction. 

Net Drawn Debt is Drawn Debt less cash and cash equivalents excluding cash held as rental security deposit and EMR Capital IPO 
proceeds retained by 29Metals under cash backed indemnity arrangements described in section 10.6.12.3 of the 
29Metals Prospectus. 29Metals uses this measure to understand its overall credit position. Investors should be 
aware that cash and cash equivalents may be required for purposes other than debt reduction. 
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PART B – PRO FORMA RESULTS 
This part B sets out pro forma financial information for the year ended 31 December 2021. This pro forma financial information has been 
included to provide investors and other market participants with additional insights into the operating and financial performance of the 
Group for the full year. The pro forma financial information included in this part B is unaudited. 

The pro forma financial information in this part B has been prepared as if the Group had been formed prior to the Reporting Period. For 
further information on the basis of preparation for pro forma results refer to ‘Presentation of operating and financial review’ on page [13] 
of this report. 

For presentation purposes, the pro forma results for the year ended 31 December 2021 are shown in comparison to the Pro forma Forecast. 
Information regarding the basis of preparation of the Pro forma Forecast is set out in section 5.3 of the 29Metals Prospectus, and 
information regarding the general and specific assumptions applied in the Pro forma Forecast is set out in section 5.9.2 of the 29Metals 
Prospectus.   

Pro forma financial information (as non-IFRS financial information) should be used in addition to, and not as a substitute for, information 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

1. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

METAL PRICES AND FX 1 2021A 2021P VAR 

Copper  US$/t 9,305 9,442 (137) 
Gold  US$/oz 1,798 1,776 22 
Zinc  US$/t 3,005 2,878 127 
Silver  US$/oz 25 26 (1) 
Lead  US$/t 2,201 2,063 138 
Australian dollar (period average) AUD:USD 0.752 0.772 (0.020) 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast contained in the 29Metals Prospectus.

Average metal prices were broadly in line with the Pro forma Forecast, with copper price being 1% lower, gold 1% higher, zinc 4% higher, 
and silver 4% lower than the Pro forma Forecast.  

The average actual Australian dollar to US$ exchange rate was 3% lower than the Pro forma Forecast (source: FactSet), which favourably 
impacted revenue in Australian dollar terms.  

GROSS PROFIT 1 2021A 2021P VAR 

Revenue $'000 709,597 665,330 44,267 
Mining costs $'000  (258,909) (229,776) (29,133) 
Processing costs $'000 (111,090) (116,255) 5,165 
Site services costs $'000 (45,926) (44,842) (1,084) 
Depreciation and amortisation $'000 (124,457) (126,102) 1,645 
Stockpile movements $'000 35,231 16,928 18,303 
Government royalties $'000 (31,159) (29,785) (1,374) 
Other production and selling costs $'000 (24,992) (20,379) (4,613) 
Cost of sales $'000 (561,303) (550,211) (11,092) 
Gross profit $'000 148,294 115,119 33,175 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast contained in the 29Metals Prospectus.

Higher revenue reflects the impact of higher copper sales for the Group supported by favourable commodity prices in AUD terms11, being 
partly offset by lower revenue from by-product metals sales at Golden Grove and an increase in concentrate stockpiles relative to Pro 
forma Forecast. 

Group cost of sales of were 2% higher than the Pro forma Forecast, primarily reflecting higher mining costs as operations experienced 
labour and consumables cost escalation, exacerbated by a skills shortage, impacting costs and productivity. These issues were particularly 
felt at Golden Grove in WA, with COVID-19 border restrictions remaining in place during FY2021.  

Higher cost of sales in FY2021 were partially offset by a higher stockpile movement credit than Pro forma Forecast reflecting timing 
differences between concentrate production and sales. 

Gross profit for FY2021 was $33 million, or 29% higher than Pro forma Forecast, reflecting the revenue and cost outcomes discussed above. 

11 Includes final invoice and quotational period (‘QP’) adjustments for the year. 
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NPAT 1 2021A 2021P VAR 

Gross profit $'000 148,294 115,119 33,175 
Other income $'000 554 73 481 
Net gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments $'000 (48,471) (32,524) (15,947) 
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) $'000 (11,136) (2,308) (8,828) 
Administration expenses $'000 (24,603) (19,701) (4,902) 
Other expenses $'000 (1,204) 0 (1,204) 
Profit before net finance costs and income tax expense $'000 63,434 60,659 2,775 
Net finance costs $'000 (16,665) (11,574) (5,091) 
Profit before income tax expense $'000 46,769 49,085 (2,316) 
Income tax (expense)/benefit $'000 (12,433) (12,561) 128 
NPAT $'000 34,336 36,524 (2,188) 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast contained in the 29Metals Prospectus.

NPAT was $2 million lower than Pro forma Forecast reflecting higher gross profit described above, offset by higher losses on derivative 
financial instruments and foreign exchange, finance costs, and higher administration expenses, relative to Pro forma Forecast.  

Losses on derivative financial instruments were primarily in relation unrealised movements on outstanding copper hedges at Capricorn 
Copper due to higher copper prices, in Australian dollar terms relative to Pro forma Forecast. Higher foreign exchange losses than Pro 
forma Forecast are primarily a function of the devaluation of the AUD against the US$ resulting in net unrealised foreign exchange losses 
on US$ denominated debt and cash balances in FY2021 of $11 million. FY2021 net foreign exchange losses include $5 million in realised 
gains primarily in relation to the retirement of Golden Grove debt in October 2021.  

Higher administration expenses primarily reflect higher site administrative costs than Pro forma forecast and a reallocation of costs from 
site services costs to administration expenses. Actual other expenses primarily relate to doubtful debts expense in connection with the toll 
treating of gold oxide ore at Golden Grove.  

Income tax expense was in line with the Pro forma Forecast. 

EBITDA  1, 2 2021A 2021P VAR 

NPAT $'000 34,336 36,524 (2,188) 
Add: Income tax expense/(benefit) $'000 12,433 12,561 (128) 
Add: Net Finance costs $'000 16,665 11,574 5,091 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation $'000 124,468 126,102 (1,634) 
Add: Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss $'000 17,692 1,703 15,989 
Add: Net (gain)/loss on derivative financial instruments $'000 48,471 32,524 15,947 
EBITDA $'000 254,066 220,988 33,078 
1. EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial information metric.  Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information 

metrics in this report. 
2. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast set out in the 29Metals Prospectus.

FY2021 EBITDA of $254 million was approximately $33 million, or 15%, higher than the Pro forma Forecast. The higher FY2021 EBITDA 
reflects the higher revenues higher revenues and stockpile credits relative to Pro forma Forecast offset by higher costs, as described above. 

SEGMENT REPORTING 1 2021A 2021P VAR 

Revenue  
Golden Grove  $'000 419,909 433,390 (13,481) 
Capricorn  $'000 289,688 231,940 57,748 
Reportable segments $'000 709,597 665,330 44,267 
Total revenue  $'000 709,597 665,330 44,267 

EBITDA 2  
Golden Grove  $'000 163,413 170,431 (7,018) 
Capricorn  $'000 109,906 70,384 39,522 
Reportable segments  $'000 273,320 240,815 32,505 
Exploration, Corporate and Other $'000 (19,254) (19,827) 573 
Total EBITDA 2 $'000 254,066 220,988 33,078 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast.
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2. EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial information metric.  Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information 
metrics in this report. 

On a segment reporting basis, Capricorn Copper achieved EBITDA approximately $40 million higher than Pro forma Forecast, supported 
by higher grades and mill throughput, more than offsetting a lower EBITDA result from Golden Grove.  

Golden Grove EBITDA was approximately $7 million lower than Pro forma Forecast, reflecting sales outcomes for FY2021 and higher 
operating costs partially offset by a higher stockpile movement credit relative to Pro forma Forecast.  

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 1 2021A 2021P VAR 

Mine development  $’000 56,214 59,816 (3,602) 
Sustaining  $’000 35,668 25,001 10,667 
Growth  $’000 11,300 12,200 (900) 
Exploration  $’000 7,699 10,469 (2,770) 
Total Capital Expenditure $’000 110,881 107,485 3,396 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast set out in the 29Metals Prospectus.

Total capital expenditure in FY2021 the was approximately $3 million, or 3%, higher than Pro forma Forecast, reflecting: 

 lower mine development capital, primarily in relation to due to scheduling changes and improvements to development designs at
Capricorn Copper;

 higher sustaining capital, primarily relating to increased investment in environmental projects, including the works to raise tailings
dams at both operations; and

 a reallocation of in- resource conversion drilling costs in FY2021 from exploration to sustaining capital expenditure.

Growth capital for FY2021 primarily relates to the paste plant project at Golden Grove. 

2. OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

2.1. GROUP 

2021A1 2021P1 VAR 

Ore mined kt  3,297 3,287 10 
Ore milled kt  3,108 3,108 0 
Metal Production  
Copper  kt  40.7 36.8 3.9 
Gold  koz  35.8 40.9 (5.1) 
Zinc  kt  47.8 54.5 (6.7) 
Silver  koz  1,766 1,914 (148) 
Lead  kt  2.4 4.4 (2.0) 
Cu-eq2 – Prospectus metal prices kt 67.43 67.44 0.0 
Cu-eq2 – Actual metal prices 2, 5 kt 68.2 N/a N/a 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast set out in the 29Metals Prospectus.
2. Cu-eq is a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to page C-3 for important information regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information in

this report. 
3. 2021A Cu-eq production cited is the aggregate of reported quarterly Cu-eq for the relevant period
4. 2021P Cu-eq production applies Cu US$9,442/t, Au US$1,776/oz, Zn US$2,878/t, Ag US$26/oz, Pb $2,063/t; and recovery assumptions set out in the 

technical reports in the 29Metals Prospectus. 
5. Cu-eq – Actual metal prices is Cu-eq production calculated by applying actual realised metals prices for the period and actual metallurgical recovery.

Refer to definitions of non-IFSR financial measures for actual metal prices. 

For FY2021, Group ore mined, ore milled and Cu-eq production achieved Pro forma Forecast. Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper met 
Prospectus Pro forma Forecast for ore mined. Capricorn Copper exceeded Prospectus Pro forma Forecast for ore milled, offsetting weaker 
performance from Golden Grove. 

The performance of Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper on a Pro forma basis is discussed further below. 
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2.2. GOLDEN GROVE 

2021A 1 2021P 1 VAR 

Ore mined kt  1,525 1,522 3 
Ore milled kt  1,405 1,483 (78) 
Metal Production  
Copper  kt  16.0 16.5 (0.5) 
Gold  koz  35.8 40.9 (5.1) 
Zinc  kt  47.8 54.5 (6.7) 
Silver  koz  1,496 1,664 (168) 
Lead  kt  2.4 4.4 (2.0) 
Cu-eq2 – Prospectus metal prices3 kt 42.0 46.4 (4.4) 
Cu-eq2 – Actual metal prices4  kt 42.8 N/a N/a 
Costs 
C1 Costs2  $m 45 18 27 
C1 Costs2 US$/lb 1.05 0.42 0.63 
ASIC2  $m 124 89 35 
AISC2  US$/lb 2.90 2.08 0.82 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast set out in the29Metals Prospectus.
2. Cu-eq, C1 Costs and AISC are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to page C-3 for important information regarding the use of non-IFRS

financial information in this report. 
3. 2021P Cu-eq production applies Cu US$9,442/t, Au US$1,776/oz, Zn US$2,878/t, Ag US$26/oz, Pb $2,063/t; and recovery assumptions set out in the 

technical reports in section 11 of the 29Metals Prospectus. 
4. Cu-eq – Actual metal prices is Cu-eq production calculated by applying actual realised metals prices for the period and actual metallurgical recovery.

Refer to definitions of non-IFSR financial measures for actual metal prices. 

Ore mined in FY2021 on a pro forma basis was in line with Pro forma Forecast, while ore milled was slightly below Pro forma Forecast. The 
lower ore milled result was due to restrictions on mill throughput rates to manage tails deposition volumes in the second half of FY2021. 
Cu-eq production was approximately 11% lower than Pro forma Forecast reflecting a combination of lower tonnes milled and lower grades 
of ore milled. During FY2021, grades were negatively impacted by the rescheduling of some zinc stopes to optimise geotechnical 
considerations, exacerbated by lower mill throughput for the period. FY2021 copper production was 3% lower, zinc and gold were 12% 
lower, and silver was 10% lower than Pro forma Forecast.  

Golden Grove revenue for FY2021 of $420 million was approximately $13 million lower than the Pro forma Forecast, reflecting reduced 
sales of copper and by-product metals, partially offset by higher commodity prices in Australian dollar terms as well as lower treatment 
and refining charges due to lower volumes of metals sold.  

FY2021 C1 Costs were approximately $27 million higher than Pro forma Forecast due to lower than planned copper by-product sales 
partially offset by higher commodity prices in Australian dollar terms and the impact of on-going external cost pressures, partially offset 
by lower treatment and refining charges and higher stockpile movement credit relative to Pro forma Forecast. Higher unit AISC reflects 
the increase in C1 Costs and higher sustaining and mine development capital.  

2.3. CAPRICORN COPPER 

2021A1 2021P1 VAR 

Ore mined kt  1,772 1,765 7 
Ore milled kt  1,703 1,624 79 
Metal Production  
Copper  kt  24.7 20.3 4.4 
Silver  kt  270 250 20 
Cu-eq2 – Prospectus metal prices3 kt 25.4 21.0 4.4 
Cu-eq2 – Actual metal prices4  kt 25.4 N/a N/a 
Costs 
C1 Costs2 $m 186 166 20 
C1 Costs2 US$/lb 2.80 2.95 (0.15) 
AISC2 $m 230 213 17 
AISC2 US$/lb 3.45 3.79 (0.34) 
1. 2021A refers to Pro forma FY2021 results, 2021P refers to the 2021 Pro forma Forecast.
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2. Cu-eq, C1 Costs and AISC are non-IFRS financial information metrics. Refer to page C-3 for important information regarding the use of non-IFRS
financial information in this report. 

3. 2021P Cu-eq production applies Cu US$9,442/t, Au US$1,776/oz, Zn US$2,878/t, Ag US$26/oz, Pb $2,063/t; and recovery assumptions set out in the 
technical reports in the 29Metals Prospectus. 

4. Cu-eq – Actual metal prices is Cu-eq production calculated by applying actual realised metals prices for the period and actual metallurgical recovery.
Refer to definitions of non-IFSR financial measures for actual metal prices. 

Capricorn Copper ore mined in FY2021 was in line with Pro forma Forecast, and ore milled was higher than Pro forma Forecast, achieved 
following the removal of tailings-capacity-related throughput constraints in September 2021.  

FY2021 Cu-eq metal production applying actual 2021 metal prices, was 21% higher than Pro forma Forecast, reflecting higher mill 
throughput and higher grades than Pro forma Forecast.  

Capricorn Copper revenue for FY2021 was approximately $58 million higher than Pro forma Forecast reflecting higher copper production 
and sales, and higher copper prices in Australian dollar terms, relative to Pro forma Forecast.  

Pro forma C1 Costs of $186 million in FY2021 were $21 million, or 12%, higher than Pro forma Forecast, reflecting higher selling costs 
resulting from higher sales volumes and higher site costs reflecting external cost pressures and higher ore milled volumes.  

Pro forma unit C1 Costs were US$0.15/lb lower than Pro forma Forecast, with higher copper sales more than offsetting higher C1 Costs in 
$m terms. Pro forma unit AISC was US$0.34/lb lower than Pro forma Forecast, with higher C1 Costs, royalties and sustaining capital more 
than offset by higher sales volumes and lower capitalised development costs. 

<Rest of page intentionally blank> 
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF THE REMUNERATION & NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE 

Dear Shareholders 

On behalf of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee and the Board, I am pleased to introduce 29Metals’ inaugural Remuneration 
Report.  

This Remuneration Report outlines 29Metals’:  

 strategy and approach to remuneration for KMPs;

 remuneration arrangements and outcomes for the Reporting Period;

 planned changes to 29Metals’ KMP remuneration in 2022; and

 statutory remuneration reporting.

2021 – year in review 

2021 was an eventful year for all of us – a mix of challenges and important successes. 

We all had another 12-months working through the direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19. At 29Metals, our management plans for 
COVID-19 proved effective with no interruptions to operations in 2021.  There were also a number of operating challenges to be 
confronted and overcome, and all of this in parallel to undertaking 29Metals’ initial public offering (the ‘29Metals IPO’).   

Successful completion of the 29Metals IPO was a key success – the culmination of an enormous amount of work by our people; for 
many, in addition to the ‘day job’. That success was combined with a number of performance highlights, most notably exceeding our 
copper metal and copper equivalent production forecast in the Prospectus12, as well as delivery of various initiatives.  

However, there are areas where improvement will be a focus in 2022 – costs exceeded the forecast in the Prospectus, with costs 
adversely affected by labour market pressures (particularly in Western Australia) and the continuing impact of COVID-19-related 
restrictions, combined with under-performance in by-product metal production and revenue.  

From a safety perspective, the rolling 12-month total reportable injury frequency rate (‘TRIFR’) at year-end is a key area for 
improvement. Safety is and must remain our highest priority.   

The significant appreciation in the 29Metals share price from $2.00 per share at listing (final IPO price) to $[3.07] at the end of 2021 was 
another important highlight for the year – evidencing pleasing recognition from the investment community of the quality of 29Metals, 
our assets and our people.  

Overall, the Board views the performance and achievements in 2021 as good in the context of unique and challenging external 
conditions and key events (such as the 29Metals IPO). However, there are areas of improvement that the Board expect to be a focus in 
2022 and beyond. 

Remuneration strategy 

Through the pre-IPO process, 29Metals had the opportunity to establish its remuneration framework, and the 29Metals Prospectus 
provided a platform to outline our approach to remuneration in some detail.  

As outlined further in the Remuneration Report, 29Metals’ remuneration framework is founded on the following key principles: 

 attract and retain talented, high performing personnel;

 ensure that remuneration outcomes encourage high performance and reward performance that is consistent with 29Metals’ values
and culture; and

 ensure that remuneration outcomes are aligned to shareholder value.

In formulating 29Metals’ remuneration framework and how it would apply in 2021 the Board was mindful of, among other things: 

 the abridged period from the IPO to the end of the financial year;

 the uncertainty of the IPO outcome, at the time, and the need to ensure that the team remained focussed; and

 ensuring that remuneration outcomes were consistent with Company performance and shareholder value.

The remuneration framework is intended as a long-term framework with flexibility to respond to market conditions. That flexibility was 
quickly tested with increasing labour market pressures in the second half of 2021, particularly in Western Australia, combined with the 
impact of border closures, requiring the Board and Management to consider strategies to improve attraction and retention of key 

12 29Metals Prospectus dated 21 June 2021, as released to ASX on 2 July 2021. A copy of the Prospectus is available on the 29Metals website at https://www. 
29metals.com/investors.  



Directors’ Report continued

29Metals 2021 Annual Report94

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

Page D-2 

employees. One of the strategies implemented was to make the first award under the Company’s long-term incentive plan (‘LTI’). 
(Previously the Board had planned to make the first award under the LTI in 2022.) 

Remuneration outcomes in 2021 

The remuneration outcomes for executive KMPs for 2021 reflect the Board’s assessment of the Company’s performance and 
Management’s efforts to respond to challenging external conditions – a mixed scorecard; good overall with areas for improvement that 
the Board expects to be a focus in 2022 and beyond.   

As set out in this Remuneration Report, remuneration outcomes for executive KMPs comprised: 

 fixed remuneration at the level described in the 29Metals Prospectus (pro rata);

 a short-term incentive (‘STI’) outcome of ~80% of the target STI opportunity;

 an initial LTI award, sized to reflect the abridged period post IPO to year end; and 

 one-off benefits in connection with the IPO, in the form of:

- an award of performance rights with a cash value equal to 10% of total fixed remuneration (‘TFR’) for all eligible employees,
including executive KMPs; and

- a transaction incentive for certain executive KMPs referable to their role in relation to the IPO process and outcome, the 
majority of which was delivered in the form of restricted shares with a two-year holding lock.

Changes to remuneration arrangements in 2022 

In 2022 we will be implementing two changes to executive KMP remuneration: 

 remuneration outcomes for the 2022 STI (assessed and determined in 2023) will be delivered as a combination of cash and 
performance rights; and

 formalising the first direct link between executive KMP remuneration outcomes and action on climate change, via a climate action 
vesting condition in the 2022 LTI award.

In addition, the Board proposes to establish a Non-executive Directors (‘NED’) Share Plan, whereby, subject to shareholder approval, 
NEDs will take part of their annual fees in the form of new 29Metals shares. 

The Board considers that these changes will further enshrine the link between executive KMP remuneration outcomes and shareholder 
value, and to enhance alignment between remuneration for all KMPs and the interests of shareholders.  

Reporting Period and pre-IPO benefits 

The reporting period for this Remuneration Report is the period commencing on 2 July and ending on 31 December 2021 (referred to as 
the Reporting Period in the Remuneration Report). This shortened Reporting Period reflects that 29Metals listed on the ASX on 2 July 
2021 at which point 29Metals became a disclosing entity for the purposes of the Corporations Act remuneration reporting requirements. 

The remuneration information included in this Remuneration Report provides shareholders and other market participants with a clear 
understanding of the remuneration arrangements that apply to 29Metals as a listed entity during the Reporting Period and on a go-
forward basis.  

However, we have also included additional remuneration information at the end of this Remuneration Reporting regarding 
remuneration arrangements for KMPs in the period 1 January to 2 July 2021. This information is provided for transparency. 

We welcome feedback from shareholders on this Remuneration Report and our approach to KMP remuneration, and we thank all our 
shareholders for your continuing support. 

Yours sincerely, 

Martin Alciaturi 
Independent Non-executive Director 
Chair, Remuneration & Nominations Committee 
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1. INTRODUCTION

This is the Remuneration Report for 29Metals Limited (‘29Metals’ or, the ‘Company’) detailing the remuneration arrangements for 
29Metals’ key management personnel (‘KMPs’).  

The Remuneration Report covers the period commencing on 2 July 2021 (being the date on which 29Metals listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) and became a disclosing entity for the purposes of the Corporations Act) and ending 31 December 2021 
(the ‘Reporting Period’).   

On the basis that 29Metals, the disclosing entity for the purposes of the Corporations Act, did not exist prior to 2021 comparative 
data for prior years is not presented in this the Remuneration Report. 

This Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors Report for 29Metals and its controlled entities (together, the ‘Group’) for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 and has been audited in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act (except as otherwise 
stated). 

1.1 Key Management Personnel 

29Metals’ KMPs for the Reporting Period, being those persons who had authority for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Group during the Reporting Period, are set out in the table below. 

NAME POSITION PERIOD AS KMP 

Non-executive Directors 1 

Owen Hegarty OAM Chair, Non-executive Director 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Fiona Robertson Independent Non-executive Director 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Jacqui McGill AO Independent Non-executive Director 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Martin Alciaturi Independent Non-executive Director 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Executive Directors 

Peter Albert 1 Managing Director & CEO 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Other Executives 

Ed Cooney Chief Operating Officer 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Peter Herbert Chief Financial Officer 2 July – 31 December 2021 

Clifford Tuck 2 Chief Governance & Legal Officer 2 July – 31 December 2021 
1. Each of the Directors (including the Managing Director & CEO) was appointed as a director of 29Metals on 27 May 2021. 29Metals’

remuneration arrangements for Directors commenced on and from 2 July 2021. 
2. Appointed Company Secretary on 27 May 2021. 29Metals’ remuneration arrangements for Mr Tuck commenced on and from 2 July 2021 in 

the role of General Counsel & Company Secretary. In February 2022, Mr Tuck’s responsibilities were expanded to include ESG matters and 
his title changed to Chief Governance & Legal Officer. 

Information regarding the Directors, including special responsibilities, is set out from page B-3 of the Directors Report. 
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2. REMUNERATION SNAPSHOT

2.1  Summary of KMP remuneration outcomes for Reporting Period 

TFR 
No changes to Director remuneration 

No changes to annual TFR for executive KMPs 

STI STI award outcome of 80% of target for executive KMPs, to be delivered in cash 

LTI Award of performance rights 1 under the LTI – first award under 29Metals LTI 2 

One-off IPO-related 
Benefits 3 

Staff Offer Incentive – award of performance rights 1 with a nominal cash value equal to 10% of annual TFR to 
each executive KMP (including the Managing Director & CEO) 

Transaction Incentive – award of cash and restricted shares 4 to certain executive KMPs (including the 
Managing Director & CEO)  

1. All performance rights awarded to executive KMPs in 2021 are unvested as at the date of this Remuneration Report.
2. Refer to section 4.5 for information regarding the one-off IPO-related benefits for executive KMPs in 2021.
3. 2021 LTI award includes the proposed award of 182,926 performance rights to Mr Albert under the 2021 LTI, which award has not occurred and 

is subject to obtaining shareholder approval to be sought at the Company’s next AGM. 
4. Restricted shares awarded to executive KMPs are subject to a two-year holding lock.

The remuneration outcomes ‘mix’ for executive KMPs in the Reporting Period is summarised below. 

EXECUTIVE KMP 

REPORTING PERIOD REMUNERATION  
MIX EXPRESSED AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL REMUNERATION 1 

10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

Peter Albert 2 
    

  

Ed Cooney 
    

    

Peter Herbert 
     

    

Clifford Tuck 
    

  
1. For the purposes of presenting remuneration delivered in the form of an equity award (including performance rights and restricted shares)

the nominal cash value of the award. Remuneration outcomes presented are subject to rounding. 
2. Remuneration mix shown includes the proposed award of 182,926 performance rights to Mr Albert under the 2021 LTI, which award has not

occurred and is subject to obtaining shareholder approval to be sought at the Company’s next AGM. 
3. The percentage of performance-based remuneration on a statutory basis is set out in section 9 of this Remuneration Report. Performance-

based remuneration shown includes one-off incentives awarded in connection with the 29Metals IPO and awards of equity (including 
performance rights that were unvested at 31 December 2021). 

The horizons for equity awards to executive KMPs are summarised below. 

46% EQUITY 

74% PERFORMANCE-BASED 3 

60% PERFORMANCE-BASED 3 

40% EQUITY 

49% EQUITY 

26% FIXED 

51% CASH 

60% CASH 

40% FIXED 

60% PERFORMANCE-BASED 3 

40% EQUITY 60% CASH 

40% FIXED 

54% CASH 

75% PERFORMANCE-BASED 3 25% FIXED 
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AWARD/GRANT 

Staff Offer Incentive 
(Performance Rights) 1 

   

Transaction Incentive 
(Restricted Shares) 1 

 

2021 LTI  
(Performance Rights) 2 

H2 2021 H1 2022 H2 2022 H1 2023 H2 2023 H1 2024 H2 2024 

1. One-off remuneration component in connection with the 29Metals IPO. Refer to section 4.5 for further information.
2. Refer to section 4.4 for further information regarding the 2021 LTI award, including vesting conditions.

2.2 ‘Take home’ KMP remuneration for Reporting Period 
The table below is included on a voluntary basis to show the payments and other benefits realised by KMPs in the Reporting Period. 

This information is provided in addition to, not as a substitute for, the statutory remuneration reporting set out in section 9 of this 
Remuneration Report (prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act and applicable accounting standards).     

KMP TFR 1 STI 2 
OTHER  

BENEFITS 3 
VESTING 

OUTCOMES 4 
ONE-OFF IPO 

BENEFITS 5 
TERMINATION 

BENEFITS 6 TOTAL 

Non-executive Directors 

Owen Hegarty OAM $145,000 7 N/a - N/a N/a - $145,000 

Fiona Robertson $105,000 8, 9 N/a - N/a N/a - $105,000 

Jacqui McGill AO $107,500 8, 9 N/a - N/a N/a - $107,500 

Martin Alciaturi $97,500 8, 9 N/a - N/a N/a - $97,500 

Executive Directors 

Peter Albert $453,928 $360,986 - - $700,000 - $1,514,91410 

Other Executive KMPs 

Ed Cooney $262,681 $156,728 - - - - $419,409 

Peter Herbert $262,681 $156,728 - - - - $419,409 

Clifford Tuck $262,681 $156,728 - - $350,000 - $769,409 10 

1. TFR shown is TFR paid to the KMP during the Reporting Period. 
2. Cash payments in relation to 2021 STI outcomes which will be paid in March 2022. 
3. Cash payments in relation to allowances for relocation costs, travel costs, non-monetary benefits such as parking, insurance and applicable fringe benefits

tax, as applicable. 
4. Represents the cash value for performance rights awarded under the Company’s performance-based remuneration components (e.g., the LTI) that vested 

during the Reporting Period. Value shown reflects the closing price for 29Metals shares on the applicable vesting date. 
5. Transaction Incentive paid to relevant executive KMPs in relation to the 29Metals IPO. Benefit includes cash payment and the issue of restricted shares 

(refer to section 4.5 for further information). The value of restricted shares applies the issue price of the restricted shares of $2.00 per share. The 
restricted shares are subject to a two-year holding lock. One-off IPO benefits cited excludes performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive
which were unvested at the end of the Reporting Period. 

6. Termination payments (excluding superannuation) paid to executive KMPs on cessation of employment (if applicable). 
7. Owen Hegarty’s Director’s fees are paid to EMR Capital.
8. Fees paid to Fiona Robertson, Jacqui McGill and Martin Alciaturi include $20,000 (cash value) in the form of 10,000 29Metals shares issued at the final IPO

offer price of $2.00 per share. Refer to section 6.5 for further information. 
9. Fees paid cited in the table excludes payments to Directors prior to 2 July 2021. Refer to additional remuneration information regarding remuneration 

arrangement for Directors in the period 1 January to 2 July 2021 included at the back of this Remuneration Report. 
10. Total includes one-off remuneration outcomes in connection with the 29Metals IPO (refer to section 4.5 for information regarding one-off remuneration

outcomes in connection with the 29Metals IPO). 

2.4 COVID-19 
No changes to the 29Metals KMP remuneration framework were implemented as a direct result of the impact of COVID-19. 

However, the impact of border closures and other Government-mandated actions in response to COVID-19 have contributed, at least 
in part, to further tightening of labour market conditions which, in turn, have exacerbated attraction and retention challenges for key 
roles. In response to these conditions, one of the strategies implemented by the Board was to bring forward the making of a first 

First tranche vesting date (50%) of the Staff Offer incentive performance rights 

Second tranche vesting date (50%) of the Staff Offer  
incentive performance rights 
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award under the LTI to 2021 – the first award under the LTI had previously been planned to be made in 2022.  Refer to section 4.4 for 
information regarding the 2021 LTI award. 

3. OVERVIEW OF KMP REMUNERATION AT 29METALS

3.1 Remuneration Governance 
The Board has ultimate responsibility for making decisions regarding 29Metals’ approach to remuneration and remuneration 
outcomes.  

The Board has established the Remuneration & Nominations Committee whose role is to provide advice and recommendations to 
assist the Board to discharge its responsibilities in relation to the Group’s: 

 remuneration strategy and framework; 

 systems and processes for assessing people performance, and for attracting and retaining a diverse and highly skilled workforce;

 policies and strategies for developing the workforce and promoting a culture which reflects the Company’s values; and

 succession planning and nominations to the Board.

An overview of the role of Management, the Remuneration & Nominations Committee and the Board in relation to KMP 
remuneration is set out below. 

MANAGEMENT 
REMUNERATION & 

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE 
BOARD 

Remuneration framework and strategy  

 Implementation  Oversees Management
implementation

 Recommendations to the 
Board 

 Approval of the remuneration 
framework and strategy 

Remuneration outcomes – Managing Director & CEO 

-  Assesses performance 
 Recommendations to the 

Board 

 Approval of Managing Director
& CEO remuneration 
outcomes 

Remuneration outcomes – other executive KMPs 

 Managing Director & CEO 
assesses and approves, subject
to Committee and Board 
endorsement 

 Assesses performance 
 Recommendations to the 

Board 

 Endorses other executive KMP
remuneration outcomes

Performance-based remuneration outcomes 

 Management presents 
performance outcomes against
performance metrics 
determined by the Board

 Assesses performance 
 Recommendations to the 

Board 

 Approval of performance-
based remuneration outcomes

Director and Committee Fees 

-  Review
 Recommendations to the 

Board 

 Approval of changes to 
Director and Committee fees,
subject to fee pool limit 
approved by shareholders

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee has three members, the majority of whom are independent NEDs. The Chair of the 
Remuneration & Nominations Committee is an independent NED.  

Information regarding the members of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee is set out from page B-3 of the Directors’ 
Report. 

Further information regarding the Board’s role and the remit of the Remuneration & Nominations Committee in relation to 
remuneration matters are set out the Board and Committee charters which are available via 29Metals’ website at: 
https://www.29metals.com/about/corporate-governance. 

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee has access to adequate internal and external resources, including obtaining advice 
from external remuneration advisors or consultants, as the committee considers necessary or desirable to fulfil its role. Where the 
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Remuneration & Nominations Committee obtains remuneration recommendations from external remuneration advisers or 
consultants, the Committee does so independent of Management.  

No remuneration recommendations were commissioned or provided during the Reporting Period. 

3.2 Remuneration strategy 
The key objectives of 29Metals’ remuneration strategy are to: 

 attract and retain talented, high performing personnel, including KMPs;

 ensure that remuneration outcomes encourage high performance and reward performance that is consistent with 29Metals’
values and culture; and

 ensure that remuneration outcomes are aligned to shareholder value.

To achieve these objectives, 29Metals applies the following remuneration principles: 

 TFR is set at a competitive level, having regard to the role scope, skills, experience and qualifications, performance, general and 
targeted remuneration benchmarking (as applicable);

 all employees have a performance-based (or ‘at risk’) remuneration component;

 the proportion of performance-based remuneration increases with seniority, reflecting increasing capacity to influence 
Company performance;

 for more senior roles, performance-based remuneration includes cash and non-cash rewards, in the form of equity-based 
remuneration, to align remuneration outcomes with shareholder value;

 over time, all 29Metals staff will have access to equity-based remuneration components, to promote an ‘owner’s mindset’; and

 all performance-based remuneration is subject to clawback mechanisms and malus provisions.

3.3 Structure of remuneration framework for executive KMPs 
Executive KMP remuneration is delivered as a combination of fixed and performance-based remuneration components.  The target 
mix of remuneration for executive KMPs is: 

 greater than 50% of total remuneration outcomes is performance-based or ‘at risk’; and

 45-60% of total remuneration outcomes delivered in the form of equity.

An overview of the components of the remuneration framework for executive KMPs is set out below. NEDs do not participate in 
29Metals’ performance-based remuneration components. 

COMPONENT FORM DESCRIPTION 

Fixed  

Total fixed 
remuneration 
(TFR) 

Cash TFR consists of base salary, superannuation and other non-monetary benefits and is set at a 
level intended to reflect:  
 the scope of the executive role;

 skills, experience and qualifications; and 

 individual performance.

When setting (and reviewing) TFR for executive KMPs, the Board has regard to comparable roles 
in companies of a scale and complexity, and engaged in an industry, similar to 29Metals. 
Annual TFR for executive KMPs, as at the end of the Reporting Period, is set out below. 

EXECUTIVE KMP ANNUAL TFR 

Peter Albert  $900,000 

Ed Cooney $521,000 

Peter Herbert $521,000 

Clifford Tuck $521,000 

Annual TFR for executive KMPs is reviewed annually (typically in July) 
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COMPONENT FORM DESCRIPTION 

Performance-based  

Short term 
incentive (STI) 

Cash 1 The STI is a performance-based remuneration component of executive KMP remuneration, 
intended to align total remuneration outcomes for executive KMPs with Company performance. 
Each executive KMP, including the Managing Director & CEO, is eligible to participate in the STI.  
The STI focuses on performance in a single year, and awards under the STI are determined by 
the Board based on an assessment of performance against specific performance metrics (or 
‘KPIs’) set at the beginning of the relevant STI period.   
For executive KMPs, the KPIs are Company performance metrics. The STI opportunity for 
executive KMPs prescribes STI outcomes for ‘threshold’, ‘at target’ and ‘stretch’.  The STI 
opportunity is expressed as a percentage of TFR. Threshold and stretch STI opportunity is set at 
80% and 120% of the target STI opportunity (respectively). 
Following the end of the relevant performance period, the Board assesses performance against 
the Corporate KPI’s set by the Board and determines the actual level of award. In addition to the 
Corporate KPIs, STI awards are subject to an overarching Board discretion, including 
consideration of threshold or ‘gating‘ conditions such as serious safety or environmental 
incidents. The Board considers that this approach is most efficient and results in the most 
appropriate outcomes. 
STI awards are at the discretion of the Board.  
All STI awards to executive KMPs are subject to a claw back mechanism and malus provisions. 

Long term 
incentive (LTI) 

Equity The LTI is a performance-based executive remuneration component, intended to align total 
remuneration outcomes for executive KMPs with longer term Company performance and 
shareholder value.  
Each executive KMP, including the Managing Director & CEO, is eligible to participate in the LTI.  
LTI awards are at the discretion of the Board and involve the award of performance rights under 
the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan Rules to eligible LTI participants. Upon vesting, each 
performance right converts to one fully paid 29Metals share with a nil exercise price. 
Unless the Board determines otherwise, performance rights awarded under the LTI are subject 
to a three-year vesting period and performance testing at the end of the vesting period against 
vesting conditions determined by the Board at the time of award. Vesting of LTI performance 
rights is also subject to continuity of service (unless the Board determines otherwise – e.g., 
“good leaver”).  
The number of performance rights awarded to executive KMPs is determined by dividing the LTI 
opportunity value (i.e., the applicable percentage of TFR) by the VWAP for 29Metals shares over 
a period determined by the Board at the time of the award.  
Awards of performance rights to the MD & CEO under the LTI are subject to shareholder 
approval. 
All LTI awards to executive KMPs are subject to a claw back mechanism and malus provisions. 

1. STI awards for 2021 will be delivered in the form of cash. 2022 STI awards will be delivered as a combination of cash and performance rights. Refer to 
section 3.6 for information regarding this change to executive KMP remuneration in 2022. 

3.4 Overview of Equity Incentive Plan Rules 
Performance rights awarded to executive KMPs as part of the Company’s performance-based remuneration components are 
awarded under the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan Rules (the ‘Plan Rules’).  The terms of each award are set out in:  

 the terms of the award (e.g., vesting conditions) which are set out in a letter to eligible participants; and

 the Plan Rules.

The following table summarises the key terms of the Plan Rules, including what happens to unvested performance rights in the event 
of cessation of employment or a change of control. 

KEY TERMS DESCRIPTION 

Eligibility An employee of the Group, Director, contractor or prospective employee of the Group, or other person the Board in its 
discretion determines to be eligible to participate in the Plan. 

Award The Plan Rules permit the Board to grant one or more types of award, including performance rights, restricted shares, 
shares and options. 

Vesting A performance right or option which has not lapsed shall vest if and when any conditions applicable to the performance 
right or option have been satisfied or waived by the Board at its discretion. 
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KEY TERMS DESCRIPTION 

A share which has not been forfeited shall vest if and when any conditions applicable to the share have been satisfied, or 
waived by the Board at its discretion, although a vested share may remain subject to dealing restrictions. 

Exercise A performance right or option will only vest or be exercised by a participant once the Board has notified the participant 
that the applicable award conditions have been satisfied or waived. 

Restrictions on 
dealing 

The Board may determine at its discretion whether dealing restrictions or restriction periods will apply to any shares, or, 
for performance rights or options, that shares allocated or transferred on exercise are restricted shares or subject to 
restriction periods. 

Cessation of 
employment 

Under the Plan Rules, the Board has discretion to determine, subject to compliance with applicable law, the treatment of 
an award if a participant ceases to be employed within the Group prior to the vesting or exercise of an award. 

Change of 
control 

If there is a change of control prior to the vesting and exercise of an award, the Board may determine in its absolute 
discretion, whether some or all of the awards vest, lapse or are forfeited, remain on foot subject to the applicable, 
substitute or varied conditions or dealing restrictions, or can only be exercised within a specific period, and the Board will 
have regard to any matter the Board considers relevant. 
Where the Board does not exercise its discretion and a change of control occurs then, unless the Board determines 
otherwise: 
 any unvested award with a remaining vesting period of 12 months or less will vest;
 any unvested award with a remaining vesting period of more than 12 months will vest pro rata based on the

proportion of the performance period that has passed; 
 an award subject to dealing restrictions will no longer be subject to dealing restrictions; and
 where the change of control occurs during the period an award is exercisable, the award may only be exercised

during the period specified by the Board. 

Rights of shares 
granted under 
the Plan Rules 

Unless the Board determines otherwise, all shares allotted and issued or transferred under the Plan Rules will rank 
equally in all respects with other shares already on issue. 

Clawback Where the Board is of the opinion that a participant under the Plan has acted fraudulently or dishonestly, is in breach of 
any of that participant’s duties or obligations or has acted in a way that could reasonably be regarded to have 
contributed to material reputational damage to a member of the Group, or any other events specified in the Plan Rules 
have occurred, the Board may, at its discretion, determine any treatment in relation an award (including by reducing or 
extinguishing a participant’s entitlement to an award). 

Lapse of 
performance 
rights, restricted 
shares or options 

Unless the Board determines otherwise, a share, performance right or option will be forfeited or lapse on the earliest of: 
 the date that the Board determines that any condition in respect of the share, option or performance right cannot

be satisfied; 
 the share, option or performance right being forfeited or lapsing in accordance with the cessation of employment

provision; 
 the share, option or performance right being forfeited or lapsing in accordance with the clawback provisions;
 the share, option or performance right being forfeited or lapsing in accordance with change of control provisions;
 the participant purporting to deal or enter into any arrangement in respect of the option or performance Right in

breach of the provisions under the Plan relating to rights and restrictions attached to options or performance rights; 
or 

 in the case of options or performance rights, the date falling 15 years from the date on which they were granted.

3.5 One-off remuneration components in the Reporting Period 
In the Reporting Period, 29Metals conferred additional “one-off” remuneration outcomes in connection with the 29Metals IPO.  
Information regarding these non-recurring remuneration components, as applicable to executive KMPs, is set out in section 4.5. 

3.6 Changes to KMP remuneration in 2022 
29Metals will be implementing two changes to the remuneration arrangements for KMPs in 2022: 

 STI outcomes for 2022 performance will be delivered as a combination of cash and performance rights; and

 implementing 29Metals’ first direct link between executive KMP remuneration outcomes and action on climate change, via a
climate action vesting condition in the 2022 LTI award conditions.

In addition, the Board proposes to establish a salary sacrifice NED Share Plan (refer to section 7.5 for further information). 

Changes to STI – introduction of performance rights 
As foreshadowed in the Prospectus, the Board has reviewed the structure of the STI and determined that, commencing with the 
2022 performance period, STI outcomes will be delivered to executive KMPs as a combination of cash and performance rights 
awarded under the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan Rules13 set out in the table below.  

13 A description of the Equity Incentive Plan Rules is set out in section [4.3]. 
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EXECUTIVE KMP CASH (% OF AWARD) 
PERFORMANCE RIGHTS (% OF 

AWARD) 

Peter Albert 60 40 

Ed Cooney 70 30 

Peter Herbert 70 30 

Clifford Tuck 70 30 

The number of performance rights to be awarded will be determined by applying the volume-weighted average price (‘VWAP’) for 
29Metals shares traded on the ASX for a period determined by the Board and ending prior to the relevant award date. 

Any award of performance rights to the Managing Director & CEO will be subject to shareholder approval in accordance with the ASX 
Listing Rules.  

The first award of performance rights under the updated STI will occur in 2023, following (and subject to) the Board’s assessment of 
performance against the 2022 STI performance metrics.   

All performance rights awarded to executive KMPs as a 2022 STI outcome will be subject to a 12-month vesting period and 
conditional upon the relevant executive KMP remaining employed by the 29Metals Group continuously until expiry of the vesting 
period (unless the Board determines otherwise – e.g., “good leaver”).  

On vesting, each performance right converts to one fully paid 29Metals share with a nil exercise price. 

Direct link between executive KMP remuneration outcomes and action on climate change 
29Metals recognises that it has a part to play in action against climate change. In 2022, 29Metals will implement the first direct link 
between action on climate change and executive KMP remuneration outcomes. The link will be implemented via the inclusion of an 
action against climate change vesting condition to apply to the terms of the LTI award for 2022. 

The condition will include specific milestones over the three-year vesting period for the LTI, including: 

 the development, publication and implementation of a road map for reporting against the Taskforce for Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures; and

 the establishment and publication, and performance against, specific action against climate change objectives.

4. EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR REPORTING PERIOD

4.1 Fixed Remuneration for Executive KMPs for the Reporting Period 

NAME TFR PAID IN REPORTING PERIOD 

Peter Albert $453,928 

Ed Cooney $262,681 

Peter Herbert $262,681 

Clifford Tuck $262,681 

There were no changes to TFR for executive KMPs during the Reporting Period. 

TFR for executive KMPs will be reviewed annually as part of the Company’s annual performance and review cycle. Any changes to 
executive KMP TFR will be considered as part of that process in CY2022 (typically in July). 

4.2 Group Performance 
29Metals was incorporated and registered on 27 May 2021 and was admitted to the official list of the ASX on 2 July 2021. As a result, 
there is no comparative data for 29Metals for the prior four years.  

The table below sets out 29Metals performance in 2021 against forecast key operating and financial metrics for 2021 set out in the 
Prospectus. Pro forma financial information has been cited in the table on the basis that performance-based remuneration outcomes 
delivered in 2021 are referable to pro forma performance outcomes (refer to section 4.3 for further information regarding 
performance-based remuneration delivered in 2021). Statutory results, where applicable, are included for transparency. 
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COMPANY 
PERFORMANCE METRIC 

UNIT 
2021  

PRO FORMA 
FORECAST 1, 2

2021  
PRO FORMA 
ACTUAL 2, 3

2021 STATUTORY 
RESULTS 4 

Safety (TRIFR) 5 /million hours 9.8  12.1  12.1  

Production 6 

Copper kt  36.8 40.7 30.6 

Zinc kt  54.5 47.8 47.8 

Gold koz 40.9 35.8 35.8 

Silver koz 1,914 1,766 1,641 

Cu-eq 7 kt 67.3 68.2  [TBC] 

Costs  

Group AISC 8 US$/lb 3.25 3.40 N/a 

Revenue 9 $ million 665.3 709.6 600.8 

EBITDA 10 $ million 221 254.0 177.2 

NPAT  $ million 36.5 26.4 121.0 

EPS 11 $/share N/a N/a 0.485 

Dividends $/share - 0.0 0.0 

Share Price $/share 2.00 12 3.07 13 3.07 13

1. Except as otherwise stated, 2021 Pro forma Forecast data is as set out in the Pro forma forecast financial information in section 5.9 of the Prospectus, and excludes�
updated guidance reported in the September 2021 quarterly report (released to ASX on 20 October 2021). 2021 Forecast information is unaudited. 

2. 2021 Pro forma Forecast and 2021 Pro forma Actual data is non-IFRS financial information. Refer to important information on page C-3 regarding the use 
of non-IFRS financial information in this report. Non-IFRS financial information in this report is unaudited. 

3. Except as otherwise stated, 2021 Pro forma Actual data is derived from the Pro forma results set out in Part B of the Operating and Financial Review in�the 
Directors’ Report. This information is unaudited. 

4. Except as otherwise stated, 2021 Statutory Results is derived from the statutory results set out in Part A of the Operating and Financial Review in the 
Director’s Report. 

5. 2021 Forecast TRFIR is as at 30 June 2021 (as reported in 29Metals’ quarterly report for the June 2021 quarter). 2021 Pro forma Actual and 2021 
Statutory Results TRIFR is at 31 December 2021 (as reported in 29Metals’ quarterly report for the December 2021 quarter).  TRIFR is unaudited. 

6. Metal production cited is contained metal in-concentrate. 
7. Cu-eq is copper equivalent contained metal.  Cu-eq is a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to the important information on page C-3regarding 

the use of non-IFRS financial information metrics. Cu-eq is unaudited. 
2021 Pro forma Forecast Cu-eq production applies Cu US$9,442/t, Au US$1,776/oz, Zn US$2,878/t, Ag US$26/oz, Pb $2,063/t; and metallurgical recovery�
assumptions set out in the technical reports in section 11 of the 29Metals Prospectus. 
2021 Pro forma Actual Cu-eq is the aggregate of reported quarterly Cu-eq production in 2021,and applies average metal prices quoted by LME for the 
relevant quarter (Mar-Qtr Cu US$8,490/t, Au US$1,794/oz, Zn US$2,749/t, Ag US$26.3/oz, Pb US$2,017/t; Jun-Qtr Cu US$9.682/t, Au US$1,815/oz, Zn US
$2,913/t, Ag US$26.6/oz, Pb US$2,123; Sep-Qtr: Cu US$9,365/t, Au US$1,789/oz, Zn US$2,991/t, Ag US$24/oz, Pb $2,338/t; Dec-Qtr 2021: Cu 
US$9,685/t, Au US$1,795/oz, Zn US$3,365/t, Ag US$23/oz, Pb $2,327/t (Source: FactSet)) and actual metallurgical recoveries. 
2021 Pro forma Actual Cu-eq calculated with the same metal price assumptions as 2021 Pro forma Forecast Cu-eq (refer above) was 67.4 kt. 

8. AISC (‘all-in sustaining costs’), expressed per pound (lb) of copper metal sold. AISC is a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to important 
information on page C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information metrics in this report. AISC is unaudited 
2021 Pro forma Forecast AISC is the aggregate of Pro forma forecast AISC unit costs for Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper disclosed in section 5.9 of the 
Prospectus. 

9. Revenue is gross revenue for all mineral concentrate sales, inclusive of final shipment invoice and quotational period (‘QP’) adjustments, and after�
treatment and refinement costs and charges. 

10. EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) in a non-IFRS financial information metric. Refer to important information on page 
C-3 regarding the use of non-IFRS financial information metrics. EBITDA is unaudited.

11. EPS cited is basic earnings per share, as shown in Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
12. 2021 Pro forma Forecast Share Price cited is the final IPO Offer price. 
13. Closing price for 29Metals shares quoted on ASX at close of trading on 31 December 2021. 

4.3 Performance-based Remuneration for Executive KMPs for the Reporting Period - STI 
Awards to executive KMPs under the Company’s STI are determined by the Board after assessing performance against the Corporate 
KPIs for the STI set by the Board.   

Following the end of the Reporting Period, the Board assessed performance against the Corporate KPI’s and determined the actual 
level of award. The Board considers that this method is most efficient and results in the most appropriate outcomes. 

In setting the 2021 Corporate KPIs for the STI, the Board was mindful of the shortened performance period post listing and the 
importance of 29Metals’ performance relative to the forecast assumptions disclosed in the 29Metals Prospectus.   
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The 2021 STI Corporate Performance KPIs are set out in the table below, along with the Board’s assessment of performance against 
those KPIs.  

2021 STI COMPANY 
PERFORMANCE KPI 

WEIGHTING LINK TO BUSINESS PERFORMANCE & STRATEGY 
ASSESSED 

PERFORMANCE 

1. Safety 

Completion of critical
controls verification 

15% Safety underpins sustainable business performance and is the highest 
priority at 29Metals.  

Performance against the Company’s critical control assurance and 
verification framework is a leading indicator of safety culture performance  

Slightly below 
target 

performance 

2. Production

Contained metal 
production in Cu-eq 1 
relative to Prospectus 
forecast 

35% Production performance, in conjunction with costs performance, is the 
foundation of 29Metals’ business. 

Execution of 29Metals’ plans and budget, including production, is a key 
component of 29Metals’ stated strategy 

Slightly above 
target 

performance 

3. Costs 

Costs of sales relative to
Prospectus forecast 

35% Costs performance, in conjunction with production performance, is the 
foundation of 29Metals’ business. 

Execution of 29Metals’ plans and budget, including costs, is a key 
component of 29Metals’ stated strategy 

Below target 
performance 

4. Unit Costs

AISC 2 relative to 
Prospectus forecast 

15% AISC unit costs are a measure that investors and employees are familiar 
with and presents a view of the overall costs to produce the Company’s 
products for sale.  As a copper-focussed company, AISC unit costs are 
reported on a per pound of copper sold basis and net of by-product 
revenue from the sale of other metals.  

The weighting of this KPI (relative to the production and costs KPIs) reflects 
the degree of overlap with production and costs performance.  

Not achieved 

2021 STI COMPANY PERFORMANCE KPI 
OUTCOME 

2021 STI Corporate Performance KPIs reflects a mixed performance 
outcome on three of the four KPIs. Out-performance on the production KPI, 
was accompanied by safety performance against the leading indicator 
slightly below target performance. 

Performance against the costs (in $m terms) KPI was below target, 
however, the Board took account of external costs pressures, particularly in 
the second half. 

Threshold 
performance 

(80% of target 
STI opportunity) 

1. Cu-eq is copper equivalent contained metal. Refer to the notes to table in section 5.2 for further information regarding Cu-eq. 
2. AISC is All-in sustaining costs. Refer to the notes to the table in section 5.2 for further information regarding AISC. 

The table below sets out executive KMP outcomes under the STI for the Reporting Period. 

NAME 
TARGET STI 

OPPORTUNITY (% TFR)  
STI AWARD 

(%TFR)  
STI AWARD 

($) 

Peter Albert 100 80 $360,986 

Ed Cooney 75 60 $156,728 

Peter Herbert 75 60 $156,728 

Clifford Tuck 75 60 $156,728 

Note: For the purposes of calculating STI relative to TFR, actual TFR paid in the Reporting Period (ie, 2 July to  
31 December 2021) has been applied. 2021 STI outcomes cited will be paid in March 2022. 

4.4 Performance-based Remuneration for Executive KMPs for the Reporting Period - LTI 
29Metals made an award of performance rights to executive KMPs under the LTI in 2021. 14  

The number of performance rights to be awarded to executive KMPs under the 2021 LTI was calculated by applying the VWAP for 
29Metals shares on the ASX over the 10 trading days ending on 24 September 2021 was applied - $2.46 per share.  The VWAP 
adopted reflects the timing of the Board’s consideration of an LTI award as part of a broader discussion with Management regarding 
retention and attraction strategies to mitigate continuing labour market pressures.  

Performance rights awarded to executive KMPs under the LTI in 2021 are outlined below. Performance rights to executive KMPs 
(other than the Managing Director & CEO6) were awarded on 19 November 2021 and have a vesting period expiring on 30 June 2024. 

14 A proposed award of 182,926 performance rights under the 2021 LTI to Peter Albert is subject to obtaining shareholder approval to be sought at 29Metals’ next 
annual general meeting. 
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Vesting of performance rights awarded is subject to the Board’s assessment of performance against the vesting conditions for the 
2021 LTI award set out below. 

Performance rights awarded to executive KMPs under the 2021 LTI have a nil exercise price at vesting. 

NAME 
NUMBER OF LTI PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 

AWARDED 
2021 LTI AWARD EXPRESSED AS 
PERCENTAGE OF ACTUAL TFR 1 

Peter Albert 182,926 3 100% 3

Ed Cooney 84,522 80% 

Peter Herbert 84,522 80% 

Clifford Tuck 84,522 80% 
1. Actual TFR, is the TFR paid to the KMP during the Reporting Period (2 July – 31 December 2021). 
2. Annual TFR is set out in section 3.3. 
3. Proposed award of 182,926 performance rights under the 2021 LTI to Peter Albert (nominal cash value on award date equal to 100% of actual TFR for the 

Reporting Period). This award has not occurred as at the date of this Remuneration Report and remains subject to obtaining shareholder approval to be 
sought at 29Metals’ next annual general meeting. 

The maximum amount to be recognised in future periods in respect of performance rights awarded under the 2021 LTI is $617,548 
(calculated at 31 December 2021). Refer to Note 35 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding 
recognition and measurement of share-based payments. 

VESTING 
CONDITION 

DESCRIPTION LINK TO SHAREHOLDER VALUE & STRATEGY 

1. Continued service N/a 
1

Vesting of performance rights awarded under the 
2021 LTI to executive KMPs is conditional upon, in 
each case, the executive KMP remaining in 
continuous employment by a Group company until 
expiry of the vesting period (30 June 2024), unless 
the Board determines otherwise (eg, “good leaver”). 

The continued services requirement, combined with 
the duration of the vesting period, ensures that the 
LTI component of remuneration outcomes for 
executive KMPs are linked to longer-term Company 
performance. 

It also serves as a retention incentive for executive 
KMPs to assist the Company to maintain leadership 
continuity and mitigate labour market pressures 

2. Relative Total 
Shareholder 
Return  
(‘rTSR’) 2 

50% 29Metals total shareholder return performance over 
the period 2 July 2021 (the 29Metals listing date) to 
30 June 2024 (inclusive) (the ‘TSR Performance 
Period’), relative to a defined group of peer 
companies3. 

29Metals’ rTSR performance over the TSR 
Performance Period: 

 below the 50th percentile of TSR for the group 
of peer companies, results in zero vesting of 
the rTSR tranche; 

 at the 50th percentile of TSR for the group of 
peer companies, results in 50% vesting of the 
rTSR tranche; and 

 at or above the 75th percentile for the group of 
peer companies, results in 100% vesting for the 
rTSR tranche. 

rTSR between 50% and 75% for the group of peers’ 
results in a vesting outcome of 50-100% of the rTSR 
tranche on a straight-line basis 

TSR has been adopted as a reflection of changes in 
shareholder value over the relevant period and 
incorporates: 

 the value of shares; and

 capital returned to shareholders over the 
period (in the form of dividends or otherwise).  

rTSR refines the vesting condition to show the 
returns realised by 29Metals shareholders relative to 
the returns realised by shareholders in the group of 
peer companies.  

This condition has been chosen because it aligns 
executive KMP reward with shareholder returns, and 
because it rewards only when 29Metals exceeds 
midpoint performance for the comparator group - it 
does not reward for general market uplifts.  

The condition has also been chosen because it is an 
objective assessment of shareholder value that it is 
widely used and understood 

3. Growth 30% The Board’s assessment of the Company’s progress 
against its stated objective to increase production 
copper equivalent contained metal terms by more 
than 50% over five years from the Company’s 
pipeline of organic growth opportunities, as at 30 
June 2024 

Organic growth is a key pillar to the 29Metals 
strategy. 

29Metals’ stated growth objective, while aspirational 
in nature, is directly linked to shareholder value in 
the future 

4. Mine life 20% Maintaining a mine life at each of Golden Grove and 
Capricorn Copper of no less than 10 years as at the 
end of the vesting period (30 June 2024).  

For the purposes of assessing mine life at the end of 
the vesting period the Board will have regard to the 
Company’s then most recent life-of-mine (‘LOM‘) 

Further extension of mine life enhances shareholder 
value by increasing the return realised on 
infrastructure, exploration and development 
investment.  

This vesting condition links to the quality and efficacy 
of the Company’s exploration efforts and focuses on 
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VESTING 
CONDITION 

DESCRIPTION LINK TO SHAREHOLDER VALUE & STRATEGY 

plans; and the proportion of material in the LOM 
plans that is classified as Inferred Resources or 
unclassified 4 relative to total material must be no 
greater than the corresponding proportion of 
Inferred Resources or unclassified material in the 
Company’s 2020 LOM plans 

mineral inventory that has sufficient technical and 
economic confidence to support classification as 
Indicated or Measured Resources or Proven or 
Probable Reserves under the JORC Code 

1. Continued service is a threshold vesting condition. Unless the Board determines otherwise (eg, “good leaver”), unvested performance rights 
awarded under the 2021 LTI award are forfeited if the relevant holder ceases to be an employee of the 29Metals Group before expiry of the 
vesting period. 

2. Total Shareholder Return (or TSR) is calculated as the aggregate of:
 change in price per share (as quoted on the ASX) at the end of TSR Performance Period relative to the price per share at commencement

of the TSR Performance Period (in A$) 
 dividends paid in the TSR Performance Period, on a A$/share basis; and
 other capital returned to shareholders during the TSR Performance Period, on an A$/share basis.

3. Group of peer companies comprise OZ Minerals Limited (ASX: OZL); Sandfire Resources Ltd (ASX: SFR); Aeris Resources Limited (ASX: AIS); IGO 
Limited (ASX: IGO); Aurelia Metals Ltd (ASX: AMI); Mincor Resources NL (ASX: MCR); Western Areas Limited (ASX: WSA); Silver Lake Resources 
Limited (ASX: SLR); and Ramelius Resources Limited (ASX: RMS). 

4. Classification as Inferred Resources in accordance with the Australasian Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves (2012 Edition) (the ‘JORC Code’). Unclassified material is material in the LOM plan that is not included in the Company’s then most
recent published Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves estimates. 

Performance rights vested or lapsed in the Reporting Period
No performance rights awarded to executive KMPs vested or lapsed during the Reporting Period. 

4.5 Other – one-off remuneration components relating to the 29Metals IPO 
In connection with the 29Metals IPO, 29Metals provided one-off benefits to executive KMPs, as set out in the table below.  

IPO-RELATED 
ONE-OFF 
BENEFIT 

DESCRIPTION 
KMP 

PARTICIPATION 

NOMINAL CASH 
VALUE ON 

AWARD DATE 1 

Staff Offer 
Incentive  

One-off award of performance rights to all eligible 29Metals Group 
employees, including executive KMPs, with a cash value equal to 10% of 
eligible employee’s TFR at 2 July 2021 (applying the final IPO offer price 
of $2.00 per share). 
The vesting horizon(s) for performance rights awarded under the Staff 
Offer Incentive are: 
 50% vest on the second trading day after release of the Company’s

2021 full year financial results to ASX; and 

 50% vest on the second trading day after release of the Company’s
2022 full year financial results to ASX 

This one-off award was subject to successful completion of the 29Metals 
IPO, which condition was satisfied on 5 July 2021. 1 

The award date was 5 July 2021. 
Vesting of performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive is 
also subject to continuing service until the vesting date (unless the 
Board determines otherwise – eg, “good leaver”).  
In this way, the Staff Offer Incentive is intended to operate as a reward 
for eligible employees for successful completion of the 29Metals IPO 
and as a retention incentive (with no future performance conditions). 
The maximum amount to be recognised in future periods in respect of 
performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive is $102,920 
(calculated at 31 December 2021). Refer to Note 35 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further information regarding recognition and 
measurement of share-based payments  

Peter Albert  
Ed Cooney 
Peter Herbert 
Clifford Tuck 

$90,000 2 
$52,100 2 
$52,100 2 
$52,100 2 

Transaction 
Incentive  
(Cash) 

One-off cash bonus paid to eligible executive KMPs for the role they 
played (respectively) in the establishment of 29Metals for the purposes 
of the 29Metals IPO, the IPO process and successful completion of the 
29Metals IPO. 

Peter Albert 
Clifford Tuck 

$300,000 
$100,000 



Directors’ Report continued

29Metals 2021 Annual Report108

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

Page D-16 

IPO-RELATED 
ONE-OFF 
BENEFIT 

DESCRIPTION 
KMP 

PARTICIPATION 

NOMINAL CASH 
VALUE ON 

AWARD DATE 1 

This one-off incentive was conditional upon successful completion of the 
29Metals IPO, which condition was satisfied on 5 July 2021 3 

Equity 
Transaction 
(Equity)  

One-off issue of 29Metals shares (‘Restricted Shares’) to eligible 
executive KMPs for the role they played (respectively) in the 
establishment of 29Metals for the purposes of the 29Metals IPO, the 
IPO process and successful completion of the 29Metals IPO. 
Restricted Shares issued are subject to a two-year holding lock and were 
issued on 5 July 2021. 
This one-off incentive was conditional upon successful completion of the 
29Metals IPO, which condition was satisfied on 5 July 2021 3 

Following successful completion of the 29Metals IPO there are no 
further performance conditions associated with this award 

Peter Albert 
Clifford Tuck 

$400,000 2 
$250,000 2 

1. Nominal cash value for equity awards applies 29Metals IP final offer price ($2.00) per share.
2. Nominal cash value shown in table (refer to note 1). Fair value for benefits delivered in the form of equity:

 for performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive with a vesting date in 2022, $1.53 per performance right;
 for performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive with a vesting date in 2023, $0.52 per performance right; and
 for Restricted Shares, $2.00 per Restricted Share.

(Refer to Note 35(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding fair value calculations for ‘share-based 
payments’). 

3. Date of financial close of the 29Metals IPO and commencement of trading in 29Metals shares on a conditional and deferred basis.

4.6 Other – Sign-on payments 
No sign-on payments or other benefits were conferred on executive KMPs in the Reporting Period. 

5. EXECUTIVE SERVICES AGREEMENTS

Each of 29Metals’ executive KMPs, including the Managing Director & CEO, is employed under an Executive Service Agreement 
(‘ESA’). The key terms of the ESAs are summarised below. 

KEY TERM MANAGING DIRECTOR & CEO OTHER EXECUTIVE KMPs 

Term Open term, subject to termination by the 
Company or the executive (refer to notice 
periods, below) 

Open term, subject to termination by the Company 
or the executive (refer to notice periods, below) 

Total Fixed 
Remuneration 
(TFR) 

$900,000 
*Note, The MD & CEO does not receive director’s
fees 

$521,000 

Short Term Incentive 
(STI) 

Eligible to participate in the STI.  
STI award outcomes for the Managing Director & 
CEO are determined by the Board and assessed 
against company performance metrics set by the 
Board 

Eligible to participate in the STI. 
STI award outcomes are determined by the 
Managing Director & CEO and endorsed by the 
Board, following an assessment of performance 
against company performance metrics set by the 
Board 

Long Term Incentive 
(LTI) 

100% of TFR in the form of performance rights 
*Note, any award of performance rights to the
Managing Director & CEO is subject to
shareholder approval in accordance with the ASX
Listing Rules

80% of TFR in the form of performance rights 

Notice Periods By the Managing Director & CEO on six months’ 
notice or by the Company on 12 months’ notice. 
Employment may be terminated by the Company 
without notice in circumstances including material 
breach and serious misconduct 

During the 12 months after 2 July 2021 (being the 
listing date for 29Metals), by the relevant executive 
on six months’ notice or by the Company on 12 
months’ notice.  
After 2 July 2022 (being the anniversary of the 
29Metals listing date), by the relevant executive on 
three months’ notice or by the Company on six 
months’ notice.  
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KEY TERM MANAGING DIRECTOR & CEO OTHER EXECUTIVE KMPs 

Employment may be terminated by the Company 
without notice in circumstances including material 
breach and serious misconduct 

6. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION

6.1 Overview 
The Board determines the total amount payable to Non-executive Directors (‘NED’) as remuneration for her or his services as a 
director.  NED remuneration is in the form of fixed Director’s fees and additional fee for participation as a member or chair of one or 
more of the Committees established by the Board. 

The maximum amount of Directors fees and Committee fees, in the aggregate, may not exceed the fee pool limit last approved by 
shareholders – currently, $1.4 million.  

NEDs do not participate in the Company’s performance-based remuneration schemes and do not receive termination benefits, other 
than statutory superannuation contributions in accordance with applicable laws. 

6.2 Director and Committee fees 
Director and Committee fees are set at a level intended to balance attracting and retaining high quality and experienced Directors, as 
well as the time commitment and other demands of the role.   

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee is responsible for the periodic review of Director’s fees and Committee fees and 
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes.  Any increase of the fee pool limit requires approval by the 
Company in general meeting.  

The current Director and Committee fee structure is set out in the table below. Fees shown are inclusive of statutory superannuation 
contributions. 

CHAIR MEMBER 

Board of Directors  $250,000 1, 2 $140,000 

Audit, Governance & Risk Committee $50,000 $20,000 

Remuneration & Nominations Committee $35,000 $20,000 

Sustainability Committee 3 $35,000 $20,000 

All fees are cited on a per annum basis. 
1. The Chair of the Board of Directors does not receive any Committee fees for undertaking any role as chair or member of any Committee.
2. The Chair, Mr Owen Hegarty, is a ‘nominee director’ nominated by EMR Capital. Under the terms of the Relationship Deed between the 

Company and the EMR Capital Investors, EMR Capital has directed that the Director’s fees payable to Mr Hegarty are remitted to EMR 
Capital. 

3. In January 2022, the Board determined to change the name of the Health, Safety, Environment & Community Committee to Sustainability 
Committee. 

Further information regarding the role of the Board and the Committees is set out in their respective charters, copies of which are 
available on the 29Metals’ website at https://www.29metals.com/about/corporate-governance.  

No changes to of Director or Committee fees are proposed in 2022. 

6.3 Expenses and special fees 
In addition to Director and Committee fees, NEDs may also be paid or reimbursed for travel and other expenses properly incurred by 
the NED: 

 in attending and returning from any meeting of the Board or a Committee, or general meeting of the Company; or

 otherwise in connection with the business of the Company and the NED’s role (including any special responsibilities, from time
to time).

A NED may also be paid special or additional fees, as determined by the Board, to compensate the NED for special or additional 
exertions outside of the scope of the NEDs normal role and for the benefit of the Company. 

The payment or reimbursement of expenses, and any special or additional fees, are not included in the fee pool limit described 
above.  
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6.4 Fees paid to NEDs during Reporting Period 
The Director and Committee fees paid to NEDs during the Reporting Period is set out in the table below. 

NAME ROLE FEES PAID  

Owen Hegarty OAM Non-executive Director 
(Nominee director for EMR Capital) 
Chair of Board of Directors 
Member, Sustainability Committee 2 
Member, Remuneration & Nominations Committee 

$145,000 1  

Fiona Robertson Independent Non-executive Director 
Chair, Audit, Governance & Risk Committee 
Member, Sustainability Committee 2 

$105,000 3, 4 

Jacqui McGill AO Independent Non-executive Director 
Chair, Sustainability Committee 2 

Member, Audit, Governance & Risk Committee  
Member, Remuneration & Nominations Committee

$107,500 3, 4 

Martin Alciaturi Independent Non-executive Director 
Chair, Remuneration & Nominations Committee
Member, Audit, Governance & Risk Committee 

$97,500 3, 4 

1. Mr Owen Hegarty is a ‘nominee director’ nominated by EMR Capital. Under the terms of the Relationship Deed between the Company and the 
EMR Capital Investors, EMR Capital has directed that the Director’s fees payable to Mr Hegarty are remitted to EMR Capital. 

2. In January 2022, the Board determined to change the name of the Health, Safety, Environment & Community Committee to the Sustainability 
Committee. 

3. Fees paid to Fiona Robertson, Jacqui McGill and Martin Alciaturi include $20,000 (cash value) in the form of 10,000 29Metals shares issued at
the final IPO offer price of $2.00 per share. Refer to section 6.5 for further information. 

4. Fees paid shown excludes payments to Directors prior to 2 July 2021. Refer to ‘Additional Information’ from page D-22 for information 
regarding remuneration arrangements for NEDs in the period 1 January to 2 July 2021. 

6.5 NED equity participation 
The Board recognises the importance of Directors holding 29Metals shares to enhance alignment with the interests of shareholders. 

Each of the NEDs, other than Mr Hegarty, agreed to receive $20,000 of their director’s fee during the Reporting period in the form of 
29Metals shares issued in the IPO. This resulted in each NED, other than Mr Hegarty, being issued 10,000 29Metals shares (at the 
final IPO offer price of $2.00 per share).15 The issue date of the shares issued to the NEDs was 5 July 2021 and the fair value on the 
issue date has been calculated to be $2.00 per share. 

From 2022, each of the NEDs (other than Mr Hegarty16) has agreed to receive $40,000 of their annual Director’s fees in the form of 
29Metals shares. To give effect to this election, the Board proposes to establish a NED Share Plan in 2022 (subject to shareholder 
approval).   

Under the proposed NED Share Plan, participating NEDs will salary sacrifice $40,000 of their annual directors’ fees (on a pre-tax 
basis), which amount will be applied by the Company as consideration for new shares to be issued under the NED Share Plan.  

The issue of shares under the NED Share Plan will occur in equal quarterly instalments. The price for each share issued to NEDs under 
the NED Plan will be the three-month VWAP for 29Metals shares on the ASX for the three months preceding the issue date.  Applying 
the VWAP over an extended three-month period creates a continuous exposure for eligible NEDs in the performance of 29Metals’ 
share price.  

Shares issued to participating NEDs under the proposed plan will be subject to: 

 for continuing NEDs, a two-year trading lock commencing on the date of issue; and

 in the case of a participating NED that ceases to be a Director before the end of a relevant holding lock, a trading lock ending on 
the earlier of two years after the date of issue and the first anniversary of the date on which the Director ceases to hold office.] 

The Board plans to seek shareholder approvals for the proposed NED Share Plan at the Company’s annual general meeting in 2022. 
Further details regarding the proposed NED Share Plan will be included in the explanatory materials accompanying the Notice of 
Meeting for the annual general meeting. 

15 Mr Hegarty’s Director’s fees are paid to EMR Capital. Accordingly, Mr Hegarty did not participate in the issue of shares in lieu of fees. 
16 Mr Hegarty is a nominee director, nominated by EMR Capital. Mr Hegarty is the Executive Chairman of EMR Capital and will not participate in the NED Share Plan 
on the basis that his director’s fees are paid to EMR Capital. 
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7. KMP EQUITY INTERESTS

7.1 Minimum shareholding policy 
The Directors consider that maintaining alignment with the interests of the Company’s shareholders is advanced by KMPs acquiring 
and holding a meaningful shareholding in the Company. Accordingly, the Company has a minimum shareholding requirement 
whereby all KMPs are required to acquire and hold 29Metals shares over a defined period after their respective appointment as a 
KMP.   

The minimum shareholding requirements for KMPs are summarised in the following table. 

MINIMUM SHAREHOLDING PERIOD TO ACQUIRE MINIMUM SHAREHOLDING 

Non-executive Directors 29Metals shares with a cash value at least 
equal to the aggregate annual director fees 
paid to the NED1 

4 years commencing on the date of 
appointment 

Managing Director & CEO 29Metals shares with a cash value at least 
equal to 50% of TFR 

4 years commencing on the date of 
appointment 

Other Executives 29Metals shares with a cash value at least 
equal to 50% of TFR 

4 years commencing on the date of 
appointment 

1. Excludes any additional fees paid (from time to time) for special or additional exertions. Refer to section 7.2 and 7.3. 

7.2 KMP equity holdings 
KMP shareholdings for the Reporting Period are set out below. 

KMP NAME 
OPENING 
BALANCE 

SHARES ISSUED 
AS PART OF 

KMP REM 

SHARES 
ACQUIRED IN 

29METALS IPO 

SHARES ISSUED 
ON VESTING OF 
PERF.  RIGHTS 

SHARES ACQ. / 
DISP  

OTHER 
CLOSING 
BALANCE 

Non-executive Directors 

Owen Hegarty OAM 0 0 50,000 1 N/a - 50,000 2

Fiona Robertson 0 10,000 2 15,000 N/a - 25,000

Jacqui McGill AO 0 10,000 2 25,000 N/a - 35,000

Martin Alciaturi 0 10,000 2 7,500 N/a - 17,500

Executive Directors 

Peter Albert 1 0 200,000 3 65,000 - - 265,000 3

Other Executives 

Ed Cooney 0 - 12,500 - - 12,500 

Peter Herbert 0 - 7,500 - - 7,500 

Clifford Tuck 0 125,000 3 - - - 125,000 3

537,500 
1. Shareholdings for Mr Hegarty exclude shares held by private equity funds managed or advised by EMR Capital (the ‘EMR Capital Investors’). At 31 December 2021,

EMR Capital Investors hold approximately 45% of 29Metals shares (in the aggregate). 
2. Shares issued to NEDs in lieu of fees with a cash value of $20,000 applying the final IPO offer price ($2.00 per share). Refer to section 6.5 for further information.
3. Restricted Shares issued as the equity component of a Transaction Incentive delivered to relevant executive KMPs. Refer to section 4.5 for further information.
4. Includes Restricted Shares.

7.3 Executive KMP performance rights holdings 
Movements in performance rights held by executive KMPs during the Reporting Period is shown in the table below. All performance 
rights awarded to executive KMPs during the Reporting Period were unvested at 31 December 2021 (and remain unvested as at the 
date of this report). 
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NAME 
OPENING 
BALANCE 

AWARDED – 
STAFF 
OFFER 

INCENTIVE 1 

AWARDED – 
2021 LTI 1, 2 

VESTED 
LAPSED / 

FORFEITED 
CLOSING 
BALANCE 

Peter Albert 0 45,000 182,926 2 Nil Nil 227,926 2

Ed Cooney 0 26,050 84,552 Nil Nil 110,602 

Peter Herbert 0 26,050 84,552 Nil Nil 110,602 

Clifford Tuck 0 26,050 84,552 Nil Nil 110,602 

0 123,150 3 436,582 4 Nil Nil $559,732 2 
1. All performance rights awarded during the Reporting Period have a nil exercise price.
2. Performance rights cited includes a proposed award of 182,926 performance rights under the 2021 LTI to Peter Albert (nominal cash value on 

award date equal to 100% of actual TFR for the Reporting Period). This award has not occurred as at the date of this Remuneration Report and 
remains subject to obtaining shareholder approval to be sought at 29Metals’ next annual general meeting. Refer to section 4.4 for further 
information. 

3. Fair value of performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive scheduled to vest in 2022 calculated as $1.53 per performance right. 
Fair value of performance rights awarded under the Staff Offer Incentive scheduled to vest in 2023 calculated as $0.52 per performance right. 

4. Fair value of performance rights awarded under the 2021 LTI calculated as $2.24 per performance right. 

7.4 Shares issued on vesting of performance rights 
As set out in sections 4.4 and 4.5, there were two awards of performance rights in 2021 – the first awards by the Company.  No 
shares were issued on the vesting of performance rights in the Reporting Period.   

8. OTHER KMP TRANSACTIONS

9.1 Loans to KMPs 
No loans were granted by the Company to any KMP (or any of their related parties). 

9.2 Other transactions with KMPs or their related parties 
29Metals’ head office is sub-leased from EMR Capital Pty Ltd, an entity within the EMR Capital group of companies. As noted above, 
Mr Hegarty is the Executive Chairman of EMR Capital. The sub-lease is on commercial arm’s length terms and includes incentives in 
29Metals’ favour (including contributions to fit out costs). Further details regarding the sub-lease are disclosed in the 29Metals 
Prospectus (section 10.6.11).  

29Metals does not consider the sub-lease to be a relevant transaction with a KMP or related party for remuneration reporting 
purposes but has elected to include this additional disclosure for transparency.  

There were no other transactions with KMPs or their related parties during the Reporting Period. 

<Rest of page intentionally blank> 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

The Reporting Period for the Remuneration Report commences on 2 July 2021, being the date on which 29Metals was listed on 
the ASX and, as a result, became a disclosing entity for the purposes of the Corporations Act.  

The remuneration information in the Remuneration Report provides shareholders and other market participants with a clear 
understanding of 29Metals remuneration arrangements on an ongoing basis. However, as set out in the Prospectus, certain 
KMPs were engaged by or on behalf of 29Metals, or employed by a Golden Grove Group company, prior to the Reporting 
Period.17 While the remuneration arrangements for the pre-2 July 2021 period are unrelated to 29Metals’ ongoing 
remuneration arrangements, for transparency this section outlines the pre-IPO arrangements for KMPs.  

The following table outlines the pre-IPO contractual and other arrangements for KMPs. 

KMP PRE-IPO REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS 

Owen Hegarty OAM Mr Hegarty is the Executive Chair and co-founder of EMR Capital. EMR Capital.  

Prior to the IPO, the 29Metals assets were owned by investors in private equity funds managed or advised 
by EMR Capital. 

In his capacity as Executive Chair of EMR Capital, Mr Hegarty sat on the board of directors for one or more 
entities with an interest in Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper in the period 1 January – 2 July 2021.   

Mr Hegarty was appointed as a director of 29Metals on its formation on 27 May 2021. 

Mr Hegarty did not receive any fees as a director of Golden Grove or Capricorn Copper entities during the 
period 1 January to 2 July 2021  

Peter Albert During the period 1 January – 2 July 2021, Mr Albert was employed by Golden Grove Operations Pty Ltd in 
the role of Chief Executive Officer and served as Chief Executive Officer of Capricorn Copper Holdings Pty 
Ltd. Mr Albert was also a director of one or more entities with an interest in Golden Grove and Capricorn 
Copper.  

Mr Albert was appointed as a director of 29Metals on its formation on 27 May 2021 and Managing Director 
& CEO with effect on and from 2 July 2021. Mr Albert’s pre-IPO executive roles terminated with effect on 
and from 2 July 2021.   

Mr Albert’s employee entitlements for the pre-IPO roles described above were cash settled or transferred 
to 29Metals when Mr Albert commenced employment with 29Metals. 

Mr Albert received a payment under the Golden Grove STI scheme for the period 1 January to 2 July 2021, 
as set out below.  

Mr Albert’s remuneration for the period 1 January – 2 July 2021, included in the KMP remuneration 
information set out in Note 36(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, comprises: 

 Salary (excluding superannuation) - $349,153;

 Superannuation - $10,847; 

 Annual leave - $13,222; 

 Long service leave - $338; and 

 Short term incentive - $80,000 

Fiona Robertson Ms Robertson was engaged by EMR Capital as an independent consultant in anticipation of a potential IPO.  
In consideration for assisting EMR Capital with the 29Metals IPO, Ms Robertson was paid a fixed consulting 
services fee. The consulting services arrangement terminated on successful completion of the IPO. 

Ms Robertson was appointed as a director of 29Metals on its formation on 27 May 2021.  

Ms Robertson has a formal appointment letter with 29Metals which commenced on and from 2 July 2021 
and commenced receiving Director’s fees from 29Metals on and from 2 July 2021. 

Jacqui McGill AO Ms McGill was engaged by EMR Capital as an independent consultant in anticipation of a potential IPO.  In 
consideration for assisting EMR Capital with the 29Metals IPO, Ms McGill was paid a fixed consulting 
services fee. The consulting services arrangement terminated on successful completion of the IPO. 

Ms McGill was appointed as a director of 29Metals on its formation on 27 May 2021. 

Ms McGill has a formal appointment letter with 29Metals which commenced on and from 2 July 2021 and 
commenced receiving Director’s fees from 29Metals on and from 2 July 2021. 

Martin Alciaturi Mr Alciaturi was engaged by EMR Capital as an independent consultant in anticipation of a potential IPO.  In 
consideration for assisting EMR Capital with the 29Metals IPO, Mr Alciaturi was paid a fixed consulting 
services fee. The consulting services arrangement terminated on successful completion of the IPO. 

Mr Alciaturi was appointed as a director of 29Metals on its formation on 27 May 2021. 

Mr Alciaturi has a formal appointment letter with 29Metals which commenced on and from 2 July 2021 and 
commenced receiving Director’s fees from 29Metals on and from 2 July 2021. 

17 Refer to the Director’s Report and Note 2 (Basis of Preparation) and Note 34 (Business Combination – Reverse Acquisition) to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for an explanation of the accounting treatment of the Restructure and IPO Transactions whereby, for accounting purposes, Golden Grove, LP, is 
the accounting “acquiror”. 
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KMP PRE-IPO REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS 

Ed Cooney During the period 1 January 2021 until the listing date (2 July 2021), Mr Cooney was an employee of Golden 
Grove Operations Pty Ltd. In his role as Operations Director, Mr Cooney was paid a fixed annual salary and 
was eligible to participate in the Golden Grove short term incentive scheme.  

Mr Cooney was appointed Chief Operating Officer of 29Metals with effect on and from 2 July 2021 and his 
employment with Golden Grove terminated.  

Mr Cooney’s employee entitlements with Golden Grove were cash settled or transferred to 29Metals when 
Mr Cooney commenced employment with 29Metals. 

Mr Cooney received a payment under the Golden Grove STI scheme for the period 1 January to 2 July 2021.  

Mr Cooney’s remuneration for the period 1 January – 2 July 2021, included in the KMP remuneration 
information set out in Note 36(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements, comprises: 

 Salary (excluding superannuation) - $225,000; 

 Superannuation - $23,347; 

 Annual leave - $8,521; 

 Long service leave - $218; and 

 Short term incentive - $112,500 

Peter Herbert During the period 1 January to 2 July 2021, Mr Herbert was employed by EMR Capital in the role of 
Investment Director. As part of his role, Mr Herbert sat on the Board of one or more of the Companies that 
hold an interest in Capricorn Copper and Redhill.  

Any fees payable for Mr Herbert’s role as a director of Capricorn Copper entities were paid to EMR Capital. 

Mr Herbert commenced employment with 29Metals Limited in the position of Chief Financial Officer on and 
from 2 July 2021.  

Mr Herbert did not receive any fees for his role as a director of the Capricorn Copper entities or the Redhill 
entities 

Clifford Tuck Mr Tuck was engaged by EMR Capital as an independent consultant to, among other things, assist with the 
establishment of 29Metals in anticipation of an IPO and the IPO transaction process.  In consideration of his 
services, Mr Tuck was paid a monthly consulting fee and reimbursed for costs incurred in connection with 
the services.  

Mr Tuck’s consulting services arrangement terminated on successful completion of the IPO. 

Mr Tuck was appointed Company Secretary of 29Metals on its formation on 27 May 2021.  

Mr Tuck commenced employment with 29Metals as General Counsel & Company Secretary with effect on 
and from 2 July 2021. 

Differences in KMP remuneration included in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Shareholders and other market participants should note that there are differences between the remuneration information 
disclosed in the Remuneration Report and the KMP information included in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(refer to Note 36(b)).  

The reason for the difference is that the KMP remuneration disclosures in Note 36(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
comprise remuneration for the KMPs of the Golden Grove Group as the ‘acquirer’ of the 29Metals Group for accounting 
purposes.  An explanation regarding this accounting treatment is set out in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

As a result of this accounting treatment, the KMP remuneration details in Note # to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
comprises: 

 statutory remuneration information for those persons that were KMPs of the Golden Grove Group in the period 1
January – 2 July 2021; and

 statutory remuneration information for those persons that were KMPs of the 29Metals Group during the period 2 July –
31 December 2021 (ie, the Reporting Period for the Remuneration Report), as set out in the Remuneration Report.

In this regard, it is noted that remuneration for Mr Albert and Mr Cooney for their respective pre-IPO roles with Golden Grove 
in the period 1 January-2 July 2021 (outlined in the table above) is included in the KMP remuneration information in Note 36(b) 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Revenue  6(a) 600,762 434,451 

Cost of sales 6(b) (464,118) (325,839) 

Gross profit 136,644 108,612 

Other income 270 73 

Net (loss)/gain on derivative financial instruments 6(e) (11,135) 8,359 

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain 6(f) (13,450) 26,807 

Administration expenses 6(c) (18,641) (4,688) 

Other expenses 6(d) (45,649) (3,988) 

Operating profit 48,039 135,175 

Finance income 7 90 287 

Interest expense and other cost of finance 7 (30,352) (100,948) 

Net finance costs 7 (30,262) (100,661) 

Profit before income tax expense 17,777 34,514 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 9 103,236 (34,514) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year  121,013 - 

Net profit/(loss) for the year after tax attributable to members of 29Metals Limited 121,013 - 

Other comprehensive income for the year 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (51) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to members of 29Metals 
Limited 120,962 - 

Earnings per share (cents per share) 

Basic earnings per share  10 48.5 N/a 

Diluted earnings per share 10 48.4 N/a 

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying not
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The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Note 

31 December 
 2021 

  $’000 

 31 December 
2020 

  $’000 

1 January 
2020 

$’000 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 24 197,472 107,215 115,966 

Trade and other receivables 13 40,189 23,789 13,050 

Derivative financial assets 14 1,037 2,763 - 

Inventories 15 76,118 25,038 29,727 

Income tax receivable 9 15,042 - - 

Other financial assets 16 14,514 - - 

Prepayments 7,471 9,169 8,505 

Total current assets 351,843 167,974 167,248 

Non-current assets 

Trade and other receivables - - 4,401 

Prepayments 5,304 - - 

Derivative financial assets 14 504 6,098 - 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 17 45,463 25,975 16,235 

Mine properties 18 605,284 210,831 195,289 

Property, plant and equipment 19 235,956 143,993 128,880 

Right-of-use assets 20 31,179 25,101 17,129 

Intangible assets 168 - - 

Deferred tax assets 9 39,478 - - 

Total non-current assets 963,336 411,998 361,934 

Total assets 1,315,179 579,972 529,182 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 21 115,078 50,145 38,057 

Interest-bearing liabilities 25 15,454 28,507 23,296 

Derivative financial liabilities 14 31,259 - - 

Lease liabilities 26 27,731 19,102 11,184 

Current tax liabilities 9 - 3,617 14,730 

Provisions 22 10,550 5,953 5,567 

Total current liabilities 200,072 107,324 92,834 

Non-current liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities 25 186,163 191,763 82,726 

Lease liabilities 26 3,695 4,967 3,136 

Provisions 22 155,713 65,758 66,592 

Deferred tax liabilities 9 - 41,561 21,981 

Net assets attributable to partners in Golden Grove, LP 40 - 168,599 261,913 

Total non-current liabilities 345,571 472,648 436,348 

Total liabilities 545,643 579,972 529,182 

Net assets 769,536 - - 

Equity 

Contributed equity 29 646,633 - - 

Reserves 29 1,890 - - 

Retained earnings 121,013 - - 

Total equity 769,536 - - 
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Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from customers 608,018 424,218 
Payments to suppliers, employees and others (487,245) (259,721) 
Income taxes paid  (22,571) (26,293) 
Payment for transaction costs  8 (18,260) - 
Interest received 7 90 297 
Payments for short-term leases and variable lease payments (4,934) (7,899) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 12(a) 75,098 130,602 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  19 (39,102) (31,294) 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 70 96 
Payments for development activities 18 (50,354) (37,950) 
Exploration expenditure 17 (7,979) (9,740) 
Payments for intangible assets (178) - 
Cash acquired in business combination 34 4,966 - 
Cash acquired on acquisition of controlled entity (assets acquisition) 33 29 - 

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (92,548) (78,888) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Transfer to other financial asset 16 (12,682) - 
Amount received from related party net of payments made 12,682 - 
Proceeds from issue of share capital 29 245,000 - 
Transaction costs paid relating to the issue of shares 29 (17,339) - 
Proceeds from external borrowings 12(b) - 146,946 
Repayment of borrowings 25 (81,556) (3,253) 
Repayment of lease liabilities 26 (26,706) (13,374) 
Distribution to partners 40 - (176,030) 
Interest and borrowing costs paid (17,523) (11,631) 
Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 101,876 (57,342) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 84,426 (5,628) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held  5,831 (3,123) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 107,215 115,966 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  24 197,472 107,215 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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INTRODUCTION 
This section provides information about the overall basis of preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements that the Company considers will 
be useful in understanding these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

NOTE 1: CORPORATE INFORMATION 

29Metals Limited (‘29Metals’ or, the ‘Company’) is a for-profit company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia, whose shares are 
publicly traded on the ASX. 29Metals’ shares commenced trading on the ASX on from 2 July 2021.  

The registered office of the Company is Level 2, 150 Collins St, Melbourne, VIC, 3000. 

The nature of operations and principal activities of 29Metals Limited and its controlled entities are mining and mineral production, mineral 
concentrate sales and mineral exploration.  

The Consolidated Financial Statements of 29Metals and its controlled entities for the year ended 31 December 2021 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 22 February 2022. 

NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The Consolidated Financial Statements is a general purpose financial report which: 

 has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); 

 complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board
(‘IASB’); 

 has been prepared on an historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which have been measured at fair value through the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income; 

 is presented in Australian dollars with all values rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated, in accordance with 
ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial / Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191; and 

 does not early adopt AAS and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective. Refer to Note 38 for further details.

Reverse acquisition 
29Metals was registered on 27 May 2021 and was admitted to the official list of ASX on 2 July 2021. 29Metals Limited became the legal parent 
company of the Group (refer Note 30) on 2 July 2021 which is the date control was obtained of the Golden Grove LP Group. This transaction has been 
accounted for as a reverse acquisition (see below).  

Golden Grove, LP (‘GGLP’), the head entity in the Golden Grove, LP Group is a limited partnership registered in New South Wales under the Partnership 
Act 1982 (NSW).  

Australian Accounting Standards require that where two or more entities combine through an exchange of equity for the purposes of a business 
combination, one of the entities must be determined to be the accounting acquirer. 29Metals is the legal acquirer, on the basis that 29Metals acquired 
all of the partner interests in Golden Grove, LP and is therefore the legal parent company.  

However, after assessing the guidance under AASB 3: Business Combinations, in particular the relative sizes of the entities concerned, Golden Grove, 
LP Group has been assessed to be the accounting acquirer. Therefore, the business combination has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition. As 
such, the Consolidated Financial Statements represent the continuation of the operations of the accounting acquirer, being the Golden Grove, LP 
Group.  

The comparative information presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements is that of the Golden Grove, LP Group for the year ended 31 
December 2020.   

The implications of the reverse acquisition on each of the primary statements is as follows:  

 The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2021, these statements comprise: 
- the results of the Golden Grove, LP Group for the six months to 30 June 2021; and 
- Group results for the six months ended 31 December 2021 

The comparative information comprises Golden Grove, LP Group financial results for the year ended 31 December 2020.  

 The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 represents the consolidated position of the Group. The comparative 
information represents the Golden Grove, LP Group as at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2020. 

Refer Note 34 for further details of the reverse acquisition. 

First-time adoption of AAS – Golden Grove, LP 
Golden Grove, LP previously prepared its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (‘US GAAP’). Accordingly, the Golden Grove LP Group, has adopted AAS (which are the Australian equivalents to IFRS) for the first time in the 
year ended 31 December 2021, with the date of transition being 1 January 2020. Refer Note 41 for further details. 
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NOTE 3: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. All judgements, estimates and assumptions made for the purposes of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements are believed to be reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances available to management. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the potential to have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined within the following notes: 

 Note 6 (Income and expenses) – Revenue recognition

 Note 9 (Taxes) – Income taxes

 Note 18 (Mine properties) – Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates

 Note 19 (Property, plant and equipment) – Impairment of non-financial assets

 Note 20 (Right-of-use assets) – Lease term

 Note 20 (Right-of-use assets) – Estimation of the incremental borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities

 Note 22 (Provisions) – Mine rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling obligations

Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the COVID-19 pandemic has had, or may have, on the Group based on known 
information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products sold, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the 
Group operates. The challenges of the pandemic continue to evolve, including escalating case numbers nationally reflecting the combined impact of 
the highly transmissible Omicron variant and progressive re-opening of state borders (Queensland – December 2021; Western Australia – expected 
to occur March 2022). There does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the Consolidated Financial Statements or any 
significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the Group unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

NOTE 4: ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below and in these notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements have been applied consistently by all entities 
included in the Group and are consistent with those applied in the prior year. All other significant accounting policies are contained within the 
applicable notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(a) Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of the parent entity, 29Metals and its controlled entities. A list of 
controlled entities is presented in Note 30. 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has all of the 
following: 

 power over the investee (ie. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
 the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control. 

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the entity. 

(b) Foreign Currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance
date. Foreign exchange differences resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year end are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of  Comprehensive Income. 

(ii) Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) and accumulated in the translation reserve. 
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NOTE 4: ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(c) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (‘GST’), except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the Australian Tax Office (‘ATO’) is included as a current asset or liability in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Cash flows are 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are classified as operating cash flows. 

PERFORMANCE 

NOTE 5: SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Identification of reportable segments 
The Group has determined that it has three reportable segments: Golden Grove, Capricorn Copper and Exploration (which includes Redhill and 
expansionary exploration at Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper). 

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment. 

Reportable segments Operations 

Golden Grove Base and precious metals mining and mineral production activities, and exploration 

Capricorn Copper Base and precious metals mining and mineral production activities, and exploration 

Exploration Exploration for mineral resources at Golden Grove (Western Australia), Capricorn Copper (Queensland) and 
Redhill (Chile) 

Unallocated operations include corporate and administrative functions, which are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to reportable 
segments. 

The performance of reportable segments is evaluated at least monthly based on revenues and EBITDA. EBITDA is earnings before finance income, 
finance costs, any unrealised foreign exchange gains or losses, any realised and unrealised gains or losses on derivative financial instruments, 
distribution to Partners, income tax expense and depreciation and amortisation.  

A reconciliation of EBITDA to profit after tax is shown in Note 5(b). EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial information metric used by the Group’s chief 
operating decision makers (‘CODM’) as the primary measure for assessing financial performance, and believe it assists in providing additional 
meaningful information for stakeholders.   

Segment revenues represent revenue from the sale of copper concentrate, zinc concentrate, high precious metals (‘HPM’) concentrate, which is net 
of related treatment and refining charges and shipping revenue. All segment revenue is from third parties. Segment assets include intercompany 
receivables. Segment liabilities include intercompany payables. 

Capital expenditure comprises payments for plant and equipment, assets under construction, mine development, exploration and studies 
expenditure. 
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NOTE 5: SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 

(a) Segment Results, Segment Assets and Segment Liabilities

Golden Grove Capricorn 
Copper 

Exploration Unallocated 
operations 

and 
adjustments 

Total 

Year ended 31 December 2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Revenue 
Copper concentrate 242,702 179,056 - - 421,758 
Zinc concentrate 124,669 - - - 124,669 
HPM concentrate 40,075 - - - 40,075 
Shipping revenue 7,351 - - 7,351 
Realised and unrealised fair value movements 
on receivables subject to QP adjustment 5,112 1,797 - - 6,909 

Total revenue 419,909 180,853 - - 600,762 

Result 

Segment results EBITDA  161,333 73,277 (175) (57,144) 177,291 

Items reported to CODM included in EBITDA 

Transaction costs, including stamp duty (2) - - - 44,694 44,694 

Items reported to CODM not included in EBITDA 

Interest income 5 9 - 76 90 
Interest expense 7,178 398 - 1,323 8,899 
Depreciation and amortisation 67,926 32,089 - 109 100,124 
Income tax benefit - - - - 103,236 

Segment assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 693,308 542,431 12,682 66,758 1,315,179 
Segment liabilities 153,652 147,666 45 244,280 545,643 
Net assets 539,656 394,765 12,637 (177,522) 769,536 

Other segment information 
Capital expenditure 78,809 19,076 490 612 98,987 
Notes: 
(1) Refer to Note 5(b) for the reconciliation of segment EBITDA result to profit after tax.
(2) Refer Note 8

In the year ended 31 December 2020, there was one operating segment being the Golden Grove, LP Group. The results of this segment were 
equivalent to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group as a whole. 

.  
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NOTE 5: SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 

Note 2021 2020 

(b) Reconciliation of EBITDA to Profit after Tax 
$’000 $’000 

EBITDA 5(a) 177,291 155,527 
Depreciation and amortisation 6(b), 6(c) (100,124) (56,148) 
Net foreign exchange gain / (loss) – unrealised 6(f) (17,993) 27,437 
Net gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments 6 (e) (11,135) 8,359 
Finance income 7 90 287 
Interest expense and other cost of finance 7 (30,352) (100,948) 
Net finance cost 7 (30,262) (100,661) 
Profit / (Loss) before tax 17,777 34,514 
Income tax benefit / (expense) 103,236 (34,514) 
Profit / (Loss) after tax 121,013 - 

(c) Geographical Information

2021 2020 
$’000 $’000 

Total Revenue 
China 17,902 223,641 
South Korea 328,370 95,081 
Taiwan 29,384 43,493 
Australia 197,305 5,340 
Other 27,801 66,896 
Total revenue 600,762 434,451 

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the concentrate deliveries. 

One customer individually accounted for more than ten percent of total revenue during the year (2020: four customers).  

Revenue from one customer represented approximately $346,837 thousand and $154,146 thousand of Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper total revenue 
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: one customer of $127,866 thousand of Golden Grove total revenue). 

2021 2020 
$’000 $’000 

Non-Current Assets 
Australia 910,910 411,998 
Chile  12,948 - 

923,858 411,998 

Non-Current Assets excludes deferred tax assets of $39,478 thousand (2020: nil). 
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(a) Revenue

i) Revenue from contracts with customers by type of product/service 
Copper concentrate 421,758 194,929 
Zinc concentrate 124,668 90,044 
HPM concentrate 40,076 135,311 
Shipping revenue 7,351 11,412 

593,853 431,696 

Recognition and measurement 

The Group is principally engaged in the business of producing base and precious metals mineral concentrates. Revenue from contracts with 
customers is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects 
to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue contracts because it 
typically controls the goods before transferring them to the customer. 

For the Group’s mineral concentrates sales not sold under Cost Insurance and Freight (‘CIF’) Incoterms, the performance obligation is the delivery 
of the concentrate to customers. For the Group’s mineral concentrates sales sold under CIF Incoterms, the Group is also responsible for providing 
freight/shipping services. In these situations, the freight/shipping services also represent separate performance obligations. 

(i) Concentrate sales 

Golden Grove (GG)
The majority of GG’s sales of mineral in concentrate are sold under CIF and allow for price adjustments based on the market price at the 
end of the relevant quotational period (‘QP’) determined in accordance with the contract. These are referred to as provisional pricing 
arrangements where the selling price for the mineral concentrates is based on prevailing spot prices for the contained metal(s) on a 
specified future date after shipment to the customer. Adjustments to the sales price then occur based on movements in quoted market 
prices up to the end of the QP. The period between provisional invoicing and the end of the QP varies between one and five months. 

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when the mineral concentrate is physically transferred onto a vessel as a majority of GG’s sales 
of mineral concentrates are sold under CIF. For certain export shipments, a holding certificate is issued by the customer upon delivery to 
a location under the customer’s control. The revenue is measured at the amount to which the Group expects to receive, being the estimate 
of the price expected to be received at the end of the QP, determined based on the forward prices. 

For these provisional pricing arrangements, any future changes that occur during the QP are embedded within the provisionally priced 
trade receivables. Given the exposure to the commodity price, these provisionally priced trade receivables fail the cash flow characteristics 
test and are subsequently measured at fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income until the date of 
settlement. These subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income each period 
and presented in revenue. Changes in fair value until the end of the QP, are estimated by reference to updated forward market prices for 
the metal contained in mineral concentrates as well as taking into account relevant other fair value considerations, including interest rate 
and credit risk adjustments. The period between provisional invoicing and the end of the QP varies between one to five months. 

Capricorn Copper (CC)
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when the mineral concentrate is physically delivered to a location under the customer’s control. 
For export shipments, a holding certificate is issued by the customer upon delivery to a location under the customer’s control. The revenue 
is measured at the amount to which the Group expects to receive, being the estimate of the price expected to be received at the end of 
the QP, determined based on forward prices. 

For these provisional pricing arrangements, any future changes that occur during the QP are embedded within the provisionally priced 
trade receivables. Given the exposure to the commodity price, these provisionally priced trade receivables fail the cash flow characteristics 
test and are subsequently measured at fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income until the date of 
settlement. These subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income each period 
and presented in revenue. Changes in fair value until the end of the QP, are estimated by reference to updated forward market prices for 
the metal contained in mineral concentrates as well as taking into account other relevant fair value considerations, including interest rate 
and credit risk adjustments. The period between provisional invoicing and the end of the QP varies between one and five months. 

(ii) Shipping services 

For CIF arrangements, the transaction price (as determined above) is allocated to the metal in concentrate and shipping services using the 
relative stand-alone selling price method. Under these arrangements, a portion of consideration is received from the customer at, or 
around, the date of shipment under a provisional invoice. Therefore, some of the upfront consideration that relates to the shipping services
yet to be provided is deferred. It is then recognised as revenue over time using an output method (being days of shipping/transportation 

NOTE 6: INCOME AND EXPENSES 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Revenue from sale of concentrate (point in time) 586,502 420,284 
Revenue from shipping services (over time) 7,351 11,412 
Total revenue from contracts with customers 593,853 431,696 
Realised and unrealised fair value movements on receivables subject to QP adjustment 6,909 2,755 
Total Revenue 600,762 434,451 
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NOTE 6: INCOME AND EXPENSES (continued) 

(a) Revenue (continued) 

elapsed) to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service as this best represents the Group’s performance. This is on the 
basis that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group as the services are being provided. The 
costs associated with these shipping services are also recognised over the same period of time as incurred. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

(i) Point of revenue recognition 

Golden Grove (GG) 
Control of the product is transferred to the customer when the mineral concentrates are physically transferred onto a vessel as this
coincides with the transfer of legal title and the risk and rewards of ownership as a majority of the GG’s sales of mineral concentrates are
sold under CIF. For certain export shipments, a holding certificate is issued by the customer upon delivery to a location under the
customer’s control. 

Capricorn Copper (CC) 
Control of the product is transferred to the customer when the mineral concentrates are physically delivered to a location under the
customer’s control, as this coincides with the transfer of legal title and the risk and rewards of ownership. For export shipments a holding
certificate is issued by the customer upon delivery to a location under the customer’s control. 

(ii) Variable consideration 

Revenue for GG and CC is initially recognised based on the most recently determined estimate of metal contained in mineral concentrates
using the expected value approach based on initial internal assay and weight results. GG and CC have determined that it is highly unlikely
that a significant reversal of the amount of revenue recognised will occur due to variations in assay and weight results. Subsequent changes
in the fair value based on the customer’s final assay and weight results are recognised in revenue at the end of the QP. 

(e) Net gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments 

(f) Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 

Included in Cost of sales, Administration expenses and other expenses is an amount of $50,781 thousand (2020: $35,239 thousand) relating to 
employee benefits expenses.  

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(b) Cost of sales 
Mining cost 213,289 144,030 
Processing costs 94,419 69,384 
Site services cost 37,684 23,894 
Depreciation and amortisation 100,113 56,148 
Stockpile movements (25,580) 5,615 
Government royalties 25,918 15,312 
Other production and shipping costs 18,275 11,456 

464,118 325,839 

(c) Administration expenses 
Amortisation 11 - 
Other administration expenses 18,630 4,688 

18,641 4,688 

(d) Other expenses 
Transaction costs 8 18,260 - 
Business combination costs – stamp duty 8 26,434 - 
Credit loss on receivables 955 3,988 

45,649 3,988 

Realised gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments 2,525 (502) 
Unrealised gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments (13,660) 8,861 

(11,135) 8,359 

Realised gain/(loss) on foreign exchange  4,543 (630) 
Unrealised gain/(loss) on foreign exchange (17,993) 27,437 

(13,450) 26,807 
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NOTE 7: NET FINANCE COSTS 

Recognition and measurement 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and foreign currency gains. Interest income is recognized as it accrues, using the effective 
interest method. 

The net assets attributable to partners (refer Note 40) were classified as a financial liability in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. Accordingly, distributions to Partners and changes in net assets attributable to Partners are presented as finance costs in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

All borrowing costs, calculated using the effective interest method, are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income except 
where capitalised as part of a qualifying asset. Eligible borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of 
borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable to the entity’s outstanding borrowings during the period. All other 
borrowing costs are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they are incurred. 

NOTE 8: SIGNIFICANT ITEMS 

The items below are significant to understanding the overall results of the Group. The Group believes the disclosure of these items provides readers 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements with further meaningful insights regarding the financial performance of the Group. Significant items are 
items of income and expense, which, due to their nature and variable financial impact or the expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, 
are separated for internal reporting, and analysis of the Group’s results to aid in providing an understanding and comparative basis of the underlying 
financial performance. 

Included within the balances presented in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income: 

Transaction costs 6(d) 18,260 - 

Business combination costs – stamp duty 6(d), 21, 34 26,434 - 

Significant items before tax 44,694 - 

Applicable income tax benefit on above (5,478) - 

Reset in tax base on entry into tax consolidated group 9(a) (119,388) - 

Increase in net assets attributable to the Partners of Golden Grove, LP 40, 41 14,955 82,716 

Significant items after tax (65,217) 82,716 

Transaction costs relating to the initial public offering (‘IPO’) and business combination and not directly related to the issue of equity instruments 
during the year ended 31 December 2021 of $18,260 thousand have been expensed in the year ended 31 December 2021 and is included in Other 
expenses. For the year ended 31 December 2021, transaction costs of $17,339 thousand before tax ($12,137 thousand after tax) directly related to 
the issue of shares has been netted off share capital (refer Note 29). 

Stamp duty of $26,434 thousand relating to the business combination costs (refer note 34) has been expensed in the year ended 31 December 2021 
and is included in Other expenses. This amount is outstanding at 31 December 2021 (refer Note 21). 

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the tax cost base reset on entry into the 29Metals tax consolidated group (‘TCG’) amounted to a $119,388 
thousand income tax benefit.

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Interest income  90 287 

Finance income 90 287 

Distributions paid to partners during the year - (176,030) 
Change in net assets attributable to the Partners of Golden Grove, LP (14,955) 93,314 

Net finance cost relating to partner liabilities 40, 41 (14,955) (82,716) 
Interest expense (8,899) (8,117) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 26 (1,253) (633) 
Loss on derecognition of bank borrowings (1,075) (2,978) 
Amortization of borrowing costs (1,634) (5,187) 
Unwinding of discount on provision for rehabilitation 22 (2,536) (1,317) 

Interest expense and other cost of finance (30,352) (100,948) 

Net finance costs (30,262) (100,661) 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 



129

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page E-14 

(a) Income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense are: 

Current income tax charge (6,563) (18,026) 

Deferred income tax relating to temporary differences 106,623 (16,983) 

Adjustment in respect of income and deferred tax of prior year 

- Current tax 529 3,092 

- Deferred tax 2,647 (2,597) 

Income tax benefit / (expense)  103,236 (34,514) 

(b) Income tax (benefit) recognised directly in equity 

Deferred income tax related to items charged directly to equity

Transaction costs 29 5,202 - 
Income tax (benefit) recorded in equity 

5,202 - 

NOTE 9:  TAXES 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Reconciliation of income tax expense to accounting profit: 

Accounting profit before income tax 17,777 34,514 

Income tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) (5,333) (10,354) 
Increase/(decrease) in income tax expense due to: 
Non-deductible expenses (9,388) - 
Reset in tax base on entry into tax consolidated group          8 119,388 - 
Adjustment in respect of income and deferred tax of prior year 3,193  495 
Increase in net assets attributable to the Partners of Golden Grove, LP    7, 40 (4,486) (24,814) 
Other (138) 159 

Income tax (benefit) / expense  103,236 (34,514) 
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NOTE 9: TAXES (continued) 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(c) Recognised tax assets and liabilities

Movement in deferred income tax 

Opening balance (41,561) (21,981) 
Charged / (Credited) to profit or loss        109,270 (19,580) 
Charged to equity          9(b)  5,202 - 
Acquired through business combination    34 (33,416) - 
Other (17) - 

Closing balance 39,478 (41,561) 

(d) Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

Tax losses relating to Capricorn Copper of $186,612 thousand ($55,983 thousand tax effected) at 31 December 2021 have not been recognised 
because 29Metals have assessed that the utilisation of these tax losses is not probable. The unrecognised tax losses are subject to an available 
fraction tax loss utilisation rate. 

(e) Tax consolidation 

From 11 December 2017 to 4 July 2021, Golden Grove, LP and its controlled entities were part of a tax consolidated group (‘TCG’), with Golden
Grove, LP as the head entity of the TCG. 

29Metals formed a TCG with effect from 7 June 2021. 29Metals is the head entity of the TCG. Each of the following entities joined the 29Metals
TCG on the dates set out below: 

Date joined TCG 
Capricorn Copper Holdings Pty Ltd and its wholly owned subsidiaries  7 June 2021 
Lighthouse Minerals Pty Ltd 7 June 2021 
29Metals Finance Pty Ltd 5 July 2021 
Golden Grove Holdings (No. 1) Pty Ltd  5 July 2021 
Golden Grove, LP (and its wholly owned subsidiaries) 5 July 2021 

Deferred tax asset/(liabilities) comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Deferred tax asset 
Provision for employee benefits 3,354 1,728 
Provision for rehabilitation and restoration 46,503 19,495 
Property, plant and equipment 13,975 - 
Capitalised expenditure 6,592 - 
Tax loss carried forward 13,065 - 
Other 315 1,136 

83,804 22,359 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Receivables - (5,572) 
Property, plant and equipment including assets under construction (5,675) (15,909) 
Exploration expenditure (7,784) (7,793) 
Mine properties (22,331) (26,527) 
Other (8,536) (8,119) 

(44,326) (63,920) 

Net deferred tax asset / (liabilities) 39,478 (41,561) 

Current tax liabilities - 3,617 

Income tax receivable 15,042 - 
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NOTE 9: TAXES (continued) 

(b) Tax consolidation (continued) 

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a Tax Sharing Deed that determines the income tax liabilities between the entities 
should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. In accordance with the Tax Sharing Deed, the company is required to determine 
the contribution amount for each member of the TCG on a stand-alone basis. Possibility of default by the head entity is considered remote. 

Tax expense or benefit, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the TCG are 
recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the TCG using the ‘stand-alone taxpayer’ approach. Deferred tax on 
temporary differences are measured in the separate financial statements on tax bases as determined by the TCG. 

Members of the TCG have entered into a Tax Funding Deed that determined the amount payable by each member for their portion of the 
group’s current tax and deferred tax liability. The Tax Funding Deed determined that each member’s funding amount was calculated as if the 
member was a stand-alone entity of the TCG. 

Recognition and measurement

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for 
each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the 
adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the assets are recovered
or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or 

 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the timing of the 
reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax assets recognised 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. 
Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to 
recover the asset. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

Significant judgement is required in determining the tax position and the estimates and assumptions in relation to the provision for taxes and 
the recovery of tax assets, having regard to the nature and timing of their origination and compliance with the relevant tax legislation.  

NOTE 10: EARNINGS PER SHARE (‘EPS’) 

(a) Basic earnings per share 

(b) Diluted earnings per share 

2021 2020 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders ($’000) 121,013 N/a 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 249,160,770 N/a 
Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 48.5 N/a 

2021 2020 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders ($’000) 121,013 N/a 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 250,049,695 N/a 
Diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents) 48.4 N/a 
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NOTE 10: EARNINGS PER SHARE (‘EPS’) (continued) 

(c) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator (basic) 

(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator (diluted) 

NOTE 11: DIVIDENDS 

There were no dividends paid to shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil). 

Dividend franking account balance 
Franking credits at 30% as at 31 December 2021 available for subsequent financial years is $23,962 thousand (2020: $20,049 thousand). 

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for: 

(a) franking credits/debits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities / receipt of income tax receivable;

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end;

(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the TCG at the year-end; and

(d) franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. 

In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the TCG has also assumed the benefit of $23,962 thousand 
franking credits.  

2021 2020 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2021 249,160,770 N/a 

2021 2020 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(basic) 249,160,770 N/a 
Performance rights on issue at 31 December 2021 888,925 N/a 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2021 (diluted) 250,049,695 N/a 
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NOTE 12: NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(a) Reconciliation of net profit for the year to cash inflows from operating activities

Net profit from ordinary activities after income tax 121,013 - 
Adjustment for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 100,124 56,148 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (70) (44) 
Net realisable value write-down for Zinc concentrate stockpiles (1,985) 1,985 
Movement in foreign exchange rates 7,599 (26,807) 
Rehabilitation and restoration provision accretion 22 2,536 1,317 
Interest and other costs of finance accrued 9,974 3,318 
Unrealised gain on derivative financial instruments (13,245) (8,359) 
Loss on derecognition of bank borrowings - 2,978 
Amortisation of capitalised borrowing costs 1,634 5,187 
Credit loss on trade receivables 954 3,988 
Share-based payment transaction 35 1,941 - 
Expenses settled by issue of shares 29 710 - 
Foreign exchange reserve (51) - 
Movement in net assets attributable to Partners in Golden Grove, LP 7, 40 14,955 82,716 
Other  780 112 
Changes in working capital: 
Trade and other receivables (10,770) (11,236) 
Prepayments (7,570) 502 
Inventories (25,859) 2,705 
Trade and other payables (3,347) 7,174 
Provisions 3,480 695 
Deferred tax assets (109,046) 19,580 
Income tax receivable (18,659)  (11,357) 

Net cash inflows from operating activities 75,098 130,602 

(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities 

Non-cash financing and investing activities during the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:

(i) The acquisition of Redhill Mining Group by means of a share issue with a fair value of $12,108 thousand on 2 July 2021.  Refer Note
33 for further information. 

(ii) The new group corporate syndicated debt facilities:

(A) In October 2021, 29Metals established new Group corporate syndicated debt facilities, including a US$150,000 thousand term
facility. The new term facility was fully drawn at financial close to settle an existing (pre-IPO) Golden Grove LP, Group
US$150,000 thousand debt facility. There was no movement of cash in this transaction. 

(B) The new Group corporate syndicated debt facilities included a bank guarantee facility. In November 2021, the bank guarantee 
facility was utilised to post new environmental bonds for Capricorn Copper, comprising $57,464 thousand in new bank
guarantees, replacing an existing $35,974 thousand bank guarantee issued by a financial lender under an arrangement
between Capricorn Copper and Trafigura Pte Ltd. The arrangement with Trafigura Pte Ltd included an indemnity by Capricorn 
Copper in favour of Trafigura Pte Ltd. The indemnity and the prior bank guarantee were discharged upon posting of the new 
bank guarantee. 

Refer Note 25 for further information. 
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Trade receivables (subject to provisional pricing) are non-interest bearing, are exposed to future commodity price movements over the QP and, hence, 
fail the SPPI test and are measured at fair value up until the date of settlement. These trade receivables are initially measured at the amount which 
the Group expects to receive, being the estimate of the price expected to be received at the end of the QP.  

Approximately 90 - 100% of the provisional invoice (based on the provisional price (calculated as the average price in the week prior to delivery)) is 
received in cash when the goods are loaded onto the ship or accepted by the buyer under a holding certificate, which reduces the initial receivable 
recognised. The QP’s can range between one and five months post shipment and final payment is due within 30 days from the end of the QP. 

Recognition and measurement 

Trade receivables are carried at fair value. Provisional payments in relation to trade receivables are due for settlement within 30 days from the date 
of recognition, with any mark-to-market adjustment due for settlement usually from 60-120 days. 

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an 
allowance for expected credit loss. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business if longer), trade and other receivables are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

The Group recognises an allowance for Expected Credit Loss (‘ECL’) for all receivables not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECL’s are based on 
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows the Group expects to receive, discounted 
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate (‘EIR’). For receivables due in less than 12 months, the Group does not track changes in 
credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The ECL is based on its historical 
credit loss experience in the past two years, current financial difficulties of the debtor and is adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtor 
and the economic environment. As at 31 December 2021, $1,050 thousand (2020: nil) has been provided for.  

The Group considers a receivable in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider 
a receivable to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A receivable is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows and usually occurs when the asset is past due for more than one year and not subject to enforcement activity. 

NOTE 13: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Current 

Trade receivables – at fair value 36,182 16,081 
Trade receivables – at amortised cost 1,050 - 
Allowance for expected credit loss (1,050) - 
Other receivables – at amortised cost 3,823 7,641 
Security deposits – at amortised cost 184 67 

Total current trade and other receivables 40,189 23,789 
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NOTE 14: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Group has entered into the following derivative contracts. Derivatives are accounted for at fair value through the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive income.  Derivatives are not designated as hedging instruments but are used to manage commodity price risk.  

(a) Gold swaps 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments reflect the change in fair value of those instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting, 
but were, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of commodity risk for expected sales and purchases. 

Derivative assets are presented as current assets to the extent they are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  

As at 31 December 2021 

Gold swap contracts Term Ounces Contract Price $ per 
ounce 

Fair value at 31 Dec 
2021 $’000 

Gold swap – AU$ 
denominated contract 

30 September 2025 19,540 2,595.44 658 

Gold swap – AU$ 
denominated contract 

30 September 2025 19,540 2,584.17 514 

Gold swap – AU$ 
denominated contract 

31 July 2023 2,323 2,595.44 198 

Gold swap – AU$ 
denominated contract 

31 July 2023 2,323 2,584.17 171 

1,541 

As at 31 December 2020 

Gold swap contracts Term Ounces Contract Price $ 
per ounce 

Fair value at 31 Dec 
2020 $’000 

Gold swap – AU$ 
denominated contract 

30 September 2025 27,424 2,595.44 3,905 

Gold swap – AU$ 
denominated contract 

30 September 2025 27,424 2,584.17 3,603 

Gold swap –  
AU$ denominated 
contract 

31 July 2023 5,084 2,595.44  706 

Gold swap –  
AU$ denominated 
contract 

31 July 2023 5,084 2,584.17 647 

8,861 

The maximum credit exposure of these derivative assets is the carrying value. The Group mitigates the risk by entering into swaps contracts 
with reputable counterparties and partners.  

The commodity swaps are valued using valuation techniques, which employ the use of market observable inputs. The most frequently applied 
valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including 
the credit quality of counterparties and forward price curves of the underlying commodity. 

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as financial assets 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Gold swaps (at fair value) – current 1,037 2,763 
Gold swaps (at fair value) – non-current 504 6,098 

Total Derivative financial assets 1,541 8,861 
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(b) Copper forward contracts – derivative financial liabilities

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as financial liabilities. 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments reflect the change in fair value of those instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting, 
but were, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of commodity risk for expected sales and purchases. 

As at 31 December 2021 

Copper forward contracts Term Tonnes Contract Price $ per 
tonne 

Fair value at 31 Dec 
2021  
$’000 

Copper forward contract – US$ 
denominated contract 

Jan – Mar 2022 2,394 8,957 (10,613) 

Copper forward contract – US$ 
denominated contract 

Apr – Jun 2022 2,403 9,007 (10,399) 

Copper forward contract – US$ 
denominated contract 

 July - Sep 2022 2,403 9,007 (10,247) 

(31,259) 

All inventory is valued at cost except for the zinc concentrate stockpile at 31 December 2020 amounting to $2,700 thousand which has been recorded 
at net realisable value. 

Recognition and measurement 
Inventories comprise raw materials, stores and consumables, work in progress and finished goods.  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and less 
applicable variable selling expenses. 

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs include the costs of direct materials, mining, 
processing, labour, related transportation costs to the point of sale, an appropriate proportion of related production overheads, and mine 
rehabilitation costs incurred in the extraction process and other fixed and variable costs directly related to mining activities. 

NOTE 14: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Copper forward contracts at fair value - current 31,259 - 

Total derivative financial liabilities 31,259 - 

NOTE 15: INVENTORIES 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Concentrates  24,184 5,263 

Ore stockpiles  31,183 7,872 
Consumables  23,063 14,213 
Provision for obsolete stock – consumables (2,312) (2,310) 

Inventories 76,118 25,038 
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Refer Note 39 Contingent liability for further details and Note 21 for other payable. 

NOTE 17: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation 
of areas of interest and the sale of minerals, or the sale of the respective areas of interest. 

The Group did not recognise any impairment charges during the current or previous reporting period. 

Recognition and measurement 
Exploration and evaluation activities include expenditure to identify potential Mineral Resources, determine the technical feasibility and assess the 
commercial viability of the potential Mineral Resources. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is carried forward as an asset 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position where it is expected that the expenditure will be recovered through the successful development 
of an area of interest, or by its sale, or exploration activities are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a 
reasonable estimate of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves.  

Where a project or an area of interest has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred on that area of interest is written off in the year in which the 
decision is made. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area 
of interest. An impairment exists when the carrying value of expenditure exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The area of interest is then 
written down to its recoverable amount and the impairment losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Upon approval for the commercial development of an area of interest, exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and transferred 
to mine properties. No amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.  

NOTE 16: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Current 

Bank deposit  21, 39 12,682 - 
Rental Security deposit 1,832 - 

Other financial assets 14,514 - 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Balance at the beginning of the year 25,975 16,235 
Addition from asset acquisition 33 12,098 - 
Expenditure for the year 7,979 9,740 
Transferred to Mine properties 18 (573) - 
Foreign currency exchange difference (16) - 

Balance at the end of the year 45,463 25,975 
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NOTE 18: MINE PROPERTIES 

2021
Note $’000

As at 31 December 2021 

Balance at the beginning of year 210,831

Development expenditure incurred during the year 50,058

Transfers from property, plant and equipment  19 5,222

Transfers from exploration and evaluation assets 17 573

Addition from business combination 34 370,377

Movements in rehabilitation obligations 22 20,829

Amount amortised during the year (52,606)

Balance at the end of year 605,284

2020

As at 31 December 2020 
Note $’000

Balance at the beginning of year 195,289

Development expenditure incurred during the year 38,608

Transfers from property, plant and equipment  19 2,323

Movements in rehabilitation obligations (2,460)

Amount amortised during the year (22,929)

Balance at the end of year 210,831

The Group did not recognise any impairment charges during the current period or prior corresponding period. 

Refer to Note 25 for all encumbrances in relation to mine properties. 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Gross carrying amount – at cost 729,818 282,760 
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation (124,534) (71,929) 

Net carrying amount 605,284 210,831 
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NOTE 18: MINE PROPERTIES (continued) 

Recognition and measurement 

Mine property and development assets 
Mine property and development assets include costs incurred in accessing the ore body and costs to develop the mine to the production phase, once 
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of a mining operation has been established. At this stage, exploration and evaluation assets are 
reclassified to mine properties. 

Mine property and development assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses 
recognised. The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into 
operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, and for qualifying assets (where relevant) borrowing costs. Any ongoing costs associated 
with mining which are considered to benefit mining operations in future periods are capitalised. 

The balance for mine property and development assets includes mine development assets and the expected cost for the decommissioning, restoration 
and dismantling of an asset after its use. 

Amortisation 

Development expenditure is amortised over the estimated useful life of the mine on a unit of production basis. The unit of production method is 
applied based on assessments of Proven and Probable Ore Reserves and a portion of Mineral Resources probable of extraction.  

Mineral rights are attributable to specific areas of interest and are amortised when commercial production commences on a units of production basis 
over the estimated economically recoverable reserves of the mine to which the rights relate. 

Resource and Reserves estimates are reviewed annually. The depreciation and amortisation expense calculation reflect the estimates in place at the 
reporting date, prospectively. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates 
The estimated quantities of economically recoverable Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves are based upon interpretation of exploration results and 
geological and geophysical models, and require assumptions to be made regarding factors such as estimates of short and long-term exchange rates, 
estimates of short and long-term commodity prices, future capital requirements, and future operating costs and performance.  

Changes in Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates may impact the carrying value of Mine properties through depreciation, provisions for 
mine rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling obligations, the recognition of deferred tax assets, as well as the amount of depreciation and 
amortisation charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The changes are effective from the next financial year following 
completion of updated Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates.  
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NOTE 19: PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

Capital work in 
progress Total

As at 31 December 2021 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gross carrying amount – at cost 

Balance at the beginning of year 34,445 143,464 40,033 217,942

Additions 534 918 39,498 40,950

Acquisitions through business combinations 34 9,175 62,900 4,593 76,668

Transfers 923 42,689 (43,612) -

Transfers to Mine properties 18 - - (5,222) (5,222)

Balance at the end of year 45,077 249,971 35,290 330,338 

Accumulated depreciation  

Balance at the beginning of year (13,155) (60,794) - (73,949)

Depreciation for the year (2,907) (17,526) - (20,433)

Balance at the end of year (16,062) (78,320) - (94,382)

Net book value 29,015 171,651 35,290 235,956

As at 31 December 2020 

Gross carrying amount – at cost 

Balance at beginning of year 34,445 135,387 15,653 185,485

Additions - - 35,557 35,557

Transfers 
18 

- 8,854 (11,177) (2,323)

Disposal of plant and equipment - (777) - (777)

Balance at the end of year 34,445 143,464 40,033 217,942

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 

Balance at the beginning of year (11,095) (45,510) - (56,605)

Depreciation for the year (2,060) (16,008) - (18,068)

Disposal of plant and equipment - 724 - 724

Balance at the end of year (13,155) (60,794) - (73,949)

Net book value 21,290 82,670 40,033 143,993

Refer to note 25 for all encumbrances in relation to property, plant and equipment. 
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NOTE 19: PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT (continued) 

Recognition and measurement 

(i) Cost

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items and costs incurred in bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes the 
estimated cost of mine rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling. 

(ii) Depreciation and amortisation

The major categories of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a unit of production or 
reducing balance basis as indicated below. The useful lives below are subject to the lesser of the asset categories’ useful life and the life of the 
mine: 

 Freehold land – Not depreciated;

 Buildings – Reducing balance and straight line 10%;

 Plant and machinery (mining and processing) – Unit of production (tonnes mined and milled) or straight line over the useful life of the
asset as applicable; 

 Plant and machinery (other) – Reducing balance 3–5 years;

 Construction in progress – Not depreciated.

Depreciation and amortisation commence when an asset is available for use. 

The unit of production method is applied based on estimates of Proven and Probable Ore Reserves and a portion of Mineral Resources 
considered probable for extraction. Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates are reviewed annually.  

The depreciation and amortisation expense calculation reflect the Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates in place at the reporting date. 

Major spare parts are carried as property, plant and equipment when an entity expects to use them during more than one year, or when they 
can be used only in connection with an item of property, plant and equipment. The carrying amount of any part replaced is subsequently 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income during the accounting 
year in which they are incurred. 

(iii) Disposal of property, plant and equipment

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(iv) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each balance date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use, and which are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets – the cash-generating unit (‘CGU’). 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal (‘FVLCD’). In assessing FVLCD, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
allocated such that the carrying value of individual assets within the Group’s CGU are not reduced below their recoverable amount. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Impairment assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices (considering current and historical prices, 
price trends and related factors), discount rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, closure and rehabilitation costs, exploration potential, 
reserves and operating performance (which includes production and sales volumes). These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and 
uncertainty. Therefore, there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount 
of assets and/or CGUs. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amount of the assets/CGUs may be further impaired or the impairment 
charge reduced with the impact recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. No indicators for impairment were identified 
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:  nil). 



143

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page E-28 

NOTE 20: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 

The Group has contracts which contain a lease for various items of land and buildings and plant and machinery used in its operations. These right-of-
use assets have lease terms between two and five years. There are several contracts which contain a lease that include extension and termination 
options and variable payments, which are further discussed below. 

The Group also has certain contracts which contain a lease with terms of 12 months or less and contracts which contain a lease of low value. The 
Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these. 

(a) Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Right-of-use assets 

(b) Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was $32,893 thousand (2020: $21,906 thousand). 

The variable lease payments relate to contracts which are based on usage (tonnes moved and equipment hired). 

Recognition and measurement – Group as lessee 
At contract inception, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The 
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and lease assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

(i) Right-of-use assets 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (ie, the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of 
the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter period 
of its estimated useful life and the lease term (two- five years). Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

Note Land & Buildings 
$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

As at 1 January 2021 499 24,602 25,101 
Right-of-use assets recognised during the year 558 5,267 5,825 
Right-of-use assets – acquisition through business combinations 34 - 16,844 16,844 
Reassessment - 10,483 10,483 
Amortisation expensed during the year (207) (26,867) (27,074) 

As at 31 December 2021 850 30,329 31,179 

As at 1 January 2020 661 16,468 17,129 
Right-of-use assets recognised during the year 6 28,384 28,390 
Right-of-use assets derecognised during the year - (5,266) (5,266) 
Amortisation expensed during the year (168) (14,984) (15,152) 

As at 31 December 2020 499 24,602 25,101 

Note 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Amortisation expense on right-of-use assets   20(a) 27,074 15,152 
Interest expense on lease liabilities   26 1,253 633 
Expense relating to short-term leases - 206 
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease 
liability 4,934 7,693 
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NOTE 20: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 

Recognition and measurement – Group as lessee (continued) 

(ii) Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the contract identified as containing a lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value 
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any 
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and 
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. 
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-
substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Low-value assets comprise of office equipment. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

Lease term  
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, 
or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). This determination is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances 
occurs that is within the control of the lessee. 

Estimation of the incremental borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities 
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in its leases. Therefore, it uses the relevant incremental borrowing rate (‘IBR’) to 
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR, therefore, reflects what 
the Group would have to pay, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available and to make adjustments to reflect the terms and 
conditions of the lease. 

Refer Note 26 for Lease liabilities. 

NOTE 21: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Note 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Trade payables 24,420 6,516 
Accruals: 

- Operational
- Government royalties

37,050 
10,286 

26,653 
4,819 

- Government stamp duty 8 26,434 - 
Other payable  16, 39 12,500 - 
Other creditors  666 157 
Goods received not invoiced 3,722 1,856 
Related party payable - 10,144 

115,078 50,145 

Recognition and measurement 
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business 
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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NOTE 22: PROVISIONS 

Effective from 2 July 2021, the rehabilitation and restoration provision from Capricorn Copper was acquired at fair value of $66,666 thousand. At 31 
December 2021, the Golden Grove rehabilitation and restoration provision was reassessed to $88,348 thousand. 

Recognition and measurement 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class 
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as an interest expense.  

Mine Rehabilitation, Restoration and Dismantling Obligations 
Provisions are made for the estimated cost of rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling relating to areas disturbed during the mine’s operations up 
to the reporting date, but not yet rehabilitated. Provision has been made in full for all the disturbed areas at the reporting date based on current 
estimates of costs to rehabilitate such areas, discounted to their present value based on expected future cash flows. The estimated cost of 
rehabilitation includes the current cost of recontouring, top soiling and revegetation to meet legislative requirements. Changes in estimates are dealt 
with on a prospective basis as they arise. 

Uncertainty exists as to the amount of rehabilitation obligations that will be incurred due to the impact of changes in environmental legislation, and 
many other factors, including future developments, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates. The amount of the provision 
relating to mine rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling obligations is recognised at the commencement of the mining project and/or construction 
of the assets to date, where a legal or constructive obligation exists at that time. 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Current 
Employee benefits 10,480 5,953 
Other 70 - 

10,550 5,953 

Non-current 
Provision for rehabilitation and restoration 155,013 64,982 
Employee benefits 700 776 

155,713 65,758 

Total provisions 166,263  71,711 

Movement in rehabilitation and restoration 
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 64,982 66,125 
Increase from business combination 34 66,666 - 
Change in scope of restoration provision 18 20,829 (2,460) 
Unwinding of discount 7 2,536 1,317 

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 155,013 64,982 
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NOTE 22: PROVISIONS (continued) 

The provision is recognised as a liability, separated into current (estimated costs arising within 12 months) and non-current components, based on 
the expected timing of these cash flows. A corresponding asset is included in mine property and property, plant and equipment, only to the extent 
that it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the restoration expenditure will flow to the entity, otherwise a corresponding 
expense is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

At each reporting date, the rehabilitation liability is remeasured in line with changes in discount rates, and the expected timing or amounts of the 
costs to be incurred.  Rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling provisions are adjusted for changes in estimates. Adjustments to the estimated 
amount and timing of future rehabilitation and restoration cash flows are a normal occurrence in light of the significant judgements and estimates 
involved.  Changes in the liability relating to mine rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling obligations are added to or deducted from the related 
asset, other than the unwinding of discount on provisions, which is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of comprehensive income. Changes 
to capitalised costs result in an adjustment to future depreciation charges.  

Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and other short-term benefits expected to be settled within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long-term employee benefits 

The liability for long-term employee benefits including long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method.
Consideration is given to future expected wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future
payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

(iii) Incentive plans 

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term or long-term incentive plans if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

Mine Rehabilitation, Restoration and Dismantling Obligations 
Provision is made for the anticipated costs of future restoration, rehabilitation and dismantling of mining areas from which natural resources have 
been extracted in accordance with the accounting policy.  These provisions include future cost estimates associated with reclamation, plant closures, 
waste site closures, monitoring, demolition, decontamination, water purification and permanent storage of historical residues.  These future cost 
estimates are discounted to their present value. The calculation of these provision estimates requires assumptions such as the application of 
environmental legislation, the scope and timing of planned activities, available technologies, engineering cost estimates and discount rates. A change 
in any of the assumptions used may have a material impact on the carrying value of mine rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling provisions. For 
non-operating sites, changes to estimated costs are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The discount rate used in the calculation of the provision as at 31 December 2021 equalled 1.76% (2020: 3.0%). The cash flows have been discounted 
over a 26-year life for Capricorn Copper and 25 years life for Golden Grove (2020: 26 years) taking into account when the rehabilitation activities will 
be undertaken. 
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

NOTE 23: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong balance sheet position so as to be able to achieve its growth objectives and maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence. The Board monitors its policies and, when required, makes adjustments to these policies in light of changes to economic 
conditions. Management regularly monitors key financial indicators and compliance with debt covenants under Group corporate debt facilities. 

The Group monitors capital using a ratio of ‘Net Drawn Debt’ to equity. Net Drawn Debt is amounts drawn under Group debt facilities less cash and 
cash equivalents. 29Metals uses this measure to understand its overall credit position on the basis that cash and cash equivalents may be required 
for purposes other than debt reduction. 

The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated as Net Drawn Debt divided by Equity plus Net Drawn Debt. 

The Group is not exposed to any external capital requirements. 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 

The Group’s Net Drawn Debt to equity ratio at 31 December 2021 was as follows.  

Net drawn Debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2020 has not been disclosed as the Golden Grove, LP Group did not have any equity at 31 December 
2020.  Refer Note 40. 

NOTE 24: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Recognition and measurement 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash. 

2021 
$’000 

Net Drawn Debt 3,499 

Equity  769,536 

Equity and Net Drawn Debt 773,035 

Gearing ratio 0.45% 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Cash on hand and at bank 197,472 107,215 
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NOTE 25: INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES 

In October 2021, the Group entered into new corporate debt facilities, including a US$150,000 thousand term loan. The term loan was used to fully 
repay the Golden Grove Group Syndicated Facility (which was refinanced in the year ended 31 December 2020). 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group repaid $81,556 thousand of the interest-bearing liabilities (2020: $3,253 thousand) which 
includes the borrowings acquired in the business combination as described in Note 34. 

Terms and conditions of outstanding Group Syndicated Facilities as at 31 December 2021 

Facilities at 31 December 2021 

Note Total Facility 
USD $’000 

Used 
USD $’000 

Unused 
USD $’000 

Total Facility 
AUD $’000 

Used 
AUD $’000 

Unused 
AUD $’000 

Term loan (i) 150,000 150,000 - 200,971 200,971 -

Working capital facility (ii) 40,000 - 40,000 55,000 - 55,000

Environmental bank guarantee 
facility 

(iii) N/a N/a N/a 58,000 57,464 536

Letter of credit facility  (iv) N/a N/a N/a 2,000 - 2,000

Credit cards facility N/a N/a N/a 265 22 243

190,000 150,000 40,000 316,236 258,457 57,779

(i) The term loan has fixed quarterly repayments commencing 30 September 2022 with the final repayment due on 30 September 2026. 
(ii) The working capital facility may be used to fund Group working capital and liquidity requirements. Repayment is due on the last day for each

interest period (1 or 3 months) and is subject to an annual clean-down requirement. The maturity date of this Facility is 29 October 2026. 
(iii) The maturity date of the environmental bank guarantee facility is 29 October 2023. 
(iv) The maturity date of the letter of credit facility is 29 October 2026.

The Group syndicated debt facilities are secured over the assets and rights of 29Metals’ Australian incorporated controlled entities. 

The weighted average effective interest on the term facility is as follows: 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Current 
Insurance premium funding 646 494 
Syndicated Facility – Term loan  14,808 28,013 

Total current borrowings 15,454 28,507 

Non-current 
Syndicated Facility – Term loan 186,163 191,763 

Total non-current borrowings 186,163 191,763 

Total borrowings 201,617 220,270 

2021 
% 

2020 
% 

Term facility 3.18 3.72 
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Recognition and measurement 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost and any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings are removed from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets, is 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as finance costs. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting date. 

NOTE 26: LEASE LIABILITIES 

Refer Note 20 for Right-of-use assets and accounting policy. 

NOTE 25: INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (continued) 

Facilities at 31 December 2020 

Total Facility 
USD $’000 

Used 
USD $’000 

Unused 
USD $’000 

Total Facility 
AUD $’000 

Used 
AUD $’000 

Unused 
AUD $’000 

Term loan 170,000 170,000 - 219,776 219,776 -

Working capital facility 20,000 - 20,000 25,949 - 25,949

190,000 170,000 20,000 245,725 219,776 25,949

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

As at 1 January  24,069 14,320 
Leases recognised during the year 5,826 26,939 
Increase from business combination 34 16,844 - 
Reassessment 11,393 - 
Lease interest expense 7 1,253 633 
Leases derecognised during the year  - (3,816) 
Repayment during the year (27,959) (14,007) 

As at 31 December 31,426 24,069 

Current 27,731 19,102 
Non-current 3,695 4,967 

Total 31,426 24,069 
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NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including commodity price risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. The senior executives of the Group meet on a regular basis to analyse treasury risks and evaluate risk 
management strategies in the context of the prevailing economic conditions and forecasts. Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by 
the Board on a regular basis. 

The Group’s financial instruments are as follows: 

Commodity price risk 
The prices of copper, zinc, lead, gold and silver are affected by numerous factors and events that are beyond the control of the Group. These metal 
prices change on a daily basis and can vary significantly up and down over time. The factors impacting metal prices include both broader macro-
economic developments and micro-economic considerations relating more specifically to the particular metal concerned. As part of the Group’s risk 
management practices, 29Metals may engage in certain hedging activity (for example the use of commodity forward contracts) in order to reduce 
the risk associated with commodity price volatility. All such transactions are carried out within policies set by the Board. 

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets balance to movements in commodity prices. As at 31 December 2021, the 
Group’s provisionally priced sales contract amounted to $336,258 thousand (US$243,989 thousand) net of forward exchange contracts (2020: 
$240,562 thousand (US$166,089 thousand)). At the reporting date, if commodity prices increased/(decreased) by 10% and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s after-tax profit/loss for the year would have changed as set out below: 

2021 2020 
Commodity Price 

Movement 
Increase Profit 

/ Equity 
$’000 

Decrease Profit 
/ Equity 

$’000 

Commodity Price 
Movement 

Increase 
Profit/ Equity  

$’000 

Decrease 
Profit/ Equity  

$’000 
Concentrate 
Copper 10% 25,952 (25,952) 10% 14,679 (14,679) 
HPM 10% 1,694 (1,694) 10% 5,024 (5,024) 
Zinc 10% 5,980 (5,980) 10% 4,353 (4,353) 
Total 33,626 (33,626) 24,056 (24,056) 

The exposure to gold commodity swaps and copper forward contracts are detailed in Note 14.  

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 24 197,472 107,215 

Trade and other receivables 13 40,189 23,789 

Derivative financial assets 14 1,541 8,861 

Income tax receivable 9 15,042 - 

Other financial assets 16 14,514 - 

268,758 139,865 

Financial liabilities 

Trade and other payables 21 115,078 50,145 

Interest bearing liabilities 25 201,617 220,270 

Lease liabilities 26 31,426 24,069 

Derivative financial liabilities 14(b) 31,259 - 

Current tax liabilities 9 - 3,617 

Net assets attributable to partners in Golden Grove, LP 40 - 168,599 

379,380 466,700 
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NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Interest rate risk 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through interest-bearing liabilities (Note 25), cash and cash equivalents (Note 24), and lease 
liabilities (Note 26). The Group monitors its interest rate risk regularly to ensure that there are no undue exposures to significant interest rate 
movements. 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

Non-interest-bearing instruments include $40,189 thousand (2020: $23,789 thousand) in Trade and other receivables (Note 13) and $29,718 thousand 
(2020: $8,861 thousand financial derivative asset) derivative financial liability (Note 14). 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
A change of 25 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased equity and before tax profit/loss by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. 

Variable rate instruments 

2021 
$’000 

25bp increase 

2021 
$’000 

25bp decrease 

2020 
$’000 

25bp increase 

2020 
$’000 

25bp decrease 
Profit or loss 9 (9) 282 (282) 
Total equity (9) 9 (282) 282 

Currency risk 
The Group is exposed to currency risk from bank balances, payables and receivables that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency in which they are measured.  

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in the US dollar exchange rate given that the price of commodities produced by the Group are priced in 
US dollar terms and from the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the carrying value of its US dollar denominated debt and cash holdings. The 
Group manages foreign currency risk by borrowing in US dollar terms and by regularly reviewing its exposure to US dollar fluctuations. 

The Australian dollar carrying amount of the Group’s US dollar financial assets and liabilities by its currency risk exposure at the reporting date is 
disclosed below: 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Fixed rate instruments 

Term deposits 1,832 50 

Interest bearing liabilities (646) (494) 

Lease liabilities (31,426) (24,069) 

(30,240) (24,513) 

Variable rate instruments 

Cash and cash equivalents 197,472 107,165 

Interest bearing liabilities (200,971) (219,777) 

(3,499) (112,612) 

USD exposure 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 87,729 105,218 

Trade and other receivables 20,786 16,022 

Trade and other payables (292) (3,424) 

Interest bearing liabilities (201,459) (220,130) 

Net exposure (93,236) (102,314) 
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NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 

Average rate 31 Dec spot rate 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

AUD:USD 0.7319 0.6904 0.7256 0.7707 

Sensitivity analysis 
Based on the financial instruments held at reporting date, had the functional currency weakened/strengthened by 10% and all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s after-tax profit/loss and equity for the year would have been $9,280 thousand lower/higher (2020: $10,151 thousand 
lower/higher). 

Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.  

The Group is exposed to counterparty credit risk through sales of metal products on normal terms of trade, through deposits of cash held with financial 
institutions and commodity swaps held with financial institutions and derivative contracts. The most significant exposure to credit risk is through sales 
of metal products on normal terms of trade. The majority of sales for mining operations were made under contractual arrangements whereby 
provisional payment is received promptly after delivery and is generally 90-100% of estimated value at that time. 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $197,472 thousand at 31 December 2021 (2020: $107,215 thousand). The cash and cash equivalents are 
held with financial institutions which are rated A3 to Aaa, based on Moody’s credit ratings. The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents 
have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.  

At the reporting date the carrying amounts of financial assets are adjusted for any impairment and represent the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, which was as follows: 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by geographic region was: 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 197,472 107,215 

Trade and other receivables 40,189 23,789 

Derivative financial assets 1,541 8,861 

Income tax receivable 15,042 - 

Other financial assets 14,514 - 

Net exposure 268,758 139,865 

Australia 251,768 113,704 

Asia 16,890 3,002 

Europe - 16,839 

USA - 6,320 

Other 100 - 

268,758 139,865 
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NOTE 27: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by conducting regular reviews of the timing of cash outflows and short and long-term cash flow forecasts in order to ensure sufficient 
funds are available to meet its obligations. 

Financial liability maturity analysis 

Contractual cash flows 

Carrying 
amount Total 

0-6 months 6-12 
months 

1-2 years 2-5 years 
More than 

5 years 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
31 December 2021 

Trade and other payables 115,078 115,078 115,078 - - - - 
Bank borrowings 200,971 230,230 3,259 19,829 38,902 168,240 - 
Derivative financial liabilities 31,259 31,259 19,103 12,156 - - - 
Insurance funding 646 646 646 - - - - 
Lease liabilities 31,426 32,113 16,549 11,780 3,356 428 - 

379,380 409,326 154,635 43,765 42,258 168,668 - 

31 December 2020 
Trade and other payables 50,145 50,145 50,145 - - - - 
Bank borrowings 219,776 251,106 10,085 22,623 33,774 184,624 - 
Insurance funding 494 496 496 - - - - 
Current tax liabilities 3,617 3,617 3,617 - - - - 
Lease liabilities 24,069 24,640 10,321 9,293 4,713 313 - 
Net assets attributable to 
partners in Golden Grove, LP 168,599 168,599 - - - - 168,599 

466,700 498,603 74,664 31,916 38,487 184,937 168,599 

NOTE 28: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

Fair value hierarchy 
All assets for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows: 

 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

Fair value measurement 
The categories of financial assets measured at fair value for the Group are trade receivables (Note 13), gold commodity swaps (Note 14) and copper 
forward contracts (Note 14). The fair value measurement is classified as Level 2 on the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the trade receivables is 
determined using a discounted cashflow model.  

The carrying value of other financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 approximate fair value. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements, during 
the year ended 31 December 2021 or the comparative period ended 31 December 2020.  
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NOTE 29: SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

(1) The settlement of this liability at the consolidated level following the reverse acquisition is considered to be a transaction with owners in their
capacity as owners and as such, the transaction has been recorded at the carrying value of the liability at the effective date of settlement. 
(2)For the year ended 31 December 2021, transaction costs of $17,339 thousand before tax ($12,137 thousand after tax) directly related to the issue of
shares has been netted off share capital. 
(3) During the year ended 31 December 2021, an amount of $3,000 thousand owing was settled for no consideration.

Recognition and measurement 

Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for the acquisition of 
a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 

Quoted fully paid ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up the Company in proportion to 
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by 
proxy is entitled to one vote and, upon a poll, each share is entitled to one vote. 

Dividend distribution 
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the year in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s Shareholders or the Board, as 
appropriate. 

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves 

A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve is provided below: 

Share-based payment reserve - The share-based payment reserve is used to record the value of share-based payments. Refer to Note 35 for
further details of these plans. 

Translation reserve - The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations. 

(a) Share capital

Note 

2021 
Number of shares 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
Number of 

shares 

2020 
$’000 

Ordinary share capital / shares 480,455,000 646,633 - - 

Movement in equity during the year: 

Balance at the beginning of the year  - - - - 
Shares on issue of legal acquirer/ deemed 
consideration payable in the reverse acquisition 34 107,199,237 214,398 - - 

Settlement of partner capital accounts(1) 40 244,346,763 183,554 - - 

Shares issues – acquisition of net assets 33 6,054,000 12,108 - - 

New shares issue – Initial public offering 122,500,000 245,000 - - 
Transaction with owners –settlement of amount 
owing(3) N/a 3,000 - - 
Shares issued to eligible executives for settlement of 
transaction costs 325,000 650 - - 
Shares issued to Directors for settlement of directors 
fees 30,000 60 - - 

480,455,000 658,770 - - 

Transaction costs, net of tax (2) N/a (12,137) - - 

480,455,000 646,633 - - 
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GROUP STRUCTURE 

NOTE 30: CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group comprise the following entities: 

Notes 
Country of 

incorporation 
2021 

% equity interest 

Parent entity 
29Metals Limited (registered 27 May 2021) Australia 

Controlled entities 
29Metals Finance Pty Ltd (registered 31 May 2021) (a), (b) Australia 100% 
Golden Grove Holdings (No.1) Pty Ltd (registered 31 May 2021) (a), (b) Australia 100% 
Lighthouse Minerals Pty Ltd  (a), (c) Australia 100% 
Capricorn Copper Group:  

Capricorn Copper Holdings Pty Ltd  (a),(c),(f) Australia 100% 
Capricorn Copper Pty Ltd  (a),(c) Australia 100% 

Golden Grove, LP Group: 
Golden Grove, LP (formerly EMR Capital RF II Golden Grove, LP) (d) Australia 100% 
Golden Grove Holdings (No.2) Pty Ltd (formerly EMR Capital Golden Grove Pty Ltd) (a) Australia 100% 
Golden Grove Holdings (No.3) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100% 
Golden Grove Operations Pty Ltd   (a) Australia 100% 

Redhill Mining Group: 
Redhill Mining Hong Kong Limited  (e) Hong Kong 100% 
Redhill Magallanes, SpA  (e) Chile 100% 

In the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group comprised the Golden Grove, LP Group (refer to Note 2) : 
Country of 

incorporation 
2020 

% equity interest 

Parent entity 
Golden Grove, LP (formerly EMR Capital RF II Golden Grove, LP) Australia 

Controlled entities 
Golden Grove Holdings (No.2) Pty Ltd (formerly EMR Capital Golden Grove Pty Ltd) Australia 100% 
Golden Grove Holdings (No.3) Pty Ltd (formerly EMR Golden Grove Holdings Pty Ltd) Australia 100% 
Golden Grove Operations Pty Ltd  (formerly EMR Golden Grove Pty Ltd) Australia 100% 

Notes: 
(a) These controlled entities are a party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee. Refer Note 32 for further information.
(b) For accounting purposes, control by 29Metals was deemed to be effective from 2 July 2021.
(c) Controlled entity from 7 June 2021.
(d) A limited partnership registered in New South Wales under the Partnership Act 1982 (NSW). Golden Grove Holdings (No.1)

Pty Ltd is the General Partner and 29Metals Ltd is the Limited Partner effective from 2 July 2021. 
(e) Controlled entity from 2 July 2021 for accounting purposes. 
(f) 97.4% owned by 29Metals Limited (directly) and 2.6% owned by Lighthouse Minerals Pty Ltd (in turn, wholly owned by

29Metals Limited). 
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NOTE 31: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

The disclosure below relates to the parent entity, 29Metals Limited, from incorporation on 27 May 2021 to 31 December 2021: 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 
Refer Note 25 for the syndicated banking facility which is secured over the entire present and future undertaking, assets and rights of 29Metals 
Limited and its Australian controlled entities. 

Guarantees and Contingent liabilities 
The Company and its Australian controlled entities have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee (DOCG) on 30 November 2021. The effect of the 
DOCG is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the Australian controlled 
entities under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. Further details are included in Notes 30 and 32. At the reporting date, no amounts 
have been recognised in the financial information of the Company in respect of the DOCG on the basis that the possibility of default is remote. 

Refer Note 39 for contingent liabilities.  

Commitments 
The parent entity did not have capital commitments at 31 December 2021. 

2021 
$’000 

(a) Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Profit / (Loss) for the parent entity (48,376) 
Other comprehensive income / (loss) - 

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the parent entity (48,376) 

(b) Statement of Financial Position 

Current assets 112,031 

Total assets 945,036 

Current liabilities (42,252) 

Total liabilities (42,697) 

Net assets 902,339 

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of: 
Contributed equity 948,773 
Retained earnings/(losses) (48,376) 
Share-based payment Reserve 1,942 

Total equity 902,339 
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NOTE 32: DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 

On 30 November 2021, the Company and its eligible controlled entities entered into the DOCG. 

Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 dated 17 December 2016 (the ‘ASIC Relief’), the wholly owned 
controlled entities detailed in Note 30 are relieved from the requirement to prepare, audit, and lodge financial reports under the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth). In addition, certain wholly owned controlled entities detailed in Note 30, whilst still a party to the DOCG are not eligible for relief as they 
are small proprietary companies. 

It is a condition of the ASIC Relief that the Company and each of its eligible controlled entities enter into a DOCG. The effect of the DOCG is that the 
Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the Australian controlled entities under certain 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that 
after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The controlled entities have also given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is 
wound up. 

A Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, reconciliation of retained earnings and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, comprising 
the Company and its controlled entities which are a party to the DOCG, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the DOCG, for the year 
ended 31 December 2021, are set out below.  

Statement of Comprehensive Income – year ended 31 December 2021 
2021 

$’000 

Revenue  600,762 

Cost of sales (464,118) 

Gross profit 136,644 

Other income 270 

Net gain on derivative financial instruments (11,135) 

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (13,421) 

Administration expenses (18,008) 

Other expenses (45,649) 

Profit before net finance costs and income tax expense 48,701 

Finance income 90 

Finance costs (15,513) 

Profit before income tax expense 33,278 

Income tax expense 103,236 

Net profit for the year  136,514 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  136,514 



Consolidated Financial Statements continued

29Metals 2021 Annual Report158

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page E-43 

NOTE 32: DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (continued) 

Statement of Financial Position 
  2021 

  $’000 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 197,373 

Trade and other receivables 39,081

Derivative financial assets 1,037 

Inventories 76,118 

Income tax receivable 15,042 

Other financial assets 14,514 

Prepayments 7,471 

Total current assets 350,636 

Non-current assets 

Prepayments 5,304 

Derivative financial assets 504 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 32,784 

Mine properties 605,284 

Property, plant and equipment 235,956 

Right-of-use assets 31,179 

Intangible assets 168 

Deferred tax assets 39,478 

Investment in subsidiaries 12,108 

Total non-current assets 962,765 

Total assets 1,313,401 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 115,078 

Interest-bearing liabilities 15,454 

Derivative financial liabilities 31,259 

Lease liabilities 27,731 

Provisions 10,550 

Total current liabilities 200,072 

Non-current liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities 186,163 

Lease liabilities 3,695 

Provisions 155,713 

Total non-current liabilities 345,571 

Total liabilities 545,643 

Net assets 767,758 

Equity 767,758 
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NOTE 33: ACQUISITION OF REDHILL MINING (ASSET ACQUISITION) 

Acquisition of Redhill Mining 

The Company acquired 100% of the shares of Redhill Mining Hong Kong Ltd and its controlled entity, Redhill Magallanes, SpA (Redhill Mining) on 5 
July 2021.  For accounting purposes, control by 29Metals was deemed to be effective from 2 July 2021. 

This acquisition has been accounted for as an asset acquisition via a share-based payment as Redhill Mining does not constitute a business. The fair 
value of consideration paid was determined by reference to the fair value of the underlying exploration and evaluation assets and other working 
capital accounts acquired. The fair value of the underlying exploration and evaluation assets was determined based on resource/reserve multiples.  

Details of the purchase consideration and allocation of the purchase price is set out below: 

NOTE 34: BUSINESS COMBINATION – REVERSE ACQUISITION 

29Metals became the legal parent company of the Golden Grove, LP Group (refer Note 30) effective on 2 July 2021, with completion of the transaction 
occurring on 5 July 2021. For accounting purposes, control by 29Metals was deemed to be effective from 2 July 2021. This transaction was assessed 
to be a reverse acquisition. 

Accordingly, the business combination has been accounted for as if the Golden Grove, LP Group as the accounting acquirer, had acquired the business 
and operations of 29Metals (including the Capricorn Copper Group and Lighthouse Minerals) effective on 2 July 2021. 

The primary reason for the business combination was to bring together a business comprising copper-focused mining assets including the Golden 
Grove mine in Western Australia, the Capricorn Copper mine in Queensland and a substantial exploration portfolio, including regional tenement 
packages at Capricorn Copper and Redhill in Chile, for listing on the ASX on 2 July 2021. 

The fair value of the deemed consideration transferred by the accounting acquirer has been determined based on the fair value of a notional number 
of equity interests the accounting acquirer (Golden Grove, LP) would have had to issue at the date of acquisition to give the owners of the legal parent 
(29Metals) the same ownership interest in the combined entity. The fair value was determined with reference to a valuation of the Golden Grove, LP 
Group based on discounted cash flow model with cross checks of the internal rate of return and resource/reserve multiples.  

Note 
2021 

$’000 

Consideration paid – 6,054,000 shares 29 12,108 

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired: 

Cash and cash equivalents 29 

Other assets 3 

Property, plant and equipment 8 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 12,098 

Total assets 12,138 

Trade and other payables (30) 

Total liabilities (30) 

Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 12,108 
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NOTE 34:  BUSINESS COMBINATION – REVERSE ACQUISITION (continued) 

Reverse acquisition of 29Metals by Golden Grove, LP (continued) 

Due to the complexity and timing of the transaction, the acquisition accounting is provisional. The provisional values of the net identifiable assets 
acquired at the date of acquisition are as follows: 

Business combination cost – stamp duty  

Stamp duty of $26,434 thousand relating to the business combination costs has been expensed in the year ended 31 December 2021 and is included 
in Other expense (refer Note 6(d)). This amount is outstanding at 31 December 2021 (refer Note 21). 

Note $’000 

Fair value of the deemed consideration payable 29 214,398 

Provisional fair value of assets and liabilities acquired: 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,966 

Other financial assets 1,824 

Trade and other receivables 8,684 

Prepayments 1,561 

Inventory 23,236 

Capital work in progress 19 4,593 

Property, plant and equipment 19 72,075 

Mine properties 18 370,377 

Right-of-use assets 16,844 

Total assets 504,160 

Trade and other payables (66,066) 

Rehabilitation provision 22 (66,666) 

Short-term provisions (970) 

Borrowings (34,057) 

Derivative financial liabilities (51,824) 

Lease liabilities 20, 26 (16,844) 

Offtake liability (19,919) 

Deferred tax liabilities 9 (33,416) 

Total liabilities (289,762) 

Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 214,398 
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The Revenue and profit contribution to the Group from acquisitions from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2021 is presented below: 

$’000  
Revenue 180,853
Profit before tax 46,162

The Group expects that if the above businesses were acquired on 1 January 2021, the acquisitions would have generated revenue and other income 
of $289,688 thousand and profit before tax of $14,528 thousand.  

Recognition and measurement 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses, except if related to the 
issue of equity securities. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting 
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration 
classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the income 
statement. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets 
acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired 
and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. Acquisition accounting for business combinations requires identifiable assets 
to be valued at fair value which often requires assumptions, estimates and judgements. Assumptions required may include but are not limited to 
forecasts of cash flows, commodity prices, foreign exchange and useful lives. The Group engaged third-party experts to conduct independent 
valuations of identifiable assets. The Group takes into consideration all available information at the date of acquisition and any fair value adjustments 
in the final acquisition accounts are retrospectively applied back to the acquisition date. 

NOTE 34:  BUSINESS COMBINATION – REVERSE ACQUISITION (continued) 

Revenue and profit contribution 
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OTHER INFORMATION 

NOTE 35: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including the Executive Director) in the form of share-based compensation, whereby employees render 
services in exchange for rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). Non-executive Directors do not participate in the Group’s performance-based 
remuneration schemes. Refer to note 33 for acquisition of assets via issue of shares. 

Refer Note 29 for shares issued to non-executive Directors for settlement of directors fees. 

(b) Performance rights granted 

(i) Staff Offer Incentive Plan (‘SOI’) 

Under this Plan, there was a one-off award of Performance Rights to all of the Group’s eligible employees as of the date of the 29Metals
Prospectus (21 June 2021). Non-executive Directors are not eligible for the Staff Offer Incentive. 

The Staff Offer Incentive was intended as a reward to each eligible employee for their role in the successful completion of the 29Metals
IPO and to incentivise employee retention in the near term. 

Eligible employees received Performance Rights with a face value at the date of award (5 July 2021) equal to 10% of their total fixed
remuneration (respectively), applying the IPO offer price of $2.00 per share (rounded to the nearest whole Performance Right). 

Performance Rights awarded to eligible employees as part of the SOI: 

 were awarded for nil consideration;

 automatically convert into a Share (on a one-to-one basis) upon vesting;

 have the following vesting schedule:

- 50% of an eligible employee’s performance rights will vest on the second trading day after release of the Company’s 2021 full 
year results to ASX; and 

- the remaining 50% of an eligible employee’s Performance Rights vest on the second trading day after release of the Company’s 
2022 full year results to ASX. 

Vesting of Performance Rights under the SOI is subject to the relevant individual continuing to be employed by a Group company on the 
applicable vesting date (unless the Board determines otherwise). 

The terms and conditions of the SOP performance rights are as follows:  

Performance rights – SOI Number of 
instruments 

Vesting date 

Tranche 1 893,233 Second trading day after release of the Company’s 2021 
full year results to ASX, being 25 Feb 2022 

Tranche 2 884,618 Second trading day after release of the Company’s 2022 
full year results to ASX 

Total 1,777,851 

Set out in the table below is a summary of movements in the number of performance rights awarded under the SOI: 

Grant date Balance at the 
start of the year 

Granted during the 
year 

Lapsed during the 
year 

Balance at the end 
of the year 

Unvested at the 
end of the year 

2 July 2021 - 2,105,330 327,479 1,777,851 1,777,851 

Performance rights awarded under the SOI are exercisable for nil consideration.  The weighted average remaining contractual life of the 
performance rights outstanding at the end of the year was 14.5 years.  

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

(a) Recognised share-based payment expenses 

Employee expenses 
Performance rights 1,941 - 
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NOTE 35: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

(b) Performance rights granted (continued)

(ii) 2021 Long term incentive (‘LTI’) award 

During the Reporting Period, 29Metals awarded performance rights under the Group’s LTI plan (the ‘2021 LTI award’). The performance period, 
vesting date and performance conditions for the 2021 LTI award issued on 19 November 2021 are as follows: 

Vesting Date 30 June 2024 

Performance Period Period commencing 2 July 2021 (29Metals’ listing date) and ending 30 June 2024 

Performance conditions and 
weighting 

 Continued service through to vesting date 
 29Metals’ relative total shareholder return (weighting: 50%)
 29Metals’ progress against the growth aspiration set out in the Prospectus (weighting: 30%) 
 29Metals’ mine life at Golden Grove and Capricorn Copper having a mine life of 10 years or greater 

at the end of the Performance Period (weighting: 20%) 

Board discretion The Board is responsible for assessing performance against the award performance conditions. The 
Board retains discretion under the LTI award terms and the Plan Rules, including discretion regarding 
vesting outcomes. 

Performance rights awarded under the 2021 LTI award were issued on 19 November 2021 (excluding a proposed award under the 2021 LTI 
award to the Managing Director & CEO, refer below).  

Upon vesting, each performance right converts to one fully paid ordinary share.  

The 2021 LTI award includes a proposed award of 182,926 performance rights to the Managing Director & CEO, which award has not occurred 
and is subject to shareholder approval in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules to be sought at the Company’s AGM in the first half of 2022. 

The number of performance rights awarded under the 2021 LTI award are as follows: 

2021 
Performance rights Number of instruments Vesting date 
LTI 508,178 30 June 2024 

Set out in the table below is a summary of movements in the number of LTI performance rights awarded under the LTI: 

Grant date Balance at the 
start of the year 

Granted during the 
year 

Lapsed during the 
year 

Balance at the end 
of the year 

Unvested at the 
end of the year 

19 November 2021 - 508,178 - 508,178 508,178 

The performance rights are exercisable for nil consideration.  The weighted average remaining contractual life of the performance rights 
outstanding at the end of the year was 14.5 years. 

The above excludes a proposed award of 182,926 performance rights under the 2021 LTI to the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. 
This award has not occurred as at the date of this Financial Report and remains subject to obtaining shareholder approval to be sought at 
29Metals’ next annual general meeting.  

There were no performance rights granted or issued in the year ended 31 December 2020. 
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NOTE 35: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

(b) Performance rights granted (continued)

(iii) Performance Rights pricing models

The fair value of the performance rights granted under the SOP and LTI plans have been determined based on a Black Scholes Option Pricing 
Model when they are subject to non-market performance conditions. This method takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date, expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-
free interest rate for the term of the option.  

To reflect the impact of the market-based performance conditions, the fair value of the rights under the LTI plans subject to the relative Total 
Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) have been calculated using Monte-Carlo simulation techniques. The variables in the table below are used as inputs 
into the model to determine the fair value of performance rights. 

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the year ended 31 December 2021.  

  Performance Rights 
2021 SOP Tranche1 SOP Tranche 2 LTI LTI LTI 
Performance hurdle N/a N/a Relative TSR Growth objective Mine Life 
Grant date 2 Jul 21 2 Jul 21 18 Nov 21 18 Nov 21 18 Nov 21 
Expiry date 1 Jul 36 1 Jul 36 17 Nov 36 17 Nov 36 17 Nov 36 
Vesting period 0.65 years 1.65 years 2.62 years 2.62 years 2.62 years 
Share price at issue date $2.00 $2.00 $2.63 $2.63 $2.63 
Expected volatility 80% 80% 38.70% 38.70% 38.70% 
Dividend yield - - - - - 
Risk-free interest rate 0.05% 0.05% 0.97% 0.97% 0.97% 
Fair value per right $2.00 $2.00 $1.855 $2.63 $2.63 

There were no performance rights issued in the year ended 31 December 2020.  

Recognition and measurement 
The grant date fair value of performance rights granted to employees is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in the share-
based payments reserve, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the equity instruments. The amount 
recognised is adjusted to reflect the actual number of instruments that vest. Once the instruments have vested, no further expenses are 
recognised nor reserves reversed in respect to costs already charged.  
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NOTE 36: RELATED PARTIES 

(a) Parent entity 

The ultimate holding entity is 29Metals Limited. Information about the Group’s structure, including details of the controlled entities are set out
in Note 30. 

(b) Compensation to executive key management personnel and non-executive directors of the Group 

Key management personnel (‘KMP’) are accountable for planning, directing and controlling the affairs of the Group. Details of remuneration
provided to key management personnel and non-executive directors of the Group are as follows: 

The above includes: 

(i) Non-executive directors (other than Mr Hegarty) each received 10,000 29Metals ordinary shares with -cash value of $20,000, in lieu of the
corresponding amount in directors’ fees. Each share was issued at the 29Metals IPO final offer price of $2.00 per share. 

(ii) Eligible executive KMPs received $650,000 cash value (in the aggregate) in the form of 325,000 29Metals ordinary shares (in the aggregate). 
Each share was issued at the 29Metals IPO final offer price of $2.00 per share. The shares were issued to the relevant executive KMPs as 
an incentive conditional upon successful completion of the 29Metals IPO in consideration for the role they played in the establishment of 
29Metals for the purposes of the 29Metals IPO, the IPO process and the successful completion of the 29Metals IPO. The shares are subject 
to a two-year holding lock. 

(c) Other related party transactions 
There were no transactions with key management personnel and related parties during the year other than as disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements. 

Fees to Ernst & Young Australia

 Fees for auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the group and auditing the 
statutory financial reports of any controlled entities 450,000 168,500 

 Fees for assurance services that are required by legislation to be provided by the auditor
  Assurance related - - 
  Special audits required regulators - - 

 Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services under other legislation or contractual 
arrangements where there is discretion as to whether the service is provided by the auditor or 
another firm - - 

  Other 153,616 - 
 Fees for other services

        Tax compliance - - 

Total fees to Ernst & Young Australia 603,616 168,500 

Fees to other overseas member firms of Ernst & Young (Australia) 

 Fees for auditing the financial report of controlled entities - 26,100 

Total fees to overseas member firms of Ernst & Young (Australia) - 26,100 

Total auditor’s remuneration 603,616 194,600 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Short-term employment benefits 3,737,754 1,036,238 

Long-term benefits 10,443   912 

Contributions to superannuation plans 110,665 33,413 

Share-based payments expense 940,358 - 

Other  - - 

4,799,220 1,070,563 

NOTE 37:       AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 
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NOTE 38: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

AAS and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual 
reporting period ended 31 December 2021 are outlined below. The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, 
if applicable, when they become effective. 

Amendments to AASB 3: Reference to Conceptual Framework 

In June 2020, the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) issued amendments to AASB 3: Business Combinations (August 2015). The 
amendments are intended to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without significantly changing the accounting 
requirements for business combinations. 

The amendments add an exception to the recognition principle of AASB 3 to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities 
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or Interpretation 21 
Levies, if incurred separately. The exception requires entities to apply the criteria in AASB 137 or Interpretation 21 Levies, respectively, instead of the 
conceptual Framework, to determine whether a present obligation exists at the acquisition date. 

At the same time, the amendments add a new paragraph to AASB 3 to clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition 
date. 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Amendments to AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 

The amendment prohibits entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment (PP&E), any proceeds of the sale of 
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Amendments to AASB 137: Onerous Contracts  

In June 2020, the AASB issued amendments to AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets to specify which costs an entity 
needs to include when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making. 

The amendments apply a ‘directly related cost approach’. The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both 
incremental costs (eg, the costs of direct labour and materials) and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities (e.g. depreciation of 
equipment used to fulfil the contract as well as costs of contract management and supervision). General and administrative costs do not relate directly 
to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Amendments to AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements  - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

In March 2020, the AASB issued amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities 
as current or non-current. Specifically: 

 the amendments specify that the conditions which exist at the end of the reporting period are those which will be used to determine if a right
to defer settlement of a liability exists 

 management intention or expectation does not affect classification of liabilities
 in cases where an instrument with a conversion option is classified as a liability, the transfer of equity instruments would constitute settlement

of the liability for the purpose of classifying it as current or non-current. 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Amendments to AASB 101 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

In March 2021, the AASB issued amendments to AASB 101 and AASB Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the PS), in which it provides 
guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. 

The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by: 

 replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting
policies 

 adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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NOTE 38: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued) 

Amendments to AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Definition of Accounting Estimates 

In March 2021, the AASB issued amendments to AASB 108, in which it introduced a new definition of ‘accounting estimates’. The amendments clarify 
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities 
use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Amendments to AASB 112 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction  

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary 
differences – eg, leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities 
will need to be recognised from the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment 
to retained earnings or other components of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after 
the beginning of the earliest period presented. The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. They are 
not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 

AASB 9: Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to AASB standards process the AASB issued amendment to AAS 9. The amendment clarifies the fees 
that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the 
original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by 
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or 
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments will be applied to financial 
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the Group first applies the amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. They are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 

NOTE 39: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

(a) Bank Guarantees 

The Group has provided an environmental bond in relation to Capricorn Copper, as required under relevant Queensland legislation. The 
environmental bond has been posted by way of three bank guarantees issued by lenders under the Group corporate debt facilities, with an
aggregate bank guarantee amount of $57,464 thousand. 

(b) Other Contingent Liabilities 

29Metals is a co-plaintiff in legal proceedings in the Supreme Court of Victoria in relation to historic transaction terms between EMR Capital 
Investment (No.6B) and the vendors of shares in Lighthouse Minerals Pty Ltd, and associated security arrangements. 29Metals’ liability in 
relation to these proceedings is the subject of a Cash Backed Indemnity Deed whereby EMR Capital Investment (No.6B) Pte Ltd indemnifies 
29Metals (the ‘Indemnity Deed’).  Under the terms of the Indemnity Deed, 29Metals retained $13 million of EMR Capital Investment (No.6B) 
Pte Ltd’s share of IPO proceeds to cash-back the indemnity. Refer Notes 16 and 21. 

Group companies are recipients of, or defendants in, current or threatened claims, complaints or proceedings. The Directors consider that these 
matters are either not yet sufficiently advanced or particularised so as to reasonably evaluate the prospects for potential liability, or are of such 
a kind, or involve such amounts, that they are not currently anticipated to have a material effect on the financial position of the Group if 
determined unfavourably. 
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NOTE 40: NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO PARTNERS OF GOLDEN GROVE, LP 

Non-current liabilities 

Note 
2021 

$’000 

Balance at 1 January 2020 261,913 

Changes in net assets attributable to the Partners in Golden Grove, LP 7, 41 (93,314) 

Balance at 31 December 2020 168,599 

Changes in net assets attributable to the Partners in Golden Grove, LP 7, 41 14,955 

Settlement of partner liabilities as a result of the reverse acquisition on 2 July 2021 (183,554) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 - 

Balance at 1 January 2020 261,913 

Golden Grove, LP, the head entity in the Golden Grove, LP Group is a limited partnership registered in New South Wales under the Partnership Act 
1982 (NSW), pursuant to a limited partnership agreement (Partnership Agreement) dated 13 February 2017, which was amended and restated on 
11 December 2017 and 22 October 2021. 

Prior to the reverse acquisition on 5 July 2021 (refer Notes 2 and 34), net assets attributable to partners comprise capital contributions from partners 
and undistributed profits within the Golden Grove LP Group allocated to partners. Net assets attributable to partners were classified as a financial 
liability in accordance with AASB 132 as the Partnership was a limited life entity. Limited Partners have a priority return on liquidation and the 
Partnership Agreement restricts any residual return to the Carried Interest Holder.    

In accordance with the Partnership Agreement that was effective prior to the date of the reverse acquisition:  
- The partnership was to be wound-up and dissolved on the tenth anniversary of the initial closing date, being 3 June 2026. The term of the 

partnership could have been extended beyond the tenth anniversary by the General Partner with the approval of Limited Partners for a 
maximum of two additional one-year periods. 

- The General Partner was required to distribute all realised investment income at least annually and the full net cash proceeds from the
disposition of investments promptly, but in no event later than 60 days after receipt thereof. The General Partner could, at its own discretion,
make additional distributions subject to certain restrictions. 

- Items of partnership income, gains, losses and expenses were allocated amongst the partners in such a manner that, as the end of each
reporting period, the capital account of each partner equaled the respective net amount that would have be distributed to the partner (see
below) should the partnership have liquidated its net assets for an amount equal to their carrying values. 

- Partnership profits and losses were allocated between partners as follows: -
a) first, 100% to such partner until such partner received cumulative distributions equal to such partner’s aggregate investment

contributions; 
b) second, 100% to such partner until the unpaid preferred return of such partner was reduced to zero;
c) third, 80% to the Carried Interest Holder and 20% to such partner until the Carried Interest Holder has received cumulative distributions

with respect to such partner pursuant to the section equal to 20 % of the cumulative amount of distributions made to such partner
pursuant to section (b) and made to the Carried Interest Holder with respect to such partner pursuant to this sections; and 

d) fourth, thereafter, (i) 20% to the Carried Interest Holder and (ii) 80% to such partner



169

APPENDIX 4E AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 29METALS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page E-54 

NOTE 41: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (AAS) 

As stated in Note 2, as a result of the reverse acquisition, the Consolidated Financial Statements of 29Metals represent the continuation of the 
operations of the accounting acquirer, the Golden Grove, LP Group.  This Note 41 explains the principal adjustments made by the Golden Grove, LP 
Group in preparing its financial statements, including the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 1 January 2020 and the financial 
statements as of, and for the year ended, 31 December 2020.  

Golden Grove, LP, the parent entity in the Golden Grove, LP Group of companies, had previously prepared its financial statements in accordance with 
USGAAP. In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 29Metals Limited is required to prepare its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance 
with AAS and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB (the Australian equivalents to IFRS). 

The consolidated entity, as a continuation of the Golden Grove LP Group has therefore prepared its financial statements in accordance with AAS for 
the first time in the year ended 31 December 2021. In this regard, the Group has followed the provisions of AASB 1 “First Time Adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards” (AASB 1), to prepare the opening AAS Balance Sheet, with the date of transition (“Transition Date”) being 1 January 2020.  

This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Golden Grove, LP Group in preparing its financial statements, including the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position as at 1 January 2020 and the financial statements as of, and for the year ended, 31 December 2020. 

Optional exemptions applied 

AASB 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain requirements under AAS. The Golden Grove, LP 
Group has applied the following exemptions: 

 Business Combinations
The consolidated entity has elected not to apply the exemption under AASB 1 and has elected to restate all of its business combinations prior
to the date of transition by applying AASB 3 retrospectively. 

 Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures 
This exception is applicable to the consolidated entity as the parent entity of the Golden Grove, LP Group adopted AAS later than its subsidiaries. 
As such, the consolidated entity is required to measure the assets and liabilities of its subsidiaries at the same carrying amounts as in the financial 
statements of the subsidiaries, after adjusting for consolidation adjustments and for the effects any business combination adjustments. 

 Cumulative translation differences
Cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero as at 1 January 2020.

Estimates  

The estimates at 1 January 2020 and at 31 December 2020 are consistent with those made for the same dates in accordance with USGAAP (after 
adjustments to reflect any differences in accounting policies).  

Remeasurements adjustments on first time adoption 

(i) Investment Entity exception in AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements (AASB 10) 

Under USGAAP, Golden Grove, LP followed the accounting and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies. Investments in 
controlled entities were carried at fair value and Consolidated Financial Statements were not prepared. Golden Grove, LP has assessed the 
criteria in AASB 10 to apply the investment entity exception in that stated and determined that the requirements were not meet at the date of 
transition (ie, 1 January 2020) or 31 December 2020. As such, Golden Grove, LP is required to prepare Consolidated Financial Statements on 
transition and for the year ended 31 December 2020. In this regard, as mentioned above, the consolidated entity has applied AASB 3 
retrospectively. Consolidation of the subsidiaries of Golden Grove, LP on transition to AASB did not have an impact on the equity of the 
consolidated entity as net assets attributable to partners were classified as a financial liability (refer (iii) below). Accordingly, the reversal of the 
revaluation gain on the investment in controlled entities, amounted to $350,604 thousand at 1 January 2020 and $296,418 thousand at 31 
December 2020 and was recognised against net assets attributable to partners. 
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NOTE 41: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (AAS) (CONTINUED) 

(ii) Functional currency 

(iii) Partner Capital Accounts 

At the date of transition the functional currency of Golden Grove, LP Group has been determined to be Australian dollars and US dollars as 
applied under USGAAP. Accordingly, the financial statements of Golden Grove, LP at the date of transition of 1 January 2020 and 31 December 
2020 have been restated into Australian dollars applying the temporal method. Under the temporal method, monetary assets and liabilities
are converted at the spot rate applicable at each balance sheet date and non-monetary items at historic rates.  The change in functional
currency on transition to AASB did not have an impact on equity of the Group. 

Golden Grove, LP is a limited partnership registered in New South Wales under the Partnership Act 1982 (NSW). The Partnership Agreement in 
place up to 2 July 2021 provides that the Limited Partnership is scheduled to continue until the close of business on 3 June 2026, unless extended 
through terms specified in the Partnership Agreement. Gains and losses are allocated to the partners and the Carried Interest Holder in 
accordance with an allocation waterfall specified in the Partnership Agreement (see Note 40). For USGAAP reporting purposes, the partner 
capital accounts were classified as equity. The Golden Grove, LP Group has assessed the classification of these accounts under AASB 132 and 
determined that net assets attributable to partners in the consolidated entity, which includes capital contributions and undistributed profits 
within the consolidated entity, are more appropriately classified as a financial liability at the date of transition and 31 December 2020. As a 
financial liability, changes in the net assets attributable to partners are treated as a finance costs in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Refer Notes 7 and 40. 

Reconciliations:  

(i) At 1 January 2020 (date of transition)
USGAAP Impact of change 

in functional 
currency 

Change in 
classification of 
Partner capital 

accounts 

Consolidation of 
controlled entities/ 

reversal of 
revaluation 

AAS at 1 January 
2020 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Equity 

Contributed equity - - - - - 

Reserves - - - - - 

Retained earnings - - - - - 

Partner capital (612,517) - 612,517 - - 

Total equity (612,517) - 612,517 - - 

Non-current liability 

Net assets attributable to the 
Partners in Golden Grove, LP - - (612,517) 350,604 (261,913) 

- - (612,517) 350,604 (261,913) 

(ii) At 31 December 2020 
USGAAP Impact of change 

in functional 
currency 

Change in 
classification of 
Partner capital 

accounts 

Consolidation of 
controlled entities/ 

reversal of 
revaluation 

AAS at 31 December 
2020 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Equity 

Contributed equity - - - - - 

Reserves - - - - - 

Retained earnings - - - - - 

Partner capital (465,017) - 465,017 - - 

Total equity (465,017) - 465,017 - - 

Non-current liability 

Net assets attributable to the 
Partners in Golden Grove, LP - - (465,017) 296,418 (168,599) 

- - (465,017) 296,418 (168,599) 
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NOTE 41: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (AAS) (CONTINUED) 

USGAAP 
$’000 

Consolidation of 
controlled entities 

$’000 

Reclassification 
adjustment relating 
to partners’ capital 

$’000 

AAS 
$’000 

Revenue  - 434,451 - 434,451 

Cost of sales - (325,839) - (325,839) 

Gross profit - 108,612 - 108,612 

Other income 64,276 (64,203) - 73 

Net (loss)/gain on derivative financial instruments - 8,359 - 8,359 

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain 3 26,804 - 26,807 

Administration expenses (978) (3,710) - (4,688) 

Other expenses - (3,988) - (3,988) 

Operating profit 63,301 71,874 - 135,175 

Finance income - 287 - 287 

Interest expense and other cost of finance - (18,232) (82,716) (100,948) 

Net finance costs - (17,945) (82,716) (100,661) 

Profit before income tax expense 63,301 53,929 (82,716) 34,514 

Income tax benefit/(expense) - (34,514) - (34,514) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year  63,301 19,415 (82,716) - 

NOTE 42: COMMITMENTS 

The Group’s commitments are as follows: 

Exploration 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Group is required to outlay rentals and to satisfy minimum expenditure 
requirements which total $2,842 thousand (2020: $1,295 thousand) over the next 12 months, in accordance with agreed work programmes submitted 
over the Group’s exploration licences. Financial commitments for subsequent periods are contingent upon future exploration results.  There are no 
material exploration commitments further out than one year. 

NOTE 43: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

There have not been any events that have arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report or any other item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to materially affect the operations of the Group, the 
results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years. 

(iii) Reconciliation of Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors, the Directors declare that: 

1. in the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes set out on pages E1 to E56 and the remuneration disclosures
that are contained in the Remuneration Report on pages D-3 to D-23, are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, and:

(i) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) comply with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall
due and payable; and

(c) the Consolidated Financial Statements, and the notes thereto, have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

2. the Directors have received the declarations required to be made to the Directors by Section 295A of the
Corporations Act 2001 to be given by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021.

3. in the opinion of the Directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company, and the consolidated
entities identified in Note 30, will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become
subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those consolidated entities
pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 22 February 2022. 

OWEN HEGARTY FIONA ROBERTSON 

Chair of the Board the Directors 
Non-executive Director 

Chair of the Audit, Governance & Risk Committee 
Independent Non-executive Director 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 29Metals Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of 29Metals Limited (“the Company” or “29Metals”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the 
directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial report. 
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1. Accounting for business combination and asset acquisition

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

On 2 July 2021, 29Metals acquired Golden Grove, LP and 
its subsidiaries (which owns the Golden Grove mine) 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as “Golden Grove LP 
Group”) and Redhill Mining Hong Kong Limited and Redhill 
Magallanes, SpA (which own exploration tenements in 
Chile) (hereafter collectively referred to as “Redhill”).   

The acquisition of the Golden Grove LP Group by 29Metals 
was considered to be a business combination, which was 
accounted for as a reverse acquisition. As such, Golden 
Grove, LP Group was determined to be the accounting 
acquirer of 29Metals and its controlled entities (including 
Capricorn Copper Holdings Pty Ltd, the owner of the 
Capricorn Copper Mine). Accordingly the consolidated 
financial statements of 29Metals represent the 
continuation of the business and operations of Golden 
Grove LP Group (refer to Notes 2 and 34 to the 
consolidated financial statements). 

Golden Grove, LP, the parent entity of the Golden Grove, 
LP Group, had previously prepared its financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP) and as 
a result the consolidated entity adopted Australian 
Accounting Standards for the first time for the year ended 
31 December 2021 with the date of transition being 1 
January 2020. (refer to Note 41 to the consolidated 
financial statements).  

The acquisition of Redhill by 29 Metals has been accounted 
for as an asset acquisition via a share based payment 
(refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements). 

We have considered the accounting for the business 
combination, asset acquisition and transition to Australian 
Accounting Standards as a key audit matter because of: 

► the complexities in the accounting for the acquisitions

► judgment required by the Group to identify and
determine the fair values of all of the assets and
liabilities acquired

► the accounting complexities associated with first time
adoption of Australian Accounting Standards

Our audit procedures included the following: 

► Read the purchase and underlying
agreements to gain an understanding of
the key terms.

► Assessed the appropriateness of the
accounting applied to each acquisition.

► Assessed the fair values applied to all of
the assets and liabilities acquired, with the
assistance of our valuation specialists,
including considering whether the
valuation methodologies applied were in
accordance with the requirements of
Australian Accounting Standards.

► Assessed the qualifications, competence
and objectivity of the Group’s external and
internal experts involved in the fair value
assessment process. With the involvement
of our subject matter specialists, we
assessed the appropriateness of the
conclusions reached by the Group’s
external and internal experts.

► Assessed the accounting applied by the
consolidated entity for the first time
adoption of Australian Accounting
Standards

► Evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements
relating to the acquisitions and the first
time adoption of Australian Accounting
Standards.

Page F-3



Independent Auditor’s Report continued

29Metals 2021 Annual Report176

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

2. Income taxes and tax consolidation

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As a result of the reverse acquisition during the 
financial year, there were a number of tax 
complexities that arose including a tax base reset in 
relation to the assets and liabilities of Golden Grove 
LP Group.  

As set out in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, the Group has a current tax receivable of 
$15,042,000 and deferred tax assets of 
$39,478,000 as at 31 December 2021. The Group 
has recognised an income tax benefit of 
$103,236,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2021 (refer to Note 9 to the financial report). A 
deferred tax liability of $33,416,000 was recognised 
as a result of the business combination (refer to Note 
34 to the consolidated financial statements). 

We considered this to be a key audit matter because 
the: 

► Group was required to exercise significant
judgment with regards to the interpretation of
enacted tax laws which in turn required
significant judgment in estimating the Group’s
taxation assets and liabilities at 31 December
2021.

► determination of the probability of the Group
deriving future taxable income to utilise its
deferred tax assets is highly judgmental. This is
subject to numerous assumptions regarding the
future taxable profits of the Group.

Our audit procedures included the following: 

► Considered the appropriateness of the income
tax benefit for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the current tax receivable and
deferred tax asset recognised by the Group at
31 December 2021 having regard to the
requirements of the applicable accounting
standards.

► Considered the appropriateness of the Group’s
assumptions and estimates in relation to tax
positions as part of the reverse acquisition,
assessed those assumptions and estimates and
considered the advice the Group received from
external experts to support the accounting for
the tax positions in accordance with enacted tax
laws.

► Where external experts were engaged by the
Group, we assessed their qualifications,
competence and objectivity.

► We involved our tax specialists in assessing the
reasonableness of the judgments and
interpretations made by the Group in
determining the tax impact of the reverse
acquisition, income tax benefit for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and current tax
receivable and deferred tax asset as at 31
December 2021.

► Examined the Group’s deferred tax asset
recoverability assessment and evaluated the
reasonableness of key assumptions including
forecast taxable profits of Group entities.

► Assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures relating to taxation in the
31 December 2021 financial report.
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3. Measurement of rehabilitation and restoration provision

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As a consequence of its operations, the Group incurs 
obligations to rehabilitate and restore its mine sites. 
Rehabilitation activities are governed by local 
legislative requirements. As at 31 December 2021, 
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 
position includes a rehabilitation and restoration 
provision of $155,013,000 in respect of these 
obligations (refer to Note 22 to the financial report). 

We considered this to be a key audit matter because 
estimating the rehabilitation and restoration 
provision requires considerable judgement in relation 
to when the activities will take place, the time 
required for rehabilitation to be effective, the costs 
associated with the activities and economic 
assumptions such as discount rates and inflation 
rates. Given the significant judgements and 
assumptions involved, the Group is required to 
continually reassess and confirm that the 
assumptions used are appropriate. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

► Assessed the qualifications, competence and
objectivity of the Group’s external and internal
experts, the work of whom formed the basis of
the Group’s rehabilitation cost estimates.

► With the involvement of our subject matter
specialists we assessed the appropriateness of
the rehabilitation cost estimates.

► Considered the estimated timing of when the
rehabilitation cash flows will be incurred based
on the life of mine and the resultant inflation
and discount rate assumptions used in the
Groups cost estimates, having regard to
available economic data relating to future
inflation and discount rates.

► Evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures relating to rehabilitation obligations
and considered the appropriateness of the
accounting for the changes in the rehabilitation
and restoration provision.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s 2021 annual report other than the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the directors’ report that is to be included in the annual report, 
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the annual 
report after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report 
and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report on pages D-3 to D-23, except for the disclosures noted in 
Section 4.2 relating to Prospectus and Pro-Forma financial and non-financial information, included in 
the Director’s Report for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of 29Metals Limited for the year ended 31 December 2021, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Ernst & Young 

Fiona Drummond 
Partner 
Perth 
22 February 2022 

Page F-7



Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report 
is set out below. The share information is current as at 31 March 2022. As at that date, there were 481,319,391 ordinary shares held by 
2,839 shareholders.

Substantial holders

The names of 29Metals substantial holders (being shareholders who, together with their associates, have a relevant interest in 5% or more of 
our voting shares), as disclosed in substantial holding notices lodged with ASX, are as follows:

Substantial holder name No. held
% of issued 

capital

EMR Capital Advisors Pty Ltd; EMR Capital Investment (No.4B) Pte. Ltd.; EMR Capital Investment (No.6B) Pte. Ltd. and 
their Associates 216,204,750 45.0

Yarra Management Nominees Pty Ltd; TA Universal Investment Holdings Ltd; Yarra Capital Management Limited; TA SP 
Australia Topco Pty Ltd; AA Australia Finco Pty Ltd; Yarra Capital Management Holdings Pty Ltd; Yarra Funds Management 
Limited; Yarra Investment Management Limited; Tyndall Equities Australia Pty Ltd 40,997,538 8.5331

AustralianSuper Pty Ltd 38,500,825 8.01

Ausbil Investment Management Limited 35,551,267 7.399

 
Distribution of shareholders (ordinary shares)

Range Total holders
No. of  

shares held
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1,000 874 450,023 0.09

1,001 – 5,000 1,008 2,985,938 0.62

5,001 – 10,000 484 3,882,948 0.81

10,001 – 100,000 429 10,870,083 2.26

100,001 + 44 463,130,399 96.22

Total 2,839 481,319,391 100

There were 81 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares as at 31 March 2022.

Unquoted equity securities 

There are 3,029,173 unquoted performance rights on issue held by 214 holders. 

Range (performance rights) Total holders
No. of  

rights held
% of rights  

on issue

1 – 1,000 – – –

1,001 – 5,000 165 573,727 18.94

5,001 – 10,000 6 30,705 1.01

10,001 – 100,000 37 1,330,462 43.92

100,001 + 6 1,094,279 36.12

Total 214 3,029,173 100

Additional Shareholder Information
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Twenty largest shareholders

Rank Name
No. of  

shares held
% of issued 

capital

1 PERPETUAL NOMINEES LIMITED 147,731,909 30.69

2 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 71,885,689 14.94

3 EMR CAPITAL INVESTMENT (NO.6B) PTE. LTD 64,812,484 13.47

4 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 57,760,459 12.00

5 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 30,890,501 6.42

6 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 26,305,614 5.47

7 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 12,631,722 2.62

8 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 11,660,269 2.42

9 VBS INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 9,166,666 1.90

10 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 3,852,396 0.80

11 NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED 3,572,577 0.74

12 EMR CAPITAL INVESTMENT (NO.4B) PTE. LTD 3,555,925 0.74

13 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD HUB24 CUSTODIAL SERV LTD 2,616,980 0.54

14 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 2,595,428 0.54

15 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,032,467 0.42

16 SPINETTA PTY LTD 1,375,000 0.29

17 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,310,070 0.27

18 PACIFIC CUSTODIANS PTY LIMITED 1,053,386 0.22

19 NAMARONG INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 1,000,000 0.21

19 HANSEN LITTLE FOUNDATION PTY LIMITED 1,000,000 0.21

20 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD SIX SIS LTD 745,329 0.15

Total, Top 20 457,554,871 95.06

Total remaining holders 23,764,520 4.94

Use of funds

29Metals was admitted to the official list of the ASX on 2 July 2021. The Company has used the cash and assets in a form readily convertible 
to cash that it had at the time of admission in a way consistent with its business objectives, as disclosed in its Prospectus dated 21 June 2021, 
a copy of which is available on the ASX Announcements Platform.

Voting rights

Fully paid ordinary shares: subject to the Corporations Act, the Company’s Constitution and any rights or restrictions attached to shares, 
every shareholder present in person or by proxy, representative or attorney has one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for 
each share held.

Performance rights: do not carry any voting rights.

Other

There is no current on-market buy-back. 

There are no securities on issue that are restricted securities or are subject to voluntary escrow arrangements.
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Important Information

Non-IFRS financial information

29Metals’ results are reported under Australian Accounting Standards (‘AAS’). 
This report includes certain metrics, such as EBITDA, Adjusted NPAT, Drawn Debt, 
Total Drawn Debt, Net Drawn Debt, All‑in Sustaining Costs (AISC), C1 Costs and Cu-eq 
that are non-IFRS financial information within the meaning of ASIC Regulatory 
Guide 230: Disclosing non-IFRS financial information’. These Non-IFRS financial 
information metrics have been calculated by reference to information prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. However, these non‑IFRS financial information metrics 
do not have a standardised meaning prescribed by IFRS and may be calculated 
differently by other companies. 
The non-IFRS financial information included in this report are used by 29Metals 
to assess the underlying performance of the business. The non‑IFRS information 
has not been subject to audit or review by 29Metals’ external auditor. Non-IFRS 
financial information should be used in addition to, and not as a substitute for, 
information prepared in accordance with IFRS. Although 29Metals believes these 
non-IFRS financial information metrics provide useful information to investors and 
other market participants, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any 
non-IFRS financial information presented. Non-IFRS financial information metrics 
are not audited.
Refer to page 87 for definitions of the non-IFRS financial information metrics used 
in this report and a reconciliation of non-IFRS financial information metrics to IFRS 
financial information.
In addition to the non-IFRS financial information metrics used in this report, 
referred to above, this report contains pro forma financial information. 
Pro forma financial information is also non-IFRS financial information and 
has not been audited.
The pro forma financial information is this report has been included to provide 
investors and other market participants with insights into the operating and 
financial performance of the Group for the full year. The pro forma financial 
information is included in Part B of this Operating and Financial Review, and 
certain pro forma financial information is also included in the Remuneration Report. 
Refer to Part B for information regarding the presentation and presentation of 
the pro forma financial information in this report.
As above, the pro forma financial information (as non‑IFRS financial information) 
should be used in addition to, and not as a substitute for, information prepared 
in accordance with IFRS.

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains certain forward‑looking statements and comments 
about future events, including in relation to 29Metals’ businesses, plans and 
strategies, and expected trends in the industry in which 29Metals currently 
operates. Forward‑looking statements also include prospective financial 
information for 29Metals including the Pro Forma Forecast Financial Information 
in section 5. Forward‑looking statements can generally be identified by the 
use of words such as, “expect”, “anticipate”, “likely”, “intend”, “should”, “could”, 
“may”, “predict”, “plan”, “propose”, “will”, “believe”, “forecast”, “estimate”, “target” 
and other similar words that involve risks and uncertainties. Indications of, and 
guidance or outlook on, future earnings or financial position or performance are 
also forward‑looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks, assumptions and uncertainties, 
both general and specific, and there is a risk that such predictions, forecasts, 
projections and other forward-looking statements will not be achieved. 
A number of important factors could cause 29Metals’ actual results to differ 
materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates, targets and intentions 
expressed in such forward-looking statements, and many of these factors are 
beyond 29Metals’ control. Statements or assumptions in this Annual Report as 
to future matters may prove to be incorrect, and circumstances may change and 
the contents of this Annual Report may become outdated as a result. Further, 
forward-looking statements speak only as of the Annual Report Date, and except 
where required by law, none of 29Metals, or SaleCo intend to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, or to publish prospective financial information in the 
future, regardless of whether new information, future events or any other factors 
affect the information contained in this Annual Report.
Nothing in this Annual Report is a promise or representation as to the future, and 
past performance is not a guarantee of future performance. None of 29Metals, 
SaleCo or the Directors makes any representation or warranty as to the accuracy 
of such statements or assumptions. 
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